# HOUSING AFFORDABILITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY: WHAT IS THE RIGHT THING TO DO?

Bronwyn Meyrick BArts(IntlSt) BSocSc(Hons)

Submitted in total fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Global, Urban Studies and Planning Design and Social Context RMIT University

July 2013

#### **DECLARATION**

I certify that except where due acknowledgement has been made, the work is that of the author alone; the work has not been submitted previously, in whole or in part, to qualify for any other academic award; the content of the thesis is the result of work which has been carried out since the official commencement date of the approved research program; any editorial work, paid or unpaid, carried out by a third party is acknowledged; and, ethics procedures and guidelines have been followed.

Bronwyn E Meyrick

Date

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I cannot adequately express my gratitude to my two supervisors, Emeritus Professor Mike Berry and Doctor John Morrissey, to whom I am forever indebted. Mike and John have generously mentored me through this process, provided their time and intellectual and personal support. I thank Mike for introducing me to the work of the political philosopher John Rawls and for reading the work of Michael Sandel and Amartya Sen with me. I am honoured to have been the last of many doctoral students supervised by Mike, and to have been one of the first supervised by John.

I thank the Australian Research Council and the Lifetime Affordable Housing in Australia project partners. I am thankful also to the Lifetime Affordable Housing project team, including Professor Ralph Horne and the staff at the former RMIT Centre for Design, in particular Nicole McGrath. I am grateful also to the financial and other support provided to me by the Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute (AHURI) through their postgraduate top-up scholarship program, and from Serena Lim at the AHURI-RMIT Research Centre. I am thankful for the support of Brian Walsh and Suellen Murray at the RMIT School of Global and Urban Studies. I must also thank Professor Pavla Miller from whom it was a series of gentle nudges that led me to undertake this thesis in the first place.

Undertaking a PhD can be a lonely pursuit. I am very fortunate that my experience has been far from this thanks to Ian Jones, Angela Munro, Trivess Moore and Naomi Bailey, with whom I have shared an office space for the best part of five years. Doctoral students do not always make great employees, and for this reason I am grateful for the support of my current and former managers at the Victorian Department of Human Services, in particular Billie Oroz, Jo McInerney, Rob Jenkins, Anita Canals and Jeremy Levine.

I am thankful to my friends for putting up with my absence, and for understanding when not to ask how it is going. I must thank my sisters, Dom and Tess, and my parents, Steve and Louise, for their intellectual, personal and practical support over the course of preparing this thesis. It has been a project of my parents to impart to their children the importance of thinking critically and compassionately about the world, and I sincerely hope that this thesis reflects their success in this endeavour. Finally, I must thank my partner, Jamie, who encouraged me to take up this opportunity in the first place, for patiently and selflessly taking this journey with me.

This thesis has been professionally edited by Doctor Diane Brown in accordance with Standard D, Language and Illustrations, and Standard E, Completeness and Consistency, of the *Australian Standards for Editing Practice* (2013).

## LIFETIME AFFORDABLE HOUSING IN AUSTRALIA PROJECT

This thesis is one of three doctoral research projects under the *Lifetime Affordable Housing (LAH) in Australia: Integrating environmental performance and affordability* project. The LAH project was funded for three years (2008–2011) by the Australian Research Council under the Linkage Project Scheme. Researchers at RMIT University and the University of South Australia led the project, with funding and other support provided by the Victorian Building Commission, VicUrban (now Places Victoria) and the South Australian Land Management Corporation. LAH researchers include:

- Prof. Ralph Horne, RMIT University (Project Manager and Chief Investigator)
- Emeritus Prof. Mike Berry, RMIT University (Chief Investigator)
- Prof. Steve Hamnett, University of South Australia (Chief Investigator)
- Dr. John Kellett, University of South Australia (Chief Investigator)
- Dr. John Morrissey, RMIT University (Research Fellow)
- Susan Irvine, University of South Australia (PhD scholar)
- Bronwyn Meyrick, RMIT University (PhD scholar)
- Trivess Moore, RMIT University (PhD scholar)

The aim of the LAH project was to provide essential research to underpin policy and enable Australia to provide high performance urban housing within current and future economic and environmental limits. The project was developed around four core themes:

- Theme 1: Housing life cycle costs and benefits
- Theme 2: Locational efficiency costs and benefits
- Theme 3: Affordability implications
- Theme 4: Policy and transition mechanisms

Primarily, this research addresses theme 4, complementing research undertaken by other LAH researchers. Information on the wider project can be found at http://www.rmit.edu.au.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	1
List of Acronyms	3
Chapter One: Introduction	5
Background	5
Research aim	7
Research questions	7
Research design	7
The argument	9
Structure of the thesis	10
Chapter Two: Housing affordability and environmental sustainability	13
Housing in Australia	14
The concept of housing affordability	15
Housing affordability problems	17
Home ownership inequality, poverty and disadvantage	17
Home ownership and ontological security	18
Measuring housing affordability problems	19
Critique of the housing affordability concept	20
The concept of environmental sustainability	22
Environmental sustainability as 'sustainable development'	23
The spectrum of sustainability theories	24
Climate change and sustainability	29
Climate change as an economic problem	31
Climate change and housing	33
Housing affordability and sustainability	35
Chanter Three: Social justice	38

Justice as a philosophical concept	39
John Rawls's use of the concept of reflective equilibrium	40
Influence of Kant and Hume on Rawls's Justice as Fairness	42
The basic structure of society as the subject of justice	46
The original position	52
Rawls's two principles of justice	54
The community of justice: within and between generations	59
Justice as a process of public reasoning	64
Conclusion	68
Chapter Four: Australian housing policy	70
The 'basic structure' and housing in Australia	71
Slum reform: housing policy before the Second World War	76
The dream: housing policy after the Second World War	78
The 'Invisible Hand': housing policy from the late 1970s to the 1990s	85
The 'Howard Years': housing policy from 1996 to 2007	102
'Kevin07' and the national reform agenda: 2007 to 2010	105
Conclusion	113
Chapter Five: Australian environmental policy	115
The Australian Constitution and the environment	117
Conservation: Australian environmental policy in the 1980s	118
Emergence of national climate change policy in Australia	127
Ecologically sustainable development process: early 1990s	130
A 'Campaign of Equity and Realism': the Howard government and the Kyoto	o Protocol135
'I won't be trading the veranda for political expediency': house building reg	ulations and the
environment	138
Preparing for an Australian emissions trading scheme	142
'Kevin07' and the greatest challenge of our generation	145
The Garnaut Review	147
The Australian Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme	150

Impact of the Global Financial Crisis	152
The 'Carbon Wars': Negotiating with the Senate on the CPRS	155
Copenhagen negotiations	157
Resource super profits tax	159
'The right thing to do': carbon tax	160
The 'moral obligation to a strong economy'	162
Conclusion	164
Chapter Six: Housing, environment and social justice	166
Housing policy: what and who matters?	167
Environmental policy: what and who matters?	173
Tensions between 'what matters' and 'who matters'	178
Social justice, housing affordability and climate change	179
Social justice and the reach of obligations	182
Housing and disadvantage	186
Justice as a process of public reasoning	190
Conclusion	193
Chapter Seven: Conclusion	195
Restatement of the research aims and questions	195
Key insights	196
Limitations	199
Areas for further research	200
Pibliography	201

#### **ABSTRACT**

In the 2007 Australian federal election campaign, Opposition leader Kevin Rudd denounced the threat of climate change as the greatest moral economic and social challenge facing our generation. Taking steps to address climate change is likely to require changes to how we are housed, including how housing is designed, constructed, and how it is used. Yet, whether it is celebrated as the 'great Australian dream' and Australia as a 'home owning democracy' or derided as the 'great Australian nightmare' or the 'great Australian ugliness', how people are housed, and private home ownership in particular, holds an elevated and almost folkloric status in Australian policy and narratives of Australian national identity.

This thesis explores the tensions that thus arise in policy debate over housing affordability and climate change, as presented in Australian housing and environmental policy. It casts these tensions as problems for social justice, and questions what Australian governments *should do* with respect to housing, affordability and climate change. Its theoretical foundation is drawn from the work of the late American political philosopher John Rawls and his rights-based *Justice as Fairness* theory, as well as that of Amartya Sen and Michael Sandel. This literature provides both substantive principles of justice against which to assess the various claims about *what is at stake* and *who matters* that have arisen in Australian policy debate over housing and climate change. At the same time, a core theme for Rawls, Sen and Sandel is that determining what is just involves evaluation of the process of public reasoning that gives voice and legitimacy to these claims and principles in the first place.

This thesis argues that housing affordability is the dominant paradigm in Australian housing policy, which cast what matters about housing as its cost. This economistic paradigm not only conceals a range of other claims about what is important when it comes to how people are housed, but is also inadequate basis for making

judgements about justice. What is required, it argues, is a process of public reasoning in which citizens act *on behalf of* and are stewards of the better *interests of* others who cannot do the same in return, as if we were in their shoes. As such, the contribution of this research is not an account of what particular policy setting is more or less just. Rather, it offers a proposal for how we might think differently about housing as a policy problem, as well as insights into what answers this different approach may yield.

#### LIST OF ACRONYMS

ABCB Australian Building Codes Board
ABS Australian Bureau of Statistics

**ACF** The Australian Conservation Foundation

ALP Australian Labor Party
BCA Building Code of Australia

CHC Commonwealth Housing Commission
COAG Council of Australian Governments
CPRS Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme
CRA Commonwealth Rental Assistance

**CSHA** Commonwealth State Housing Agreement

**DAHE** Department of Arts, Heritage and the Environment (Commonwealth)

**DCC** Department of Climate Change (Commonwealth)

DHAE Department of Home Affairs and the Environment (Commonwealth)DNRE Department of Natural Resources and the Environment (Victoria)

**DPMC** Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet

**DSEWPC** Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and

Communities (Commonwealth)

**ESD** Ecologically Sustainable Development

**ESDSC** Ecologically Sustainable Development Steering Committee (Council

of Australian Governments)

FaHCSIA Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and

Indigenous Affairs (Commonwealth)

**GCCR** Garnaut Climate Change Review

**GHG** Greenhouse Gas

HCV Housing Commission of VictoriaHEC Hydro-Electric CommissionHIA Housing Industry Association

HRSCEFPA House of Representatives Standing Committee on Economics,

Finance and Public Administration

IGAE Intergovernmental Agreement on the Environment IUCN International Union for the Conservation of Nature

MBA Master Builders' Association

MBAV Master Builders' Association (Victoria)
MPCCC Multi Party Climate Change Committee

**MPEV** Ministry of Planning and Environment (Victoria)

**NAHS** National Affordable Housing Summit

NCSA National Conservation Strategy for Australia
NETT National Emissions Trading Taskforce

NGSC National Greenhouse Steering Committee (Council of Australian

Governments)

**NHS** National Housing Strategy

NIEIR National Institute of Economic and Industry ResearchNSESD National Strategy for Ecologically Sustainable Development

SECARC Senate Environment, Communications and the Arts Reference

Committee

**SSCHAA** Senate Select Committee on Housing Affordability in Australia

SSCSWT Senate Select Committee on South West Tasmania STCTF State Conservation Strategy Task Force (Victoria)

Task Group on Emissions Trading The Wilderness Society **TGET** 

**TWS** 

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization **UNESCO** United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change **UNFCCC** 

WCED

World Commission on Economic Development Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation **CSIRO** 

#### **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

#### **Background**

In November 2007, the election of a new federal government in Australia seemed to herald the beginning of a new era in Australian politics. The new 'Kevin07' government, under Prime Minister Kevin Rudd, promised to reverse many of the policies of the previous Howard Government, which had been in power since 1996. I recall, for instance, the day that Rudd offered a formal apology to the 'Stolen Generations' of Indigenous Australian children systematically removed from their families, which Howard had resolutely refused to do. Prime Minister Rudd also committed to overhauling WorkChoices, the Howard Government's industrial relations policy. Rudd's first act of government, however, was to ratify the Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, which for the best part of a decade Howard had also refused to do. In the lead up to the election, Rudd had foreshadowed this move in declaring that climate change was the 'greatest moral, social and economic challenge of our generation' (Kelly 2007). Sometime into his second year in office, Rudd would later denounce those who denied the science of climate change as 'reckless gamblers who were playing with the future of Australia's children and grandchildren' (Kevin Rudd attacks 'Climate Change Sceptics' 2009).

Around the same time, the government of the Australian state of Victoria undertook a public inquiry into 'liveability' in the state. In a submission to the inquiry the Master Builders' Association of Victoria (the MBAV) (2008, p.10), the peak body for the Victorian building industry, claimed that 'housing affordability must come before sustainability'. The MBAV had previously raised similar concerns about more stringent environmental sustainability requirements for new housing in Victorian building regulations. In a policy paper, *Housing Sustainability for All* 

*Victorians*, for example, the MBAV (2007) <sup>1</sup> argued that these regulations, while noble in their intent, 'increase the mortgage burden for many' and 'dashed the housing aspirations of others [...] further exacerbating the divide between the "housing asset rich" and the "housing asset poor". Thus, whereas the new prime minister was stressing the urgency and importance of taking steps to mitigate climate change, the MBAV drew attention to the tensions that arise when taking such steps requires change in how people are housed.

The Lifetime Affordable Housing in Australia (LAH) project was established in response to concerns such as those set out by the MBAV. The LAH project was jointly funded by the Australian Research Council and the three industry partners: the Victorian Building Commission, VicUrban, and the South Australian Land Management Corporation. The remit of the project was to test empirically whether or not there are 'trade-offs' between housing affordability and improving the environmental sustainability of housing – in terms of the design and construction of housing and housing location – and how these trade-offs may be addressed through policy. My research is one of three doctoral research projects under the LAH project.

The remit of the LAH project reflects the vast and critically important work that seeks answers to what may be done to address climate change and other environmental concerns including through how people are housed. Surprisingly, however, there seems to be little work investigating why these changes *should* be made at all. Surely the notion that something should be done to address climate change and other environmental problems, rests on a corollary notion that people alive today have an obligation to people living in the future. But while there seems to be vague agreement that something ought to be done about climate change, the extent of these obligations is seldom theorised or subjected to the rigour of normative analysis.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The pages of the policy paper are not numbered.

#### Research aim

My aim in this research is therefore to contribute to knowledge insights into what Australian governments ought to do with respect to climate change and how people are housed, by approaching this issue as a question of distributive justice.

My research shares with studies in political science a focus on people and the institutions of government. In approaching climate change and housing as a problem of applied political philosophy, my research departs from studies in political or social science, wherein the objective is often to determine empirical facts. Rather, my research addresses 'what ought to be done in light of that information'. As McDermott (2008, p.11) argues:

No set of empirical facts can dictate the answers to these kinds of questions. You could pile up a mountain of data about the differences between, say, democracies and dictatorships, but without the normative element that is the political philosopher's concern, nothing would follow about which form of government ought to be implemented.

The ontological basis of my research therefore concerns normative claims, specifically around what is at stake, for whom, and the principles by which the benefits and burdens of living together should be distributed (Dobson 1998).

#### Research questions

Thus, to support my aim, this research is grounded in three core questions:

- i. How have 'what matters' and 'who matters' been framed in Australian housing and environmental policy? (*Research Question One*)
- ii. What are the tensions between how 'what matters' and 'who matters' have been framed in Australian housing and environmental policy? (*Research Question Two*)
- iii. What is the right thing for Australian governments to do about housing affordability and sustainability? (Research Question Three)

I have bolded the final question as this is my principal research question.

#### Research design

The first two research questions concern how implicit and explicit claims about what matters and who matters have been framed in Australian policy debate. I

define the terms of this 'debate' broadly. Drawing on Considine (1994, 2005), I define public policy as more than a set of decisions, but rather a complex and enduring network including a range of state and non-state actors instruments and institutions as well as values and discourses. Further, public policy is not static, but an evolving process. What we tend to notice first about policy systems are new instruments, such as regulations or budgets. These new instruments are really just 'important punctuation marks' in 'the movement of people and programs around common problems' (Considine 1994, p.3).

Focusing on policy as discursive, Bacchi (1999, 2009) contends that the core of policymaking is an explicit or implicit diagnosis of a problem and therefore the legitimate use of power is linked to certain 'representations' of policy problems. For this reason, Bacchi argues, public policy analysis ought to interrogate the discursive construction of problems. There is a danger in this approach, however, that it may be overly deterministic in the role of discourse. As such, Considine (2005) recommends that the discursive aspects of a policy system are analysed in combination with the material aspects of the policy system (its institutions instruments and actors). As such in this research I take the 'debate' over policy to include, but also to extend beyond the utterances of politicians and formal statements, as situated in an institutional, social, economic and historical context.

Developing normative claims is a reflective exercise, which relies on intuition and logic. This exercise involves sizing up moral judgements, principles and beliefs about the world. While political philosophy involves the 'traffic of oughts' (McDermott 2008, p.12), this research is not a study of pure theory. That is, my objective is not to create a new theory of justice. Rather, it is *applied* political philosophy, and as such requires a subject matter to which the normative claims apply. In this research, this subject is the implicit and explicit claims about what matters and who matters.

To address *Research Questions One* and *Two*, I critically engage with literature on the concepts of housing affordability and environmental sustainability. I then explore twin housing policy narratives of affordability and sustainability as played

out in publicly available policy documents including government strategies, regulations, legislation, parliamentary Hansard and media records. I have supplemented these 'official' records with alternative accounts of developments in policy as presented in scholarly and other literature, print media, radio and television. These documents concern housing and environment specifically, but also commentary on changing political culture and social and economic change. They were sourced electronically or in hard copy through university and public library collections. My account of developments in housing and environmental policy is not meant to be exhaustive, but to present key developments in policy over time, and within a changing social, economic and political context. My analysis is both chronological, to reflect the notion of policy as process that is historically situated, and also thematic.

I do not seek to uncover in this research, moral 'truths' in relation to the treatment of housing and climate change in Australian policy, but to expose these claims to a select set of theories of distributive justice. As such, to address *Research Question Three*, I first identify the core dimensions of the theories of justice developed through engagement with the political philosophy of John Rawls, Amartya Sen and Michael Sandel. I then subject these claims about what and who matters identified through *Research Questions One* and *Two*, to these core dimensions of social justice theory.

#### The argument

I argue that while housing affordability, the dominant paradigm in housing policy, denotes that what is important in housing is its cost, this conceals numerous other claims in policy about what matters. How we are housed concerns the fulfillment of basic needs, the basic fairness of the distribution of wealth and national identity, and also serves as a domain of private life. In contrast to the materiality and connections to place invoked in debates over housing; debate over climate change deals with diffuse, dispersed causes and impacts which traverse national boundaries and will be felt most gravely by people living in the future.

I argue that while the core tensions between housing affordability and climate change debates are intergenerational, justice requires that we begin with the justness of current social and political arrangements. In turn, however, reckoning with the intergenerational dimensions of how people are housed and climate change, relies on a process of public reasoning in which people are encouraged not only to set out and pursue their own interests, but also to reflect on and defend the interests of others. Framing how we are housed and the challenges of climate change within the narrow metrics of an economic problem, within a broader view of politics and justice as economics by other means is inadequate for this task. It overlooks how these economic outcomes are realised, whether they are things that people value and at what cost. It is inadequate for addressing questions of the adequacy of housing in terms of size, location, amenity and what people need to translate this housing into meaningful ends. Perhaps most importantly, however, this paradigm provides an inadequate language with which to express the moral concerns underpinning housing and climate change.

#### Structure of the thesis

This thesis contains seven chapters including this introduction. In the next two chapters, I examine the literature on the three key concepts I use in this research: housing affordability, environmental sustainability and social or 'distributive' justice.

In *Chapter Two* I review select literature on housing affordability and environmental sustainability to examine these concepts and to sketch the theoretical tensions between them. I argue that as a concept housing affordability concerns the relationship between housing costs and household incomes. I demonstrate that there are two main conceptions of housing affordability: the tenure-neutral concept of housing stress and the ability of households to enter into home ownership. I define environmental sustainability as the goal of managing human impacts on the natural environment, underpinned by a concern for the welfare of people living in the future. Given the breadth of this concept, I state that the thesis will focus on climate change as a key threat to environmental sustainability. I argue that ideas about

distributive justice are implied and explicit in both housing affordability and environmental sustainability, though these are poorly developed.

In *Chapter Three* I set the theoretical foundations of the research by engaging with literature on distributive justice. My analysis centres on the work of the late Harvard professor of political philosophy John Rawls, whose rights-based *Justice as Fairness* theory is a pre-eminent approach used in contemporary political philosophy. I examine *Justice as Fairness* within the context of the Kantian moral philosophy Rawls built upon and the utilitarian theory he sought to challenge. I also examine recent critiques of *Justice as Fairness* and alternative conceptions of justice offered by the political philosopher and economist, Amartya Sen in his capabilities approach and philosopher, Michael Sandel in his virtues-based theory of justice. Through engagement with these theories of justice I build a theoretical foundation for the research in which justice is conceived in terms of substantive claims – in the form of principles and precepts – but also in terms of justice as a process of public reasoning.

In *Chapters Four* and *Five* I document key developments in Australian housing and environmental policy, respectively, to provide a basis for addressing *Research Question One*. In both chapters my analysis is presented chronologically in keeping with the conception of public policy as a process that is historically situated. In *Chapter Four* I focus on developments in housing policy from the 1930s to 2009. In *Chapter Five* I focus on developments in Australian environmental policy from the late 1970s to 2010.

In *Chapter Six*, my analysis chapter, I address the three research questions. Having set out developments in housing and environmental policy *chronologically* and contextually in *Chapters Four* and *Five* in *Chapter Six* I distill core themes from these policy developments, both in terms of implicit and explicit claims about *what matters* and *who matters*, and in doing so address *Research Question One*. I then address *Research Question Two* by presenting the core tensions between these claims. Finally, I interrogate these tensions against the theories of justice set out in *Chapter Three* in order to address *Research Question Three*.

*Chapter Seven* is my concluding chapter and in this chapter I revisit the aim of the research, as established in *Chapter One*. I set out the major findings of the research, their limitations and their implications. I also outline areas of further research.

### CHAPTER TWO: HOUSING AFFORDABILITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

In this chapter I present analysis of two concepts used in this research: housing affordability and environmental sustainability. This contributes to the research by providing a conceptual basis for my examination of Australian housing and environmental policy in *Chapters Four* and *Five*. In the first section I examine key aspects of the concept of housing affordability. I then present critique of the concept of environmental sustainability, with a focus on climate change. Finally, I outline similarities and conflicts between these concepts. Much of the literature I draw on in the chapter is written for and about Australian and international housing and environmental policy. To the greatest extent possible, I want to leave examination of policy to *Chapters Four* and *Five*, and draw on this literature here for conceptual analysis only.

In broad terms, I define housing affordability as referring to the relationship between a household's income and housing costs. While this concept is applicable across housing tenures (renting and home ownership) debate over affordability is often directed to the private home ownership tenure. I define environmental sustainability as managing human impacts on the environment, underpinned by a concern for the welfare of people living in the future. Given the breadth of this concept I focus on climate change as a key threat to environmental sustainability. I argue that there are similarities in how housing affordability and environmental sustainability are conceptualised, but also areas of tension. These tensions are greatest in terms of whose interests they serve. As such, I argue that the concepts of housing affordability and environmental sustainability allude to concerns about distributive justice. In conceptualisations of housing affordability, however, the details of what constitutes 'what is just', is gestured to rather than detailed. Therefore, I argue that evaluating the right thing to do regarding housing affordability and environmental sustainability requires independent analysis of the concept of distributive justice.

#### Housing in Australia

In Australia, most people, as members of a 'household', access housing through the private market. A significant proportion of households – around 70 per cent – live in housing that they own outright, or repaying a mortgage, while 22 per cent of households rent their houses privately, with rental housing historically considered as a transition between living in the parental home and home ownership (Beer & Faulkner 2009). Only a very small proportion of households – around 5 per cent – rent from government or not-for-profit landlords (ABS 2009). The high rate of home ownership in Australia has given rise to the idea that Australia is a 'home owning society', and the so-called obsession with home ownership is often referred to, sometimes cynically, as the 'great Australian dream' (Allon 2008; Dalton 2010; Kemeny 1983).

Conventionally, the transition from living in the parental home to renting privately to home ownership is conceptualised as a part of a person's 'housing career'. In this conceptualisation movement between housing tenures is said to coalesce with different life stages including early adulthood, marriage, childrearing, and with increased income through paid employment (Beer & Faulkner 2009). This said, some people remain in rental housing over the course of their adult lives, whether they have the financial means or not (Phibbs & Young 2009).

In recent years, burgeoning house prices, moderately high, nominal, mortgage interest rates and low vacancy rates in private rental housing have fuelled concerns of a housing affordability problem in Australia, which has reached a crisis point. Housing booms over the period in question have been experienced in Europe (Spain and Ireland in particular) and North America and South Africa (albeit with different causes and impacts). When I commenced this research in late 2008, there had been two government inquiries into home ownership affordability in recent years (Productivity Commission 2004; SSCHAA 2008). In 2008, an inquiry into home ownership affordability by the Senate Select Committee on Housing Affordability in Australia (SSCHAA) found that there was a problem with housing affordability in Australia, with the caveat that the scale of the problem was not as widespread or as severe as had been claimed elsewhere.

#### The concept of housing affordability

In very broad terms, the concept of housing affordability denotes an acceptable ratio between a household's income (e.g. from wages, salary or social security payments) and their expenditure on housing, measured in rental or mortgage repayments. As I will detail in *Chapter Four*, over the last twenty years, housing affordability has been the dominant paradigm in Australian housing policy. The concept of housing affordability is a more recent inclusion to housing policy in Australia and in the UK. In North America, however, 'affordability targets' have been part of that country's housing policy since the 1970s (and the concept since the 1960s) (Gabriel et al. 2005).

In this research I argue that in Australia, housing affordability is not just a policy concept: it is an entire policy paradigm. That is, housing affordability is said to reflect the ascendency of neo-liberal economic, political and social ideology, central to the belief that private markets are the most efficient distribution mechanism and there should be minimal intervention from governments (Dodson 2007; Gabriel et al. 2005; King 2003a; Whitehead 1991). While classical economics tends to be associated with the work of eighteenth century Scottish economist and liberal social philosopher Adam Smith, the revival of classical economics in the 1970s and 1980s tends to be associated with the work of the Austrian-born economist and philosopher Friedrich Hayek and the American economist Milton Freidman, whose economic theories were underpinned by libertarian principles. Hayek argued that attempts to create greater economic equality inevitably rely on coercion and the destruction of a free society (Ball & Bellamy 2003; Hayek 1960; Sandel 2009). Friedman asserted that many government activities, such as social security, or compulsory retirement savings, illegitimately infringe on individual freedom (Sandel 2009). In public policy, neoliberalism is tied to the privatisation of goods and services formerly managed by governments, a commitment to reduce taxation and transfers, and the adoption of market-based reasoning into public policymaking (Berry 2011).

From this point of view, underpinning the concept of affordability is a presumption that the private market is the most efficient means of distributing housing. Generally, this process involved a move away from the state as a provider of housing, particularly to households of lower socio-economic means, to greater 'reliance on the private market and non-government organisations to provide and manage low-cost housing' (Gabriel et al. 2005 p.4; *see also* Beer, Kearins & Pieters 2007).

Whitehead (1991) argues that in the UK, the concept of housing affordability in policy was tied to a shift in the mechanisms used by governments to distribute housing (i.e. a change in housing policy instruments). Until the 1970s, housing policy had focused on addressing 'housing need', which was 'grounded in defining social objectives for housing and public sector mechanisms for achieving them' (Whitehead 1991, p.871). While concern for household incomes and housing prices had been implicit in debate over housing need; incomes and prices became the focus of housing policy from the 1970s, as the government increasingly relied on the provision of financial assistance to lower-income households to enable them to acquire housing through market-based means, as opposed to direct provision.

In Canada, Hulchanski (2005, p.1) links the emergence of housing affordability as a legitimate policy principle in the 1970s as a way of conceiving and addressing housing-related poverty, despite the amelioration of housing supply shortages and of urban slums, which defined the post Second World War period, as well as overcoming 'inadequacies of the mortgage lending system'. That is, while the use of housing affordability presumes that housing is distributed by market processes – by a household's ability to pay market prices for housing – the use of the housing affordability concept in Canadian housing policy emerged alongside recognised attempts by the national government to address shortfalls of housing market distribution. These attempts to build an inclusive housing system marked a shift away from housing policy in the immediate post Second World War period (1949–63) in which there was little national government involvement in the direct provision of social housing.

#### Housing affordability problems

To this point I have noted that housing affordability in very general terms concerns households' ability to pay for housing. Thus the 'problem' central to housing affordability is that some households may not be able to access housing on account of not being able to pay for it. Moreover, if some form of shelter is considered to be a basic human need, high housing cost relative to income may put at risk some households' ability to meet this basic need. Alternatively, a household may be forced to compromise other basic needs, such as for food or transportation, and in doing so increase their risk of adversely affecting health or wellbeing (Hulchanski 2002).

Whereas some measures of housing affordability are concerned with ongoing housing costs and are tenure neutral, other conceptions focus on private home ownership in particular. Prohibitively high house prices are the focus of much debate over housing affordability. While housing, like most infrastructure, is long-lasting or 'lumpy' (residential buildings often endure for fifty to 100 years) debate over housing affordability problems tends to focus on the 'front end' of housing costs (Quigley & Raphael 2004; Sedgwick 2008; Yates et al. 2007). That is, housing affordability is about the upfront cost of purchasing housing, ignoring ongoing housing-related costs such as for maintenance, utilities, and transportation. In *Chapter Four*, I will discuss throughout the thesis the relationship between concern for the affordability of home ownership and Australian housing policy settings.

#### Home ownership inequality, poverty and disadvantage

Conceptualisations of housing affordability often point to the impacts on wealth distribution as a reason why impeded access to home ownership is problematic. In Australia, there is considerable wealth tied up in housing. This means that from the outset, people who rent do not have the same housing wealth as owner-occupiers do. Yates et al. (2008) argue, for example, that prohibitively high home ownership entry costs have intergenerational impacts, as parents and grandparents who are not owner-occupiers are unlikely to have the wealth to assist their children or grandchildren to enter home ownership (*see also* ABS 2003; Horne et al. 2008). Increased housing costs relative to incomes therefore have a polarising impact, a situation where close to three-quarters of all households are in home ownership (Yates et al. 2008).

#### Home ownership and ontological security

Impeded access to home ownership is seen as problematic because of the special status ascribed to home ownership. Some authors have theorised this phenomenon in terms of 'ontological security', which refers to the order or continuity on which a person's self-identity is based. For example, Saunders (1984, p.223) proposes that the home (home ownership in particular) is a site where a person can realise ontological security by being able to carry out routine activities:

The desire for home ownership is primarily an expression of this need for ontological security, for a 'home of one's own' is above all else a physical (hence spatially rooted) and permanent (hence temporally rooted, even in perpetuity across generations) location in the world where the individual can feel, literally and metaphorically, 'at home'. It is in short, the individual solution to the societal problem of alienation in the broadest sense of that term.

In this conceptualisation of home ownership, Saunders reflects Giddens's definition of ontological security. Giddens (cited in Hulse & Saugeres 2008, p.12) argues that in the modern world a person's identity is not based on others or on stable categories, such as class, and therefore it has to be developed through 'an account of their lives based on their reflections about their experiences and interactions with others'.

In a similar way, King (2005) theorises the importance of housing in terms of the ordinariness it provides for. King draws on Waldron's work on homelessness and property rights, wherein washing, sleeping and cleaning are seen as essential in order to undertake any sort of life. What is important to note, he argues, is that these basic human activities require somewhere, a place in order to be undertaken:

A house is a static object; but the people who use it are not. They move around and use the house. They take it as space in which they can act and be. There is, then, mobility within a dwelling. And the house, as the place in which we dwell, sits behind that action. It enables the agency and accommodates it. [...] this is what the ordinary means and this is how we should see it: it is a facilitating space, a space to hold the actions within it. [...] It is to see housing as the background – the stage – that allows us to act. It is the set, the locale, where we play out our lives with other actors and their sets overlapping and interlinking with us (King 2005, p.57).

Here King does not specify any housing tenure in particular. He does intimate, however, that housing may have a special role in enabling the realisation of material

and immaterial priorities. In this research I argue that the perceptions that housing and home ownership in particular (in a way that other tenures may not), provide ontological security, suggest that immaterial concerns such as security, a place to call home, or a sense of belonging, also rank amongst concerns about what may be at stake in the trade-off between housing affordability and environmental sustainability in housing. In *Chapter Six*, I will explore how these immaterial concerns are accommodated within theories of distributive justice.

#### Measuring housing affordability problems

#### Housing stress

Housing stress is a measure of affordability based on a household's income and its ongoing housing costs. Generally, it is a tenure-neutral measure, meaning that it does not discriminate between households whose housing costs are for rental payments or for home mortgage payments (there are exceptions to this rule however). A household is said to be experiencing housing stress when its ongoing rental or mortgage payments exceed a benchmark proportion of its gross income. Generally, this benchmark is set at 30 per cent of household income; however whether this refers to gross or disposable income can vary. For example, according to the '30 rule' a household is said to be experiencing housing stress when its housing costs assume more than 30 per cent of its income. This benchmark traditionally reflected mortgage-lending rules of Australian banks, according to which a household (usually a single-income household) could borrow only such an amount that their mortgage repayments would equal 25 per cent of the income of the household's principle income earner (Berry 1977).

According to the '30:40 rule', otherwise known as the 'Ontario measure', a household is said to be experiencing housing stress if its housing costs exceed 30 per cent of household income *and* its income is within the bottom 40 per cent of income distribution. For example in a major research project into housing affordability for lower income households in Australia, Yates and Milligan *et al.* (2007) used the 30:40 rule to calculate the incidence of housing stress. It is assumed that households with lower incomes are more likely to suffer deprivation as a result of their housing costs. In addition, households with higher incomes are thought to be less likely to

face constrained housing choices than households on lower incomes. In other words, a higher income household may spend more than 30 per cent of their income on housing, but is more likely to have sufficient remaining income to meet its non-housing needs. In this way, housing stress is not so much concerned with the efficiency of the housing market, but with poverty and disadvantage (Berry 1997; Tanton & Phillips 2013).

The residual income measure looks at what is left of a household's income after housing costs. Using this measure a household is said to have a housing affordability problem if it cannot meet its non-housing needs at some minimum level after covering its housing costs (Stone, Burke & Ralston 2011).

#### The deposit gap measure

The deposit gap denotes the ratio of the down payment that an adult (on average weekly earnings) would need in order to purchase a median-priced house (assuming their mortgage payments would not exceed 30 per cent of their income), and their annual income. Yates (2008) has shown that while prior to the 1970s the deposit gap index indicates that home ownership was affordable for most Australian households, the deposit gap has widened since this time as average house prices have increased more rapidly than incomes. In the 1970s, Yates (2008) argues, a person would require a deposit of around two times their annual earnings; by the 2000s this deposit was generally three to four times their annual income. The growing gap between incomes and house prices is anticipated to worsen into the future, unless housing price inflation falls below income growth (Stone, Burke & Ralston 2011).

#### Critique of the housing affordability concept

To this point, I have shown that generally, conceptions of housing affordability concern the relationship between household income and housing costs. A number of authors argue that these conceptions are too vague to be useful for policy. Hulchanski (2005, p.1), for example, argues that as housing affordability 'alludes to income levels and housing costs' and therefore 'seems to make sense' there is something unsatisfactory about policy analysts' deployment of the concept as a way of defining a problem. Similarly, Whitehead (1991) argues that despite how central the concept

has been in housing policy development, its meaning is generally assumed and is rarely analysed.

Meanwhile, Quigley and Raphael (2004) point out that while housing affordability concerns incomes and housing costs, there are numerous influences on these factors. As such, the concept of housing affordability 'jumbles together in a single term a number of disparate issues' [which] raises difficulties in interpreting even the basic facts about housing affordability' (Quigley & Raphael 2004, p. 129). These disparate issues include the distribution of housing prices and incomes; public policies affecting housing markets; conditions affecting the supply of new or refurbished housing; and the choices that people make about how much of their income to devote to housing costs relative to other goods (Jacobs et al. 2007; Yates et al. 2007). In this way, the housing affordability concept doesn't account for the decision that households (including those on lower incomes) may make to pay more for their housing. As Sedgwick (2008, p.191) argues:

One of the difficulties in this area is in establishing the extent to which observed housing costs reflect choices made by the household. Even a poor household may choose a relatively high cost option because of their locational or other preferences and measures of housing affordability based on the ratio of some measure of housing costs to income need to be interpreted with care.

What is more, even increasing house prices (decreasing affordability) do not affect all households in the same way. For example, escalating house prices may present an obstacle to aspirant first home owners, but a boon for existing home owners including those who are already devoting a sizeable proportion of their income to housing mortgage payments (Quigley & Raphael 2004).

#### Housing affordability and structural factors

Another concern raised with the concept of housing affordability is that the attention it gives to private market processes underplays the role of structural drivers of housing costs. That is, the legislative and policy settings play a significant role in determining how housing is distributed (Quigley & Raphael 2004). In addition, some authors argue that while fluctuations in house prices, and low vacancy rates in rental housing can exacerbate affordability problems, fundamentally housing affordability is a structural rather than cyclical issue (Beer 1993; Coolen 2006; Hulchanski 1995;

Jarvis 2003; King 2003, 2005). Berry (1997, p.56), for example, points to a causal relationship between the incidence of poverty amongst rental households in Australian urban areas and the 'operation of the housing and credit markets and the reinforcing effect of public policies'.

#### Focus on cost over substantive attributes

The concept of housing affordability implies that what matters in debate over housing (and especially for housing policy) is how much housing costs, not whether it is of adequate amenity, location and so on. As Yates (2008) points out, use of the 30:40 rule does not capture those households who are paying less than 30 per cent of their income in housing costs, but are living in housing that is substandard in terms of amenity or location, and suffer hardship as a result. At the other end of the scale, the affordability concept does not seem to provide room to investigate whether we consume too much housing, or to prompt debate over changing norms around what is deemed adequate (Martin 2009; Pascoe 2008).

#### The concept of environmental sustainability

On the face of it, the concept of sustainability is basic. To sustain something is to maintain it, to keep it going, or to balance inputs and outputs (Fuller, de Jong & Mellersch-Lucas 2008; Holland 1996; Satterthwaite 1997). As Holland (1994, p.169) argues: 'On any account of sustainability [...] something or other is supposed to be kept going, or at any rate not allowed to decline, over time'.

Over 300 definitions of sustainability are said to be in use, however, and there is a vast literature on 'social sustainability', 'economic sustainability' 'sustainable development', 'cultural sustainability' and 'community sustainability', amongst others (Holland cited in Dobson 1998, p.408). This has led some authors to argue that sustainability, like housing affordability and social justice, is a contested concept, which has come to mean different things to different people (Dresner 2008; Fuller, de Jong & Mellersch-Lucas 2008; Marcuse 1998; Palmer, Cooper & van der Vorst 1997; Pearce et al. 1993; Sustainability Now 2010).

The concept of sustainability has been used to refer to a range of economic, social and political goals (Liitig & Grießler 2005). It tends to be associated with human impact on the environment, however, and with the consequences of this impact for people in the present and into the future. Some authors have gone so far as to argue that the only place for the concept is in relation to environmental goals. For example, Marcuse (1998, p.104) argues that as a goal for social policy, 'sustainability' is often confused with social justice. This is problematic, he argues, as some social programs and arrangements, such as dictatorships, are sustainable but not desirable, while other social arrangements, such as publicly financed, owned and operated housing may be desirable, but fail to be sustained, for whatever reason. Given the ambiguity over the meaning of sustainability, it is important to establish that in this research, I use the concept to refer to environmental goals, specifically where these goals have a bearing on how people are housed.

#### Environmental sustainability as 'sustainable development'

As it concerns environmental goals, the terms 'sustainability' and 'sustainable development' are often used interchangeably. The concept of sustainable development draws together the objectives of environmental protection and economic development, and negotiating the needs of people living in the present with those of people living in the future. The most widely cited definition of sustainable development as provided by the United Nations World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED) report *Our Common Future*, also known as the *Brundtland Report* (and herein referred to as such).

In the *Brundtland Report*, sustainable development is defined as 'development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs' (WCED 1987 cited in Palmer, Cooper & van der Vorst 1997, p.2). The report's authors argued that the concept of sustainable development offered a new approach to addressing the competing demands of environmental protection and economic development: sustainable development 'conveys the notion of trying to maximise economic wealth, while ensuring that the exploitation of environmental resources does not translate into a lower overall standard of living (however measured)' (Palmer, Cooper & van der Vorst 1997, p.87).

The *Brundtland Report* is credited with gaining political authority and widespread recognition for the idea of sustainable development: sustainable development became the key principle underpinning official environmental policy at both national and international levels (WCED 1987). Given its prominence, the Brundtland definition of sustainable development offers a starting point for analysis of the sustainable development conception.

In addition to balancing environmental protection and economic growth, the Brundtland definition of sustainable development points to balancing the welfare of present and future generations. To place this aspect of sustainable development in context, the Brundtland Report arose from debate over the economic development needs of 'developing countries' and the 'pathway' that this development was taking. The Brundtland Report alleges that people in economically developing countries are forced to engage in ecologically deleterious practices for survival, such as deforestation, and that the path to higher living standards taken by more economically developed countries placed great strain on the natural environment. While these environmentally harmful practices may bring immediate benefit, however, people living in the future would bear the brunt of the consequences of these practices. Nevertheless, any action to ameliorate environmental impacts of economic development ought to be sensitive to the fact that this development may be tied to improving the current living conditions of the world's poorest populations. For Dresner (2008), it is this uniting of concern for equity with concern for ecological preservation that was a political masterstroke of the Brundtland Report. Its authors overcame accusations made of the environmentalist movement (from the late 1960s) that it was not interested in the predicament of the world's poor and that environmentalism and environmentalists' concern for scarcity was merely a 'thinly disguised justification for inequality' (Dresner 2008, p.3).

#### The spectrum of sustainability theories

One approach to differentiating the myriad conceptualisations of environmental sustainability (as sustainable development) is to compare their 'strengths': that is, to define conceptualisations as very weak, weak, strong or very strong. The third widely

cited *Blueprint* series (the first of which is also known as the *Pearce Report*), by the late British environmental economist and University College of London professor David Pearce and colleagues, offers a typology based on the weak versus strong logic.

In a working paper with Turner, Pearce (1992, p.5) defined the conditions for achieving sustainability as 'leaving the next generation with a stock of capital assets that provide them with the capability to generate at least as much development as is achieved by this generation'. In other words, sustainability is non-declining capital, which includes human-made capital and natural capital. The former includes artefacts, such as factories, machinery and buildings, and the latter includes the knowledge, skills, virtues and habits needed to realise the value of natural and human-made capital. By 'natural capital', Pearce refers to aspects of nature that are utilised or potentially utilisable in human social and economic systems (Pearce et al. 1993).

Pearce's (1993) typology, or 'spectrum' of sustainability theories, is based on the following criteria: 'green labels', type of economy, management strategies and ethics. The resulting spectrum includes four different types of sustainability theory: two that are 'technocentric' or 'weak' theories; and two that are 'ecocentric' or 'strong' theories.

A key factor in determining whether a theory of sustainability is weak or strong is how it assumes human-made and natural forms of capital can be substitutive (Dietz & Neumayer 2007; Neumayer 2010; Pearce et al. 1993).<sup>2</sup> Weak and very weak theories assume some (weak) to infinite (very weak) substitutability between human and natural capital. Implicit in these approaches to sustainability is that while members of future generations should have access to the same total capital as current generations do, developments in man-made capital, or technological development, will make up for losses in natural capital. If the total capital comprises non-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Palmer *et al.* also point to the work of Faucheux and O'Conner on technology as the 'root of divisions' between weak and strong versions of sustainability).

renewable resources, however, the depletion of these resources must be offset by investment in substitute resources such as renewable energy (Pearce et al. 1993). As such, weak sustainability positions are deemed to be technocratic because of their faith in technological development. These theories also tend to be coupled with a strong push for economic growth (Dobson 1998; Dresner 2008; Pearce et al. 1993).

Strong and very strong theories are 'eco-centric'. In contrast to the weak and very weak positions in which 'there is no special place for the environment'; strong and very strong sustainability approaches are geared to preserving natural resources for their own sake. Thus, these theories assume there is limited (strong) or no (very strong) substitutability between human and natural capital. These theories support the stalling (strong) or reversal (very strong) of economic growth.

Dobson (1996, 1998) offers an alternative typology of environmental sustainability theories in which he challenges Pearce *et al's* (1993) inclusion of so-called 'weak' positions as theories of environmental sustainability. He argues that what is peculiar to the concept of environmental sustainability is firstly, a distinction between manmade and natural resources. Secondly, these theories share a conviction that natural resources are not wholly substitutable by man-made resources and therefore argue for 'the sustaining into the future of some aspect of the natural environment' (Dobson 1998, p.41). In other words, conceptions of environmental sustainability make a claim to the exceptionality of the natural world, even if only for human benefit. In the place of Pearce's sustainability spectrum, Dobson's (1998) typology differentiates theories of sustainability by how they specify what is being sustained; why; how; their primary objects of concern (present/future, human/non/human, needs/wants); and the degree of substitutability between natural and human-made capital.

Based on his typology, Dobson (1996, 1998) argues that as weak sustainability only concerns economic sustainability, thus undermining any unique value the natural world may have, this position cannot rightly be labelled as one concerning environmental sustainability. As such, Dobson (1998, p.54) asserts that Pearce and colleagues stretch the 'remit of the word beyond the range of notions of

environmental sustainability' by including weak sustainability in their typology of sustainability theories. Moreover, Dobson (1998, p. 55) argues that there are only very few advocates of 'cornucopian technocentrism' in the sustainability literature, and even if there are any, they would only be found on the 'wildest shores of neoclassical economic theory' (Not that the size of its following should count in whether a theory is valid or not.) Holland (1999), on the other hand, argues that the distinction between weak sustainability and strong sustainability is spurious as these are not normatively different positions. That is, weak and strong sustainability theories start from the premise of maintaining total capital, for the benefit of human welfare. In this way, a commitment to natural capital is not the same as a commitment to the preservation of nature per se. If human welfare proves not to be dependent on natural resources, human attachment to these resources will end. On the other hand, if human welfare is in fact dependent on natural resources, then the protection of these resources is secured by a commitment to total capital, which is weak sustainability. As such, so long as the 'value yielded by the capital in question is understood in terms of the capacity to generate human welfare', he argues, 'then the claim that there is a difference between the weak and strong positions is misleading' (Holland, 1999, p. 51). This dilemma, argues Holland, is difficult to resolve. This is because even if the distinction between the strong and weak positions is framed as normative (the example Holland gives is whether a section of old growth forest must enhance total capital), this would undermine the whole point of defining natural resources as a form of capital, which is to render them measurable (Holland 1996, 1999).

In this way, much like use of the concept of housing affordability provides little room for debate over the substantive attributes of housing – why being able to 'afford' housing is important in the first place – the reduction of the value of the natural world and human-made resources into forms of 'capital', while making them measurable, nevertheless obscures reasoning as to why these may be important. To this end, Holland (1999, p.55) argues that the inclusion of 'natural capital' in the definition of strong sustainability is a 'red herring'. Strong sustainability is underpinned by concern that the pursuit of development does not pay economically, and that unrestrained development is morally and ecologically indefensible. In this

research, I demonstrate that this problem of substitutability in the economic paradigm is too limited to enable resolution of the moral issues concerning housing and the environment it alludes to.

In this research, I define sustainability as the goal of managing human impact on the natural environment, because the natural environment is important for human welfare, as a resource and as something to be enjoyed aesthetically. I acknowledge that this goal is underwritten by a concern for the welfare of people living in the future. I argue, however, that it is important to establish independently and rigorously, what the obligations of justice are between contemporaries and between members of different generations, and how far into the future these obligations extend.

Even with this narrower scope, however, the concept of environmental sustainability encompasses a range of different human impacts on the environment. For example, the notion of an ecological footprint calculates the land area required to produce the resources consumed by a household (or other group) and to absorb the waste produced by that household. In this research, however, I focus specifically on the threat of climate change, and how policies to address this threat impact on policies concerned with how households in Australia are housed.

I focus this research on climate change, as over the course of the 1990s and into the next decade international debate over environmental sustainability has focused on climate change as a grave problem requiring urgent attention. As Fuller et al. argue, 'climate change now occupies centre stage as the world's greatest environmental challenge' (2008, p.235). Accordingly in the next section, I set out a conceptual analysis of environmental sustainability as climate change before analysing the potential tensions (potential, as these are only at this stage at a conceptual level) between policies to address climate change, and housing affordability. In *Chapters Four* and *Five* I examine more thoroughly how these tensions have or have not played out in Australian policy.

### Climate change and sustainability

In this section, I set out a conceptualisation of climate change, drawing from scientific and other literature on climate change. In this analysis, I draw attention to a number of aspects of climate change: the severity of the threats it poses, but also their uncertainty; the temporal dislocation of causes and effects of climate change; its anthropogenic nature; and the conceptualisation of climate change as an economic problem. Next, I apply this conceptualisation to housing. For the scientifically informed elements of this conceptualisation, I draw on the findings of the International Panel on Climate Change's (IPCC) Fourth Assessment Report, as the IPCC is generally regarded as the international scientific authority on climate change (Fuller, de Jong et al. 2008). I also focus on the conceptualisation of climate change in two landmark reports on the economic impacts of climate change: the 2006 UK Stern Review and the 2008 Australian Garnaut Review. It is important to clarify that in my analysis of Australian environmental policy in Chapter Five I critically engage with the role that the Garnaut Review has played in Australian environmental policy; in this chapter my analysis of this report is conceptual only.

The concept of climate change refers to long-term changes in the earth's climactic conditions, especially those changes that are more rapid and more wide-ranging than expected under natural processes. Often the concept is thus qualified as 'anthropogenic climate change', to emphasise the unnaturalness of the rate and profundity of these changes. Increased concentrations of greenhouse gases (GHGs) in the earth's atmosphere are said to be the chief cause of climate change. GHGs, which include carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide, are by-products of the burning of naturally occurring fossil fuels (e.g. brown and black coal, natural gas and petroleum products) for energy, and of changes in land use and agricultural production (Hodgkinson & Garner 2008; IPCC 2007a, 2007b, 2008). These gases trap the sun's heat as it is radiated back to earth, producing a warming effect, giving rise to the concept of 'global warming'. Technically climate change encompasses a broader range of impacts other than temperature change, however, with changes to patterns of rainfall, storms, droughts, flooding and rising sea level also deemed as indicators of a changing climate (CSIRO 2011; IPCC 2007a, 2007b; MacDonald 2010).

A key aspect of the conceptualisation of climate change is that it links accelerated change in the natural environment to human activity (specifically the use of fossil fuels) (CSIRO 2011; MacDonald 2010). The IPCC (2007a, 2007b) assert, for example, that there is a discernable human influence on changing climactic conditions. Despite the vulnerability of the Australian continent to the threat of climate change, Australia has the sixth highest per capita greenhouse gas emissions in the world (GCCR 2008c; Lauder 2009). While some of the predicted future climate change impacts have been deemed irreversible, the risk of many impacts could be reduced. Achieving this would require significant reductions to greenhouse gas emissions.

According to the IPCC, there are observable signs that climate change is already occurring: 'warming of the climate system is unequivocal, as is now evident from observations of increases in global average air temperatures, widespread melting of snow and ice and rising global average sea level' (IPCC 2007b, p.30; *see also* CSIRO 2011, Steffen et al. 2009). Future changes in climate are very likely to be larger than those observed during the first years of the twenty-first century, however, and are likely to include changes to water availability including increased flooding in some areas and drought in others; increased risk of species extinction; changes to food production capacity; coastal area damage; and increased risk of malnutrition, diarrhoea, cardio-respiratory and infectious diseases, leading to increased burden on health services. In this way, the causes and worst effects of climate change are temporally removed: that is, people in the future will experience the worst effects of climate change (Garnaut 2011; McDonald 2010; Reilly & Schimmelpfenning 2000; Stern 2007).

While the impacts of climate change are expected to be global in their reach, they are forecast to be unevenly distributed, within and between societies. A number of authors point to marked differences across regions. The IPCC (2007a) points to 'differences across regions' wherein vulnerability to the impacts of climate change

will be influenced by economic position, age and geography.<sup>3</sup> For example, on the Australian continent, which is already hot and dry, the risks associated with climate change are high (GCCR 2008b; IPCC 2007a; Kates 2000; Stern 2007). The likely direct adverse impacts of unmitigated climate change are predicted to extend across public health, food production infrastructure (including housing) and water supply (IPCC 2007a). These risks include a significant loss of biodiversity in 'ecologically rich sites', such as the Great Barrier Reef, by 2050; intensification of water security problems in southern and eastern parts of Australia; declining agricultural and forestry production due to drought and fire; risks from rising sea levels; and increased frequency and severity of storms and flooding in coastal areas by 2050, exacerbated by coastal development and population growth (Hansen 2007; IPCC 2007a, 2007b).

Uncertainty about the full impact of climate change is another key aspect of its conceptualisation (Anthoff 2013; GCCR 2008b; Garnaut 2008b, 2011; Kelly 2009; Reilly et al. 2000; Stern 2007). That is, the actual outcomes of climate change may be more benign or grave than predicted: climate change is 'uncertain in its form and extent, rather than drawn in clear lines. It is insidious other than (as yet) directly confrontational' (GCCR 2008, p.xviii; *see also* Gardiner 2011b; Sunstein 2007; The Australia Institute 2008). In this research, I argue that this uncertainty has implications for the evaluation of what is the right thing to do about housing affordability and sustainability, as the future impact of any action taken is uncertain. What is more, making sense of the impacts of climate change, however uncertain, relies on highly mediated scientific knowledge. Coupled with the inter-temporal aspect of climate change, this uncertainty and scientific mediation seems to render these impacts even more abstract.

### Climate change as an economic problem

Climate change has been conceptualised not only as an environmental but economic problem (Bell 2010; Neumayer 2007). Of particular note in this regard is the report of the 2006 Stern Review of the Economic Impacts of Climate Change, prepared for the British Government by Lord Nicholas Stern, who was head of the UK Government Economic Service and, at the time of writing the review, adviser to the UK government on the economics of climate change. A similar review in Australia, led by Professor Ross Garnaut investigated the economic impacts of climate change in Australia. As both these reports are so closely linked to developments in Australian and international policy on climate change, I will examine them in Chapter Five. My analysis in this chapter focuses only on how these authors conceptualise climate change.

Within the framework of climate change as an economic problem, Stern and Garnaut conceptualise climate change as a grave 'market failure'. In fact, Stern (2007, p.27) goes so far as to argue that climate change is the 'greatest market failure the world has ever seen'. Greenhouse gas emissions are a 'negative market externality' as the social costs of the burning of fossil fuels for energy and the resulting atmospheric pollution, are greater than the private costs. In Australia, for example, prices for energy, which is almost totally sourced from non-renewable and carbon emissions-intensive fossil fuels, are amongst the cheapest in the world (GCCR 2008b, p.xviii). Garnaut argues that these prices do not reflect the impact of energy consumption on people living in the future or in other societies.

Greenhouse gas emissions are a negative market externality as the social costs of energy consumption and resulting greenhouse gas emissions are greater than the private costs. In Australia, for example, energy prices are amongst the cheapest in the world, and almost all energy supplied in Australia comes from non-renewable sources, and while cheaper than non-renewable sources of energy, is considerably more emissions intensive (ABS 2010).

One of the obstacles to mitigating climate change is that the use of energy is ubiquitous and so the market failure is pervasive. As I will discuss in more detail in *Chapter Five*, fossil fuels that are mined in Australia are not only used to fuel

domestic energy use, but they are also exported internationally for the same purpose. In turn international demand for Australian fossil fuels has not only contributed to increased greenhouse gas emissions internationally, but has also been a key driver of economic growth in Australia and in Asia. As such, Garnaut posits that addressing the market failure of climate change will require structural change in Australia: 'the solutions to the climate change challenge' Garnaut argues, require 'removing the links between economic activity and greenhouse gas emissions' (GCCR 2008b, p.xxi).

Having conceptualised climate change as an economic problem, market failure more specifically, the Stern (2007) and Garnaut reviews (2008a, 2008b) argue that with some effort, it is possible to overcome this failure. As motivation for overcoming this problem, these authors argue that the economic costs (however distributed) of taking early action to mitigate the worst impacts of climate change are much less costly than delaying this action.

### Climate change and housing

The relationship between environmental sustainability and how people are housed can be conceptualised in a number of ways (Lovell 2004). Within a broad conceptualisation of environmental sustainability, household energy use may be conceived of as problematic because of a drain on scarce energy resources and because of the system-wide impacts of climate change. In focusing on climate change in particular, attention is drawn to a household's greenhouse gas emissions. In any case, the concept of sustainability draws attention to household energy use, particularly where this energy is sourced from fossil fuels. In this respect, household greenhouse gas emissions may be tied to housing construction (in the form of 'embodied energy'), the energy households draw on for lighting and appliance use, such as for heating and cooling ('operational energy'), and in moving to and from the home ('transport energy'). In this research, I focus on the tensions for housing affordability that arise from policies to reduce households' operational energy.

The literature on operational energy tends to point to the different 'end-uses' of energy: that is, what energy is used to do. Here space heating and cooling is

emphasised, along with water heating and appliance use, which are the principal enduses of energy, and also the greatest contributors of greenhouse gas emissions (Rickwood 2009). Australia Bureau of Statistics (ABS 2010) data shows that these three end-uses contribute around 64 per cent of total household greenhouse gas emissions.

A range of factors is said to impact on household energy use. Amongst these factors are the increasing size of housing (as measured in square metres), decreasing household size, population increase, and growth in the number of appliances and information technology equipment per household. As such, the physical form of housing – its design, size, orientation, materials, and so on – is said to play a role in creating demand for energy (ABS 2006). For example, a dwelling with a large floor area may require greater energy for heating and cooling, and offers greater floor space to occupy with appliances, than a smaller dwelling. At the same time, the type of energy supplied to households also influences the greenhouse gases emitted as a result of this energy use. From this perspective reducing household greenhouse gas emissions may involve changing the type of energy supplied to households, away from fossil-fuel sources, to other sources (e.g. solar power).

Within the theoretical frame of climate change as market failure, household energy use can be theorised as reflecting the institutionalisation of this market failure at the household level. That is, the disjuncture between the private and social costs of energy use is reflected in how people are housed: how housing is designed and constructed, and how it is used. Within this conceptualisation, Garnaut argues that addressing the market failure of energy pricing is complicated, however, by 'principal-agent' market failures, which present in rental housing. That is, households in rental housing are responsible for meeting their energy costs; however they often face little incentive (due to uncertainty of their tenure) and have very limited means (as they do not own the property they inhabit) to make physical improvements to their housing in order to make it more energy efficient. This problem is exacerbated for lower income households, which tend to use less total energy than other households, yet pay a greater proportion of their income on energy (GCCR 2008b, pp.413-6).

Critics of end-use and market-based analyses of household energy consumption argue that these analyses rely on an overly instrumental understanding of human energy use. That is, they fail to capture that energy use is tied up in everyday practices, such as washing, cooking, cleaning and laundering (Crosbie, Stokes & Guy 2008; Guy 2006; Hackett & Leutzenhiser 1991). Socio-technical scholar Elizabeth Shove (2003a, 2003b) argues, for example, that these practices are not informed by market price signals, but are conditioned by socialised and evolving norms of cleanliness, comfort and convenience. It is beyond the scope of this research to delve much further into socio-technical theory. Nevertheless, it is worthy to engage with, even at a cursory level, as it suggests two matters of importance for analysing what may be 'at stake' in the debate over housing affordability and environmental sustainability. Firstly, how people use their housing (including how they use energy) is tied to the ordinary activities of everyday life. Secondly, that as a social phenomenon, expectations about what is an adequate standard of housing and how households live out their home lives, is not fixed, but can change. This change is shaped in part by social factors.

### Housing affordability and sustainability

In this research, I define the concept of housing affordability as pertaining to an acceptable ratio between a household's income and its housing costs. I define sustainability as a goal of managing human impact on the natural environment. I focus on anthropogenic climate change – changes to climatic conditions resulting from increased concentrations of greenhouse gases in the earth's atmosphere – as the key threat to sustainability. In terms of how people are housed, I take the pursuit of sustainability to concern reducing household carbon emissions, specifically through the use of energy from fossil fuels (though at this stage stop short of defining what measures this may involve). In this section, I observe how the concepts are analogous and how these may conflict, as a preliminary to my conceptual discussion on distributive justice in *Chapter Three*, and my analysis of Australian housing and environmental policy in *Chapters Four* and *Five*.

Conceptualisations of housing affordability and environmental sustainability are framed by market-based reasoning, which eschews the structural nature of the problems they refer to. In the case of housing affordability, the language of household incomes and housing costs and prices also draws attention away from the substantive attributes of the housing people are able to access, their need for housing, how housing is valued, and what they do with this housing. In a similar way, the notion of environmental problems as failures of the market only explains that people use energy, and not the meanings or values that are invested in the practices in which energy is consumed. The assumption that these various aspects of how people are housed are thus ignored or assumed to be substitutable by a market value.

Conceptualisations of sustainability and affordability contain references to matters of distribution. Conceptualisations of sustainability raise questions of the human impacts on the natural environment and implications for the welfare of people living in the future. Meanwhile insofar as housing prices may limit access to private home ownership, the concept of housing affordability draws attention to income disparities and the impacts of the distribution of housing wealth between contemporaries. As such, one of the central conflicts between housing affordability and environmental sustainability is in terms of whose interests these concepts focus on. With housing affordability, the focus is largely confined to people alive in the present. In contrast, sustainability stretches this time horizon to include people living in the future in some cases fifty or 100 years hence. This said, while the relationship between sustainability and justice is explored in some cases extensively in the literature, there is limited analysis of distributive justice in the literature on housing affordability.

The extent to which there is a trade-off between housing affordability and sustainability ultimately depends on the steps taken to advance these goals. At a theoretical level, the concept of sustainability gives license to policies that reduce the environmental impact of how people are housed. Should these policies increase the cost of housing, then we can be said to encounter a trade-off between housing affordability and sustainability. At the same time, the concept of housing affordability also gives license to policies that lower or minimise the cost of housing (relative to household income). Should these policies be tied to increased greenhouse

gas emissions from housing, then we can also be said to encounter a trade-off between affordability and sustainability.

In this research I question how these trade-offs between housing affordability and sustainability ought to be addressed. As the concept of distributive justice is implied, but under-theorised in the literature on housing in *Chapter Three* I turn to the field of political philosophy to develop a conception of social justice to assist in this evaluation. I draw on this conception in analysing how the tensions between affordability and sustainability have played out in Australian policy in *Chapters Four* and *Five*.

### **CHAPTER THREE: SOCIAL JUSTICE**

In this research I contribute to the debate over housing affordability and environmental sustainability by exploring this debate as a problem of social justice. That is, my research question is what is the right thing to do about housing affordability and environmental sustainability? In *Chapter Two*, I noted that ideas about justice are implied and explicit in conceptions of housing affordability and environmental sustainability. For example, protecting the welfare of future generations tends to be espoused in conceptions of environmental sustainability. In this research, I argue that making decisions about what is the right thing to do about housing and the environment can be enriched by exploring beyond the ideas of justice contained within prevailing conceptions of housing affordability and environmental sustainability. To this end in this chapter I analyse the concept of social justice.

My analysis centres on the work of the late American philosopher John Rawls (1921–2002) and his *Justice as Fairness* theory in particular. I take *Justice as Fairness* as my starting point primarily because it is pre-eminent amongst contemporary theories of justice: Rawls's rights-based approach is the predominant approach used in moral and political philosophy today (Sandel 1998; Sen 2009). I examine the key elements of *Justice as Fairness*, as presented in Rawls's seminal publication *A Theory of Justice* (1971) and further developed in *Political Liberalism* (1993) and in *Justice as Fairness: A restatement* (2001) (herein 'Restatement'). These elements include: (i) Rawls's focus on the ideal social structure as the subject of justice; (ii) the original position; and (iii) the principles of justice. I examine these elements within the context of the utilitarianism Rawls opposed and the Kantian moral philosophy he built his conception of justice on. Alongside *Justice as Fairness*, I also explore the alternative conceptions of justice and critique offered by Amartya Sen's capabilities theory of justice and by Michael Sandel's espousal of virtue ethics. My objective in exploring this literature is not to set upon one theory of

justice and then to apply it to the housing affordability and environmental sustainability problem. Rather, I have sought from this literature a set of questions and proposals through which to open up the debate about housing and the environment.

The analysis is structured as follows. First, to provide context for Rawls's work, I outline his method of reflective equilibrium and some aspects of Immanuel Kant's moral philosophy and David Hume's conception of the circumstances of justice. I then explore the following questions in relation to *Justice as Fairness*: what is justice about (as a philosophical concept); what is at stake; the principles of justice; the community of justice; and justice as public reasoning. For each of these dimensions, I present Rawls's position, and then counterpoise this with critique and alternative conceptions provided by Sen and Sandel (where suitable).

Having presented analysis of the social justice literature I then draw from this literature what I regard to be its most critical elements for my primary research question. These include the role of social and political institutions in questions of justice; the difference between ends-based and means-based conceptions of justice; and justice as a process of public reasoning. This lays the foundation for my analysis of Australian housing and environmental policy in the subsequent chapters.

# Justice as a philosophical concept

Moral and political philosophy, stretching back in history to the Ancient Greek philosophers, such as Aristotle and Plato, has provided a rich body of literature on the concept and application of social justice. Wolff (2007) suggests that the fault lines of disagreement amongst philosophers relate to at least two questions. The first question is fundamental and concerns the nature of justice as a philosophical concept: that is, 'what is justice about'? The second is a substantive question concerning on what grounds we can evaluate whether an arrangement or action is

just or unjust.<sup>4</sup> In this chapter, I refer to these two aspects of justice using Rawls's distinction of the 'concept' and the 'conception' of justice respectively.

In terms of the concept of justice, Wolff (2007) argues that there are three main views. The first view is that justice is about mutual advantage. The second is that justice is about reciprocity. The third view is that justice is about empathy. In all three views, justice is based upon the qualities of an action. In this chapter, I tender that there is a fourth view, which is important to recognise, which is that justice is about virtue (the actor, not the act). According to this view, justice is based on the qualities of the actor. As I will show in this chapter, the distinctions between these concepts in Rawls's work are not so clearly defined.

While Wolff's framework is useful as a starting point for analysing the concept of justice, I have found Dobson's analysis useful in providing an approach to analysing the conceptions of justice. Dobson's (1998, pp.62-4) approach involved attempting to distill from a number of texts 'the principal questions to which any theory of justice would have to have an answer' in order to establish the 'component parts of theories of justice'. In the end, Dobson (1998, p.63) argues that conceptions of social justice reckon with four questions:

- 1. What is the community of justice?
- 2. What is the basic structure of the conception?
- 3. What is being distributed?
- 4. What is the principle of distribution?

In this chapter, I use these questions as prompts for my analysis of the social justice literature, and *Justice as Fairness* in particular.

# John Rawls's use of the concept of reflective equilibrium

Rawls's first publication of his theory *Justice as Fairness* was in the 1958 journal paper of the same name (Rawls 1958). He presented it most comprehensively, however in the 1971 tome *A Theory of Justice*. In the thirty years following the publication of *A Theory of Justice*, Rawls reprised *Justice as Fairness* in light of

\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In *Models of Distributive Justice*, Wolff presents the substantive question first and the deeper question second. For the sake of flow, I have reversed the order of these questions in my analysis.

critique in lectures at Harvard University, and in publications including *Political Liberalism* (1993) and in *Justice as Fairness: A restatement* (2001). *Justice as Fairness* had a profound impact on American moral and political philosophy. Rawls is credited with overturning the dominance of utilitarianism in the discipline, so much so that following the publication of *A Theory of Justice* rights-based approaches to justice would become the dominant paradigm. In doing so, Rawls is said to have helped revive political theory in America, restoring 'long suppressed moral questions to the status of serious objects of political philosophical investigation' (Habermas 1999, p.109) and to have inspired debate within, between and against liberal theories of justice (Sandel 2005). Prior to examining the key aspects of Rawls's theory, I will first outline his method, reflective equilibrium, and key influences on his theory.

In developing his theory of justice, Rawls used a method called reflective equilibrium. The steps involved in achieving reflective equilibrium are not unique to moral and political philosophy, but they are also common to other disciplines, such as logic and science, and in inductive and deductive reasoning. Achieving reflective equilibrium involves aligning considered judgements or intuitions, the principles that govern these judgements, and the theoretical considerations that come to bear on accepting judgements and principles. In this respect, reflective equilibrium is a way of defending judgements about justice on the basis of their internal coherence rather than by reference to claims about the truth (Daniels 2011; Rawls 1972). In *A Theory of Justice*, Rawls (1972) distinguishes two different types of reflective equilibrium: narrow and wide.

Narrow reflective equilibrium (NRE) is achieved by aligning intuitions to principles. Attaining this coherence may involve the refinement of principles so that these align with intuitions and *vice versa*; achieving NRE does not require these principles to be subject to criticism from alternative moral points of view, however. In this way, NRE provides a descriptive more than normative account of justification (Daniels 2011): 'In the first case', Rawls (1972, p.49) claims, 'we would be describing a person's sense of justice more or less as it is although allowing for the smoothing out of certain irregularities'.

Rawls argued that there must be something more than coherence between principles and judgements to defending a moral position, and so distinguished his approach as fitting 'wide reflective equilibrium' (WRE). As Daniels notes, Rawls felt that 'to be of interest to moral philosophy, a reflective equilibrium should seek what results from challenging existing beliefs by arguments and implications that derive from the panoply of developed positions in moral and political philosophy' (Daniels 2011). Importantly, Rawls felt that achieving WRE lent stability to a theory of justice. In this way also, the method allows for the possibility that a person may radically revise their beliefs about what is just through their encounters with alternative conceptions of justice. Wide reflective equilibrium can only be achieved therefore 'after a person has weighed various proposed conceptions' and 'has either revised his [sic] judgements to accord with one of them or held fast to his [sic] original convictions (and the corresponding conception)' (Rawls 1972, p.48). Given the practical obstacles to examining every possible conception of justice, the closest a philosopher can get to achieving WRE is to 'study the conceptions of justice known to us through the tradition of moral philosophy and any further ones that occur to us, and then to consider these' (Rawls 1972, p.49).

#### Influence of Kant and Hume on Rawls's Justice as Fairness

Liberal theories of justice often treat as axiomatic the idea that people are able to and ought to be free to determine their own ends, or versions of the good life, yet go about protecting this freedom (and also constraining it) differently. As such, the tradition includes theories that determine what is right, based on consequences (especially of utility), the principle of desert, and those that determine what is right in categorical or *deontic* terms. These two approaches have given rise, respectively, to theories of social justice based on a principle of maximising general utility and to theories in which justice is conceived in terms of a social contract. It is in the second cohort of liberal theories that *Justice as Fairness* arises from.

In developing his theory of justice, Rawls drew on, defended and reputed, conceptions of justice and morality presented across a breadth of liberal, moral and political philosophy including social contract theorists and utilitarianism, but also

even socialist traditions. Thus, while *Justice as Fairness* is a social contract theory of justice, it includes a refinement of ideas found outside of the social contract tradition<sup>5</sup>. In order to appreciate *Justice as Fairness* and to make sense of the main criticisms of this theory, it is instructive firstly to note the influence of the work of Immanuel Kant, and also of David Hume, on Rawls's theory. In the discussion that follows, I do not claim to present a comprehensive account of the philosophy of Kant or of Hume. Instead, I present the aspects of their theories that enable a more fruitful analysis of Rawls's work. It is important to point out the influence of Kant's and Hume's theories on *Justice as Fairness* as these philosophers were from outside of the social contract traditions.

#### Influence of Kantian moral philosophy

The work of German Enlightenment philosopher and physicist Immanuel Kant, while not strictly about justice, was highly influential on *Justice as Fairness*. As set out in *Groundwork of the Metaphysic of Morals*, first published in 1785, a pivotal concept of Kant's moral theory is the categorical imperative, which is based on a unique conceptualisation of freedom and reason (Kant 2009). Kant published between the years of the American and French Revolutions, and his moral philosophy, the concept of the categorical imperative in particular, is said to have provided a powerful basis for the concept of the rights of man, and more recently, the concept of universal human rights (Kant 2009).

Kant challenged the utilitarian maxim that the pursuit of happiness is the expression of human freedom (Sandel 2009). As a person's desires or inclinations are outside of their own control, these preferences aren't chosen: we just have them. As such, freedom is expressed in the exercise of reason, which means acting *in spite of* one's desires. In this respect, action that is socially conditioned or biologically determined is not 'free' action, but is 'heteronomous', because experiencing freedom involves

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In *Lectures on the History of Political Philosophy*, for example, Rawls notes the similarities between the substantive content of his principles of justice and utilitarian philosopher John Stuart Mill's 'principles of the modern world' (2009, p.267).

acting autonomously from these desires. As Rawls (1972, p.252) sets out in *A Theory of Justice*:

Kant held, I believe, that a person is acting autonomously when the principles of his action are chosen by him as the most adequate possible expression of his nature as a free and equal rational being. The principles he acts upon are not adopted because of his social position or natural endowments, or in the view of the particular kind of society in which he lives or the specific things he happens to want. To act on such principles is to act heteronomously.

Sandel (2009) illustrates Kant's distinction between autonomous and heteronomous action using the analogy of a billiard ball. 'When you drop a billiard ball it falls to the ground', Sandel (2009, p.109) explains, 'As it falls the billiard ball is not acting freely; its movement is governed by the laws of nature – in this case, the law of gravity [...] To act freely is not to choose the best means to a given end; it is to choose the end itself, for its own sake – a choice that human beings can make and billiard balls (and most animals) cannot'. This means that to act freely is to act in accordance with a law a person gives to himself or herself. By extension, autonomy also relies on not being treated as a means to other people's ends. It is this point – of people being ends in themselves – that Kant uses to challenge the central tenet of utilitarianism. Kant maintains that under a principle of general utility, wherein an action is right if it maximises the general utility or happiness, a person can legitimately be used as a means to others' ends.

Kant's concepts of categorical imperatives and hypothetical imperatives relate to his idea about how reason is used. Hypothetical imperatives rely on using reason instrumentally (i.e. adjudicating between different means to an end, or determining the rightness of actions based on their consequences). Kant regarded hypothetical imperatives as therefore contingent on further information (about outcomes). On the other hand, categorical imperatives are unconditional: these apply universally. Categorical imperatives are 'concerned not with the matter of the action and its presumed results, but with its form, and with the principle from which it follows. And what is essentially good in the action consists in the mental disposition let the consequences be what they may' (Kant cited in Sandel 2009, 119). In this way, Kant felt that categorical imperatives were much more reliable and thus more useful in moral evaluations, than hypothetical imperatives. Ultimately, he argued, to act

autonomously – that is to exercise freedom – relies on acting out of a categorical imperative that a person reasons for himself or herself. This is also where Kant's concept of duty comes into play. That is, duty is the necessity of acting in accordance with a universal law.

Kant uses a thought experiment, which he calls the 'kingdom of ends' to describe an ideal world, or 'transcendental' state in which rational persons are united under universal laws they are bound by, but are also the authors of, and are treated as ends rather than as means to other people's ends (i.e. they are wholly autonomous). Later in this chapter, I will discuss how Rawls drew on Kant's kingdom of ends in his own thought experiment: the original position.

### Influence of Hume's (1711-1776) Circumstances of Justice

The work of eighteenth century Scottish Enlightenment philosopher, historian and economist David Hume was also influential on Rawls's work. Hume was a utilitarian, and was critical of the social contract theories expounded by Thomas Hobbes, John Locke and Jean-Jack Rousseau. Essentially, Hume challenged the conventional wisdom amongst contractarian theorists, which held that implied consent is the basis of the legitimate use of political power. His point was that this conception of justice was not relevant to the social and political circumstances at the time: the notion of government by consent could only reasonably apply under certain 'Circumstances of Justice' (Rawls 2007, pp.165-6; see also Wolff 2007).

The 'objective' circumstances of justice include the coexistence of many individuals with similar mental and physical powers in a situation of moderate scarcity. Thus, if there is such abundance of goods that everyone can get what they want without limiting another person's ability to do so, then justice is not applicable (Wolff 2007, p.169). Equally and controversially, Hume claims that justice cannot be said to apply when there is such scarcity that survival is at stake.

Under the 'subjective' circumstances of justice these individuals have similar needs but different 'plans of life' or conceptions of the good and are not interested in others' interests. Thus in contrast to Kant's utopic kingdom of ends, for Hume justice applies when these conflicting life plans lead to conflict over scarce goods. By implication, central to the circumstances of justice is an idea of mutual advantage. That is, people will be motivated to negotiate the terms of the distribution of scarce resources when they have something to gain from doing so (or to lose from *not* doing so). The work of justice therefore then becomes to distribute the gains from mutual cooperation between persons who are roughly equal. Under these conditions, argues Hume, the principles of justice could only be those that people being ruled would actually agree to.

In developing *Justice as Fairness* Rawls (1972, p.126) treats Hume's *Circumstances of Justice* as 'the normal conditions under which human cooperation is both possible and necessary'. As Wolff (2007) points out, however, while Hume's work has been very influential, the endpoint of his reasoning about justice is unnerving in that a person's bargaining power under the *Circumstances of Justice* is not based on their potential contribution to others but on the extent that that contribution is needed by others. Later in this chapter I demonstrate how this critique of Hume's theory is important to understanding the critique of Rawls's theory of justice by exponents of capabilities-based theories of justice (Nussbaum 2002, 2006).

### The basic structure of society as the subject of justice

As a philosophical concept, justice is broadly defined as being about mutual advantage, reciprocity, empathy and virtue (Wolff 2007). For Rawls (1972, p.7) the rules that govern social and political institutions, which he calls the 'basic structure', and the way in which these institutions distribute 'fundamental rights and duties and determine the division of advantages from social cooperation' is the subject of justice. These institutions include the legal system, competitive markets, private property in the means of production and the monogamous family (Rawls 1972).

For Rawls (2005, p.266), the role of the institutions that form the basic structure is to 'secure the background conditions against which the actions of individuals and associations take place'. If these background institutions are not just, he adds, any social process will cease to be just, however 'free and fair' these processes seem when viewed independently. To illustrate this point, Rawls deliberates on the

distribution arising from market transactions. He argues that the distribution resulting from market exchange is not just, if the distribution of income and wealth, the structure of the system of markets, and the system of transfers, are not just in the first place. 'The existing wealth', Rawls (2006, p.266) claims, 'must have been properly acquired and all must have had fair opportunities to earn income, to learn wanted skills, and so on'.

Rawls was not only concerned with social institutions, but also the rules to govern the *ideal* arrangement of social and political institutions, which he refers to as a 'well-ordered society'. In this sense, Rawls's theory does not concern how to attend to particular cases of apparent injustice, which he argues is the case with 'partial compliance theory' (Rawls 1972, p.306). Instead, Rawls argues (1972, p.9) that 'the nature and aims of a perfectly just society is the fundamental part of the theory of justice'.

### Institutions 'shape the kind of citizens we are'

One reason Rawls gives for focusing on social and political institutions is because of the influence the basic structure has on citizens, materially, and even in terms of the political culture. As he sets out in *Political Liberalism*:

[T]he institutional form of society affects its members and determines in large part the kind of citizens they are. The social structure also limits people's ambitions and hopes in different ways; for they will with reason view themselves in part according to their position in it and take account of the means and opportunities they can realistically expect [...] More generally, the basic structure shapes the way the social system produces and reproduces over time a certain form of culture shared by persons with certain conceptions of the good (Rawls 2006, p.269).

To place this in context, Rawls wrote *A Theory of Justice* during the late 1960s in part against the background of the Vietnam War. He opposed US involvement in the war and publicly declared his belief that it was an unjust war. In his account of Rawls's life and work, Pogge (2007, p.19) maintains that Rawls was 'deeply concerned to understand what flaws in his society might account for its prosecuting a plainly unjust war with such ferocity and what citizens might do to oppose the war'. Rawls was convinced that this injustice was a consequence of vested interests in the US political system, and that the uneven distribution of wealth in American society

and the easy conversion of this wealth into political power were the social flaws that explained citizens' support of the war. More specifically, the US political system was structured such that the vested interests of wealthy individuals and corporations in particular those in the defence industry, could influence political outcomes by contributing financially to political parties and organisations (Pogge 2007).

In addition, during the war, the US government compulsorily conscripted men under twenty-seven years of age to fight in the war, with the exception of those men who were studying and performing well in their studies. Undoubtedly, there was a racial dimension to this selection as well. Rawls felt that this policy favoured young men whose families could afford to send them to good universities, while men whose families were of lesser means were sent to fight the war. Rawls found this arrangement unjust, arguing that 'the sons of the rich and the well-connected should share this fate equally with the rest' (Pogge 2007, p.20). That is, Rawls questioned why the lives of some young men were treated as being of different value. Thus, while Rawls's greater body of work recognises and is concerned with injustice, he saw its causes and sources of alleviation coming from institutions. This is elaborated on in *The Law of Peoples*:

[T]he great evils of human history – unjust war and oppression, religious persecution and the denial of liberty of conscience, starvation and poverty, not to mention genocide and mass murder – follow from political injustice, with its own cruelties and callousness [...] once the gravest forms of political injustice are eliminated by following just (or at least decent) social policies and establishing just (or at least decent) basic institutions, these great evils will eventually disappear (Rawls 1999, pp.6-7).

Accordingly, Rawls argues that the function of a theory of justice ought to focus on institutional reform.

## Institutions and the complexity of modern society

Rawls also treats institutions as the subject of justice on account of the difficulty of tying actions to consequences in complex societies, an argument that he outlines in his examination of utilitarianism, as presented in his 1955 journal paper *Two Concepts of Rules*. In this paper, Rawls (1955, pp.3-4) sets out to 'defend utilitarianism against those objections which have traditionally been made against it'

by adjusting utilitarianism to make it a 'much better explication of our considered moral judgements that these traditional objections would seem to admit'.

Rawls argues that utilitarianism is most defensible if it is applied at the level of *practice*, that is, the 'set of rules rather through which human interactions are structured' (Pogge 2007, p.30), as opposed to the 'particular actions falling under it [the practice]'. Rawls labelled these different conceptions 'institutional' and 'interactive' respectively. Interactional moral analysis focuses on how an individual agent's actions bring about greater or lesser utility. On the other hand institutional analysis focuses on sets of practices designed to maximise utility. In this setting, whether an action is just or unjust is based on how it complies with that set of practices. Freeman (2007) argues that Rawls felt it is too difficult, in complex social systems, to isolate individual actions to actual outcomes, as there are too many variables involved. As Pogge (2007, p.31) details: Rawls concentrated on social justice as modern societies 'give rise to large-scale problems that can be much better addressed through institutional rather than interactional moral analysis'.

#### Sen's critique of perfectly just institutions

In response to Rawls's definition of the concept of justice, Sen challenges Rawls on two fronts: the first concerns the primacy Rawls places on institutions *per se*, and the second also on the *ideal* social structure in particular. Like Rawls, Sen's conception of justice is premised on the notion of protecting human freedom to seek out a version of the good life. Sen departs from Rawls, however, in that he sees that justice is concerned with whether people are actually able to achieve these ends. From this point, he argues that to be useful for practical reasoning about justice, a theory of justice needs to provide ways to evaluate actual social conditions: that is 'ways of judging how to reduce injustice and advance justice' through the 'reasoned choice of policies, strategies or institutions' (Sen 2009, p.15). As such, social and political institutions are an important instrument of advancing justice and addressing injustice in many ways, but justice is not *about* institutions.

In response to Rawls's focus on the ideal basic structure, Sen questions how valid it is to claim that our notions of the ideal should form the basis of decisions about what is right in the real world, wherein decisions are often between partial and imperfect options. For one thing, knowing what is ideal does not necessarily help in making these decisions. In *The Idea of Justice* Sen illustrates this argument using the analogy of trying to determine what the perfect artwork is. Knowing that the Mona Lisa is the ideal painting does not really help in determining whether a Picasso painting is better than one by Salvador Dali (Sen 2009). Even if we could rank these paintings, he goes on to argue, it is not a given that an option that is closer to the ideal than another option is actually what we would choose. In another example, Sen points out that having a preference for red wine over white does not necessarily mean that we would prefer a blend of red and white, over a white wine. As such he argues that it is 'far from obvious that prudential choice under *as if* uncertainty provides an adequate basis for moral judgment [sic] in *un*-original, i.e. real-life, positions' (Sen 1979, p.201).

What is more, the implication of ideal theory is that it is practically impossible to do justice. Such a theory effectively 'rules out the possibility that our best efforts could still leave us locked into some mistake or other, however hidden it might be' (Sen 2009, p.89). As such instead of conceptualising justice in ideal terms, from which real world attempts to advance justice or remedy injustice will always seem to fall short, Sen argues that justice should be conceptualised in terms that allow for 'incomplete' resolutions about what is just.

#### Sandel's critique of the separation of 'the right' and 'the good'

As I discussed earlier in this chapter, Kant posited that to be free is to act in accordance with a law a person sets for herself or himself. A person has a duty to respect the dignity of other persons, but beyond this, obligations rest on the rules that person would voluntarily agree to. In this respect, justice is detached from a person's particular identity and other contingencies or encumbrances as these are considered arbitrary: moral agents are thus 'independent of his or her particular aims and attachments' (Sandel 2009, p.214). It is in this sense that Rawls, drawing on Kant, conceives of justice as *prior to* (normatively and functionally) these contingencies: that 'we are the authors of the only moral obligations that constrain us' (Sandel 2009, pp.214-5).

Deontology (Rawlsian or Kantian), Sandel maintains, is based on a flawed theorisation of the moral subject. In separating the right from the good, and in asserting the *priority* of the right over the good, the moral subject is necessarily detached from the sources of identity that give meaning and weight to justice in the first place<sup>6</sup>:

As a philosophical matter, our reflections about justice cannot reasonably be detached from our reflections about the nature of the good life and the highest human ends. As a political matter, deliberations about justice and rights cannot proceed without reference to conceptions of the good that find expression in the many cultures and traditions within which those deliberations take place (Sandel 1998, p.186).

What is required instead, Sandel argues, is a conception of justice that is flexible enough to take account of involuntary, particular duties. As such, reasoning about justice should not eschew debate over the content of the ends that people value. To be fair in *Political Liberalism* Rawls acknowledges this contention. In response he qualifies that the purpose of the original position was to offer a representation of the political conception of the self, not a psychological or metaphysical one as Sandel suggests. The danger with opening up conceptions of justice to include particularist claims, based in involuntary membership to community and on prevailing social values (which liberal theories seek to avoid), lies in guaranteeing that the values of all members of that society are taken into account in the determination of what is right, and that these rights don't simply reflect the will of those more dominant in society. Rawls (2005) argues, for example, that in developing a political conception of the self, his intent was to emphasise that irrespective of the notions of the good life that a person may hold temporarily or over the complete course of their life, and irrespective of the origin of this notion (e.g. through membership to community), that as citizens they have enduring claims to justice. These political rights include the basic rights and liberties and the right to alter the things that one values (Rawls 2005). Sandel recognises this problem with communitarianism, but argues that it

\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In *Political Liberalism* Rawls acknowledges this contention. In response he qualified that the purpose of the original position was to offer a representation of the political conception of the self, not a psychological or metaphysical one as Sandel suggests.

shows how communitarian and liberal theories are similarly mistaken in that they both 'try to avoid passing judgement on the content of the ends that rights promote' (1998, p.xi).

## The original position

In this section I want to present Rawls's principles of justice and the concept of the original position, which he uses to defend the selection of the principles of justice to govern the ideal social structure, Essentially, this is underpinned by the premise that as the basis of justice is consent, the 'most reasonable principles of justice are those that would be the object of mutual agreement by persons under fair conditions' (Kelly, in Rawls 2001, p.xi).

Rawls establishes the principles of justice, which form the basis of the social contract, using the device of a thought experiment that he calls the 'original position'. In the original position, Rawls sought to refashion Kant's device of the kingdom of ends into a political rather than metaphysical theory of justice. In the place of a metaphysical account, Rawls sought to develop a conception of social justice borne out of empirically realistic though pure, procedural justice in the place of metaphysical claims, the output of which would be the choice of just principles to govern the basic structure of society.

In the original position, representative members of society (called 'parties' to the original position) come together to determine the principles of justice to govern the basic structure of their society. Demonstrating the Humean influence on Rawls's theory, the parties to the original position are self-interested: that is, they are motivated to pursue their own version of the good life, and to use social cooperation to achieve these ends. However, they do not know the content of these ends, as informed by religious or moral beliefs, or their place in society – their class, gender, social status, their natural assets and abilities intelligence, general predilection – as these factors are concealed by a 'veil of ignorance' (Rawls 1972). What is more, while the parties are contemporaries of the same society, they do not know what generation of their society they are from.

Parties to the original position as 'rational and reasonable'

Rawls (2001, p.19) specified that the parties are rational and reasonable, what he calls the 'two moral powers'. Echoing Kant's notion of freedom as acting in accordance with a law persons make for themselves (acting autonomously) in being *rational* citizens they are able to construct and pursue their own conceptions of the good life:

The other moral power is a capacity for a conception of the good: it is the capacity to have, to revise, and rationally to pursue a conception of the good. Such a conception is an ordered family of final ends and aims which specifies a person's conception of what is of value in human life, or alternatively, of what is regarded as a fully worthwhile life. The elements of such a conception are normally set within, and interpreted by, certain comprehensive religious, philosophical, or moral doctrines in the light of which the various ends and aims are ordered and understood (Rawls 2001, p.19).

At the same time, Rawls argues, citizens are able to be 'reasonable'. This means that they are able to understand, abide by, and act from the principles of justice that specify 'the fair terms of cooperation', even if this gets in the way of them pursuing their own interests, so long as others are willing to do so too. Rawls (2005) also defines this attribute as pertaining to the parties as having a 'sense of justice'. Underpinning this notion is the idea that parties are able to separate their 'public identities' and their comprehensive doctrines of the good life.

Rawls (1972, p.15) used the veil of ignorance because he felt that while, even by accident of birth, members of a society differ, these 'accidents of natural endowment and the contingencies of social circumstance' are irrelevant from a moral point of view, whereas Rawls wanted the parties to be moral equals. These contingencies cloud a person's capacity to exercise their moral judgement. Without the veil of ignorance, the parties may select principles that would in some way further their own interests, and the unequal bargaining power of those who are already in a position of advantage would likely lead to the further entrenchment of disadvantage. From a Kantian perspective, the veil of ignorance prevents parties from acting heteronomously – in accordance with inclinations – forcing them to act outside their inclinations. As such, parties are moral equals in their capacity to reason:

Now the veil of ignorance deprives persons in the original position of the knowledge that would enable them to choose heteronomous principles. The parties arrive at their choice together as free and equal rational persons knowing only that those circumstances obtain which give rise to the need for principles of justice (Rawls 1972, p.252).

As such, by using the veil of ignorance, the principles of justice are selected in a situation of original fairness, which bequeaths Rawls's theory its name: *Justice as Fairness*.

# Rawls's two principles of justice

From behind the veil of ignorance, Rawls posits that the parties to the original position would arrive at two *lexically ordered* principles of justice to govern their society. These principles are:

- 1. Each person has an equal right to the most extensive scheme of equal basic liberties which is compatible with a similar scheme of liberties for all.<sup>7</sup>
- 2. Social and economic inequalities are to satisfy two conditions. First they must be attached to offices and positions open to all under conditions of fair equality of opportunity; and second, they must be to the greatest benefit of the least advantaged members of society (Rawls 1972, p.53).

In this chapter I make three observations of these principles.

My first observation is on the principles of justice, that they concern the distribution of means, which Rawls calls 'primary goods'. Primary goods are all-purpose means that Rawls supposes a rational person would want, irrespective of his or her particular life plans: 'Regardless of what an individual's rational plans are in detail, it is assumed that there are various things which he [sic] would prefer more of rather than less' (Rawls 1972, p.79). The principles of justice prescribe a limited list of primary goods, which includes only rights, liberties (freedom of thought, liberty of conscience, the political liberties and freedom of association, freedoms specified by the liberty and integrity of the person, as well as the rights and liberties covered by the rule of law), opportunities income and wealth and the social bases of self-respect.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Rawls in a 1981 Tanner Lecture on Human Values at the University of Michigan, revised this wording to read 'fully adequate scheme' instead of 'most extensive scheme'.

Rawls is arguing, therefore, that evaluations of justice should be concerned with how the basic social structure (the matrix of key social institutions) ensures a certain distribution of *means*, not ends.

Secondly, the principles of justice are egalitarian. Rawls argues that as the parties are self-interested but do not know their fortunes, it stands to reason that they would choose to live in a society governed by egalitarian principles rather than one governed by a principle of maximising utility (or one of desert for that matter). If they were to select a principle of maximum utility, Rawls argues, the parties would risk being amongst the members of society whose interest may be foregone for the sake of the general welfare of others. As such, even in thinking about their own interests, it is against the parties' rational self-interest under conditions of uncertainty, to choose a utilitarian principle of justice. 'It hardly seems likely', Rawls (1972, p.13) argues, 'that persons who view themselves as equals, entitled to press their claims on one another, would agree to a principle which may require lesser life prospects for some simply for the sake of a greater sum of advantages enjoyed by others'.

While the principles of justice are egalitarian, Rawls does permit social and economic difference. This is evident in the second part of the second principle, which is also known as the 'difference principle'. The caveat, however, is that these differences are only permitted provided all members of society have equal rights and liberties and that these differences must work to the benefit of the least advantaged members of society.

My third observation is that Rawls intended the principles to be universal in their application, reflecting Kant's concept of the categorical imperative. Rawls also argued that the universality and lexical ordering of the principles of justice lent stability to his theory. Later in this chapter I will discuss the implications of this notion of universality for applying the principles of justice to housing affordability and environmental sustainability. In doing so, I note some of the constraints Rawls nevertheless places on the reach of these principles.

How can agreement on these principles be guaranteed?

Earlier, I noted that Sen questions whether knowing what should happen in an ideal situation gives adequate basis for knowing what is right in non-ideal situations. Secondly, Sen questions Rawls's defence of the content of the principles of justice. How can we assume, he argues, that just because the parties to the original position are rational, they would arrive at the same principles? That is, just because their interests are concealed by a veil of ignorance.

Sen, like Rawls, sees justice as involving a process of public reasoning (a matter I will return to later in this chapter). He argues that it is quite reasonable, however, to assume that this process of reasoning, however rational it is, might result in plural or even competing notions of what is just. In *The Idea of Justice* Sen (2009, pp.12-13) defends this position using the example of three children – Anna, Bob and Carla – and a flute. Anna lays claim to the flute, as she knows how to play the flute, and would make beautiful music if she had it. Bob, on the other hand, is poor and has no toys, so would benefit from having the flute. Finally, Carla argues she should have the flute as she made the flute and deserves to enjoy the fruits of her labour. The children's different claims to the flute represent utilitarian (Anna), egalitarian (Bob) and libertarian (Carla) conceptions of justice. While these three conceptions of a just distribution differ, they can all be the endpoint of a process of rational consideration. As such, and with respect to the original position, it is 'very unclear what precisely would be chosen in such a situation' (Sen 1979, p.201).

This analogy is useful in pointing out that libertarian, socialist and egalitarian principles may all be arrived at through a rational process. In addition, it does raise an important rebuttal to Rawls's assertion as to the empirical plausibility of the original position. Yet Sen does not account for the special conditions placed on the parties to the original position. As I will discuss later in this chapter, and return to in *Chapter Six*, this is important because Rawls was not interested in the application of the rational process *per se*. Rather, he drew attention to the circumstances in which rational consideration gives rise to just decisions.

Disadvantage as 'means deprivation'

Having secured equal rights, liberties and opportunity, the key determinant of disadvantage in *Justice as Fairness* is income and wealth. Within this framework, Rawls makes no special provision for housing or for the natural environment in his principles of justice. As such, the question arises as to how Rawls thought the principles would apply to objects outside of basic rights and liberties, opportunities, and wealth and income. In other words, how should the principles apply when the question we are seeking to resolve is in terms of 'what's the right thing to do about 'x'?' In this section, I explore Rawls's argument for how the principles of justice apply to the provision of healthcare, which he sets out in *Justice as Fairness: A Restatement* (2001) as a guide for how the principles may apply to housing. This analysis suggests that there are two ways in which the principles of justice may be applied to housing.

Prior to describing how the principles of justice may apply to housing, is instructive to note Rawls's rationale for not considering healthcare provision as part of the substantive content of the principles of justice. Rawls argues that determining how healthcare should be provided depends on knowing additional information, such as the prevalence of illnesses, diseases and their severity. Other than knowing that their healthcare needs would fall within a normal range, the parties to the original position do not have access to this information. For this reason, it is not possible for them to make universal claims about healthcare provision in the same way that it is possible to make universal claims about the distribution of rights and liberties. Instead, decisions about healthcare provision should be determined (a) in relation to the principles of justice, and (b) as a legislative matter (Rawls 2001).

Rawls applies the principles of justice to the problem of healthcare provision as follows. First, in applying the difference principle (differences in wealth and income should work to the benefit of the least advantaged members of society), the likely medical needs of the least advantaged members of society – those who have the least wealth and income over a complete life – need to be determined. On this basis, provisions are made to address these medical needs, but only to the point where any further provision of healthcare would lower, or cease to better, the lifetime expectations of the least advantaged. In this way, the allocation of public funds to

healthcare would be moderated by meeting the demand for other areas of need such as public education.

Second, Rawls also posits that the provision of healthcare can be evaluated in terms of its relationship to the 'social minimum' required for people to take advantage of, or to exercise, the basic rights and liberties protected in the first principle of justice. The provision of healthcare, Rawls (2001, p.174) argues, would 'fall under the general means necessary to underwrite fair equality of opportunity and our capacity to take advantage of our basic rights and liberties, and thus to be normal and fully cooperating members of society over a complete life'. This would allow for the arbitration of varying claims on healthcare, as here Rawls (2001, p.174) distinguishes claims for health care that return people to good health so that they may resume normal lives as 'cooperating members of society' from claims for cosmetic medicine, which he regards as 'not offhand a need at all'. In saying this, arguably there is scope within this conceptualisation to assert that certain types of cosmetic surgery would be provided for under *Justice as Fairness*, so long as this surgery was necessary for people to be cooperating members of society.

With respect to housing, the demands of justice apply to meeting a *need* for housing. This need is determined by the extent to which housing is required to better the lifetime prospects of the members of society with the least wealth and income, and as far as housing is a basic good or *social minimum*, required to underwrite basic rights and liberties and fair equality of opportunity and to enable people to be cooperating members of society.

#### Disadvantage as capabilities deprivation

In *Justice as Fairness*, Rawls defines disadvantage in terms of primary goods deprivation, especially the primary goods of income and wealth. As I have shown, this is enmeshed in Rawls's concept of justice as a social contract, which protects basic rights and freedoms, wherein what matters is that all citizens are free to pursue their own version of the good life, yet not at the expense of other citizens' basic rights and liberties. In response, Sen raises the challenge that our evaluations of justice should be concerned with whether people are *actually*, not just hypothetically,

able to achieve ways of being and doing that they have reason to value. In particular, Sen emphasises that people are able to realise 'comprehensive outcomes': not only the ends people get, but also the agency he or she can exercise in pursuing an end that they deem to be valuable.

As such, a conception of justice that looks only at means overlooks the fact that people have different capabilities to translate these means into ends. Here Sen (2009, p.255) points to four different types of factor that can shape a person's capability to realise culmination outcomes. These include personal differences, such as age, disability, illness or gender; diversities in physical environment; variations in social climate; and 'relational perspectives' such as social norms (Sen 2009, p.255). In this respect, unlike Rawls, Sen doesn't provide a neat set of hierarchical and universal principles for reasoning about justice (Gardiner 2011a, 2011b).

For how people are housed, this means that an evaluation of what is the right thing to do about housing affordability and environmental sustainability would look to the varying capabilities that people have to translate housing and income into ends they have reason to value, and how this may be impacted by decisions to advance policies for greater environmental sustainability.

### The community of justice: within and between generations

In *Chapter Two*, I argued that a key aspect of conceptions of environmental sustainability is a concern for the welfare of future generations. In other words, whose interests matter stretches inter-temporally. This conception of the 'community of justice' is a point of conflict between conceptions of environmental sustainability and housing affordability. In this section I examine how the community of justice is conceptualised in the social justice literature. In keeping with the structure of the analysis to this point in this section I examine first how the community of justice is conceived of in *Justice as Fairness*, before considering alternatives proposed by Sen and others.

The paradox of *Justice as Fairness* is that it contains universal principles of justice for a closed system. This paradox is most apparent when the reach of Rawls's two

principles of justice comes into question. In this section, I explore this aspect of *Justice as Fairness*. In doing so, I am attentive to Rawls's acknowledgement, especially in his later works *Political Liberalism* and *Justice as Fairness: a Restatement*, that there are what Nussbaum terms 'frontiers' or limits to his theory of justice. He concedes that questions regarding intergenerational justice, as well as the question of what is owed to people who do not possess the 'capacity for normal range of social cooperation either temporarily (from illness or accident) or permanently', as well as justice to nonhuman animals, are particularly difficult questions for his theory to respond to (Rawls 2005, p.21). In this section, I explore first how Rawls deals with intergenerational justice and also international justice, which concern the outer limits of the community of justice, temporally and geographically. Arguably, however, the aspect of *Justice of Fairness* that is more difficult to tackle, practically and intellectually is Rawls's conception of the political and moral subject. This conception concerns the internal limits of the community of justice: that is, who counts from *within* a society.

Rawls's conception of the community of justice rests on his conception of justice as being about the ideal structure and of society as a fair system of cooperation. A person's obligations of justice are not between them and other people as such ('interactional moral analysis'), but are between citizens who are subjects of a common structure. Citizens are thus treated as part of a structure, and consequently individual persons can have expectations of what that structure will secure for them. And conversely, a person's obligations are to act in accordance with, and to preserve, the rules of that structure. The content of these rules are defined on the basis of what any self-interested person would have consented to under conditions of primordial fairness.

#### Shared institutions as the basis of the community of justice

While the parties to the original position are contemporaries of the same society, the veil of ignorance conceals which generation in the history of their society they belong to. Time is morally arbitrary, Rawls argues, and there is no moral foundation for discounting the welfare of future generations. Accordingly, he has the parties imagine themselves as living potentially in any 'stage of civilisation of their society'

(Rawls 1972, p.287). Thus, Rawls maintains, the parties would agree on (also in the original position) a 'just savings principle' to govern intergenerational justice. The just savings principle is that 'each generation must not only preserve the gains of culture and civilization, and maintain intact those just institutions that have been established, but it must also put aside in each period of time a suitable amount of real capital accumulation' and 'conditions needed to establish the basic structure over time' (Rawls 2001, p.159). Here Rawls is explicit that there is no moral foundation for discounting the welfare of future generations.

Practically, however, parties to the original position, as self-interested individuals, face a motivational problem: why would they prescribe a principle that treats people living in the future as equals? Originally, Rawls addressed this motivational problem by using a 'motivational assumption' that all parties care for their predecessors. Realising the problems with this approach (this is fine for immediate generations but not for those several removed, and it is odd to assume that they are rational subjects with just one exception), Rawls later removed the motivational assumption from the setup of the original position. In its place, he assumes that generations are mutually disinterested.

In *Justice as Fairness*, Rawls presents universal principles but for a closed system. That is, Rawls conceives of the obligations of justice as being between citizens of the same society. While these obligations extend temporally they do not extend to citizens of other societies. As Lehning (2009, p.10) observes, 'With a Theory of Justice, Rawls had formulated a theory for a modern democratic society, closed off from the rest of the world'. International justice, Rawls (1999) argues, is a relationship between sovereign states or peoples, but not between persons (*see also* Wenar 2008).

Thus, while Rawls acknowledges that intergenerational and international justice is a limit of his conception of justice, and that the starting point for justice is a common social structure, he nevertheless goes some way to reckoning with these matters in his work. Critically, however, these matters are always lexically secondary to

securing equal basic rights and liberties, equality of opportunity and the difference principle within a sovereign society (Gardiner 2011a).

The basis of the community of justice as 'agent-centric'

Freed from the belief that justice is based upon membership of a common social structure, Sen presents an alternative assessment of the reach of our obligations of justice. This is based on the notion that whose interests matter in evaluations of justice is based not only on common institutions that we have voluntarily (and imaginarily) consented to be ruled by, but also on who is impacted by that action.

As such, Sen argues that as the effects of actions can be felt transnationally, the interests of people living in societies should be included in deliberations about what is the right thing to do. 'Our involvement with others [...] and further, our global contacts' Sen (2010, p.62) states, 'make it hard for us to expect that an adequate consideration of diverse interests or concerns can be plausibly confined to the citizenry of any country, ignoring all others'. In addition, expanding the community of justice transnationally can broaden the range of perspectives of what counts as a relevant principle of justice, forming a bulwark against parochialism. It can help to place in perspective the claims some citizens make on justice, against 'the other basic deprivations from which human beings suffer' (Sen 2009, p.415).

With respect to intergenerational justice, Sen argues that present generations should leave to future generations the 'freedom and capability to have what they value and have reason to attach importance to'. The issue with this argument is its vagueness. That is, what exactly is required to ensure that people have freedom and capability? As such, the difficulty with this conception of intergenerational justice and with Rawls's is how to apply them. The just savings principle and Sen's approach to intergenerational justice cannot avoid the uncertainty of future circumstances and of people's needs and capabilities in the future. In this sense, housing affordability and environmental sustainability, specifically in relation to climate change, tests both the social contract and Sen's outcomes-based approach. As such, while my aim in this research is to draw on the social justice literature to interrogate what should be done

about housing affordability and sustainability, the research also presents an opportunity to examine the frontiers of pre-eminent theories of social justice.

### Capabilities and justice within societies

Another constraint that Rawls places on membership to the community of justice is based on capabilities. Rawls's specification is that despite their relative advantages or disadvantages, the parties have abilities that fall within the 'normal range'. Seeing society as a 'fair system of cooperation', the parties to the original position (the authors of the social contract) are people who are 'engaged in social cooperation, and hence are fully capable of doing so, and this over a complete life' (Rawls 1972, p.18; see also Rawls 2005). In this way *Justice as Fairness* reflects Hume's concept of the circumstances of justice: that justice is motivated by mutual self-interest and only those who have something to offer others need be party to the social contract.

While capabilities are not the centrepiece of *Justice as Fairness*, it does not seem accurate to suggest that Rawls completely overlooks this matter in his theory. In the setup of the original position, for example, Rawls explicitly notes that people have different skills, abilities and so on, by accident of birth or otherwise, and that these are irrelevant from a moral point of view. As such, a key function of the veil of ignorance is to make the different capabilities people have invisible, so that the basic structure protects the interests of all citizens.

In revising *Justice as Fairness* in *Restatement* Rawls responds to the criticism that his theory does not adequately address the fact of different capabilities (*see also* Sen 1979). Here Rawls argues that so long as the basic structure accords with the principles of justice, the fact of these different capabilities won't result in injustice:

In *Justice as Fairness*, adjusting to these differences in capabilities proceeds by way of an ongoing process of pure background procedural justice in which basic qualifications suitable for particular offices and positions play a distributive role. But, as always, no differences in basic capabilities (within the normal range) affect persons' equal basic rights and liberties. The claim of *Justice as Fairness* is that in a well-ordered society such an ongoing social process would not lead to political injustice (Rawls 2001, p.171).

In essence, Rawls is arguing that as part of the normal course of life, a person's capabilities may fall outside of the normal range, as a result of illness, for example. As such, the provision of adequate resources to people of varying capabilities within the normal range 'falls under the general means necessary to underwrite fair equality of opportunity and our capacity to take advantage of our basic rights and liberties, and thus to be normal and fully cooperating members of a society over a complete life' (Rawls 2001, p.63). A key issue, which I will discuss in the next section, is whether Rawls goes far enough in *Justice as Fairness* to account for those members of a society whose capabilities are always outside of the 'normal range'.

The nub of the issue is that in the end, the parties to the original position – those whose interests are expressed in and served by the social contract – all have capabilities that place them within the normal range. As Nussbaum (2002, 2006) observes, the upshot of this assumption is that persons whose capabilities permanently are outside of the normal range, such as people with 'severe and atypical physical and mental impairments' are not represented in the original position and as such are not counted as a full citizen under *Justice as Fairness*. Nussbaum adds that this is an inevitable by-product of social contractarian theories of justice. If people are coming together for mutual advantage, as the social contract is predicated on, they will want to 'get together with those from cooperation with whom they expect to gain, not those who will demand unusual and expensive attention without contributing anything much to the social product, thus depressing the level of society's wellbeing' (Nussbaum 2002, p.424).

# Justice as a process of public reasoning

To this point in the chapter, I have organised my analysis of Rawls's theory, and corresponding critique, around Dobson's dimensions of justice. These elements respond to the questions: 'What is at stake?' 'What is the community of justice?' and 'What are the criteria for distribution?' This approach goes a long way toward building a theoretical framework to explore the problem of housing affordability and sustainability. In reading the debate between Rawls and Sen (and to an extent Sandel), however, I found that there is a fourth element of their conceptions of social justice, which is important to this analysis, yet which Dobson's approach overlooks.

This element concerns how the literature responds to the question 'How do we reason about justice?' This element is tied to the other three, but it deserves distinct treatment.

There are three key aspects to how Rawls, Sen and other political philosophers respond to this question, which I see as important for this research. First, as a process, social justice involves public reasoning. In other words, in the same way that the *subject* of justice is public life, process of reasoning about justice is also public in its nature. In *Justice as Fairness*, this process takes place in the original position, wherein self-interested parties come together to reason and debate what the rules to govern their society should be. As I have shown, Rawls posits that the parties would arrive at two, lexically ordered principles of justice.

The seeming irony of the original position is that while Rawls sets up a perfect public procedure in reality the reasoning is Rawls's own. Consequently, Rawls' theory seems to remove any conjecture from what is right: all that is left to do is to ensure that these rules are followed. This is because Rawls felt that our reasoning about what is just will only be fair when this process is free from the social contingencies, such as accidents of birth, natural endowments, religious and spiritual beliefs (and other 'comprehensive doctrines'), which will invariably prejudice the results of this process. In this way, however, Rawls reasoning about justice is not exposed to the proclivities of everyday life. As I have shown, Sen's challenge to Rawls regards the weight Rawls assigns to what would happen in a perfect situation versus reasoning about circumstances we face in the real world.

# Public reasoning about justice: a wide variety of views

The second aspect of reasoning about justice is that this process should draw on a variety of moral and ethical positions. Take for example, Rawls's method of reasoning about justice, which involves achieving wide reflective equilibrium: the end-point of a process of reasoning 'after a person has weighed various proposed conceptions' and has 'either revised his [sic] judgements to accord with one of them or held fast to his [sic] original convictions (and the corresponding conception)' (Rawls 1972, p.48). In *Justice as Fairness*, the assumption Rawls makes is that if

parties to the original position engage in the process of public reasoning, the outcome of this process is that they will arrive at an agreed set of universally applicable principles viz. the two principles of justice<sup>8</sup>.

As I have shown, Sen contests the notion that even the exercise of reason would lead to unanimous agreement on universal principles being reached. Rather, that when public reasoning about justice sets out to establish what should be done to advance justice or to address injustice in this or that situation, this will invariably give rise to partial and even competing arguments about what should be done. Nevertheless in a similar way to Rawls, Sen argues that this process of reasoning should hear from as wide an array of viewpoints as possible. To clarify, Sen (2009) sees reasoning about justice as proceeding in the form of social choice theory, which is guided by several precepts. Essentially, as previously mentioned, he argues that the conclusions reached in respect to justice are vastly improved and enriched if these draw from as wide an array of arguments as possible. In recognising that people have, by virtue of birth, age, illness, social conditions and so on, different capabilities, Sen argues that rather than hypothesising these differences away with a veil of ignorance, the work is to find ways to increase the voice of people with lesser capabilities.

Sandel's approach to justice differs from those of both Rawls's and Sen. He challenges the premise that it is possible and indeed desirable to separate our views about what is right from what is good. Nevertheless, Sandel (2009, p.261) maintains that this debate about justice should be open to differing views, and be 'hospitable to the disagreements that will inevitably arise' within this debate. As such, he argues that exhuming morality from politics is a not possible. What is more, he argues that it is possible to imagine our moral convictions changing in light of public debate. Therefore, reasoning about justice should not shy away from debating the 'meaning of the good life' and the 'common good'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In revising *Justice as Fairness* as a political (rather than moral) conception of justice in *Political Liberalism*, Rawls changes his argument on the principles. Rather than securing unanimous agreement on the principles as a moral position, Rawls argues that the parties would reach 'overlapping consensus' (p.48).

### Justice, empathy and moral imagination

A key conundrum for the conception of justice as public reasoning is how to account for those who are unable to participate in this process. This conundrum is brought to the fore by the question of justice between generations, as people living in the future cannot participate in public reasoning about what is the right thing to do about decisions that may affect them. In this research, I argue that while this dilemma places pressure on the limits of theories of justice, it is no reason to abandon the idea of intergenerational justice. Rather, it suggests that if our intuitions lead to concern for the welfare of future generations, as underpins the conception of climate change, the concept of social justice may have to accommodate the notion that justice is based on asymmetrical relationships. This leads me to the third aspect of justice as a process of public reasoning: that in some cases, this process involves not only accounting for our own self-interests, but in imagining ourselves as if we were someone else. In this research, I refer to this as 'moral imagination'.

Fostering moral imagination is a key function of the veil of ignorance in Rawls's original position even though this aspect of Rawls's theory is easily overlooked if we take the principles of justice as the sum of his work. Yet it is not unique to *Justice as Fairness*. In differing ways, Rawls's and Sen's (and also Sandel's) conceptions of justice point to a process wherein the public debate is not only exposed to alternative views, but in which in varying ways citizens are encouraged to deploy the adage of putting oneself in another's shoes. This is evident, for example in Sen's use of Adam Smith's idea of the 'impartial spectator' in which Smith famously proclaims that:

We can never survey our sentiments and motives, we can never form any judgement concerning them, unless we remove ourselves, as it were, from our natural station, and endeavour to view them with the eyes of other people, or as other people are likely to view them' (Smith cited in Sen 2009, p.125)

Wolff (2007) describes this aspect of justice in terms of empathy. My reading of the justice literature, however, is that this aspect goes beyond empathy. That is, behind the ostensibly clinical apparatus of the exercise of reason, part of what justice is about, and indeed relies on, is the development of moral character in a manner akin to the Aristotlean notion of justice as a virtue (Groarke 2011; Sandel 2009). As such,

part of the purpose of institutions is not only to serve our needs, but in shaping better citizens.

As I have shown, Rawls encourages the use of moral imagination only in the special world of the original position. In this research, I argue that this idea is still relevant when making decisions in the non-ideal world, such as is the case with housing affordability and environmental sustainability. Indeed, this is the challenge raised by Sen's call that a theory of justice must aid us to make decisions in the non-ideal world. The conception of justice that I use in this research is that as a process, and especially in relation to intergenerational matters, evaluating what is the right thing to do relies on political and social institutions encouraging moral imagination.

#### Conclusion

In this chapter, I have drawn attention to four aspects of the literature, which I will apply in analysing Australian housing and environmental policy in the following chapters. These aspects include institutions, means and ends, the community of justice and justice as public reasoning.

Firstly, social and political institutions matter for social justice, because of their impact on the sorts of lives people are able to lead, the material goods and opportunities citizens have access to, and because of their bearing on the political culture. Secondly in examining what matters, Rawls, Sen and Sandel provide alternative views. These include how institutions are arranged to distribute basic all-purpose means, or primary goods; the varying capabilities that people have to translate these means into ends they have reason to value; and how our social and political arrangements inhibit or enable civic culture. Thirdly in terms of who matters, we base membership in the community of justice on shared institutions, identity, or agency. Finally, as a process of public reasoning, justice is not only about self-interest, but also relies on inculcating an interest in the lives of others.

In the next two chapters I critically document the twin housing policy narratives of housing affordability and environmental sustainability. My objective is to distil the core claims about 'what matters' and 'who matters' (thus providing a basis to address Research Questions One and Two). In Chapter Six, I will then subject these claims to critical analysis by drawing on the core precepts of the conceptions of social justice established in this chapter in order to address Research Question Three.

# CHAPTER FOUR: AUSTRALIAN HOUSING POLICY

In the original position, Rawls has representative persons determine the rules to govern the social and political institutions of the perfectly just society. This is because for Rawls, justice is *about* institutions. The basic structure of a society, Rawls argues, plays a significant role in shaping the kind of citizens members of that society are: their ambitions, hopes, and the means and opportunities they can realistically expect for themselves. Sen's position on institutions is more tempered: he sees institutions as instruments of advancing justice and ameliorating injustice, but not the be-all and end-all of evaluations of justice. For Sandel, these institutions matter because of their impacts on the citizenry's capacity for public reasoning about justice. Informed by these perspectives on social justice, it follows that any evaluation of what should be done about housing affordability and environmental sustainability must contend with how housing in Australia is governed: in terms of its relationship to the Australian Constitution and the tax transfer system, but also how policy frames what and who matters.

A consistent theme in housing policy, particularly in the period following the Second World War, is that housing is an issue of national interest. That is, housing policy frames the community of justice in national terms. Coupled with this conception is the idea that home ownership is a means of wealth redistribution. This conception has been maintained across eras when increasingly the way in which people are housed is affected by processes of economic globalisation, to the influence of taxation policy that advantages those with existing housing wealth over others; and is framed against the growing realisation that the way Australian households are housed has environmental implications for people living separately in time and in space.

My analysis is based on publicly available policy documents including government strategies, parliamentary records and media records. In some cases, these materials are supplemented with secondary sources. The first section of this chapter examines housing policy immediately prior to the Second World War, during which time slum reform was the focus of policy. The second section looks at policy immediately after the Second World War until the late 1960s, when policy focused on supply and began to promote the 'great Australian dream' of home ownership. The third section examines housing policy amidst the significant neo-liberal economic reform era of the 1980s and early 1990s, and specifically focuses on the development of the *National Housing Strategy*. In this period, policy shifted to a focus on the economic efficiency of the housing system. In the fourth and final section of this chapter, I analyse the implementation of the *National Affordable Housing Agreement* against the backdrop of a housing boom and the global financial crisis.

Much of my analysis of housing policy focuses on the impact of neo-liberal, economic ideology and housing policy. In doing so, I recognise that neoliberalism is an expansive term, and that the adoption of neo-liberal or neo-classical economic principles can take many forms, depending on the context in which they are adopted. At an institutional level, therefore, critical institutionalism suggests that new ideologies and practices are grafted onto the existing policy system. In my analysis of housing policy in this period, I am therefore mindful that the emergence of approaches and ideological phenomena associated with neo-liberalism observable in this period actually pre-date this period in some cases; the theoretical principles of neo-liberal economics are thus only partially or unevenly adopted (Argy 1998; Dodson 2007). As Dodson (2006, 2007) conjectures, while the theories of neoliberalism suggest a retreat of the state in general; in practice, the adoption of neoliberalism in Australia, particularly with respect to housing policy, does not accord with this view. Rather, neoliberalism resulted in not a retreat of the state in relation to housing, but rather, to a change in the way that the state governs how people are housed.

# The 'basic structure' and housing in Australia

Rawls takes the basic structure of society as the subject of social justice. By basic structure, Rawls is concerned with the lasting institutional features such as the constitution, the legal system, the tax transfer system and so on. Beyond this, Rawls specifies that the justness of specific policies can only be analysed in terms of the

extent to which these policies advance the principles of justice. He argues that the outcomes of such policies cannot be considered just or unjust unless the basic structure itself was just. In this chapter, therefore, I begin my analysis of Australian housing policy with the Australian Constitution and the Australian federal system of government. Throughout this chapter, I also point to changes in the tax transfer system and the regulation of the private market and housing.

# The Australian Constitution and the federal system of government

The Australian system of government is modelled on a combination of the Westminster model of 'responsible government' and the US federal senate system. It comprises three 'tiers': the federal Commonwealth government (herein referred to by either 'federal' or 'Commonwealth'); six state and two territory governments (herein referred to as 'the States'); and a number of local governments within each state and territory. A prime minister is the head of the federal government; six premiers head each of the state governments and two chief ministers, the territories. The political landscape is largely bipartisan with government held at state and federal level by the Australian Labor Party (the 'ALP') or the conservative Liberal Party of Australia (often in alliance with the National Party of Australia as the 'Coalition').

The powers of the federal government are established in the Australian Constitution. In general terms, the Constitution provides the federal government with responsibility for matters concerning the country as a whole, while the states are responsible for matters particular to their geographic territory (Althaus, Bridgman & Davies 2007). The States, which were separate British colonies prior to federation (and the establishment of the Constitution), have sovereign power over all areas not reserved for the Commonwealth in the Australian Constitution. The Constitution provides for the Commonwealth to provide funding to the states for whatever purpose it sees fit (Section 96), however, and should any legislation enacted by the Commonwealth conflict with State legislation the Commonwealth legislation overrides that of the State (Section 109). Local governments (or 'Councils') are legislatively established by the States, and are responsible for matters particular to their jurisdiction, local urban planning controls for example. In the Australian state of Victoria, 79 local councils comprise the system of local government (DPCD 2010).

There is no Australian Bill of Rights (as is implied in *Justice as Fairness*). As such, the fundamental political rights and liberties that are the basis of Rawls's first principle of justice are not afforded inviolable protection in the Constitution. Rather, these are to be implied from the Constitution or found expressly in common law. Common law does not protect the full range of rights (Harris 2004).

# The Australian 'federation settlement'

Despite the absence of a Bill of Rights and the silences within the Constitution, it is argued that an implied social contract built around a 'federation settlement' has underpinned the basic structure of the Australian political system. In *The End of Certainty* Kelly (1992) popularised the concept of the Australian federation settlement as including five pillars in: industry protection; a wage arbitration system; the concept and policy of *White Australia*; alignment of foreign policy with Great Britain; and a belief in the benevolence of the state (Brett 2004; MacCallum 2009; Stokes 2004). Kelly (1992, p.1) argues that these pillars, while not formally defined, have had a significant role in Australian political, social and cultural history:

At its inception Australia had no Bill of Rights or Declaration of Independence as a focus of national identity. The notion was not founded on war, revolution or national assertion, but by practical men striving for income, justice, employment and security. The Australian settlement was their creation. It is an achievement second only to the creation of Australian democracy, and its operation within that democracy has offered for most of this century the best definition of nationhood.

A key plank of the protection of Australian industry, which in the early 1900s consisted mainly of agricultural exports, was the imposition of tariffs on foreign imports to Australia. An arbitration system underpinned Australian protectionism and was designed to secure, for male workers, fair and reasonable wages and working conditions and the distribution of the gains of a protected economy. A landmark case in the development of the system was the 'Harvester Judgement' of 1907 in which a fair and reasonable wage was set according to the 'needs of the average employee regarded as a human being in a civilised community' (MacCallum 2009, pp.23-4). Ultimately, this system gave rise to the establishment of national wage regulation. The institution of arbitration, Kelly (1992, p.7) argues, was based on the 'most

distinctive of Australian ideas', which is the principle of a 'fair go'. In the meantime, the role of government was to provide basic services, but never beyond a minimum required to support industry. That is, while the Commonwealth was to provide the services necessary to support its geographically dispersed workforce and to support those to whom it did not provide full employment, the focus of policy was always on getting people back to work.

Australian protectionism was also underpinned by favourable trade conditions with Great Britain. The 'mother country' was Australia's greatest trading partner and provided a market for Australian exports. In return, Australia provided Great Britain with the raw materials – especially wool – that its industrial sector required, and with troops in times of war. The alliance with Great Britain was more than economic: it was also social and cultural. In place until 1966, *White Australia* explicitly favoured immigration to Australia from Britain, and was seen to protect Australia from a perceived threat of 'invasion' by its immediate neighbours (Jupp 2007). Further, at settlement, the Australian continent was considered to be *terra nullius*, and it was not until 1967 that Indigenous Australians were recognised in the Constitution. *White Australia*, the Australian government's racially biased immigration policy, was the great eschewal of Australia's geographic location in the Asia-Pacific region.

Kelly's conceptualisation of the federation settlement is contested. Brett (2004, p.27) argues that it overlooks a sixth pillar: regional equality: 'Built into the notion of what it was to be Australian was an idea of shared access to basic services, a shared minimum standard of living, no matter where you lived', and 'Australians' commitment to equity and a fair go has always had a regional as well as a class dimension'. MacCallum (2009), on the other hand, argues that Kelly affords equal weight for each of the five pillars, while the central plank of the federation settlement was employment. Stokes (2004) goes further in arguing that the concept of federation settlement ought to comprise nine clusters of political ideas and policies including: White Australia; *terra nullius*; state secularism; masculinism; Australian democracy; state developmentalism; arbitration; welfare minimalism; and imperial nationalism. Stokes (2004), as are Smyth (2004) and Sawer (2004), is still critical of the concept, however, arguing that it overlooks the contested terrain in which its component parts

are situated. That is, it presumes 'the more or less enduring resolution of conflict' (Stokes 2004, p.7) that created bipartisan support for certain political ideas and policies.

Despite this contestation over the settlement concept, this debate nevertheless draws attention to other, implicit and ideological dimensions of the political system beyond the Constitution. Through this chapter I want to argue that housing and in particular, the aspiration to home ownership, have been as much part of the *implied* social compact in the post Second World War period.

### Australian federalism and the housing policy system

Australian federalism has created a unique housing policy system. As the Constitution does not prescribe a special role for the Commonwealth in housing provision (with the exception of housing specifically designated for Indigenous Australians), the Commonwealth has limited legislative capacity regarding housing, effectively leaving housing beyond the reach of its direct responsibility (Beer 1993). As a result, while the Commonwealth is actively involved in housing policy formation, it has had to negotiate with, rather than instruct the States in these matters (Beer 1993).

Berry (1983) categorises Australian governments' involvement in the provision of housing in three ways: as either 'market-supporting', 'market-supplementing' or 'market-replacing'. Market-supporting policies provide the institutional foundations for housing market activity, and include legislation around property rights, contracts and land transfer, for example. Market-supplementing policies alter the relations between different groups in the [housing] market (Berry 1983). These groups or actors are free to interact in the market, typically under constrained or enabling conditions, as prescribed by particular market-supplementing policies (Berry 1983). Examples of these policies include subsidies to private builders, building regulations, controls on rent, as well as tax subsidies, and through the provision of residential infrastructure (Berry 1983; Dalton 2010). In market-replacing policies, governments provide goods and services directly instead of having these distributed through the private market. In these policies, administrative criteria, such as a 'need' for housing,

replace market-based criteria, such as a willingness or ability to pay. The prime example of a market-replacing housing policy in Australia is the direct provision of housing by government, herein referred to as 'public housing' (Berry 1983).

# Slum reform: housing policy before the Second World War

In the early twentieth century, Australian housing policy focused on improving basic health and safety. Generally speaking, Australia was a prosperous country in the 1920s (Paris 1993). The subsequent decade saw the onset of the Great Depression, followed by the Second World War, a period characterised by high rates of unemployment, falling wages and crisis in the financial sector (Berry 1983; Eather 1988). Restrictions on housing construction and the collapse of the building industry meant limited new housing was constructed, and housing stock in Australia aged and demonstrated increased levels of dilapidation (Paris 1993).

Over this period, policy debate over housing focused on addressing urban slums, which housed poor renters. In Victoria, a slum reform movement drew attention to the squalid living conditions of many of the urban poor around Melbourne, the capital city of Victoria. The movement was driven primarily by non-government actors including social reform organisations, church groups, the clergy, trade unions and social workers, but also included political parties, local government bodies, public health professionals and planners (Harris 1988; Russell 1972). Amongst the pioneers of the movement was accountant and social reformer Frederick Oswald Barnett, who in the aftermath of the 1930s depression, prepared a Masters of Commerce thesis surveying the social and physical dimensions of poverty amongst the urban poor living in the inner Melbourne suburb of Fitzroy (Barnett 1933; Howe 1997; Petty et al. 1960). Barnett (1933) published the results of his work, which pointed to the relationship between casual and part time labour and poverty in particular in the form of illustrated lectures, pamphlets and through other print media. In an oration dedicated to Barnett, Brian Howe (1997, p.7), former minister and deputy prime minister under the Hawke and Keating Labor Governments<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Howe held various portfolios under the Hawke and Keating governments including Minister for Defence Support (1983-1984), Minister for Social Security (1984-1990), Minister for Community

claimed that the publication and distribution of Barnett's thesis did 'much to alert people to the appalling economic conditions which existed prior to the war' and as such 'provided momentum for slum clearance'.

In 1936 the Victorian Government (under Premier Albert Dunstan of the Country Party) appointed a Housing Investigation and Slum Abolition Board, which Barnett was made Deputy Chair of, and charged the Board with undertaking physical, social and statistical surveys of the Melbourne metropolitan area (Barnett & Burt 1942; Holst 2006; PROV 2005a, 2005b, 2005c). Soon afterwards the government established the Housing Commission of Victoria (the HCV), as the state housing authority. The HCV's early activity focused on developing recommendations for legislation. Following the passing of the *Slum Reclamation Act 1938*, the HCV's mandate was extended to include the reclamation of housing areas that were deemed unsanitary; the prescription of minimum standards for new housing; the improvement of existing dwellings; land acquisition; housing construction; the provision of homes for people of limited means; and rent regulation and rezoning (Wallace 2006).

The establishment of the HCV was also notable from a governance perspective, as the Victorian Government, like many other states, had previously deferred responsibility for urban areas to local councils. The States had treated building regulation predominantly as a matter of public health, and while the *Health Act 1883* provided that the general health of the state's population was governed at state level, responsibility for sanitary administration was deferred to local government (Hicks 1998; Wallace 2006). This arrangement meant that local governments were the principal regulators of building and construction including 'the removal of refuse and supervising its disposal, regulating night-soil disposal, preventing the construction of

Services and Health (1990-1991), Minister for Health, Housing and Community Services (1991-1983), Minister for Housing, Local Government and Community Services (1993-1994), Minister for Housing and Regional Development (1994-1996). Howe also served as Deputy Prime Minister in 1991 and was Deputy Leader of the Australian Labor Party from 1991 to 1995.

insanitary dwellings and the condemnation of dwellings found to be unfit for human habitation' (Hicks 1988, p.100).

In its early days, the slum reform movement in Victoria was not only concerned with advancing public health and addressing poverty and disadvantage, but also with addressing behaviour. Early campaigners for slum reform in Melbourne adopted the themes of contagious disease and contagious immorality from the British anti-slum movement, which saw industrial cities as 'breeding grounds of vice and disease' (Warpole 2000, p.32). For example in the foreword to a 1942 text on slum abolition, the then Australian Minister for Social Services Edward Holloway (cited in Barnett & Burt 1942, p.3) wrote:

Believing as I do that the greatness of the nation is determined by the character of its people, and that the environment of dirty streets and ugly homes with bad air and bad drainage, not only undermines the health of the occupants but robs them of pride, honour and hope, and is thus the surest road towards national degeneracy [...] our Australian progress will be determined largely by the economic standards and quality of the homes of our people; and both these factors will be determined by the environment in which we compel them to live. I commend this book to all who are concerned in the building up of a better national life for all our people.

This is evident in Barnett's (1933) depiction of slum residents, and in doctoral research into the HCV, Chalkley (2008, p.2) found that the Commission was to assess the consequences of 'slum minded' behaviour on society in general. Ultimately, the movement legitimised the removal from their families and into institutional care, of children residing in these areas.

Following the cessation of the Second World War, while an undercurrent of the slum reform movement was maintained, the focus of housing policy shifted to increasing housing supply. This change took place as part of a wider project of nation building.

### The dream: housing policy after the Second World War

The HCV's early efforts for social reform were stifled by the onset of the Second World War, during which time housing construction in the state and nationally ceased almost entirely. Following the cessation of the Second World War, the focus of Australian housing policy shifted from social reform to 'bricks and mortar'. The

suspension of housing construction, coupled with population growth and new household formation gave rise to a largely unmet demand for housing, particularly in Victoria (Howe 1997). Towards the end of the war, the Commonwealth Department of Post-War Reconstruction had established the Commonwealth Housing Commission (CHC) to 'inquire into and report upon the present housing position and the housing requirements of Australia during the post-war period' (CHC 1944, p.8; see also Troy 2011, 2012). In its final report, published in 1944, the CHC predicted that the state of housing across Australia would become dire following the repatriation of war servicemen:

The housing shortage after the war will be even more acute than at present, owing to the demobilisation of service personnel and the increasing desire of a large number of people at present inadequately housed to obtain better conditions (p. 23, sec. 149).

It has been apparent for many years, that private enterprise, the world over, has not adequately and hygienically housed the low-income group [...] In Australia, the State Governments, as well as the Commonwealth government, have inaugurated housing schemes, but their effect on the total housing problem has been small (p. 24, sec. 155).

Amongst the 95 recommendations made by the CHC to the Curtin federal government was a direction that the Commonwealth should take an active role in rebuilding housing in Australia and 'make finance available for that purpose' (CHC 1944, p.25, sec. 159).

While many of the CHC's recommendations were never implemented in 1945, the Commonwealth and the States implemented the first Commonwealth-State Housing Agreement (the CSHA), which was followed by five-year long (approximately) agreements from 1956 to 2008. Under the 1945 CHSA, the Commonwealth provided loans to the states to administer state-based programs of publicly-owned rental housing, addressing an estimated shortage of approximately 300,000 properties for returned servicemen and workers (McIntosh & Phillips 2001). The loans were intended to meet the capital costs of public housing construction, with the States maintaining ownership of the new properties (Troy 2011). The States were also responsible for managing any operating costs of the program, such as maintenance.

The implementation of the CSHA was underwritten by significant changes to the Australian taxation system. During the war years income tax was standardised which shifted economic power to the Commonwealth at the expense of the States. Troy (2011, p.2; *see also* Troy 2012) argues that this restructuring of the tax system 'changed utterly the relative capacity of the States to raise the funds needed for investment in infrastructure', with the Commonwealth controlling 'the national and local level of investment in housing and infrastructure and drivers of demand for them'.

#### Impact on rental housing

Between 1945 and 1960, the HCV constructed 15 per cent of all new units in Victoria, making it the largest volume builder in the state (Howe 1997). For the most part in Victoria (as in other states) public housing was targeted to assist working families of modest means, as opposed to focusing on those living in urban slums. These households were housed in new dwellings built in new suburbs on the outskirts of the city, often close to emerging manufacturing districts, thus contributing to the urban sprawl that would come to characterise the post-war period (Howe 1997; McIntosh & Phillips 2001).

In the meantime, the problems of slum housing had not disappeared. This problem is depicted in two short films produced by the Brotherhood of St Laurence, an Anglican social justice organisation, as part of their campaign to the Victorian Government to build more public housing. *Beautiful Melbourne?* (1947) and *A Better Life* (1947) are films that contrast the bug-ridden, squalid living environs of urban slum dwellers and the living conditions of families in inner city public housing. The films depict the better quality of life of public housing residents by clean, smiling children, tea sets, bathtubs and bedtime stories. It was not until 1960, however, that the Victorian Government began to address slum housing. When they did, it was not clear that the block clearance policies implemented to build high-rise estates removed only substandard, existing dwellings.

#### *Impact on home ownership*

In addition to growth in public rental housing, the number of households in home ownership grew rapidly, while the relative share of households living in private rental declined (Greig 1995). In fact, the post Second World War period saw the largest housing boom in Australia's history to date (Paris 1993). An increase in the living wage, full employment and the availability of finance, were amongst the demandside factors that lead to this growth in home ownership. Mandatory minimum income levels, underpinned by tariffs on imports (which protected employers from competition and enabled them to pay their employees the minimum wage), alongside export-led growth, ensured that the conditions were favourable for many households to purchase a home (Dalton 2010; Greig 1995; Paris 1993). Housing policy settings did much to advance the creation of this 'home owning society' (Berry 1988; Dalton 2010; Paris 1993). For instance, governments implemented financial instruments to create favourable conditions for home purchase borrowing including the creation of a system of state and federal government-owned savings banks, the regulation of bank lending rates and assets, government-provided mortgages, and through the establishment of a government-owned insurance company (Beer 1993; Paris 1993).

Under the arrangements of the 1945 CSHA Australian housing policy was a dual-tenure system in which the benefits of home ownership were socialised into 'good standard housing to let at rents within their capacity to pay, to families who cannot afford, or are not ready, or on account of their occupations do not desire, to purchase their homes' (Kemeny 1983, p.11).

In 1949, a change of government federally saw the Coalition assume government under Prime Minister Robert Menzies, which it held until 1975. The Menzies' Government amended the CSHA to allow for tenants to buy their homes, allegedly without consulting widely with the States. The government also diverted Commonwealth funding for housing away from public housing (initially 20 per cent of funding and then 30 per cent), to a *Home Builders Account*, which provided for middle income earners to purchase housing (though building or cooperative societies) (Troy 2011). With some haste, the provision of low interest loans to home builders and the sale of houses to tenants on concessional terms were built into the CSHA as the agreement became an instrument to promote the doctrine of home

ownership (McIntosh & Phillips 2001). The result of these changes was that by the time Australian governments renegotiated the next three CSHAs in 1956, 1961 and 1966, the dual-tenure policy of 1949 had all but been replaced by what Kemeny (1983, p.5) refers to as a 'monotenural housing system'. This system focused on encouraging home ownership through the provision of low interest loans to builders and the sale of houses on highly concessional terms (Berry 1988; McIntosh & Phillips 2011). As a result, by 1966, 71.4 per cent of Australian households were in home ownership, a figure that would become a benchmark for future years.

Berry (1988) documents that the States were also positively inclined to sell off their housing assets and pressured the Commonwealth to amend the first CSHA so they could do so. In Victoria, for example, between 1956 and 1968, 81 per cent of properties built by the HCV were sold to tenants, who purchased these with mortgage finance provided by the HCV (Berry 1988). At the same time, the work of state housing bureaucrats in Victoria shifted away from welfare and social reform to become dominated by the technical skills of building, construction, architecture and engineering (Berry 1988).

### Home ownership and the 'moral middle class'

The housing policies of the Menzies' era also demonstrated a shift in the conception of the deserving recipient of government housing assistance. In 1964, the Menzies Government established a federal Department of Housing, which administered *Home Savings Grants* for married or engaged couples less than 36 years of age, to build or purchase a home. These couples were required to save for a deposit on a mortgage with a financial institution, with the government supplementing one dollar for every three that the couple saved (Australia, House of Representatives 1964, pp.103-4). The grants are alleged to have had little impact on rates of home ownership (which declined to 68.8 per cent in 1971) (Eslake 2011). As Troy (2012, p.137) points out, the grants represented a 'significant redirection of resources away from support for low income housing to middle class welfare'. Troy (2011) adds that housing policy reflected the general focus of the Menzies Government towards the perceived interests of the middle class, which in a now iconic 1942 radio broadcast he referred to as the 'forgotten people'. In this speech, Menzies describes the middle class as the

'real life of this nation', distinct from the 'rich and powerful' on the one hand, and the 'organised masses' on the other, and who were characterised by their frugality, self-sacrifice and saving (Menzies 2012 pp.72-9; *see also* Brett 1992, 1993). The middle class, Menzies concluded, were found 'in the homes of people who are nameless and unadvertised and who, whatever their religion, see in their children their greatest contribution to the immortality of their race' (2012, p.74). In this speech, Menzies (2012, p.74) defines the role of housing as such:

The 'material home' represents the concrete expression of the habits of frugality and saving 'for a home of our own'. Your advanced socialist may rage against private property even whilst he acquires it; but one of the best instincts in us is that which induces us to have one little piece of earth with a house and garden which is ours, to which we can withdraw in which we can be among our friends in which no stranger can come against our will.

As Brett (1992, 2007) points out, the most important aspect of Menzies' 'forgotten people' idea, is that membership to the middle class was not defined in socioeconomic terms, but as a *moral coalition* of individuals who come 'to questions of national politics as an independent citizen exercising their judgment as to what is best for the nation as a whole' (2007) <sup>10</sup>.

In his seminal text *The Great Australian Nightmare*, Kemeny (1983) ties the home ownership policy of the Menzies Government to its anti-communist ideology. Kemeny (1983, p.12) argues that the government saw home ownership as an 'antidote to working class unrest, especially if it produced a commitment to the capitalist system of private property', and therefore a bulwark against the threat of communism in Australia.

While Kemeny points to ideology as a driving force behind the Menzies' approach to home ownership (and the esteem with which home ownership has been held since the post-war period), other authors point out that a number of material conditions were

\_

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  This citation refers to a transcript of a radio interview with Brett, which does not include page numbers.

also favourable to the growth in home ownership. Greig (1995) argues, for example, that some households purchased housing as they had little alternative. Citing doctoral research by Bethune, Greig (1995) points out that from 1947 there was an absolute decline in the number of private dwellings available to rent. It wasn't until the early 1970s that the number of private dwellings for rent again reached the 1947 level. This scarcity of rental housing including private market housing and public housing, meant that some poorer households were forced into home ownership as the 'only feasible alternative to shelter' (Greig 1995, p. 113). As discussed earlier in this chapter, private financial institutions played a key role in financing mortgages for home ownership, as did the conditions of full employment and the presence of a minimum wage. The economic climate of the time was therefore favourable to home ownership (Berry 1988; Greig 1995; Kass 1987; Whitwell 1989). In the 1970s these material conditions would begin to change dramatically, but the policy and cultural aspiration of home ownership would remain.

Finally, as much as home ownership has been tied to Menzies' individualist ideology, the promulgation of a home owning democracy, as an Australian ideal, has since been as much tied to notions of egalitarianism. In addition to providing shelter, the distribution of home ownership was thought of as an important vehicle for the redistribution of wealth (Berry 1988; Greig 1995; Kass 1987). As Stretton (1974, p.12) has maintained, the distribution of wealth in home ownership was thought to be a corrective for the uneven distribution of wealth:

Australian society is very unequal in many ways. But it has this one basic equality built into it physically in that more than 80% of all our housing stock has the common form of independent private houses, all but a few of them on more or less standard blocks of private land. Never mind for the moment whether the blocks are too big – whether it's right to have so much private urban land. The point is that whatever amount of it we have, we share it our more equally than any other affluent society does. We distribute private urban land more equally than we distribute income, or capital wealth, or education, or economic opportunities, or almost anything else.

Stretton therefore suggests that an egalitarian principle is thus at the core of the 'great Australian dream' of private home ownership. As a result of these policies, the idea that home ownership was a realistic expectation for anyone who did 'an honest day's work', became firmly embedded in Australian housing policy.

# Key insights

Two developments in housing policy in the post Second World War period are of significance to distributive justice. First, as I have just mentioned, home ownership was conceptualised in policy as a means of redistributing wealth. In this way, housing policy advancing home ownership resonates with Rawls's difference principle. That is in principle, home ownership is a means of bettering the life chances of the least advantaged members of society. Importantly however, this was tied to a conception of the deserving recipient of housing assistance as the thrifty, hard-working Australian family, for whom owning one's own home is a reasonable expectation. As I will shortly discuss, this idea of home ownership as the great levelling force has continued until the present day, notwithstanding little change in the percentage of households in home ownership, radical changes in labour markets and household structures, and the increasing polarisation of housing wealth in Australia.

Second, housing policy in the post Second World War period, became part of a project of nation building in which a particular, privatised way of being housed – owning one's home – became tied to a narrative of national identity, as captured in the idea of the 'great Australian dream'. It is clear that within this narrative, the community of justice is national in its reach. What is more, home ownership becomes an instrument and symbol of participation in the political community. Over the remainder of this chapter, I want to show how this link between home ownership and citizenship, and thus the community of justice as nationally constrained, has formed a continuum in housing policy to the present day.

# The 'Invisible Hand': housing policy from the late 1970s to the 1990s

In this section I present analysis of Australian housing policy from the late 1970s to the 1990s, an era noted as a period of significant economic and social policy reform. I argue that the legacy of these reforms include the use of second home ownership as an investment vehicle for households with existing housing wealth and the adoption of market-based concepts into housing policy. Nevertheless, this was also an era in

which the federal government continued to dedicate funds for public housing as part of a social wage. In addition, concern for the environmental impacts of Australian housing was introduced into housing policy for the first time, though arguably the improvement of the environmental sustainability of housing took second place to the economic efficiency of the housing system. In outlining the changes to Australian housing policy in this era, it is important to reiterate that even in the immediate post Second World War period the vast majority of Australian households lived in privately owned housing. At the time, however, changes in housing policy discourse in terms of the inclusion of market-based language into housing policy, specifically the use of concepts such as 'choice' and 'flexibility', were also significant.

#### Context: economic reform

The economic boom that defined the period immediately following the Second World War, coupled with low unemployment rates, continued as the 'normal state of affairs' for some thirty years thereafter. Economic and social policy in the period drew on principles and objectives of Keynesian economics, which promoted a mixed economy involving the state and the private sector directing the economy, with a significant role for the public sector. Internationally, this system was underpinned by the Bretton Woods system of fixed exchange rates (Winter & Stone 1998). In the view of the then Labor Prime Minister Gough Whitlam (1972–1975), during the years of the 'post-war economic boom' the principles of Keynesian economics provided 'clarity and certainty of economic management' which 'opened up new prospects and induced high hopes for social reform' (Whitlam cited in Kelly 1992, p.79; see also Conley 2009).

Over the course of the 1970s, however, these circumstances changed: the Bretton Woods system collapsed, and economic instability, unemployment, and inflation grew (challenging the fundamentals of Keynesian economics that governments could manage inflation by curbing employment) (*The Rise of Economic Rationalism, ABC Radio* 1998). Coupled with a growing federal government spending and budget deficit, rising wages, and growing industrial disputes, these changes amounted to what Whitwell (1993, 1994) describes as an economic scale shock. These shocks are said to have tested the Keynesian approach, as well as the belief of government as

fixer of the economy. Instead, federal Treasury bureaucrats moved away from the aspiration to full employment, and seeing inflation as a result of government spending, sought to balance the budget by reducing public sector expenditure (Whitlam cited in Whitwell 1994, p.226).

Into the 1980s and 1990s the economic reform agenda continued. In 1983, only months after being elected into government, Paul Keating, then Treasurer under the Hawke Labor Government, undertook wide-ranging economic reforms, beginning with the floating of the Australian dollar in 1983. In the years that followed, the Hawke-Keating Government reduced 'protectionist' tariffs on foreign imports, undertook taxation reform, made changes to industrial relations (though this took place into the 1990s), deregulated the Australian banking system and privatised public businesses enterprises, such as the Australian airline, Qantas. These economic reforms, which are understood as consistent with a philosophy of neo-liberal or neo-classical economics, were labelled 'economic rationalism' in Australia and adopted as a mantra for improving economic efficiency.<sup>11</sup>

There is considerable debate in the literature on this period in Australian history concerning how this change in economic approach took place and why. On the one hand, authors such as Whitwell (1994) contend that the 1970s scale shock challenged the conventional wisdom of Keynesian economic management held by Australian economic policymakers and that the economic circumstances of the time necessitated dramatic overhaul. In response to this uncertainty, federal government officials of the late 1970s (then under Liberal Party Prime Minister Malcolm Fraser) were left longing for a new certainty, which neo-liberal economics provided. As a result, when the Hawke Labor Government was elected in 1983, its view was that it had inherited a system that was unable to meet the economic challenges of its time. As Keating (2011, p.587) recently asserted:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The term 'economic rationalism' was first used by economic journalists in the 1970s, who were critical of the government's 'protectionist' tariffs on imports, which they argued were irrational and were in favour of less government intervention in certain areas of policy. Since this time however, the term economic rationalism has tended to be used pejoratively (*The Rise of Economic Rationalism* 1998).

[...] in the end we had an industrial structure which was not only archaic but unaffordable. The terms of trade could not pay for the weight of the tariff or the real price of labour. Our national income had been permanently cut but we were still seeking the employment and income guarantees which had obtained earlier. The whole structure was collapsing and it had embedded within it an industrial culture in business which lacked innovation or quality or price competitiveness. Finally, it could not produce the investment or the employment required to sustain itself.

Other authors, such as Pusey (2003a, 2003b), contend that the neoliberalism was a political response to new problems of social management presented in the 1970s, rather than to economic problems. Pusey (2003a, p.2) argues that from this political response arose a 'take-no-prisoners top-down re-engineering of a whole national society [...] ready for competition in the new ruthless global economy'.

In any case, there is general agreement in the literature on economic rationalism in Australia that new approaches to economic management arose amidst these changing circumstances, which were part of a broader ideology about the role of the state, citizens and the economy (Carroll 1992; Carroll & Manne 1992; Hollier 2006; Pusey 1991, 1993a, 1993b; Whitwell 1993, 1994). The application of economic rationalist principles to policy is thus regarded as a turning point in Australian political and economic history in which few areas of policy were left untouched.

#### Housing policy and the changing economic landscape

One of the outcomes of the economic and financial reforms of the 1970s and 1980s was that the Australian economy was more susceptible to developments in international financial markets including the 1987 crash of world stock markets. In September 1987 (one month prior to the stock market crash), the Hawke Government had reintroduced the tax concession 'negative gearing', which it had suspended as part of a program of national taxation reform in July 1985 (Troy 2012). Negative gearing on property investments had been introduced in the early 1980s as a means of encouraging private investment in private rental housing by offering small investors income tax breaks on mortgage interest payments. In relation to the decision to suspend negative gearing in 1985, Keating had criticised the tax arrangement as an 'outrageous rort' and 'one of the most blatantly abused tax shelters in the system' (Keating cited in Carroll 2010, p.81). In his 1987-88 Budget speech,

delivered to the Australian Parliament, however, Keating (in 1987 in Australia) defended the reintroduction of negative gearing on the grounds that the 1985 tax reforms had 'restored the integrity of the [Australian] tax system'. Ostensibly, the reintroduction of negative gearing was to increase the supply of rental housing for lower income households. Yet the policy is said to have had only an inflationary impact on housing prices:

The deterioration in the housing situation continued to create social and political pressure so that by 1989 it was a major source of concern. The reduction in public rental housing meant that the only option for low-income households was the private rental market. In many locations, private rental housing was hard to find. Tenants had limited rights and many poorer or 'problem' households found it difficult to find accommodation. Public housing authorities were placed under great stress in trying to meet the demands (Troy 2012, p.204).

It is alleged that Keating reintroduced negative gearing under pressure from housing lobby groups, who contested that the removal of negative gearing had decreased investment in private rental housing in turn pushing up rental prices. Keating is said to have acquiesced to this pressure in an attempt to win votes for the state Labor Party in the 1988 New South Wales state election (Megalogenis 2012).

In addition, prior to 1985, the Commonwealth had regulated home loans so that households could only borrow an amount up to that level serviceable by 25 per cent of the income of the principle income earner. This regulation was intended to 'limit demand (and indebtedness) to comfortable levels and thus to hold house prices in check' (Pusey 2010, p.129). Following the deregulation of mortgage lending in 1985, however, banks and financial institutions were able to lend larger mortgages to households (relative to their incomes). Two years later in 1987 the Hawke Government also relaxed controls over foreign ownership of property in Australia. Thus in the aftermath of the stock market crash, relatively low interest rates, deregulated home finance, and the prospect of being able to offset any housing losses proved to be fertile ground for a housing price boom. This boom drove, and was driven by increased foreign investment in commercial real estate and domestic investment in housing (Troy 2012). The scale of speculative investment in housing was such that in the two years from June 1987 to 1989, average house prices in Australia rose by 56 per cent (Department of Treasury 2004).

While some existing Australian homeowners were able to access credit made available to them through a deregulated home lending system to acquire housing as a tax-deductible investment, fewer new households entered into home ownership (Yates 1989). In fact, the rate of home ownership stayed relatively the same. In 1983 the Hawke Government had introduced a *First Home Owners Scheme* (which it later revoked), which provided non-repayable tax-free benefits to low and moderate income households to assist these households to enter into home ownership. The scheme was also to 'stimulate construction of new dwellings and to create new jobs' (Commonwealth of Australia 1988, p.36). Between 1987-88 and 1988-89 there was a 30 per cent reduction in the number of first home owner scheme recipients, suggesting a decline in first home owners (Bond 2004). Further, Flood and Yates (cited in Yates 2003) document that at least until the mid-1980s the indirect subsidy provided to existing owners through the taxation system outstripped the direct assistance provided to aspirant home owners. This disproportionately favoured those households who already owned their housing outright.

By the end of the 1980s, the Australian economic climate was characterised by accelerating growth in gross domestic product, driven by commercial construction and high inflation, coupled with high rates of borrowing and a rising balance of payment deficits (Megalogenis 2012). In the early 1970s an interest rate ceiling on large housing loans had been removed and in 1986, a 13.5 per cent cap on all new loans was removed (existing loans were still subject to the cap until these were discharged) (Debelle 2010). The deregulation of mortgage interest rates meant that financial institutions were able to pass on interest rates increases to new borrowers, which increased to 17 per cent in 1989. These conditions proved volatile, however, and the 'housing bubble' and the economic boom it was part of were short-lived. The 1987 stock market crash, coupled with the collapse of a large number of private housing financial institutions in the US, precipitated an international recession. In what Keating infamously referred to as 'the recession we had to have' in 1990 the Australian economy joined economies of the United States, the United Kingdom, Canada, New Zealand, Finland and Sweden in recession (McFarlane 2006). Amongst

other factors, the recession precipitated rises in unemployment, which continued until late 1992.

#### Changes to public housing policy

While the policies of the Hawke-Keating era were informed by neo-liberal economic theory, this was offset somewhat by a commitment to a universal social wage. This wage included minimum wage agreements negotiated with trade unions, public healthcare, education and public housing. Thus, while economic and taxation policy reform had induced conditions for the growth of speculative investment in housing, the government supported public housing. For example, the government's 1988 social justice strategy, *Towards a Fairer Australia*, identifies 'access to adequate and affordable housing for all' as a 'fundamental element of social justice' (p.34). The strategy document goes on to claim that:

Poor quality housing and homelessness deprive people of the opportunity to participate in personal development activities and community life and are often indicative of a general state of need. Consistent with this, high housing costs, especially for lower income groups, are a major contributor to inadequate living standards. The alleviation of housing related poverty and the provision of access to affordable and suitable shelter for all are therefore major government priorities (Commonwealth of Australia 1988, p.34).

Nevertheless, the social justice strategy (1988, p.34) notes that part of the objective of investing in public housing was to 'stimulate construction of new dwellings and to create new jobs'. It is this particular coincidence of social policy and economic policy that provides the context for the development of the *National Housing Strategy* in the early 1990s. <sup>12</sup> As I will discuss in the next section, it is the erosion of the social wage from the mid-1990s that would define that era.

Over the course of the 1980s federal funding for public housing under the CSHA grew markedly increasing by 72 per cent between 1982-83 and 1987-88. In addition, there were no controls placed on the sale of public housing properties by the States

91

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> This particular blend of social and economic policy has led to the assessment of the Hawke Government's approach as being social-democratic as opposed to strictly neo-liberal, and as such providing the basis for the UK Blair Government's 'Third Way' political and economic approach (Harcourt 2001)

(Troy 2012). As Dodson (2006) has argued, this investment is out of step with the notion of the withdrawal of the state implicit in neo-liberal theory, but rather, a change in the role of the state in housing provision. At the same time, however, the CSHA specified more stringent criteria for who could be eligible for public housing and attached to the agreement were more defined categories of public housing recipients: youth, singles, single-parent families, couples without children, elderly single people, and elderly couples. Importantly, this period also saw a growing redefinition of public housing as a residual housing sector, serving those people deemed to be the most disadvantaged: public housing was no longer for working families, but for very low income and otherwise disadvantaged households (Dodson 2007).

The CSHA also included more stringent criteria for how the States could invest funding under the agreement. The 1984 CSHA earmarked grants for crisis housing (emergency housing for people who are homeless), local government and community housing, as well as for mortgage and rental assistance for people in the private market, for example. In addition, the types of housing programs differentiated to include leasing, joint ventures, community housing, and interest subsidies for home purchase (Dalton 2010). Successive CSHAs also granted a greater role for not-for-profit non-government organisations in the provision of publicly owned housing (McIntosh & Phillips 2001).

While Commonwealth investment in public housing increased in absolute terms, it increasingly favoured demand-side measures over supply-side measures (Industry Commission 1993). This preference was typified by the introduction of Commonwealth Rent Assistance (CRA), an income supplement for eligible households in private rental housing in 1984. In 1985, funding for CRA was around one-fifth of the funding for CSHA; by 1994-5 it was one and a half times the size (Productivity Commission 1998).

### National Housing Strategy, 1991–1992

Amidst the turmoil of boom and bust of the recession, the then Hawke Minister for Community Services Brian Howe initiated a review of national housing policy, and commenced the development of the National Housing Strategy (NHS). Led by eminent academic Dr. Meredith Edwards, the stated goal of the NHS was to 'develop a program of housing policy reform so that more affordable and appropriate housing options could be provided for all Australians' (NHS 1992b, p.iii). <sup>13</sup>

Papers produced for the NHS cover an expansive range of housing-related matters. The papers emphasise the links between housing provision and wider demographic, social, economic and government policy processes as well as 'broader considerations of land use, planning infrastructure provision and the structure and capabilities of the residential building industry' (NHS 1992b, p.4). According to Troy (2012, pp.204-5), the NHS 'sought to explore housing policy questions beyond the stultifying argument that had bedevilled housing policy debates at the Commonwealth level [...] over whether assistance to low income households should focus on income support or housing allowances programs rather than on the actual provision of dwellings'.

# **Social changes**

The National Housing Strategy documents stress a range of demographic and social factors warranting reforms to the housing policy system in Australia. These factors include population increase, population ageing and changes to household structure:

The characteristics of Australian family life and of Australian households have undergone marked changes since the early 1960s: until recently the young have been leaving home earlier; the rate of women's labour market participation has risen; people have been marrying and becoming parents later; the rate of marital separation has increased; there has been a rise in the number of people living alone; and, with the ageing of the population and average life expectancy increasing, there has been an increase in the proportion of the population requiring support services and care (NHS 1992b, p.57).

NHS documents maintain that these demographic and social changes, coupled with the economic changes of the era, lead to polarising impacts on how people are housed. Factors such as the increasing participation of women in paid work increased

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The review also included the 1992-93 *Industry Commission Inquiry into the Provision of Public Housing*, negotiation of the 1996 CSHA and Commonwealth rent subsidy and public housing reforms.

some households' income in absolute terms, but also in relative terms when compared to single person households. While the increased incomes (attributed to having two income earners in the household) of some households enabled them to spend more on their housing, the NHS papers concede that lower income households were experiencing difficulties in obtaining affordable, appropriate housing: 25 per cent of sole parents and 25 per cent of single people aged over 65 years paid more than 50 per cent of their income in rent (NHS 1992b).

Three aspects of the NHS are of particular relevance to this research. Firstly, the strategy confirmed housing affordability as the key paradigm for housing policy, and established a housing stress benchmark as the key measure of housing-related disadvantage. Second, while the strategy allocates a place for the direct provision of housing (public housing) as a safety net, it also reiterates the centrality of the home ownership tenure to Australian housing policy. The NHS papers position the direct provision of housing by the state as an important social 'safety net': public housing was considered part of the social wage. For the most part, however, national policy focused on the provision of private market housing, with more stringent eligibility criteria resulting in public housing being targeted to only the most disadvantaged. Finally, the NHS papers introduce concern for environmental sustainability into housing policy.

#### Housing affordability and housing stress

The NHS papers mentioned above further the use of the housing affordability paradigm in housing policy. As I outlined in *Chapter Two*, the concept of housing affordability concerns the relationship between household income and expenditure on housing. The use of the affordability concept in the NHS papers sits alongside a broader use of market-based terms in relation to housing. That is, the papers frequently refer to concepts such as choice, flexibility, efficiency and barriers (NHS 1992a). As I argued in *Chapter Two*, this language focuses on the process of housing consumption, as opposed to the qualities of the housing. Concomitantly, implicit in this focus is that disadvantage is a function of ability to pay and therefore relates to income or wealth, as opposed to what a person can do with that housing.

In addition to the concept of housing affordability, the NHS introduced the 'housing stress' measure as a benchmark of housing affordability (NHS 1991a). The issues paper, The Affordability of Australian Housing, recommended the 'adoption of a specific housing affordability benchmark based on the proportion of income paid for housing by low-income Australians' (NHS 1991a, p.41), for example. benchmark was set at housing costs assuming 30 per cent of income for low-income renters, and 25 per cent or more for households who were long-term low-income renters. In this paper it is stated that if a household spends more than 25 or 30 per cent of its income on housing, then this should be a matter of 'choice and preference' rather than 'circumstance and hardship' (NHS 1991a, p.41). This benchmark was not, however, based on any rigorous analysis of whether a household's after-housing income was sufficient to meet its basic needs. Rather, it was based on bank mortgage lending standards and practices of social housing in Europe and North America (Gabriel et al. 2005; NHS 1991a). Nevertheless, the impact of the NHS was to consolidate the 25 per cent of income rule and ultimately the 30 per cent of income rule as benchmarks of housing affordability (Gabriel et al. 2005).

#### Home ownership

The National Housing Strategy papers also reiterate the centrality of the home ownership tenure to Australian policy. The background paper *The Role of Home Ownership* states that Australian government policy at the time favoured home ownership and that home ownership was given preferential treatment under the Australian taxation system. The paper asserts that contrary to the popular view that this taxation treatment produced an inequitable distribution of housing wealth, 'policies supporting home ownership are likely to have achieved a progressive redistribution of wealth in the community' (NHS 1992b, p.129). The number of 'low income families' living in owner-occupied housing evidences this argument, the paper suggests. In other words, the policies that give preferential treatment of all homeowner households work to the benefit of the least advantaged homeowners. At the same time, the paper points to the relative disadvantage of low income households in private rental housing; nevertheless, it argues that this disadvantage would likely be further exacerbated if the favourable tax treatment for owner-

occupied housing were abolished. This latter conclusion is asserted rather than supported by convincing argument and evidence.

# **Public housing**

While the NHS documents explicitly support policies to 'remove barriers' to home ownership, these documents nevertheless emphasise government investment in public housing as a core concern for social justice. These documents further reiterate that the provision of low cost housing is an important part of the social wage: that is, non-monetary forms of benefit that contribute to a person's quality of life (and which would also include subsidised public healthcare, public transport and superannuation benefits):

[I]n the interests of both efficiency and equity, the Government's social justice and housing strategies must include a careful reassessment of Australian urban settlement patterns and current mechanisms for housing provision and housing assistance. In this context, affordable housing is a component of the social wage element of the Accord (NHS 1991b, p.12).

At this point, it is worth noting that the Industry Commission (as cited in NHS 1992b, p.56), argued in its contribution to the housing policy review, that constraints on funding for public housing were inevitable and recommended the 'gradual withdrawal of the Commonwealth from capital funding for public housing'. This conflict seems to reflect an inherent tension in the neo-liberal economic reforms: of the intent to pursue social reforms within a paradigm of increased economic efficiency. Unless some of the efficiency gains are redirected to compensate for regressive market outcomes, the social wage declines.

While Commonwealth investment in public housing increased in absolute terms, it increasingly favoured demand-side measures over supply-side measures (Howe 2009, p.147). This preference was typified by the introduction of Commonwealth Rent Assistance program, an income supplement for eligible households in private rental housing in 1984. As I noted earlier in 1985, funding for CRA was around one fifth of the funding for CSHA; by 1994-5 it was one and a half times that amount.

#### **Environmental concern**

The third and final aspect of the NHS papers that is of interest to this research is the inclusion of environmental goals in the papers. The authors of the background paper, *Framework for Reform*, note that amongst the factors contributing to a 'need for change' in the housing policy system were 'public concerns that housing and other policies be developed in an environmentally sustainable framework' (NHS 1992b, p.30). This argument is reiterated in the final report of the NHS, *Agenda for Action*:

All spheres of government are now committed to taking care of the environment while pursuing other objectives. Policies that integrate housing and urban issues with environmental considerations will be critical in fulfilling broader government commitments to the However, development of ecologically sustainable cities. ecologically sustainable development requires, as a high priority, that environmental concerns be addressed as part of any development from the start [...] By improving housing and urban design so that cities and towns can function more efficiently, people's quality of life can be maintained or improved through better energy use, improved waste management, reduced pollution such as noise, less deterioration in air and water qualities, and by more appropriate use of land (NHS 1992a, p.60)

The Agenda document goes on to describe a 'vision' for Australian in 2010, wherein homes are designed to 'energy-conscious principles', 'there is far more recycling of water and refuse' and 'cars and fuel are more environmentally friendly' (1992a, p.17).

The document also notes that an obstacle to achieving environmental efficiency gains in housing was the increasing average floor space of new housing in Australia. The average floor space of new homes in Australia at the time was 180 square metres, which had increased by 40 per cent over 20 years (NHS 1992a, pp.58-9). That is, more floor space meant that households were likely to use more energy in heating and cooling the home, and had more space to fill with energy consuming appliances. The increase in the size of housing consumed by some households was put down to these households' greater incomes, due to two income earners in the household. Paradoxically, this increase in the average size of dwellings coincided with a decrease in the number of occupants (meaning that the per capita increase was even greater). As such, the way in which Australian households were being housed was a challenge to advancing environmental sustainability goals.

The NHS and reforms to building regulations thus drew concerns about the environmental sustainability of housing into a realm previously dominated by a primary concern for growing the supply of housing. Thereafter, the environmental sustainability of housing re-emerged in the federal government's (at this point under Paul Keating as Prime Minister) 1995 *Urban Regional Development Review in* particular the strategy paper *Green Cities*.

Arguably, the emerging focus on environmental issues within housing policy debate, as expressed in the National Housing Strategy and the National Urban and Regional Development Review (AURDR), was spurred on by the development of the 1991 National Strategy for Ecologically Sustainable Development (NSESD). (I will examine the details of the NSESD in *Chapter Five*.) At this point, however, suffice to say that *Green Cities* purports to 'identify ways in which the ecological sustainability of Australian urban areas can be enhanced' (AURDR 1995, p.9) wherein ecologically sustainable development – being 'green' – is based on the definition used in the NSESD:

- 'enhance individual and community well-being and welfare by following
  a path of economic development that safeguards the welfare of future
  generations;
- provide for equity within and between generations; and
- protect biological diversity and maintain essential ecological processes and life support systems' (AURDR 1995, p.9).

Based on this notion of being 'green' in *Green Cities*, it is argued that several institutional issues were impeding the advance of environmental goals through housing. Amongst these issues is the traditional reticence of the Australian residential and commercial building industry to adopting 'cost-effective energy efficiency standards on the grounds that it could increase upfront construction costs and adversely affect the industry' (AURDR 1995, p.9). Policy documents arising from a review of national building regulations in Australia suggest that by placing primacy on the economic efficiency of building regulations, building policy settings legitimised this reticence to the introduction of environmental standards in housing

construction. In the following paragraphs, I will present a summary of the building policy review findings.

In the late 1980s, a Building Regulations Review Taskforce (the Taskforce) made up of federal, state and local government bureaucrats as well as representatives of the building, construction and architecture industries, was established to examine the 'scope for significant reforms of the technical regulation of building' as part of the Hawke Government's microeconomic reform agenda (BRRT 1991a, p.1). The Taskforce was charged with developing proposals for building reform that would: 'improve the cost effectiveness of building while maintaining building integrity; reduce the cost and increase the flexibility of regulation, while providing for control of public health, safety and other aspects of community concern; and facilitate the introduction of new building products, processes and systems and enhance the contribution of the building industry to Australia's overall economic development' (BRRT 1991a, p.5).

In its final report the Taskforce stressed the importance of the building and construction industry to the Australian economy (its annual turnover equalling over 10 per cent of GDP), but at the same time argued that the industry was economically inefficient (BRRT 1991a, p.vi). The primary cause of this inefficiency, the Taskforce claimed, was overregulation. This overregulation, characterised by a very complex and inflexible web of regulatory controls (particularly for residential buildings), was, it was argued, difficult to navigate, causing delays and uncertainty in the development approvals process. The problem persisted because building and construction was a 'non-traded sector' and therefore not 'subject to the efficiency disciplines resulting from import competition' (BRRT 1991a, p.1).

The Taskforce claimed that costs of this inefficiency were being passed on to people buying and renting housing, putting 'home ownership beyond the reach of more Australians' (BRRT 1991a, p.1). More generally, it was impacting the whole economy and therefore urgent reform was deemed necessary to achieve a 'more integrated and internationally competitive Australian economy' (BRRT 1991a, p.1). Regulatory reform of the building sector was therefore not driven by concern for the

quality of housing produced by the building sector, but driven instead by concerns for the economic efficiency of the building system. Thus, while the taskforce produced a business plan for the development of model codes for energy efficient buildings (BRRT 1991b), it argued that the use of building regulations to achieve 'policy goals' outside of health and safety was likely to result in 'substantial inefficiencies', imposing costs on the community that outweighed any potential benefits (BRRT 1991a, p.1). This sentiment is reiterated in the taskforce's claim that housing costs are so sensitive that even quality and consumer protection safeguards should be 'provided at no additional costs indeed with consequent cost savings' (BRRT 1991a, p.27). Thus, improved energy efficiency and other concerns were secondary in fact, or even at odds with, the primary objectives of residential building regulations.<sup>14</sup>

In the Australian Urban and Regional Development Review documents it is argued that as a result of the building industry's reluctance to adopt energy efficiency in housing, occupants used more energy for heating and cooling, and the cost of retrofitting buildings to make them more energy efficient increased (AURDR 1995, p.72). The documents thus suggest that with respect to energy efficient buildings, there is a conflict between the various interests in the building industry and the general good: 'Individual parties pursuing their own positions may thus produce outcomes which are not necessarily the most preferred from the viewpoint of society as a whole' (AURDR 1995, p.106). While these claims are illuminating, they overlook the fact that government policy focusing on efficiency, as evidenced in the building regulations review, legitimised the sidelining of environmental concerns.

To alleviate these perceived problems the Taskforce recommended the establishment of a centrally managed, national regulatory framework for buildings; that the AUBRCC be replaced with the an Australian Building Regulation Corporation (ABRC), which would be better resourced and managed; and that the ABRC adopt a 'performance-oriented management focus' in effect giving a greater *de jure* role to the private sector in regulatory processes. In 1994, the ABRC was succeeded by the Australian Building Codes Board (ABCB).

#### Key insights from housing policy in the 1980s and 1990s

To this point in this chapter, I have outlined the major economic and financial changes that took place during the 1980s and into the early 1990s, as an important context for changes to housing policy. Processes of deregulation affected some households' capacity to enter into home ownership, especially around the 'boom' years of the late 1980s. While the boom in house prices was relatively short-lived, several aspects of this period are important to this research. First, in the same way that the floating of the Australian dollar made the Australian economy more susceptible to fluctuations in international markets, the deregulation of the housing lending system meant that mortgage interest rates were more susceptible to the boom and bust cycles of the economy. As Berry (2010, p.126) argues, the deregulation of the Australian financial system 'massively expanded the scope and scale of mortgage lending and locked it into the international circuits of financial capital', such that the 'accumulation of housing wealth in Australia and the operation of mortgage markets have become ever more entwined'. This susceptibility of the Australian housing finance system tests any notion of housing as a matter of exclusively national interest. Yet, the entwinement of Australian housing in international markets contrasts with the notion of home ownership as a project of nation building.

My second observation of this period is that the reintroduction of the tax break negative gearing underwrote the notion of housing as not only a means of shelter, but as an investment vehicle that favours existing homeowners. In more recent years, one of the impacts of this policy has been that at least 10 per cent of Australian households own an investment property (Berry 2010, p.126). Some authors argue that this 'neo-liberal landscape' encouraged home owners to purchase one or two properties to rent, and a result has 'turned home buyers into "investor figures" who see owner-occupation as a safe housing as a safe, secure, wise, and responsible vehicle for managing their money' (Colic-Peisker, Johnson & Smith 2010b, p.316). Cumulatively, these circumstances have led to a greater polarisation of housing wealth. This polarisation contradicts the long-held notion that home ownership is a great levelling force on the distribution of wealth. It also points to what seems to be the critical role that the taxation system plays in determining just outcomes. I will return to this point in *Chapter Six*.

## The 'Howard Years': housing policy from 1996 to 2007

In 1996, the thirteen years of the Hawke and Keating Labor governments came to an end with the election of the Coalition government under Prime Minister John Howard, which stayed in government for eleven years. The Howard Government continued the neo-liberal economic agenda of the Hawke and Keating Governments, coupled with conservative social policy.

## Home ownership policy developments

While average house prices in Australia had grown faster than incomes since the 1960s, between 1997 and 2005, however, house prices in Australia grew even more rapidly. This phenomenon was also experienced in the United Kingdom, Ireland, Spain, South Africa and the United States as part of a global housing boom (Yates et al. 2007). In the United States, for example, house prices were overvalued in the order of 50 per cent (*The Economist* cited in Berry 2010). The scale of house price growth over the period, and the interrelations between housing investment and economic growth, lead to fears that the 'biggest financial bubble in history' would eventually burst, with catastrophic consequences (Krugman 2008, p.169). This housing boom was underpinned by a period of economic boom (itself fuelled by expanding personal debt) which followed the recession of the early 1990s, declining interest rates (initially) and the increased availability of mortgage finance provided by banks and non-bank lending institutions. These trends encouraged increased expenditure on housing, by both owner-occupiers and investors (Berry 2010).

Australian governments did much to encourage this investment in housing over time. The federal government reintroduced non-repayable grants for first home owner households, called *First Home Owner Grants*. The grants were intended to offset increased housing transaction costs that resulted from the introduction of a goods and services tax (GST). In contrast to the Hawke Government's *First Home Owners Assistance Scheme*, the *First Home Owner Grants* were not means-tested and did not limit the price of the housing purchased. The grants program is reported to have increased house prices, 'enriching vendors (and making those who already have housing feel richer) while doing precisely nothing to help young people into home

ownership' (Eslake 2011; *see also* HRSCEFPA 2007; RBA 2007). In Victoria, as in many states, the government supplemented the grants with their own *First Home Bonus*, which was not means-tested and was available to people purchasing housing priced up to \$500,000, well above the median house price in the state at that time (\$320,000 in Melbourne and \$194,000 in the rest of the state) (Broad 2004; Eslake 2011; Land Victoria 2006; SSCHAA 2008).

By 2007, a housing boom in Australia had re-emerged, fuelled by households with existing housing wealth who were purchasing investment homes, which they did not intend to live in. Data produced by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) shows that in the year to June 2007, borrowing for rental investment grew by 18 per cent to \$75.4 billion nationally, while in Victoria borrowing grew by close to 30 per cent (ABS cited in Berry 2010, p.127). For the most part, however investors purchased existing housing in effect competing with aspirant first-time purchasers for the same properties. At the same time, record-low vacancy rates in private rental housing increased rental prices across most metropolitan areas. These factors combined to fuel further concern over a housing affordability crisis in Australia. Internationally, the housing bubble began showing signs of volatility, particularly in the United States. From 2007 'subprime' borrowers in the US began defaulting on their mortgages (literally handing the keys to their houses back to lending institutions) as house prices plummeted (Krugman 2008).

#### Public housing policy developments

Against the backdrop of the volatile state of private market housing, the Howard Government nevertheless threatened to terminate Commonwealth funding to the States for public housing under the CSHA, which was due to expire in 2008. In 2007, Malcolm Brough, the Minister for Families and Communities (there was no federal minister for housing in the Howard Government) alleged the private market could do better than the States at providing housing:

[...] we could just go out there and do what we've always done Chris, and that is to spend money in a public housing system which is producing less houses. We could put parameters around this expression of interest and curtail real innovation. Or we can say to the market, you come back to us in the next two months with things that can really work for the next generations of Australian [...] you

had a talkfest in Canberra with no ideas, here we have the Commonwealth putting real dollars on the table saying to the private sector it's yours if you can do something better with if for Australian families (Brough cited in *Government to overhaul public housing* 2007).

It would be inaccurate to argue that the Howard Government's reluctance to finance public housing and its preference for private market housing were unique to that government. In the decade leading up to Brough's threat to terminate the CSHA, however, the government made drastic cuts to public housing grants including a \$200 million cut to the CSHA in 1997-8, which contributed to a 25 per cent reduction in total, real capital funding for public housing nationally in the decade to 2001. In addition, the CSHA included more stringent allocation and rent setting procedures so that public housing was targeted to those people who were thought to have the greatest need (Hall & Berry 2007; McIntosh & Phillips 2001).

The Victorian Government, then under Liberal Premier Jeff Kennett (1992–1999), is said to have welcomed the Howard Government's early changes to the CHSA (Dodson 2006; Phibbs & Young 2009). The Kennett Government Minister for Housing, Ann Henderson introduced a segmented waiting list to ration the allocation of public housing, which classified public housing applicants according to criteria such as assets income and housing status. As a result, priority access to the diminishing public housing stock was allocated to households who were chronically homeless and, more often than not, had mental health and substance abuse issues.

The changing profile of public housing tenants meant that the States received less revenue from public housing rents. Yet their financial model was still based on funding operating expenditure (e.g. repairs, maintenance and even administrative costs) with rental revenue. As the Commonwealth provided less capital funding for public housing programs, growth in the States' public housing stock numbers slowed, meaning that the States were unable to replace existing stock, which aged in turn increasing maintenance costs. In Victoria, the Kennett Government also increased public housing rents from 20 per cent of household income to 25 per cent for new tenants and 23 per cent for existing tenants (Henderson cited in Dodson 2007). These factors compounded to put the States' budgets for public housing in structural

operating deficit, a predicament that remains to the present day (Hall & Berry 2004, 2007; Phibbs & Young; VAGO 2012).

The threat of an end to Commonwealth funding for public housing thus compounded the already dire state of public housing finances in Victoria. In response, the Victorian Government (under Labor Premier Steve Bracks) committed to increase funding for public housing, and in 2007 provided a \$500 million funding 'boost' to social housing (ALP 2006; Wynne 2007). Most of the \$500 million was earmarked for the acquisition of new properties to be owned and managed by registered nongovernment not-for-profit housing organisations, while the remaining portion was for significant renovations to existing housing (PAEC 2007; Wynne 2007). This built on change to legislation in 2005, which saw the inclusion of provisions within the *Housing Act 1983* for the establishment of a Housing Registrar to regulate not-for-profit housing organisations.<sup>15</sup>

The government's strategy also included the transfer of ownership of a quantum of public housing dwellings to not-for-profit housing organisations called 'housing associations'. The Victorian Government transferred ownership of the properties on the proviso that these agencies use the equity thus built to leverage private finance to acquire more housing (PAEC 2008). By the end of 2008, the Victorian Office of Housing had transferred the ownership of around 500 properties to these organisations (PAEC 2008; VAGO 2010).

## 'Kevin07' and the national reform agenda: 2007 to 2010

The November 2007 federal election ended the incumbent Howard Government's eleven-year term in office. Early into its term, the newly elected Labor government

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The Registrar is a body corporate, whose administrative arm, the Housing Registrar, at the time sat within the Victorian Department of Human Services. The role of the Housing Registrar is to register and regulate community housing organisations in Victoria. A key instrument at the behest of the Registrar's office is the Housing Provider Framework, which articulates the conditions – based on 'governance' and other procedures – under which housing organisations may register with the office. The HPF creates two tiers of registered organisation, 'housing associations' and 'housing providers'. Housing associations own and manage properties, some of which are transferred to them from the state portfolio, and are expected to grow their supply of housing. Housing providers manage public housing properties and properties owned by housing associations in some cases in addition to their own stock.

(under Prime Minister Kevin Rudd) distanced itself ideologically from the Howard Government, with the ALP's election platform implying that their election would usher in a new era in Australian politics. As I will discuss in *Chapter Five*, the Rudd Government's first act of government was to ratify the Kyoto Protocol, which Howard refused to do. In addition, it replaced the Howard Government's industrial relations legislation 'Work Choices', which provided little protection for low-income workers with its own 'Fair Work' legislation. It made a formal apology to the 'stolen generation' of Aboriginal children whom the government systematically removed from their biological parents until 1969, which Howard also refused to do.

With most of the States having Labor governments at the time, Australian governments, through the Council of Australian Governments<sup>16</sup> (COAG, the peak intergovernmental forum) also pursued reforms to federal-state financial relations. The current bilateral and multilateral funding arrangements were dismissed as 'a source of increasingly blurred roles and responsibilities, duplication and overlap, higher administration costs and cost-shifting', which constrained 'innovation in service delivery', created a 'drag on our national economy' and 'impede[d] the provision of better services to the community' (COAG 2008a).

A new *Intergovernmental Agreement for Federal Financial Relations* set the terms for these reforms, which rested on reducing the number of payments from the federal government to the States (called 'specific purpose payments') from more than ninety to five. In effect, this rationalisation of payments was intended to give the States greater flexibility in achieving agreed social policy 'outcomes' across public health, housing, skills and workforce development, disability services and Indigenous affairs. These outcomes are set out in ongoing *National Agreements* (Australian Government 2008b; COAG 2008a, 2008b; Plibersek 2008). In this process, a *National Affordable Housing Agreement* (NAHA) and a *National Affordable Housing* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Membership of COAG comprises the Prime Minister, all State Premiers, Chief Ministers, the President of the Australia Local Government Association (the peak body for local governments); Commonwealth, state and territory Treasurers also attend.

Specific Purpose Payment superseded the CSHA and other funding and policy agreements for homelessness.

The express objective of the NAHA is that 'All Australians have access to affordable, safe and sustainable housing that contributes to social and economic participation'. The agreement includes references to reforms to the Australian housing policy system, to achieve its six policy outcomes:

- 1. People who are homeless or at risk of homelessness achieve sustainable housing and social inclusion.
- 2. People are able to rent housing that meets their needs.
- 3. People can purchase affordable housing.
- 4. People have access to housing through an efficient and responsive market.
- 5. Indigenous people have the same housing opportunities as other Australians.
- 6. Indigenous people have improved housing amenity and reduced overcrowding, particularly in remote areas (COAG 2008b, 2009c).

These new policy and funding arrangements were ongoing, thus overcoming the need to renegotiate the terms of these agreements every five years, as had been the case with the CSHA. In addition to *National Agreements*; however, the new federal financial relations framework provided for the development of *National Partnership Agreements*, which provided time-limited funding to accelerate particular policy reforms.

The development of the NAHA and the *National Partnership Agreements* had antecedents in the work of the National Housing Affordability Summit. The Summit was a coalition of housing and community groups led by the Australian Council of Social Services (the peak council of the social and community service sector in Australia), the Australian Council of Trade Unions, the Community Housing Federation of Australia, the Housing Industry Association and National Shelter. In its inaugural meeting in 2004, the Summit group prepared a 'Call to Action' for affordable housing, which included a proposal for a National Affordable Housing Agreement to replace the CSHA. The Agreement would 'rationalise and strengthen government assistance for affordable housing' (NAHS 2007a, 2007b, 2007c).

At the July 2007 meeting of the Summit, hosted by the ALP (then in Opposition federally), these groups were joined by around 150 people from state and federal bureaucracy and politics, not-for-profit organisations, the private sector (building and finance), media and research (ACTU 2007; Irvine 2009; NAHS 2007c; Wade 2007). The key focus of the meeting was to debate federal Labor's (2007b) housing policy platform for the forthcoming federal election, *New Directions for Affordable Housing: Addressing the decline in housing affordability for Australian families in* anticipation of the November 2007 federal election ('Rudd Pledges Housing Summit', *AAP*, 2 July 2007). This policy platform included details of a *National Rental Affordability Scheme* to encourage private institutional investment in low cost rental housing; a *Housing Affordability Fund* to decrease infrastructure costs for new housing development; and a *National Housing Supply Research Council*.

One of the key aspects of the NAHA policy reforms was that these drew the issue of homelessness from the periphery to the centre of national housing policy debate. For example in the *National Partnership Agreement on Homelessness* Australian state governments committed to halve the rate of homelessness nationally by 2020 (COAG 2009g). In addition, the Australian Government published *The Road Home – The Australian Government White Paper on Homelessness*, which set out the government's strategy for achieving the 2020 goal (FaHCSIA 2008).

For the most part, addressing homelessness and housing affordability for lower-income households was situated within a discourse of advancing 'social inclusion'. The *National Partnership Agreement on Social Housing* states, for example, that 'the Commonwealth and the States and Territories recognise that they have a mutual interest in increasing the supply of social housing to provide improved housing, social inclusion and economic participation outcomes for disadvantaged households' (COAG 2009j, p.4). While the documents themselves do not spell out what social inclusion means, documents retrieved from the Australian Government's social inclusion website define social inclusion as a catch-all term for the goals of reducing disadvantage; increasing social, civic and economic participation; and developing greater voice, combined with greater responsibility: 'making sure that, over time,

everyone can access the opportunities our society has to offer' (Australian Government 2011b).

#### Rental housing: increasing supply through non-government agencies

A second notable feature of the NAHA and National Partnership Agreements is that these focus on increasing the supply of rental housing owned and managed by non-government organisations (Australian Government 2008a; DPMC 2012; Jacobs et al. 2007). That is, the fact that here is no *National Partnership Agreement* for public housing, only for social housing is an important detail of the national housing policy reforms. As I detailed earlier in this chapter, successive CSHAs since the 1970s had included grants directed to the non-government not-for-profit housing sector. In addition, I have shown how the Victorian Government developed strategies to divest stock to the sector in 2007. In the NAHA and the NPAs, however, funding to not-for-profit housing organisations is a cornerstone of the agreement. In a media release on the agreement, then federal Minister for Housing Tanya Plibersek (2009b, p.5) asserted that:

The centrepiece of the Government's reform agenda is to facilitate the growth of a number of sophisticated not for profit housing organisations [...] Over the next five years, I would like to see more large, commercially sophisticated not for profit housing organisations emerge and operate alongside the existing state and territory housing departments ... [and] operating in different markets — including across State borders — providing a range of housing products for low and moderate income Australians.

Under the NAHA arrangements, Commonwealth capital funding for social housing was provided through a *Social Housing Growth Fund* (Plibersek 2009a). One of the criteria that projects funded by the Social Housing Growth Fund must accord with is that these projects 'support the growth of the not-for-profit sector' (COAG 2009e, p.6). As such, the NAHA does not provide for the direct provision of housing by governments at all instead charging not-for-profit organisations to do so.

#### 'Nation Building', housing and the global financial crisis

While Australian governments were debating the terms of the NAHA and NPAs, by late 2008, it became apparent that the Australian economy would not be immune from the threat of the deepening global economic crisis, triggered in part by the

collapse of the 'subprime' mortgage lending system in the United States.<sup>17</sup> Amidst the scale and imminence of the economic crisis, Rudd retracted claims made in the 2007 election campaign to being 'economically conservative', proclaiming to be social democrat rather than neo-liberal:

The truth is that we are going through the worst financial crisis in our lifetime. I've described it as the economic equivalent of a national security crisis. More than 25 banks around the world have failed, or been bailed out [...] In the last few weeks, the global financial crisis has moved into a new and dangerous stage. And that is its effect on the real economy, on growth and jobs, around the world and here in Australia. Growth will slow, and unemployment will rise [...] As Prime Minister, it is my job to level with the Australian people. I don't intend to gild the lily [...] There will be tough times ahead (Rudd & Swan 2008).

The intellectual challenge for social democrats is to save capitalism from itself [...] to advance the case that the social-democratic state offers the best guarantee of preserving the productive capacity of properly regulated competitive markets, while ensuring that *government* is the regulator, that *government* is the funder and provider of public goods, and that *government* offsets the inevitable inequalities of the market with a commitment to fairness for all (Rudd 2009a).

To ward off the looming threat of the economic crisis, the Rudd Government announced it would implement a \$10.4 billion *Economic Security Package* ('Rudd unveils \$10.4b stimulus plan', *SMH*, 14 October 2008). Initially, the package included down payments to pensioners, support payments for families and funding to create new training positions. In addition, the Rudd Government increased threefold the *First Home Owners Grant* for people purchasing newly constructed housing and twofold for those purchasing existing housing (Rudd & Swan 2008). At the time, however, there was still speculation as to the extent of the impact of the economic crisis on the Australian economy.

In February 2009, the Rudd Government announced a further \$42 billion *Economic Stimulus Package* as the threat of global depression loomed larger (Australian

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The downturn saw the nationalisation of US sub-prime lending institutions, Freddie Mac and Freddie Mae, and the collapse of global service firm Lehman Brothers.

Government 2010b; Manne 2010; Rudd et al. 2009; Swan 2010). The stimulus package included around \$6 billion for social housing under a *National Partnership Agreement on Nation Building and Jobs (Social Housing Initiative)*, which was significant when compared to the \$971 million for housing under the CSHA in 2007-08 (COAG 2009h). This funding was to provide for the construction of around 20,000 new social housing properties and to refurbish 2,500 properties that were unsuitable for habitation.

Ostensibly, the *Social Housing Initiative* was intended to accelerate the implementation of the national housing reforms under the NAHA. As a condition of securing this funding the States were required to commit to fourteen different system reforms, relating to:

- (i) the integration of waiting lists for public and community housing
- (ii) the location of new housing
- (iii) support for tenants to 'transition' into other the private housing market
- (iv) accounting and reporting standards
- (v) tenancy management
- (vi) property maintenance
- (vii) the regulation of non-government not-for-profit housing agencies (COAG 2009h; Office of Housing 2010).

In addition, the funding agreement also specified minimum energy and water efficiency for housing constructed with nation building funding. However in practice these standards merely align with the minimum standards for all new residential construction under the Building Code of Australia.

Housing policy objectives aside, the driving force behind the stimulus plan was not addressing housing issues, but instead keeping the economy out of recession by stimulating the building and construction industry through a 'shovel-ready' infrastructure program (COAG 2009a). For instance, explicit in the agreement is that the social housing initiative was to provide 'an immediate stimulus to the building and construction industry' (COAG 2009h). Further in a press conference announcing the stimulus package, Prime Minister Rudd in a joint press conference with Treasurer Wayne Swan (2009) asserted:

Here is a global recession. Here is the further deterioration of the global economy reflected in the data over the last several months. Here, therefore, based on treasury advice is the likely further gap in economic growth in the Australian national accounts and therefore

what do we need to do by way of investment to seek to fill that gap. Then it's a question of what can you do most quickly and most productively and to do two things. One, provide the necessary stimulus now in the shorter term [...] and secondly wherever possible mesh that with long term infrastructure which the nation needs.

This focus on stimulating the economy is reflected in strict controls over project timeframes: the States were required to invest the nation building funds in new housing, a significant majority of which had to be constructed by December 2010. Moreover, should the States have failed to invest all nation building funds allocated to them within a fixed timeframe, these were to be reclaimed by the Commonwealth for 'reallocation' (Rudd & Swan 2009). As I will also argue in relation to Australian environmental policy (in *Chapter Five*), while the *Nation Building* project may have stimulated economic activity, this economic activity has overwhelmed social reform priorities.

The scale of the Nation Building funding also disguises the fact that the ongoing funding for the NAHA reforms, provided in the National Affordable Housing Specific Purpose Payment, has done little to address the operating deficit faced by the States. A recently published report of the Victorian Auditor-General's Office (VAGO 2012) claims that the Victorian Government was expected to run out of funds for the public housing program in the 2012/13 financial year.

#### Home ownership policy

Notwithstanding its initial focus on reforming the social housing system, the Rudd Government still espoused home ownership as the most desirable housing tenure:

In the post-war period home ownership became part of the great Australian dream. The suburban quarter acre block will a hills hoist, a BBQ and a shed became an iconic Australian image. The objective of our Government is to continue and strengthen the great Australian dream of home ownership. It is to move Australia closer towards a home-owning democracy [...] Our ambition is for Australia to be a home-owning society, to extend the opportunity to home ownership to as many people as possible, and to provide high quality, safe, secure homes for those who aren't yet in a position to own their own home. A place to call home is fundamental to Australian values. The home is the physical foundation of the family. It is a base from which we raise our children, be part of a community, and build a career (Rudd 2008).

In detailing the causes of the 'housing affordability problem' which prohibited people from entering home ownership, however, Rudd points only to supply constraints and not to the tax conditions that encouraged investors to compete with aspirant households for existing properties. Rudd's focus on home ownership may have been attributable, at least in part, to the audience for this address, which was comprised of members of the Housing Institute of Australia, a peak body for the house building industry.

The findings of an Australian Senate inquiry into housing affordability demonstrate the bipartisan support for home ownership amongst policymakers. In a 'forgotten people' fashion in its final report *A Good House is Hard to Find* the Senate Select Committee on Housing Affordability in Australia states that home ownership 'should be an aspiration that through prudent management of household finances they are able to realise' and that 'despite recent declines in the proportion of Australians who own or are buying their home, home ownership continues to hold a special place in the Australian psyche' (SSCHAA 2008, p.x).

#### Conclusion

In this chapter I have presented the results of analysis of Australian housing policy documents from around the Second World War period to 2009. My objective has been to investigate how what is important about housing and who matters (the community of justice) are addressed in housing policy. My analysis has shown that despite the increasing opening up and exposure of the housing system to processes beyond the sovereign state, from the post Second World War period, housing policy has been tied to projects of nation building. This is exemplified in the idea of the tenure of private home ownership as the 'great Australian dream' and the idea of Australia as a 'home-owning democracy'. In this way, owning one's own home is tied to narratives of citizenship, and has been grafted onto the often contested and implicit social compact of Australian identity. Despite the association of home ownership with a principle of fairness and income redistribution, however, housing-related policies, especially those for income taxation, have enabled the growing polarisation of housing wealth in Australia since the 1980s. In *Chapter Six* I will

revisit these claims through the lens of social justice as presented in *Chapter Three* in particular, the relationship between housing tenure and social justice.

The economic reform years of the 1980s and 1990s saw the introduction of the 'neo-liberal' concept of housing affordability, which is now the dominant housing policy paradigm, with corollary concepts of market efficiency and choice. While in public housing policy, this has given rise to increasingly stringent criteria and categories of housing need policies for private market housing demonstrate little concern over the substantive qualities of housing. In this way, the language of efficiency, and its utilitarian bedfellow 'cost-benefit analysis' seem to provide little room for public debate over the ends that housing serves, and how this may be compromised by actions to improve the environmental sustainability of housing. In the next chapter I investigate the implications of this situation.

# CHAPTER FIVE: AUSTRALIAN ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

In this chapter, I present analysis of Australian environmental policy from the late 1970s to 2010. My aim is to provide a basis for addressing *Research Questions One* and *Two*, which concern the tensions between how what matters and who matters have been framed in Australian housing and environmental policy. To this end, I do not document every development in Australian environmental policy history. Rather, my approach is to present an account of Australian environmental policy that enables a better understanding of the implicit tensions that arise when policies for environmental sustainability, and in particular those concerning climate change interact with how people in Australia are housed. Through this analysis I point to two key approaches to addressing climate change. The first is the introduction of a market-based mechanism including the Rudd Government's proposed *Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme*, which has indirect and direct impacts on how people are housed, across all households. The second is the introduction of mandatory energy efficiency standards for Australian house building regulations, which has a direct impact on how people are housed, but only for certain households.

Both of these approaches, emissions trading in particular, are relatively recent developments in Australian policy. In this chapter, I trace the developments in environmental policy that precede and parallel the emergence of emissions trading and building regulations. This serves two ends in particular. Firstly, it places the emergence of emissions trading and environmental building regulations in context including the emergence of human impacts on the environment as a political *problem*. Secondly, it provides insights into the antecedents of claims about what and who matters.

Through this analysis, I argue that up until the end of the 1980s, Australian environmental policy focused on specific issues concerned with conservation including the preservation of areas deemed to have natural heritage, and water and

air pollution, amongst other concerns. These policy developments were framed by an international policy setting that focused increasingly on the impact of economic development on the natural environment, and the implications of these impacts for people living in the future. In Australia, this policy debate took place along the fault lines of the Australian federal political system. From the end of the 1980s, the focus of environmental policy internationally and nationally, shifted from conservation *per se*, to concern over human impacts on the earth's atmosphere, and specifically the threat of climate change. This debate still drew on concepts of intergenerational and intra-generational equity. Critically, however, the debate over climate change has meant that the object of policy debate has become more abstracted: physically, temporally and epistemologically.

Similar to *Chapter Four in* this chapter my analysis is set out chronologically, and is largely based around changes of government federally. As such, there are essentially four sections to this chapter. In the first section, I present a brief overview of the relationship between environmental issues and the Australian Constitution, because of the emphasis Rawls places on the role of constitutional law in the basic structure of society. In the second section, I examine Australian environmental policy during the 1980s, particularly around conservation. I then examine the emergence of climate change policy from the late 1980s in parallel with developments in building regulations, through to the end of the Howard Government years. In the final section, I present analysis of policy following the election of the Rudd Labor Government in November 2007, which was characterised by a promise of sweeping reform to Australian policy, central to which was a commitment to undertaking structural reform to address climate change. As with my analysis of Australian housing policy in *Chapter Four*, I draw attention to the changing course of environmental policy in light of the impact of the 2008 global financial downturn and subsequent crisis.

The source material for this discussion includes publicly available international, national and state based policy documents including political party and government department strategies, parliamentary records and media releases. In keeping with the conceptualisation of policy as a set of processes, as much as a set of explicit policy statements or documents, I also examine the institutional processes from which these

formal policy documents arose (Considine 1994, 2005). To this end, I have drawn on a body of scholarly and other literature on Australian environmental policy specifically, and broader social, economic and political developments. It is important to note that with the Franklin-below-Gordon Dam case, the scholars who authored much of the literature on the case were directly involved in the campaign to stop the dam. In particular, I have drawn on records and analysis by Philip Toyne, who was former head of the Australian Conservation Foundation and Joan Staples, former National Liaison Officer for the same organisation.

#### The Australian Constitution and the environment

The Australian Constitution does not provide any specific powers for the Commonwealth with respect to the natural environment, with the exception of the management of fisheries in Australian waters outside of state territorial limits and quarantine matters. As a result in Australia there is relatively weak central government power over environmental policy, with the States responsible for governing land use (Ross 2008).

Under the Constitution, the Commonwealth has powers to enter into international treaties and to enact legislation (an 'Act' of the Commonwealth Parliament) in order to meet its obligations under these treaties (the 'external affairs power' at Section 51 (xxix)); and to legislate with respect to foreign corporations trading in Australia and to trading or financial corporations formed within Australia (the 'corporations power' at Section 51(xx)). If these laws happen to conflict with a state law (an 'Act' of a State Parliament), the state law is deemed invalid (Harris 2004). The Commonwealth has used its constitutional powers, not specific to the natural environment, to shape policy decisions about the environment. In this chapter, I will show how this proved to be an important instrument of environmental policymaking in Australia in the 1980s, a decade in which policy focused on the concept of conservation, and more recently in relation to policies addressing climate change.

## Conservation: Australian environmental policy in the 1980s

In this section I present analysis of Australia environmental policy documents from the late 1970s and over the course of the 1980s. My analysis encompasses key international agreements on conservation, particularly the UN Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage and the World Conservation Strategy. This is followed by analysis of the National Conservation Strategy for Australia and the Victorian State Conservation Strategy. Policy debate in this period focused on matters of 'conservation', specifically of natural heritage, framed in terms that reflect conceptions of sustainable development: of a conflict between economic development and natural heritage in particular. At the same time, the conservation policy debate gestured to the obligations of present-day human societies to people living outside of their sovereign state, to people living in the future, and to an extent, to non-human species. In this way, while many of the policy decisions invoked a concept of Australian national identity based on common natural heritage, environmental policy decisions represented an opening up of Australia internationally. Environmental policy decisions were also part of a general view of Australia becoming more progressive, and challenged the traditional fault lines of political debate as based on socio-economic lines (Beck 2003; Coper 1983; Lowe 1984; Staples 2009).

To expand upon the issues set out in international, national and state-based strategies for conservation in this section I also examine the dispute over the construction of the Franklin-below-Gordon Dam (herein abbreviated to the 'Franklin Dam') in the Australian state of Tasmania. The Franklin Dam is an important case in Australian environmental policy history for a range of reasons and has been referred to as the first 'environment 'test' of the 1980s' (Kelly 1992, p.528). It is illustrative of the core dimensions of the emerging sustainability agenda including the international political setting of environmental debate, alongside the enunciation of the welfare of future generations as a justification for taking action to protect the environment. The Franklin Dam is not only important as an example of environmental policymaking, but was also instrumental in its own right in changing the course of environmental policy in Australia. It was important in forging the environment as a political issue,

and as a matter for highly contested national political debate in particular. The case set a precedent for a series of political decisions about conservation issues over the term of the Hawke Government in which the government used its constitutional foreign affairs power to overturn the decisions of the states in relation to the preservation of 'natural heritage'. In the process, this debate drew attention to the 'long-term sustainability of Australia's resource-based economy' (*Conservation Politics* 1986).

The Franklin Dam dispute (and conservation policy developments more generally) is also useful for understanding what and who is at stake in debate over climate change, because of the *differences* between conservation and climate change debates. The first of these differences is that where the Franklin Dam case is framed in terms of the discreet, concrete and non-substitutable, the treatment of climate change as an economic problem implies substitutability. Secondly, where the international setting of conservation debates helped to shape human impact on the natural environment as a political problem, by and large, these environmental problems were cast as substantively nationally or even locally discreet. This contrasts with debate over climate change, wherein the problem of climate change is substantively international indeed global in terms of causes and impacts.

#### International policy developments on conservation

Several policy decisions in the 1970s paved the way for subsequent policy developments in the 1980s. In 1973 the federal government, under Labor Prime Minister Gough Whitlam (1972–1975), created a federal government agency with responsibility for the environment, and in 1975, the Australian National Parks and Wildlife Service. Following these initiatives, the Whitlam Government became one of the first national governments to ratify the *UN Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage* (also referred to as the 'World Heritage Convention') (DWEWPC 2008; UNESCO 1972). The objective of the World Heritage Convention is to 'promote cooperation among nations to protect heritage around the world that is of such outstanding universal value that its conservation is important for current and future generations' (UNESCO 1972). Article 2 of the Convention invokes the concept of 'natural heritage', which

encompasses 'natural features' (physical and biological formations or groups of such formations which have of outstanding universal aesthetic or scientific value); 'geological and physiographical formations' (the habitat of threatened species of animals and plants with outstanding universal scientific or conservation value); and 'natural sites' (natural areas of outstanding universal scientific, conservation or natural beauty value) (UNESCO 1972) . The Convention provided for a *World Heritage List* of built and natural properties, the deterioration or disappearance of which 'constitutes an impoverishment of the heritage of all the nations of the world' (Toyne 1994, p.35) and therefore should be preserved in perpetuity. The preamble to the Convention asserts that 'changing social and economic conditions' in addition to traditional causes of decay increasingly threaten these natural and cultural heritage items (UNESCO 1972).

Australian environmental policy was also influenced by the *World Conservation Strategy*, which was commissioned by the United Nations Environment Program and published in 1980 (IUCN 1980; Thomas 2007). The strategy was to 'advance the achievement of sustainable development through the conservation of living resources' by maintaining essential ecological processes and life-support systems; preserving genetic diversity; and by sustainably utilising species and ecosystems (IUCN 1980, p.iv). In the *World Conservation Strategy* document, this objective is said to align with the consensus on conservation policy at the time. McCormick (1986, p.177) alleges that whereas the goals of economic development and the conservation of the environment had been seen as inimical, the strategy reflected the emerging notion that the assimilation of conservation and economic growth was necessary for the creation of a 'sustainable society'. This is evident in the following extract from the *World Conservation Strategy*:

Human beings in their quest for economic development and enjoyment of the riches of nature, must come to terms with the reality of resource limitations and the carrying capacity of ecosystems, and must take account of the needs of future generations. This is the message of conservation. For if the object of development is to provide for social and economic welfare, the object of conservation is to ensure Earth's capacity to sustain development and to support all life (IUCN 1980, p.1).

As the extract above also demonstrates, the *Strategy* document articulates a concern for the welfare of future generation human populations. Indeed, the foreword to the Strategy states that 'Development and conservation are equally necessary for our survival and for the discharge of our responsibilities as trustees of natural resources for the generations to come' (IUCN 1980, p.i). The document does not clearly set out the extent of this obligation however.

The *World Conservation Strategy* document also emphasises that conservation efforts must be internationalised, and the document calls for 'global solidarity' to implement its programs (IUCN 1980, p.i). The basis for this global effort, it is argued, is that causes of environmental degradation are global in their reach:

Two features characterise our time. The first is the almost limitless capacity of human beings for building and creation, matched by equally great powers of destruction and annihilation [...] The second is the global interrelatedness of actions, with its corollary of global responsibility. This is turn gives rise to the need for global strategies both for development and for conservation of nature and natural resources (IUCN 1980, p.i).

In accordance with the conviction that conservation problems were global in their causes and effects, one of the recommendations of the *World Conservation Strategy* was that all countries should develop and implement their own national conservation strategies. To this end, the strategy prescribed a format for these national strategies including 'objectives and factors affecting their achievement, strategic principles, and priority national requirements and actions' (Selman 1988, p.8).

## National Conservation Strategy for Australia

Following the implementation of the *World Conservation Strategy*, over thirty countries worldwide developed national conservation strategies. In Australia, the federal government (under Liberal Party Prime Minister Malcolm Fraser) established a National Conservation Strategy Taskforce within its Department of Home Affairs and Environment to develop a national conservation strategy (DHAE 1982a, 1982b). In 1983, the Taskforce released the *National Conservation Strategy for Australia* (herein the NCSA) (DHAE 1983; *see also* Selman 1987, 1988). The NCSA and subsequent state-based conservation strategies draw three particular themes with the *World Conservation Strategy*, which include the integration of conservation and

economic development; regard for the welfare of future generation human populations; and the internationalising of effort. In the proceedings of a conference for the development of the NCSA, for example, conservation is defined as 'the management of human use of the biosphere so that it may yield the greatest sustainable benefit to present generations while maintaining its potential to meet the needs and aspirations of future generations' (DHAE 1981). In addition, the problem of conservation is defined in similar terms in the NCSA final document and the World Conservation Strategy, and includes 'soil erosion, desertification, loss of cropland, pollution, deforestation, ecosystem degradation and destruction, and extinction of species and varieties' (Thomas 2007, pp.67-8). These themes are important insofar as the objects of environmental policy are largely tangible and do not require specialist knowledge to identify. In this way, the object of environmental policy (focused on conservation) contrasts with the object of the more abstract concept of climate change, wherein recognising or 'knowing' climate change rests on scientific expertise.

The NCSA document provides little detail on how its objectives were to be achieved and on who was responsible for their achievement. Rather, the task of devising actions to achieve the NCSA objectives was left to state and territory governments, which likely reflected the limited scope that the Commonwealth has within the Australian political system, to intervene directly in issues concerning the natural environment.

#### Victorian State Conservation Strategy

In Victoria, the Labor government, under Labor Premier John Cain (in office 1982–1990) developed a state conservation strategy entitled *Protecting the environment: a conservation strategy for Victoria* (MPEV 1984, Victorian Government 1987; SCST 1983). In the document, the Cain Government claimed to apply the 'message of reconciliation between conservation and development as a major requirement human survival', advocated in the world and Australian national strategies, to the 'environmental and resource issues facing Victoria, to set a course for sustainable development' (World Conservation Strategy cited in Victorian Government 1987, p1.). The 'Introduction' section of the VSCS (1987) cites concern over the impact of

human activities and the pressures of world population growth and increasing consumption on the earth's capacity to sustain life, as key motivations behind the strategy.

Like the World Conservation Strategy and the National Conservation Strategy for Australia, Protecting the Environment covered a range of themes from pollution and control of hazardous chemicals to environmental education (Victorian Government 1987). The VSCS included a detailed implementation plan, however, a factor distinguishing it from the national strategy. The implementation plan included steps to ensure that all Victorian Government agencies incorporated the principles of the VSCS into their 'plans, policies and actions' (Victorian Government 1987, p.95).

The Victorian conservation strategy was produced as one of three government strategy documents, which also included an economic strategy *Victoria the Next Decade*, and a social justice strategy *People and Opportunities*, which were to form a 'binding framework on government departments' (Selman 1988, p.10):

The Government's vision for Victoria is built on the three pillars of social justice, economic development and environment conservation [...] Underpinning this Conservation Strategy is the principle of sustainable development that recognises the interdependence of development and conservation, and is consistent with the equity and access notions that form the basis of the Government's social justice policies (Victorian Government 1987, p.7).

Discussion papers produced as part of the development of the VSCS report that the concept of sustainable development promoted by the *World Conservation Strategy* was vague, however, and that complex ethical issues underlay the creation of policies to advance the concept of sustainable development. Most pressing of these issues was 'the extent of the obligation of the present generation to respect the rights of future generations, and to leave them with options for using and enjoying the State's natural resources' (SCSTF 1983, p.8).

In this chapter I argue that despite frequent references to 'obligations' to future generations in Australian policy, the reach or extent of these obligations is not thoroughly set out. Further, for the most part, environmental policy favours the interests of people in the present (especially certain groups). For example, while

some elements of the VSCS were implemented, such as the introduction in 1991 of minimum energy efficiency standards for new buildings, following the election of the Kennett Coalition Government in 1992 environmental issues lost traction and the details of the VSCS were not implemented further (Catley 1996).

## The Franklin Dam dispute

Arguably the most prominent political debate of the 1980s regarded the construction of a dam in the Australian state of Tasmania. The dam was to be constructed as part of the Middle Gordon Hydro-Electric Scheme in the south west of Tasmania. The south west of Tasmania was remarkable for its pristine wilderness and was also a site of historical significance, as it was the home to a number of caves that had been used by Aboriginal people in the area dating back 30,000 years. It was also the site of previous hydro-electric schemes. The scheme was managed by the Tasmanian Hydro-Electric Commission (HEC), which was owned by the Tasmanian Government, but had independent statutory powers. A non-violent protest movement had arisen in Tasmania in the early 1970s following the flooding of Lake Pedder in 1972 as part of the Middle Gordon Hydro-Electric Scheme.

In 1979, the HEC published a report recommending the construction of a dam on the Gordon River, which was intended to increase the HEC's electricity capacity by 22 per cent (HEC 1979; Thomson 1986). The dam was to provide a cheap energy source, which the Tasmanian Government argued was required for economic development and to meet an alleged increase in demand for energy and it was a source of large-scale employment.

Following the tabling of the report in the Tasmanian Parliament, the dam proposal is said to have divided the then Tasmanian Government (under Labor Premier Doug Lowe) with some members wary of its environmental impacts. Eventually, the Lowe Government agreed to a 'compromise' to construct the dam at an alternative site. The HEC's original and preferred site for the dam was on the Gordon River above its junction with the Olga River; the second, less environmentally destructive site was below the junction with the Franklin River, which the Lowe Government settled on. The proposal was rejected by the Upper House of the Tasmanian Parliament in which

the Liberal Party held the balance of power. This parliamentary deadlock eventuated in a referendum on the construction of the dam in December 1981 in which Tasmanians were given the option to choose between the two different dam sites (but were given no option to oppose outright the construction of the dam) (Staples 2009; Toyne 1994; Toyne & Balderstone 2003). While the majority voted for the less environmentally destructive 'below Franklin' site, only marginally less voters returned informal votes (Bandler 1987; Thomson 1986; Toyne 1994). It is generally accepted that the high informal vote resulted from many voters writing 'No Dams' on their ballot papers, the strategy advocated by the environmental group the Tasmanian Wilderness Society (Bandler 1987).<sup>18</sup>

Divisions within the Lowe Government proved too great, however, and in November 1981 Lowe was ousted as Premier (replaced by new Premier Harry Holgate). A short time later, the Holgate Government lost a state election. Shortly after its election the new Liberal government (under Premier Robin Gray) passed legislation to commence construction of the Franklin Dam. A campaign to stop the development of the dam, led by environmental groups The Wilderness Society and the Australian Conservation Foundation intensified and became the subject of national and international interest. Around 22,000 people gathered in protest against the dam in the Tasmanian capital Hobart, and 10,000 gathered in a Melbourne rally (Beck 2003; *Conservation Politics 1986*; Coper 1983; Lowe 1984; Staples 2009; Toyne 1994).

In the same year, Don Chipp, a senator and leader of the since disbanded Australian Democrats (Chipp was also a former minister under the Fraser Government) helped to escalate the issue of the Franklin Dam to a national level by initiating an inquiry by the Australian Senate into South West Tasmania (SSCSWT 1982). The Senate Select Committee responsible for the inquiry was to investigate the 'natural values of south-west Tasmania to Australia and the world and secondly, federal responsibility

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> It is difficult to establish the precise outcome of the referendum as the data are presented varyingly across the literature. Thomson reports that the ballots were 53 per cent in favour of the Gordon-below-Franklin scheme; 9 per cent for the Olga scheme and 38 per cent wrote 'No Dams'. Toyne reports 47 per cent in favour of the Gordon-below-Franklin scheme, 8 per cent for the Olga scheme, and 45 per cent 'No Dams'; while Bandler reports 47.14 per cent in favour of the Gordon-below-Franklin scheme, 7.94 per cent for the Olga scheme, and 44.89 per cent 'No Dams'.

in assisting Tasmania to preserve its wilderness areas of national and international importance' (SSCSWT 1982, p.942).

Amidst the parliamentary deadlock and the alleged intransience of the HEC, Premier Lowe had requested that the Fraser Government nominate south-west Tasmania for world heritage status as a World Heritage Area, thereby helping to escalate the debate over the dam to a national and international level. The Fraser Government supported the nomination, which was eventually endorsed by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) World Heritage Committee. Demonstrating the depth of the dispute over the dam within and between political parties, Premier Gray is reported to have travelled to The Hague to protest this development (Toyne 1994). Nevertheless, the fact that Australia was a signatory to the World Heritage Convention and south-west Tasmania had been designated a World Heritage Area provided constitutional basis for the Commonwealth to challenge the Tasmanian legislation to supersede the Gray Government's decision to dam the Franklin River.

While the Fraser Government offered the Tasmanian Gray Government financial compensation to stop the construction of the Franklin Dam, it did not use its constitutional powers to achieve this end, reflecting the Liberal Party's general reticence to interfere with the States (Thomson 1986). With the 1983 federal election on the horizon, however, The Wilderness Society used its growing political clout to offer preferences for marginal seats to the federal opposition, then under Bob Hawke in exchange for a commitment to stop the damming of the Franklin. The ALP took up the bargain and at its 1982 national conference in Canberra committed to 'No Dams' policy (Thomson 1986). Indeed, Toyne and Balderstone (2003) allege that going into the election, a key point of difference between the incumbent Fraser Government and the Hawke-led Opposition was their treatment of the Franklin-below-Gordon case. Following its election in July 1983, the new Hawke Government took the matter to the High Court of Australia, which determined the Commonwealth's World Heritage Properties Protection Act 1983 was valid (and the Tasmanian legislation invalid) and thus the Gordon-below-Franklin Dam was illegal (Commonwealth of Australia & anor v. The State of Tasmania & ors 46 ALR 625; Coper 1983).

The Franklin Dam is a remarkable case in Australian environmental politics for several reasons. First, it showed the growing public concern for matters of conservation. Second, it saw the ALP undertake a decision that stepped away from its traditional voting base in unionised labour in favour of the 'green vote' (Kelly 1992). Eventually, this led to the creation of the first green political party in Australia, the Australian Greens Party (under former TWS director Bob Brown). Finally, it set a precedent for a list of environmental decisions in which the federal government used its foreign affairs' powers to overturn decisions of the States with respect to conservation of the natural environment, often against strong opposition from resources industries (Staples 2009; Toyne & Balderstone 2003).

These developments in environmental policy were built on an alliance between the Hawke Government, The Wilderness Society and the Australian Conservation Foundation, particularly under environment minister Graham Richardson (Kelly 1992; Staples 2009). Richardson is said to have recognised the political significance of environmental issues and forged political alliances with Bob Brown, former director of the TWS, and rock music star and aspirant politician, Peter Garratt and ACF consultant and Philip Toyne, a former Australian Press Gallery journalist. Indeed, it is alleged that with Richardson in the environment ministry, the Hawke Government 'ran its environmental policy on the basis of virtual daily dialogue with the ACF' (Kelly 1992, p.527).

## Emergence of national climate change policy in Australia

Towards the end of the 1980s, concern over the threat of climate change began to assume the focus of international policy debate on the environment. While changes to the earth's atmosphere had been a concern for scientists for some time, toward the end of the 1980s climate change became a matter of political interest internationally. Australian policy was part of, and impacted by, these international developments. In September 1987, for example, the Australian Government became one of twenty-four national governments to sign the *Montreal Protocol* (on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer), which sought to phase out the use of chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs), which had been linked to the hole in the ozone layer. In 1988, Australia became party

to the *UN Declaration of The Hague: Protection of Global Climate for Present and Future Generations of Mankind*, which recognised the growing global significance of the threat of climate change (Bodansky 2001).

The Conference on the Changing Atmosphere: Implications for Global Security (the 'Toronto Conference') held in June of 1988 in Toronto, Canada was a turning point in international climate change policy (Bodansky 2001). More than 300 scientists from around the world as well as policy officials gathered at the conference. Proceedings of the Toronto Conference (1988, p.292) set out the problem of climate change as follows:

Humanity is conducting an unintended, uncontrolled, globally pervasive experiment whose ultimate consequences could be second only to a global nuclear war. The Earth's atmosphere is being changed at an unprecedented rate by pollutants resulting from human activities inefficient and wasteful fossil fuel use and the effects of rapid population growth in many regions. These changes represent a major threat to international security and are already having harmful consequences over many parts of the globe [...] The best predictions available indicate potentially severe economic and social dislocation for present and future generations, which will worsen international tensions and increase risk of conflicts among and within nations. It is imperative to act now.

Toronto delegates ultimately agreed to the voluntary target of reducing greenhouse gas emissions by 20 per cent of 1988 levels by 2005, referred to as the 'Toronto Target' (Staples 2009; The Toronto Conference 1988; Toyne 1994).

Around the same time that the Toronto Conference was held, the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) and the Hawke Government's *Commission for the Future* (established in 1985) held two joint conferences in 1987 and 1988 respectively on climate change, which were widely publicised (Lowe 1989). State governments in Victoria, New South Wales and Western Australia adopted the Toronto Target in 1989 (Hamilton 2007).

Subsequently in 1989 Richardson took a submission to the Hawke Cabinet to implement the Toronto Targets (Staples 2009). The Hawke Cabinet is said to have been divided on the matter, however, with economic and resources ministers (including the then Treasurer Paul Keating) voting against the proposal, ultimately

leading to its rejection (Kelly 1992). Shortly after the rejection, however, the Hawke Government released an environmental policy statement, *Our Country Our Future* (1989), which stressed the urgency as well as international and intergenerational dimensions of addressing climate change:

Environmental problems do not stop at national borders [...] The threat posed by continuing environmental deterioration is no longer hypothetical and it has serious economic and social implications for the future. We have little time to spare. The cumulative effects of past mistakes in our care for the environment are still to emerge fully, and to proceed with ignorant and unthinking ways risks further irreparable damage. We cannot continue to squander the Earth's assets. If we are to leave a viable future for our children we must better understand the planet and make a conscious decision to protect and live in harmony with it (Hawke 1989, p.2).

Our Country Our Future also explicitly recognises that per capita, Australia was amongst the greatest producers of greenhouse gas emissions. The statement does not include any commitment to reduce greenhouse gas emissions however instead committing funding for sectoral-based responses including further research and public education (Hawke 1989). For the most part, however, Our Country Our Future focused on conservation matters.

#### A 'virility contest in shades of green'

While the Hawke Government had not adopted the Toronto Target, the development of *Our Country Our Future* reflected heightened political interest in environmental issues at the time. With close to a decade of political conflict over conservation matters, coupled with new focus on climate change, Kelly (1992, p.535) opines that the 1990 election was a 'virility contest over shades of green'. While campaigning for the election in Tasmania, Richardson (cited in Steketee 1989) claimed that '[i]t is no longer the case that elections will simply be decided on pure economics — who will run the economy better'. Moreover, it is alleged that Hawke and Richardson had planned on winning in part on the back of a green-inspired preference distribution (Kelly 1992). Meanwhile, the then shadow environment minister Chris Puplick (cited in Steketee 1989) proclaimed that environmental issues offered people a sense of security in a time of economic turbulence:

A point that many are missing is that here is an issue on which people can translate their concern into action. Most people are frustrated that they cannot do anything about Australia's foreign debt, arms control or interest rates. But here is something where they can make a personal contribution: they can decide not to buy pressure packs which have CFCs and industry will take notice of them; they can recycle their garbage and they can get involved in community politics to stop a pulp mill at Wesley Vale or beach pollution in Sydney.

While conservation issues figured prominently in the 1990 federal election campaign, climate change also emerged as a political issue. The Liberal Party election platform included an environmental policy, *A Fair Go for the Environment*, which included a commitment to meeting the Toronto Target, for example. The policy document also included reference to a *millennium address* by the then Opposition leader Andrew Peacock (cited in Pearse 2007, p.127) in which he referenced the welfare of future generations '[t]he choice available to future generations depends entirely on the decisions we make today. If we foul up, our children pay the price'. These developments have led authors such as Pearse, to argue that there was, on both sides of politics, optimism about Australia's ability to partake in global action to address environmental threats (Pearse 2007).

Following the 1990 election, protestations of concern for the welfare of future generations, and of Australia being part of an international community continued in policy debate. Nevertheless, this concern did not seem to be reflected in policy measures. Rather, as I will discuss in the following section, environmental issues were absorbed under the rubric of neo-liberal economic reform.

#### Ecologically sustainable development process: early 1990s

Following the 1990 election, the Hawke Government put in place a formal 'ecologically sustainable development' (ESD) process to develop a consistent policy position (Economou 1999, 1993), which arguably signalled a return to Hawke's consensus style of governing. The process was meant to identify 'comprehensively and systematically what Australians need to do to embrace ESD' (ESDSC 1992b). Its core objectives were to include: 'to enhance individual and community well-being and welfare by following a path of economic development that safeguards the welfare of future generations; to provide for equity within and between generations; and to protect biological diversity and maintain essential ecological processes and

life-support systems' (ESDSC 1992b). To this end, the ESD process involved the creation of nine working groups, comprised of 'government officials industry, environment, union, welfare and consumer groups', who were charged with examining sustainability issues in key industry sectors. This work was to be based around seven key principles including:

- decision-making processes should effectively integrate both long and shortterm economic, environmental, social and equity considerations
- where there are threats of serious or irreversible environmental damage, lack of full scientific certainty should not be used as a reason for postponing measures to prevent environmental degradation
- the global dimension of environmental impacts of actions and policies should be recognised and considered
- the need to develop a strong, growing and diversified economy which can enhance the capacity for environmental protection should be recognised
- the need to maintain and enhance international competitiveness in an environmentally sound manner should be recognised
- cost effective and flexible policy instruments should be adopted, such as improved valuation, pricing and incentive mechanisms
- decisions and actions should provide for broad community involvement on issues which affect them (ESDSC 1992b).

The working groups were charged with examining sustainability issues in key industry sectors that had major impacts on the environment, and with advising Australian governments on future ESD policy directions and proposals for the implementation of these policies. While the objectives and key principles of the ESD process seemed to indicate deep transformation of Australian policy, this intention did not seem to be reflected in the policies that resulted from the process, as I will set out below.

#### Intergovernmental Agreement on the Environment

The ESD process gave rise to a national Intergovernmental Agreement on the Environment (COAG 1992a, 1992b) and two national strategies: the National Greenhouse Response Strategy (NGSC 1992) and the National Strategy for Ecologically Sustainable Development (NSESD) (ESDSC 1992a, 1992c). The Intergovernmental Agreement on the Environment (IGAE), which became effective in May 1992, framed the problem of environmental policy as concerning

international and inter-temporal dimensions, and of balancing environmental and economic goals:

[...] environmental concerns and impacts respect neither physical nor political boundaries and are increasingly taking on interjurisdictional international and global significance in a way that was not contemplated by those who framed the Australian Constitution

[...] the concept of ecologically sustainable development including proper resource accounting provides potential for the integration of environmental and economic considerations in decision making and for balancing the interests of current and future generations (COAG 1992a).

These themes were echoed in the objectives of the NSESD, which included to 'enhance individual and community well-being and welfare by following a path of economic development that safeguards the welfare of future generations; to provide equity within and between generations; and to protect biological diversity and maintain ecological processes and life-support systems' (ESDSC 1992b, p.8).

Schedule 5 of the IGAE (COAG 1992a) included an interim planning target for greenhouse gas reductions. The target reflects the Toronto Target and the earlier submission made by Richardson as environment minister: stabilising greenhouse gas at 1988 levels by 2000 and a 20 per cent reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2005. Staples (2009) alleges that the Toronto Target was included in the agreement only to appease environment groups, however, which had threatened to withdraw from the ESD process, as resource industries were granted significant changes to the agreement (Staples does not specify what these changes were however). In addition, the Toronto Target was adopted with the following significant caveat, which seemed to set the tone for environmental policy thereafter.

This caveat was that the target was subject to the proviso of Australian governments 'not implementing response measures that would have net adverse economic impacts nationally or on Australia's trade competitiveness in the absence of similar action by major greenhouse gas producing countries' (ESDSC 1992a, p.129). This proviso was referred to as a 'no regrets' approach (Bulkeley 2001). In basic terms, the no regrets principle meant that even if the future implications of climate change could be

catastrophic, action taken to address these potential circumstances could not come at any net burden to people living in the present (Kerin 1990).

Implemented later in 1992, the *National Greenhouse Reduction Strategy* was proclaimed as a comprehensive approach to reducing greenhouse gas emissions in Australia (COAG 1992b; NGSC 1992). The strategy document has as its goal 'to contribute towards effective global action to limit greenhouse gas emissions [...] and to prepare for potential impacts of climate change in Australia' (NGSC 1992, p.5). As such, the strategy was said to be 'an important plank of the national commitment to ecologically sustainable development' (NGSC 1992, p.5). To achieve this outcome, the strategy included a range of 'sector-based' measures. In terms of energy supply, the strategy included the promotion of renewable sources of energy supply, and of energy pricing that reflected the economic, environmental and social costs of energy supply (NGSC 1992, p.16). The strategy also included steps to reduce household energy use, 'improving the energy efficiency of residential buildings and domestic appliances' and influencing householders 'to become more economical in their use of energy to switch to energy sources with lower greenhouse gas emissions' (NGSC 1992, p.10).

Notwithstanding the apparent inconsistencies between the 'no regrets' principle and the notion of intergenerational equity, Hamilton (2007) argues that so long as the measures set out in the NGRS were implemented, they would have made a small but significant impact on the growth of GHG emissions. Most of these measures fell within the remit of the States and were subject to their budgetary and other constraints (Bulkeley 2001). The States did not implement the *National Greenhouse Reduction Strategy* measures, however, at least those concerning energy supply (Hamilton 2007; Kirk 1993). Hamilton (2007) and Pearse (2007) argue that the States acquiesced to the interests of large companies and industry associations, almost all of which opposed government proposals to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. These political changes at state level coincided with changes federally, with Keating taking the prime ministership (in December 1991). These changes seemed to usher in an era in which the market-based approach would become the dominant policy paradigm in Australia.

The invisible threat of climate change and the 'invisible hand' of the market To this point in this chapter, I have presented analysis of environmental policy over an era in Australian policy history that is generally written about in terms of neoliberal economic reforms. In this research I focus my policy analysis on periods deemed to be significant in terms of social and economic reform. In terms of environmental policy, I have investigated the policies of the Hawke-Keating Governments as well as those of the Rudd and Gillard Labor Governments. Building on my analysis of the Hawke-Keating era in this section, I provide the context for the Rudd-Gillard policies by outlining key aspects of the Howard Government's policy on climate change, most specifically concerning its refusal to ratify the international agreement, the Kyoto Protocol. In outlining the Howard Government's policy, I stress that it is too simplistic to assert that this refusal was simply about Howard's social conservatism. Rather, I argue that the Hawke Government's eschewal of a commitment to reduce GHGs, embodied in the no regrets principle, and the Keating government's sidelining of environmental issues seemed to set a precedent for the Howard Government's policy.

In this section I want to show how, as the object of environmental policy debate, climate change differs to earlier debate on conservation. In particular, the worst impacts of climate change are removed temporally and recognising the threat relies on expert scientific knowledge (Gardiner 2011a, 2001b). That is, the abstract and uncertain nature of climate change is a different problem in relation to the deliberate flooding of a river system, or the logging of pristine rainforest. I also demonstrate that Australian and international policy literature has pointed variously to the urgency of mitigating climate change, especially in light of the foreseen impacts of climate change on people living in the future. The policy commitment to addressing climate change seems unstable. As such, there is an irony between the presentation of the immensity of the threat of climate change in policy debate and the actual policies implemented, specifically when such policies require economic restructuring of any type. My analysis of this policy forms an important basis for subsequent discussion in *Chapter Six in* which I argue that the peculiar abstract and temporally removed nature of climate change has posed a test for the integrity of Australian political

institutions, and consequently for distributive justice. As with preceding sections, I begin analysis of the Howard Government's policies by outlining developments in policy internationally.

## A 'Campaign of Equity and Realism': the Howard government and the Kyoto Protocol

The publication of the *Brundtland Report* catalysed the negotiation of a number of international treaties and conventions on the environment, culminating in the 1992 United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED), or 'Earth Summit' held in Rio de Janiero. The UNCED gave rise to the *Rio Declaration*, a list of twenty-seven principles of sustainable development; *Agenda 21*, a local, national and global 'action plan' for sustainable development; and importantly, the *United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change* (UNFCCC), which deals more specifically with anthropogenic climate change. The UNFCCC provided a broad framework for international intergovernmental action to address the threat of climate change, under which signatory governments agreed to: 'gather and share information on greenhouse gas emissions, national policies and best practices; launch national strategies for addressing greenhouse gas emissions and adapting to expected impacts including the provision of financial and technical support to developing countries; and cooperate in preparing for adaptation to the impacts of climate change' (UNFCCC 1997).

Under the UNFCCC, economically developed countries agreed to assume the lion's share of the burden of reducing global greenhouse emissions, on the grounds that they were responsible for the greater proportion of emissions in the first place (the 'polluter pays' principle) and because they had the capacity to assume this greater burden on their national economies (the 'ability to pay' principle) (McDonald 2005; UNFCCC 1997). The UNFCCC did not include any emission reduction benchmarks or commitments however; instead these were to be established in updates or 'protocols' to the convention (UNFCCC 2011). Later into the decade, the UNFCCC process would lead to the development of the Kyoto Protocol, which I discuss later in this chapter.

While the Australian Government ratified the UNFCCC, Paul Keating, by this time in the prime-ministership, is reported to have been notable in his absence from the negotiations, having sent a junior minister in his place (Kelly 1992; Staples 2009). Thus, while economically and socially, the Keating Government's policy reform agenda had focused on 'opening up' Australia to the world (especially to South East Asia), the environmental policy agenda did not seem to follow this trend. Indeed, a number of authors note Keating's absence from the Earth Summit as symbolic of the waning interest of environmental issues in Australian political debate in favour of economic issues (especially in light of the recession that beset the Australian economy in the early 1990s), and seems to have set a precedent for policy in subsequent years (McDonald 2005).

#### The Kyoto Protocol

The Kyoto Protocol was adopted in November 1997 in Kyoto, Japan and came into force in 2005. While the targets for greenhouse gas emissions in the UNFCCC were not binding, the Kyoto Protocol included a binding commitment to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by an average of 5 per cent of 1990 levels between 2008 and 2012. Mainly, these reductions were to be achieved at the national level. The Kyoto Protocol also included three 'flexibility mechanisms' to achieve reductions in GHGs globally, however; amongst these mechanisms was a global carbon emissions trading scheme'.

As I have already demonstrated in 1990 the Coalition (under Opposition leader John Hewson) had supported targets to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Following its election in 1996 under Prime Minister Howard, however, the Coalition government refused to ratify the Kyoto Protocol. In the prime ministerial statement *Safeguarding the Future*, Howard (1997, pp.1-2) sets out a rationale for this decision, arguing that it was inequitable for Australia to be tied to the same emissions reduction benchmarks as other nations:

We have rejected and continue to reject mandatory uniform targets which advantage many developing countries to the distinct disadvantage of countries such as Australia [...] We have an obligation to defend and protect Australian interests, Australian jobs and Australian industry. We owe it to future generations of Australians to play an effective role in the global reduction of

greenhouse gas emissions [...] But pulling our weight doesn't mean carrying more than our share of the burden.

The first reason provided for not ratifying the Protocol was that the Australian economy was so carbon dependent that meeting the emissions reduction targets would adversely affect the local coal export and other carbon-intensive industries (*The Hot Debate* 1997; Robson 2007). 'Our economy has evolved' the Prime Minister argued, 'on the basis of our abundant supply of natural resources and efficient production and processing of fossil fuels and mineral resources' (1997, p.2). Third, countries identified as having 'developing' national economies were not bound to meet the same greenhouse gas emissions reduction as Australia, even though some of these countries had energy exporting economies. The Kyoto Protocol would therefore increase the competitive advantage of these developing countries, over Australia.

Lastly, Howard argued that there were alternative and more 'realistic' means to reduce GHG emissions than carbon trading. This is significant in that the debate between whole-of-market approaches and sectoral-based approaches to addressing climate change has recurred in policy debate to date. In lieu of ratifying the Kyoto Protocol, the Howard Government committed to a package of measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Importantly, however, these measures, which included measures for housing, were mainly voluntary. Amongst these measures was the expansion of the Nationwide House Energy Rating Scheme, or 'NatHERS' (a scheme that enables the calculation of the thermal efficiency of buildings), to include voluntary minimum energy efficiency requirements for newly constructed housing and for significant renovations to existing housing. These measures also included funding for Household Greenhouse Action, an information-based scheme to develop 'integrated, consistent and effective strategies to address residential greenhouse emission' (Howard 1997, p.11). The primary outputs of the scheme were to be 'bestpractice' guides and demonstration projects, projects the government undertook with the Housing Industry Association. Thus in a parallel with Our Country, Our Future, the Safeguarding the Future statement did not include any binding commitment to address climate change.

During the negotiations of the Kyoto Protocol, the then Howard Government Minister for the Environment Robert Hill, lobbied to secure a variable emissions target for different countries, and in the process secured an Australian target that was the second lowest target of all signatory governments (The Law Society of New South Wales 2004; UNFCCC 1997). In addition, Australia's reduction target was not actually a reduction target at all: at 108 per cent of 1990 levels, it was a slowing of the growth rate of emissions rather than an absolute reduction. The minister also negotiated for land clearing to be included in the calculation of the 1990 baseline. It so happens that in 1990, land clearing in Australia reached an historical peak, such that Australia could make significant gains toward achieving its Kyoto target by reducing land clearing to 'normal levels', rather than by reducing the production or consumption of greenhouse gas producing energy. Notwithstanding these significant exceptions afforded to Australia, the Howard Government nevertheless did not ratify the Protocol, meaning that these commitments were not binding. This policy seems to have been based on a contradiction between a rhetoric pointing to the gravity of the problem of climate change, and a reluctance to be bound to do anything about it.

Notwithstanding the Howard Government's refusal to ratify the Kyoto Protocol, subsequent to *Safeguarding the Future*, the government did introduce further funding for climate change programs under *Measures for a Better Environment* (1999), which focused on developing a renewable energy sector and on providing financial incentives to polluting industries to cut pollution. From this point forward, however, the Howard Government's climate change policy would focus less and less on reducing emissions, and more on the development of new technologies, allowing emissions growth to slow but nevertheless to continue indefinitely (Pearse 1997).

# 'I won't be trading the veranda for political expediency': house building regulations and the environment

Similar to the contests over the Franklin Dam in the 1980s, power struggles between the Commonwealth and the States characterised the Australian policy debate over emissions trading. Following the 1997 Kyoto Protocol negotiations, for example, the Victorian Government, under Labor Premier Steve Bracks, encouraged the Howard Government to ratify the Protocol (it is outside the States' mandate to enter into

international agreements). The Bracks Government subsequently released the Victorian Greenhouse Strategy, which was to further the governments 'vision' for environmental policy in the state, and in which 'protecting the environment for future generations is built into everything we do' and where 'innovation leads to thriving industries generating high quality jobs' (DNRE 2002, p.10). The strategy document states that the Bracks Government would increase the minimum energy and water efficiency rating for newly constructed housing to a 'five-star' rating (DNRE 2002; VBC 2002). In the document it is asserted that Victorian regulations were not curtailing household energy consumption sufficiently. In fact, it predicted that greenhouse gas emissions from residential heating and cooling would increase by 38 per cent between 1990 and 2010 (VBC 2002). The Victorian Building Commission (2002, p.5), the government agency with oversight of Victorian building regulations, argued that the new five-star residential building standards would provide the building industry with the 'means to actively respond to the challenge of climate change in a way that benefits the consumers, the environment and the Victorian economy'.

The Building Commission (2002, p.28) maintained that 'social and equity benefits' would arise from the introduction of increased minimum energy requirements. The improved thermal efficiency of new buildings would reduce energy costs, especially for 'economically vulnerable' members of society, which 'includes young single-income families, the sick, the elderly, the unemployed, and small businesses based at home'. These households, the Building Commission argued, tend to spend more time in the home than other households do, and were therefore more vulnerable to excessive heating and cooling bills (Building Commission 2002).

Housing industry groups, the Housing Industry Association (HIA) and the Master Builders Association (MBA) in particular, resisted these changes to building regulations. The MBA and the HIA argued that more stringent environmental requirements would increase building costs, which would be passed on to purchasers, negatively affecting housing affordability. In a submission to a 2005 Victorian Competition and Efficiency Commission (VCEC) inquiry into Victorian building regulations, for example, the HIA (2005, p.10) argued that:

The continuing escalation of compliance requirements and expansion of the regulatory environment, imposing a plethora of controls on housing construction have been and continue to be major contributors to the deterioration of housing affordability. Compliance and red tape across all areas including planning registration, environmental regulations, fees, levies and charges, occupational health and safety and technical standards individually contribute significantly to the cost of delivering new housing to Victorian families. Aggregated, they constrain productivity inhibit innovation and crush affordability.

Ultimately, the Victorian Government made concessions to these groups in the building regulations. The implementation date of the new regulations was delayed (the regulations did not take full effect until 2005); high-rise apartments were removed from the reach of the regulations; and energy standards could be achieved by installing either solar hot water or a water tank in lieu of more stringent standards in building (DOI & DSE 2005, p.23; Millar 2007).

Other states, New South Wales and South Australia amongst them, had also introduced higher housing energy efficiency standards, all of which exceeded the 3.5 star minimum energy efficiency requirements of the BCA. In fact, it was not until late 2007 that the Australian Building Codes Board (ABCB) increased the minimum energy efficiency standard in BCA to five stars. The ABCB (2006) argued that the move to a five-star rating was justified by 'the energy savings for households and by the need for the [building] sector to contribute to greenhouse gas abatement'. ABCB Board Chairman Peter Laver claimed that the decision to change the energy rating was not an easy one, however, as there were 'genuine industry concerns about costs' (ABCB 2006). The decision met with an 'aggressive campaign' (Millar 2007) of resistance from the HIA and other building lobby groups who alleged that the five-star rules would increase the cost of a new home by around \$15,000, undermining housing affordability and the economy more broadly (Dalton et al. 2007; *The Home Front* 2007).

The HIA did not provide evidence to support this claim, but was nevertheless successful in mobilising support from ministers of the Howard Government, whose representative on the ABCB voted against the five-star regulations (Dalton et al. 2007; *The Home Front* 2007). Indeed, some authors (Catley 1996; Millar 2007) have

alleged that the HIA has had historically strong ties with the Liberal Party of Australia, and thus is an influential actor within the building policy system. Shortly after the ABCB announced that the BCA would include a minimum five-star energy efficiency rating for new residential buildings, three Howard Government ministers – the Minister for Fisheries, Forestry and Conservation, Ian MacDonald, the Minister for the Environment and Heritage, Ian Campbell and Ian Macfarlane, the Minister for Industry, Tourism and Resources (2005) – produced a media release challenging the Board's decision:

The rating system supported by the States through the representation on the ABCB severely affects the timber industry's competitiveness, and will add significantly to the cost of building a new house. [...] The States' representatives on the ABCB have made a complete mess of the energy efficiency programme through these pre-emptive and irresponsible measures. [...] Everyone supports the need to take better account of the energy efficiency of our buildings but it seems common sense has been abandoned in a rush for political correctness.

The star rating was 'seriously flawed', the ministers argued, because it universalised a Victorian building standard that was unsuitable to climates and dominant housing designs in different parts of Australia. Thus, they claimed, these would spell the death of the 'iconic Queenslander' (a style of house peculiar to the Australian state of Queensland).

The ministers cited as evidence a report by a Productivity Commission (2005) inquiry into the private cost effectiveness of improving energy efficiency in which it was argued that the actual costs of meeting higher energy efficiency standards were much higher than expected. This claim was based on a submission to the inquiry by the MBA (2005), which claimed (based on a survey of its members) that the cost of building a standard three-bedroom home had increased by between \$13,000 and \$18,000.

In its report, the Productivity Commission also raised concern over the effectiveness of building energy efficiency in curtailing actual household energy consumption, given the heterogeneity of households and their practices, and of buildings. The MBA (2005, p.6) made a similar claim in their submission to the inquiry, arguing that 'there is significant doubt as to whether introduction of the regulations will

singularly and significantly contribute to the reduction of Australia's greenhouse gas emissions'. One of the contributing factors to this was that new housing constitutes a very small percentage of the total housing stock (around 2 per cent), and in comparison is more energy efficient. On these grounds the MBA (2005) challenged the regulation of newly constructed housing in the absence of any regulation for improving the energy efficiency of existing housing stock.

## Preparing for an Australian emissions trading scheme

In 2004 in anticipation of further negotiations of the implementation of an international emissions trading scheme, the States, which were almost all under Labor governments at the time, established an Inter-jurisdictional Working Group on Emissions Trading. Later renamed the National Emissions Trading Taskforce (NETT), the working group was charged with designing an Australian 'cap and trade' emissions trading scheme, which would operate between the States. In 2006, the NETT released a discussion paper on the possible design of such a scheme, followed by a final report in December 2007. These documents were based on developments at policy 'roundtables', which were attended by a range of government and industry bodies.<sup>19</sup>

Within months of the establishment of the NETT, the Howard Government established a Prime Ministerial Task Group on Emissions Trading (herein the 'Task Group'), comprising the secretaries of Commonwealth agencies, and senior professionals from the mining, energy, finance and airline industries (Robson 2007). The Task Group was to set the task of investigating the establishment of an emissions trading scheme, which Australia would take part in while also protecting Australian

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Organisations invited to participate in the Industry Stakeholder Roundtable were the Business Council for Sustainable Energy investor Group on Climate Change, Energy Users' Association of Australia, A3P, Auswind, Energy Retailers' Association of Australia, National Generators' Forum, Renewable Energy Generators Australia, Energy Supply Association of Australia, Energy Markets Reform Forum, Minerals Council of Australia insurance Council of Australia, Australian Coal Association, Australian Industry Greenhouse Network, Australian Aluminium Council, National Association of Forest Industries, APPEA, Cement Industry Federation, Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Plastics and Chemicals Industry Association and Australian Industry Group. Organisations invited to participate in the Environmental Stakeholder Roundtable comprised the Total Environment Centre, WWF, Australian Conservation Foundation, Environment Victoria, Friends of the Earth, Greenpeace and Climate Action Network Australia (NETT 2007).

'major comparative advantages through the possession of large reserves of fossil fuels and uranium' (TGET 2006, 2007a, 2007b). In other words, the Task Group was to examine the means to encourage a reduction in carbon emissions internationally, while avoiding disadvantage to industries that profited from the sourcing of fossil fuels in the first place.

Documents produced by the NETT and by the prime ministerial Task Group raise a number of issues that have been repeated in policy debate about emissions trading since. First, they reiterate that the threat of climate change is predicted to have far reaching consequences globally and into the future. For example in its final report the prime ministerial Task Group stated that:

Climate change is a global challenge that requires a long-term global solution in order to avoid environmental, social and economic dislocation. Emissions cause damage far beyond the country in which they occur. Once in the atmosphere, their impact is far-reaching and long-lasting. Reducing emissions will require a significant change in both developed and developing economies. It will necessitate a fundamental shift in consumer and business behaviour. The adverse consequences of climate change, and their amelioration, will last for generations (TGET 2007a, p.7).

#### While the NETT asserted that:

As responsible global citizens, many Australians are also concerned about the effects of climate change on others, particularly developing countries. Developing countries have contributed least to the problem to date. They are likely to bear the greatest portion of its costs, but are least equipped to do so (NETT 2007, p.xi).

Both the NETT and the prime ministerial Task Group stressed the stewardship role of the present generation for those living in the future, while debating the role that Australia should play as part of a global effort to address climate change.

At the same time, however, both groups claimed that the introduction of emissions trading would impact on present generations. The Task Group posited, for example, that increased costs are an inevitable by-product of the structural economic change required to reduce carbon emissions:

For Australia to achieve a substantial reduction of carbon emissions will involve the imposition of costs on this generation to manage the

risks confronting the next. Inevitably, rates of economic growth will be lower than would otherwise have been the case. Energy, fuel and other costs will be greater for households. It is imperative that Australians fully understand the consequences of significantly changing, over time, the way in which our economy operates (TGET 2007a, p.5).

In its 2007 discussion paper, the prime ministerial Task Group expressed caution around these economic costs. It argued that the Australian economy is carbon intensive and that it 'enjoys major competitive advantage through the possession of large reserves of fossil fuels and uranium' (TGET 2007b, p.1), which is dependent on the export of these fossil fuels, and that steps taken to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in Australia should not place these advantages at risk. This tension between the notion that addressing climate change may require structural change and a reticence to change the basis of economic power has formed a continuing theme in policy debate in the documents I engaged with in this research.

The NETT and the prime ministerial Task Group also emphasised that addressing the threat of climate change would require an internationally coordinated response. At the same time, these groups raised concern over whether the Australian Government should take action to mitigate climate change prior to, or in exclusion of, the governments of other countries. That is, within the economic paradigm, the problem of mitigating climate change is framed as a 'prisoner's dilemma' in which it is beneficial for all countries to act to mitigate climate change, but should only Australia act, then this would only result in costs, not benefits.

Three critical international policy developments took place in the background to the work of the NETT and the prime ministerial Task Force. The first development is that the British Government published the final report of the Stern Review into the global economic costs of climate change. As I outlined in *Chapter Two*, Stern (2007, p.1) argued that climate change was the 'greatest example of market failure we have ever seen', and that the economic costs of taking action to mitigate climate change were far outweighed by the future costs of adapting to irreversible impacts of change. Second, the International Panel on Climate Change (2007a, 2007b) released its *Fourth Assessment Report*, which set out the likely impacts of climate change internationally, the details of which I set out in *Chapter Two*. Finally international

policy debate on climate change had shifted to the development of a successor treaty to the Kyoto Protocol, which was due to expire in 2012. In February 2007, the governments of the 'Group of Eight +5' countries agreed in principle to a successor treaty to the Kyoto Protocol.<sup>20</sup> Set out in the *Washington Declaration*, the successor treaty was to include a 'cap-and-trade' carbon emissions trading scheme (Schrith et al. 2011). The scheme would allow for a limit to be applied to total carbon emissions (the cap), which would be rationed via pollution permits, which would be tradeable. As such, the cap-and-trade scheme would involve the application of a market value to carbon pollution. At the time, the aspiration was that the scheme would be in place by 2009; however, this was later changed to 2010, to follow the next United Nations Summit on the UNFCCC to be held in Copenhagen in December 2009 (Kevin 2009).

# 'Kevin07' and the greatest challenge of our generation

In this section, I present analysis of environmental policy following the 2007 election of a Labor government federally, under Prime Minister Kevin Rudd. I have chosen to focus on this period of policy because similar to the election of the Hawke-Keating Government in the early 1980s, the election of the Rudd Government in 2007 seemed to signal an era of policy reform, following eleven years of conservative government under Prime Minister Howard. While the Hawke Government had promised to exercise its constitutional powers to prevent the damming of the Franklin River in the lead up to the 1983 election, Rudd's 2007 election platform included a commitment to undertake the structural reform required to mitigate the threat of climate change.

In *Chapter Four*, I argued that while the Rudd Government took steps to reform the Australian housing policy system, the government's lustre for reform seemed overwhelmed by its response to the global financial crisis. In this chapter, I argue that a similar impact befell the Rudd Government's apparent zeal to implement an Australian emissions trading scheme. The rationale for implementing a market-based mechanism to mitigate climate change has been couched in terms of an obligation to

145

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Group of Eight countries include Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Russia, UK and USA. Brazil, China india, Mexico and South Africa were also parties to the *Washington Consensus*.

protect the welfare of future generations, as encapsulated in Rudd's proclamation that climate change was the 'greatest moral, social and economic challenge of our generation' (Kelly 2007). Despite the gravity of these assertions, the commitment of the government to implement policies of similar magnitude has seemed tenuous.

Almost two decades after the green-hued 'virility contest' of the 1990 election in the 2007 federal election the issue of climate change and the need to implement appropriate policy measures to address it had returned to the political agenda. Where the turbulent economic situation of the late 1980s coincided with heightened public and political interest in conservation matters, the 2007 election occurred during a volatile economic context, coupled with increasing public interest in environmental issues (due to housing, consumption and resources booms). As political journalist Megalogenis (2012, pp.317-8) has observed, political opinion polls suggested that 'Australians were complaining about cost-of-living pressures. Yet the same voters wanted to do something about climate change and were prepared to pay'. Thus, building on the momentum of the work of the National Emissions Trading Taskforce and the prime ministerial Task Group, both the ALP and the incumbent Howard Government took pledges to introduce emissions trading in Australia during the 2007 federal election campaign.

As with matters of economic and social policy, Rudd emphasised that the differences in climate change policy were not only the result of different political perspectives, but also personal differences:

These are fundamental differences [between John Howard and me] before you even get to climate change, Kyoto ratification, a 60 per cent target by 2050 on carbon reduction, and beyond that a renewable energy target by 2020. These are core, fundamental differences between myself and Mr Howard. His political interest, Tony, is to run around the place and to say that on climate change and things like that well, actually there's not so much of a difference [from me]. Well, he's a climate change sceptic and a climate-change denier from central casting trying to pass himself off as something else (Rudd in interview on ABC television's *Lateline* program cited in Kevin 2009, p.13).

In keeping with this view, the Rudd Government's first act of government was to ratify the Kyoto Protocol, which has been remarked upon as 'an important symbol of Labor's new spirit' (Kevin 2009, p.12).

#### The Garnaut Review

In April 2007, while still in Opposition, the ALP had commissioned (through the NETT) a review into the economic impacts of climate change in Australia. The review was to be led by former economic adviser to Prime Minister Hawke and Professor of Economics at the Australian National University, Ross Garnaut. While there were numerous contributors to the Garnaut Review, I will herein refer to the findings and recommendations of the review as belonging to Garnaut.

In a similar vein to the Stern Review, Garnaut drew on the conclusions of mainstream science at the time, to 'model the impacts of climate change on the Australian economy including impacts on agricultural productivity, our terms of trade, and infrastructure' (Garnaut 2011, p.x) In addition, the Review's terms of reference stipulated that it accepted the 'weight of scientific opinion' at the time, as provided by the IPCC that mitigating the worst impacts of climate change would require reducing greenhouse gas emissions 'by 60 per cent against 2000 levels by 2050 for GHG concentrations to stabilise at between 450 and 550 parts per million' (GCCR 2008b, p.xvi). On top of estimating the economic costs of future climate change in Australia, the terms of reference also stipulate that the Garnaut Review was to develop recommendations for the design of an Australian emissions trading scheme (ETS) including carbon emissions reduction targets for 2020 and for 2050, which could be connected to an international carbon pollution trading market.

In February 2008, Garnaut published the *Interim Report* of the review, followed by the *Draft Report* in July. In the *Interim Report* he recommended that the Australian Government firmly commit in 2008 to emissions reduction targets for 2020 and 2050. In addition, Garnaut recommended that these targets 'embody a similar adjustment cost to that accepted by other developed countries' (GCCR 2008b, p.2). In other words, the economic burden borne by the Australian economy should be similar to that assumed by other wealthy nations.

In the *Draft Report* of the Review (GCCR 2008a, pp.1-2) Garnaut stressed the urgency of the requirement for government policy to mitigate change in the context of global action:

Effective international action is necessary if the risks of dangerous climate change are to be held to acceptable levels, but deeply problematic. International cooperation is essential for a solution to a global problem. However, such a solution requires the resolution of a genuine prisoners' dilemma. Each country benefits from a national point of view if it does less of the mitigation itself, and others do more. If all countries act on this basis, without forethought and cooperation, there will be no resolution of the dilemma. We will all judge the outcome in the fullness of time, to be insufficient and unsatisfactory.

In supporting this assertion, Garnaut presented a summary of the main findings of the IPCC's 2007 *Fourth Generation* report. These findings included that avoiding the worst impacts of climate change would require a reduction of atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases to between 450 and 550 parts per million.

While deep cuts to Australian greenhouse gas emissions were consistent with the recommendations of the IPCC, this prospect met with resistance from Australian coal and power industry lobby groups. Political analyst Tony Kevin (2009, p.18) reports that 'Garnaut's ideas for serious Australian carbon emissions cuts were met with horror by national coal and power industry lobby groups, extending also to leaders of relevant trade unions such as the Australia Workers' Union and the Construction Forestry Mining Union'. This gave rise to a scare campaign, not only about the financial impacts of an Australian ETS, but also capitalised on emerging dissenting opinion over the accuracy of climate change science (Garnaut 2011). It is important to note, however, while the Garnaut Review was to provide independent advice on climate change policy, its terms of reference specified that it must take into account the weight of scientific opinion including on desirable cuts to emissions levels. The government, not the Garnaut Review, developed these terms of reference.

By the time that the *Supplementary Draft Report* of the Garnaut Review (GCCR 2008c) was released in September 2008, Garnaut had changed his recommendations on emissions reduction targets and on the Australian Government's commitment to a

global agreement. The report recommended a 10 per cent reduction of emissions by 2020, followed by an 80 per cent reduction by 2050. In terms of a global agreement, Garnaut recommended that the Australian Government should only accept binding targets for 2020 on the proviso that a global agreement was reached on emissions trading. In other words, if the governments of other countries were not willing to reduce their domestic carbon emissions, neither should the Australian Government. Further, while Garnaut cautioned that a global objective to achieve deep emissions reduction (to 450ppm) was in Australia's 'national interest', he simultaneously argued that achieving this objective was not possible. The rationale was that this would require 'tighter constraints on emissions than now seemed feasible in the period to 2020' (GCCR 2008b, p.279).

The final report of the Garnaut Review was released on 30 September 2008. As I detailed in *Chapter Two* in the final report Garnaut describes climate change as a 'diabolical policy problem' (2008b, p.xvii) requiring urgent action:

It is harder than any other issue of high importance that has come before our polity in living memory. Climate change presents a new kind of challenge. It is uncertain in its form and extent, rather than drawn in clear lines. It is insidious rather than (as yet) directly confrontational. It is long term rather than immediate in both its impacts and its remedies. Any effective remedies lie beyond any act of national will, requiring international cooperation of unprecedented dimension and complexity. While an effective response to the problem would play out over decades, it must take shape and be put in place over the next few years (2008b, p.xvii).

Accordingly, Garnaut revised some of the recommendations of the *Supplementary Draft Report* of two months previous.

Garnaut set out these recommendations as if these were rules in a game of chance. First, Garnaut recommended that the Australian Government should adopt deep emissions reduction targets, yet only within the context of a global agreement. The Australian Government should also 'indicate at an early date its preparedness to play its full, proportionate part in an effective global agreement that "adds up" to either a 450 or 550 emissions concentration scenario, or to a corresponding point between' (GCCR 2008b, p.10). These targets would equate to between 10 per cent (the 550 scenario) and a 33 per cent reduction in emissions (from 2000 levels) by 2020. If a

global agreement on emissions reduction was not reached, however, the Garnaut Review (2008b, p.281) recommended that the government's target be set much lower, at 5 per cent reduction by 2020:

Strong Australian mitigation outside an effective international agreement would be deeply problematic. It would impose domestic costs that are higher than they would be if similar national targets were pursued in the context of an international agreement. It has the potential to leave our traded sector at a competitive disadvantage, for no worthwhile environmental benefit. The reality opens the way to political pressure for exemptions and countervailing payments that could seriously increase the costs of mitigation.

At the same time, however in the absence of an international agreement at Copenhagen, Garnaut encouraged the government to keep the prospect of international agreement alive. As such, the direction of climate change policy was based not on first principles about what ought to be done, but according to what the governments of other countries were prepared to do.

#### The Australian Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme

The Rudd Government's proposal for an Australian emissions trading scheme, the *Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme* (CPRS) was released over several stages. On 16 July 2008, the government released a *CPRS Green Paper* (a policy discussion paper) for public comment, to which over 1,000 submissions were received. The consultation on the *CPRS Green Paper* also involved public consultation sessions and workshops with more than 2,400 participants, as well as technical workshops, and six industry and non-government organisation workshops attended by people from forty-five different organisations (DCC 2008c). The government would later claim that the 'extent of the response to the Green Paper confirms the depth of the Australian public's concern about climate change' (DCC 2008c, p.xlviii).

The CPRS was to be a cap-and-trade scheme, under which a limited number of carbon polluting permits would be issued, and could be traded. By the time the government released its *Green Paper*, Garnaut had already released his *interim report* and *draft report* (released two weeks previously). The *Green Paper* cites many of the preliminary findings of the Garnaut Review as justification for the establishment of the CPRS including the imminent threat of climate change in

Australia, and the concomitant economic and social risks as well as risks to biodiversity; and that the expected economic costs of mitigating climate change were likely to be far lower than the costs of delaying such action (DCC 2008a, 2008b).

The *Green Paper* includes a long-term emissions reduction target of 60 per cent of 2000 levels by 2050. This longer term target is stated with reference to research by the IPCC, which claimed that global emissions would need to be reduced by 60 per cent by 2050 in order to stabilise the atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases at between 450 ppm and 550 ppm, a level thought to ward off the worst impacts of climate change (DCC 2008a, 2008b). The *Green Paper* included the longer-term target while noting that the subsequent CPRS *White Paper: Australia's Low Energy Future* (the government's formal policy proposal) would include a shorter-term emissions reduction target to be achieved by 2020 (DCC 2008a, 2008b).

The *Green Paper* notes that the Rudd Government had entered into office during a period of intensive economic growth in Australia, driven in part by a resources boom (DCC 2008a). The boom was driven by increased international demand for mineral resources, from the 'rapidly expanding developing economies' in the Asia-Pacific region. While the boom was credited with raising living standards in Australia, it also increased demand for fossil fuel based energy. As such, the *Green Paper* reiterates earlier climate change policy literature in asserting that mitigating (and adapting to) climate change would require structural change to the Australian economy:

Substantially reducing Australia's national emissions will involve the most significant structural reform of the economy since the 1980s. This reform process will not be easy and involves significant challenges. Meeting these challenges will require the Government to implement responsible economic policies focused on reducing emissions at the lowest possible cost in the context of a complex and challenging macroeconomic environment (DCC 2008a, p.10)

The impacts of the CPRS were to be offset by 'transitional assistance' provided to households and to businesses that were deemed vulnerable. The transitional assistance to be provided to households was to include financial assistance to meet increased energy costs and to improve the energy efficiency of housing. At the time, the Rudd Government had commissioned former head Treasury bureaucrat Ken Henry, to undertake a review of the Australian taxation system (DCC 2008a; Henry

2009). Accordingly, the *Green Paper* noted that compensation for the CPRS would take account of changes to income arising from implementing the recommendations of the Henry Review. For affected businesses, the Rudd Government proposed to provide a certain proportion of carbon permits at no cost, rationed according to how 'trade-exposed' a business was.

The third aspect is that while the CPRS was national in its remit, the expectation was that it would form part of a global effort to mitigate climate change, the details of which would be negotiated at the UNFCCC Summit in Copenhagen, Denmark in January 2009.

In summary, the picture portrayed by the Rudd Government in its *CPRS Green Paper*, was that addressing climate change in Australia would require significant change that would come at some economic cost in the present. This change would include a move away from dependence on fossil fuels as a source of energy. Even though there were some uncertainties over the scale or nature of the risks associated with unmitigated climate change, should any of the scientific predictions play out, the costs of mitigation now would be far less than the economic and other costs borne by people in the future including people living outside of the sovereign borders of Australia, if climate change is not mitigated.

# Impact of the Global Financial Crisis

Under the threat of the global financial crisis, the Australian Government's approach to climate change policy altered. In this section, I will present an analysis of the acceleration of environmental programs (with some tragic consequences) as part of the government's economic stimulus package as well as changes to the proposed CPRS legislation.

#### Pink Batts Scheme

In response to the global financial crisis and the following economic downturn, the Australian Government accelerated the implementation of a number of programs including the *Energy Efficient Homes Package* as part of its economic stimulus package. The *Energy Efficient Homes Package* included two programs that targeted

house insulation: the *Homeowner Insulation Plan* and the *Low Emissions Plan for Renters*, which were subsequently merged into a Home Insulation Program (HIP) (COAG 2009a).

The HIP was intended to generate economic stimulus and also to support jobs and small business, particularly for low-skilled workers who were most vulnerable to the threat of recession. In the process, some 2.7 million Australian residential dwellings were to receive free insulation fitted in their homes, which was deemed to be a cost-effective measure for reducing heating and cooling demands. Critically, the scheme was to target low-income households, who may typically find it difficult to fund the upfront capital costs of such investment. The HIP was implemented in July 2009, and by the time the program ceased operating in February 2010, one million homes had been insulated and 10,000 installers employed (SECARC 2010).

A subsequent review of the HIP by former senior public servant and diplomat Dr Allan Hawke (the 'Hawke Review'), reported that the program was rolled out with haste, however, and less than four months into its operation, a person was electrocuted while installing ceiling insulation (Hawke 2010; SECARC 2010). By February 2010, two others had been electrocuted and another person had died from heat exhaustion. In addition, 174 house fires were linked to the scheme (Hawke 2010). The Hawke Review and an Australian Senate inquiry into the program revealed that installers had not been adequately trained, or adequately supervised, and were generally unaware of the risks involved in the installation process (the Senate review also alleged that the Hawke review was rushed and inadequate). For example, it was not until February 2010 that installers were required to have any training at all, not even on simple safety measures such as turning off electricity mains prior to installation (A Lethal Miscalculation 2010). What is more, the Senate Committee found that the Rudd Government and the responsible agency were aware of the risks involved (particularly with regard to the installation of foil insulation), having received warnings from the National Electrical and Communications Association Master Electricians Australia, which were either ignored or not taken sufficiently seriously (SECARC 2010). A 2010 documentary on ABC television's current affairs program Four Corners, titled 'A Lethal Miscalculation', also heard the views of employees of the federal Department of Environment, Heritage, Water and the Arts, which was responsible for managing the program, who alleged that 'Job creation was the most important thing. That was mentioned on many occasions, we were told many times by senior management that the technical and safety issues were of less importance than getting this programme up and running and creating jobs' (see also Tiffen 2010; Webb 2010). Thus the case of the pink batts and the CPRS seemed to demonstrate the priority afforded to immediate economic concerns, over those of the environment.

#### Changes to the CPRS

By the time the Rudd Government released the *CPRS White Paper* (a more formal policy proposal) and related draft legislation in December 2008, the proposed CPRS had changed in significant ways. To start with, the government pushed back the implementation of the CPRS from 2010 to 2011. It also ruled out strong carbon emissions reduction for Australia before 2020 (DCC 2009). The government alleged that this decision was based on the recommendations of the Garnaut Review; it was in fact based on shallow reduction targets recommended by the *supplementary draft report* of the Review, however, and not the revised targets set out in its *final report*. What is more, the delayed proposed implementation date of the CPRS seemed at odds with the government's previous claims (and those of the Garnaut Review) to the absolute urgency of taking action to mitigate climate change.

In the *White Paper* the design of the CPRS also afforded greater protection to carbon- intensive industries and included a 'Global Recession Buffer', which provided financial assistance to trade-exposed emissions-intensive industries, over and above the assistance built into the original scheme, and provided \$3.9 billion to electricity generators (DCC 2008c; Wong, Rudd & Swan 2009). In addition, the price of carbon pollution permits was reduced from \$40 per tonne of carbon to \$10 per tonne.

In the process of developing the CPRS legislation, the Rudd Government, the Wong ministry in particular, had distanced itself from its trusted advisor, Ross Garnaut, amidst intensive debate and greater scrutiny of the science of climate change and to the wisdom of introducing the CPRS amidst a global recession (Kevin 2009). The government's references to Garnaut changed, from being the chief source of advice on the design of the CPRS, to one of many sources (Alexander 2008; Grattan 2008; Kevin 2009; Taylor 2008). This emerging conflict was implied in a public lecture given by Garnaut at the University of Melbourne, wherein he challenged the government's refusal to commit to strong short-term emissions reduction targets in the *White Paper*. Garnaut argued that this refusal would not fulfill Australia's part of a global compact to address climate change and that the CPRS design put the interests of a few before the national interest. Directing attention to the compensation afforded to 'trade-exposed' industries in the revised design of the CPRS, Garnaut (2008a) argued that:

Three elements of the White Paper proposals lead towards large transfers from the general community to particular interests and to fiscal and environmental risks. [...] Never in the history of Australian public finance has so much been given without public policy purchase, by so many, to so few. The best that can be said is that these are once-for-all payments – unless the spectacular success of investment in lobbying inspires repetition and emulation [...] Already there is nothing left (in the revenue pool from the sale of carbon permits) for increases to payments to households as the carbon price rises over time. Little is left for incentives to research, develop and commercialise low-emissions technologies, which are essential components of the domestic and international mitigation efforts. Nothing is left for systematic support for overcoming information and contractual market failures inhibiting energy-saving in low-income households.

Finally, Garnaut asserted that the global recession was being used as an excuse to provide greater compensation to particular industries than was necessary.

# The 'Carbon Wars': Negotiating with the Senate on the CPRS

Notwithstanding its amendments to the CPRS proposal, the Rudd Government still required the approval of both houses of the Australian Parliament (the House of Representatives and the Senate) in order for its proposed CPRS legislation to become accepted into Australian law. While the government held a majority of seats in the House of Representatives, its numbers in the Senate meant that its legislation required the endorsement of either the Liberal Party (under Opposition leader Malcolm Turnbull) or the Australian Greens Party.

The Rudd Government made its first attempt to pass the CPRS bill through the Senate in May of 2009. The Coalition senators under Opposition leader Malcolm Turnbull, opposed the bill on the grounds that it was too costly (in the context of global economic conditions), that it would disadvantage Australia's international competitiveness, and would be ineffective in reducing global emissions in the absence of a global agreement (Allens Arthur Robinson 2009; Australia, Senate 2009) Meanwhile, Australian Greens Party senators opposed the CPRS legislation on the grounds that the legislation was too weak and would not bring about any reduction in carbon emissions. They claimed it would 'pay polluters to keep polluting [...] undermine global action with its weak target, a target which, once set, would be impossible to lift' (The Australian Greens 2010).

Following the Senate's rejection of the CPRS legislation, the Rudd Government elected to negotiate with the Coalition, rather than with the Greens. Turnbull had indicated that the party would pass the legislation, provided the ALP introduce amendments to make it friendlier to business, and the government revised the CPRS legislation accordingly. Even so, the Liberal Party was divided, between those who supported the CPRS and those who doubted the climate change science (Franklin 2009b; Grattan 2009; Kitney 2009). This division within the party is reflected in a press conference given by Turnbull, an excerpt of which was replayed on ABC television's current affairs program *Lateline*:

I think we all recognise that most Australians expect their political leaders and their political parties to take effective action on climate change. This is about the future of our planet and the future of our children and their children. It is one of the great challenges of our time. Now I know there are many people including many people who are supporters of my party, who have doubts about the science and grave reservations about it. [...] But the fact is that we have to take a prudent approach to this. Saying that we're not going to do anything about climate change is irresponsible and no credible, responsible party can have a no-action-on-climate-change policy. It's as simple as that (Turnbull broadcast as part of *Turnbull shows defiance at press conference* 2009).

On 1 December 2009, the eve of the last sitting day of parliament, the fracas within the Liberal Party led to a three-way leadership contest between the incumbent leader Turnbull, Shadow Treasurer Joe Hockey, and Tony Abbott in which Abbott was the victor.

Until that point, Abbott's track record on climate issues had been 'scatological' (Grattan 2011). In 2007, he had supported the Howard Government's election policy of implementing an emissions trading scheme in Australia. Following a leadership contest that resulted in Turnbull assuming the leadership of the Liberal Party from Brendan Nelson, who opposed an Australian ETS in the absence of an international agreement (Nelson took over the leadership of the party following Howard's loss at the 2007 election), however, Abbott resigned the shadow ministry in protest over Turnbull's support for the CPRS. On 2 December 2009, Abbott, having assumed the leadership from Turnbull, used his party's power in the Senate to reject the CPRS legislation for a second time (Franklin 2009a). As this also happened to be the last sitting day of the Australian Parliament for the year, as previously mentioned, the government could not revisit the legislation until the following year.

# Copenhagen negotiations

The Rudd Government had expected to use the CPRS as armoury in the forthcoming negotiations of a successor treaty to the Kyoto Protocol at Copenhagen, Denmark in late December 2009. With the CPRS legislation rejected for the second time, even in its diluted version, Minister Wong entered into negotiations at Copenhagen empty handed. In any case, the Copenhagen negotiations have been described as shambolic in what then US Secretary of State Hillary Clinton is reported to have described as 'the worst meeting I've been to since the eighth-grade student council' (Landler & Cooper 2010). The key output of the summit, the Copenhagen Accord, does not include any binding commitment to reduce global carbon emissions, or any timetable for the creation of such a commitment and was signed by only 29 of the 194 signatory countries to the UNFCCC (Clémeçon 2010; O'Neill 2009; Vaughan & Adam 2009). Nevertheless, the alleged 'diplomatic fiasco' overshadowed that the Accord does include reduction targets for the United States and for economically developing countries, which the Kyoto Protocol did not, as well as a commitment to limit global warming to within two degrees Celsius (Garnaut 2011).

Ordinarily, when both houses of the Australian Parliament, twice in succession, do not agree on a parliamentary bill, the government has a mandate to call a 'double dissolution' election in which both houses of Parliament are dissolved. Calling a double dissolution election over the CPRS would have effectively forced a federal election on the proposed scheme. While it is alleged that Rudd was urged by his party to call a double dissolution election in April 2010, with no binding international agreement in place, the Rudd Government instead deferred the CPRS legislation. Rudd determined that the government would revisit the legislation after the renegotiations of the Kyoto Protocol in 2012. This decision drew wide criticism and seemed to conflict with the apparent urgency required to mitigate climate change (ETS postponed by Rudd government 2010). In an interview on ABC television's current affairs program 7.30 Report, journalist Kerry O'Brien questioned Rudd as to whether his decision not to call a double dissolution election was an act of 'political cowardice', to which Rudd vehemently responded:

There was no government in the world like the Australian Government which threw its every energy at bringing about a deal, a global deal, on climate change. Penny Wong and I sat up for three days and three nights with 20 leaders from around the world to try and frame a global agreement. Now it might be easy for you to sit in 7:30 Report land and say that was easy to do. Let me tell you mate, it wasn't. We are fundamentally committed to climate change. We could not get the accord that we wanted [...] We've been frustrated domestically politically, frustrated internationally by the lack of progress there, but we will not be deterred, we will progress this matter and we will achieve the best possible means of bringing down our greenhouse gas reductions, greenhouse gas, levels in the future. And the bottom line is this, the bottom line is this: there is no way you can stare in the mirror in the future and say that you have passed up the core opportunity to act on climate change. I will not do that. The Government that I lead will not do that, but I cannot wish away the two realities I've just referred to (Angry Rudd defends ETS backflip 2010).

Ultimately, however, translating political rhetoric into policy proved to be just as divisive within the government as it had been in the Liberal Party. As I will briefly outline in the following section, within months of the decision to defer the CPRS legislation, Rudd would be removed by his own cabinet, replaced by the then Deputy Prime Minister Julia Gillard (Grattan 2011; Wilkinson 2011).

# Resource super profits tax

On 2 May 2010 Prime Minister Rudd and federal Treasurer Wayne Swan announced the government would implement a new tax on mining industry 'super profits', the *Resource Super Profits Tax*, one month following its decision to defer negotiations over the CPRS. The tax is of interest to this research in that for the most part, debate over climate change had focused on the costs of taking steps to mitigate climate change; debate over the tax drew attention to the uneven distribution of the benefits of the mining of fossil fuels.

The recommendation for the tax had arisen from the Henry Review of the Australian taxation system. The Review had recommended the implementation of a new tax on mining industries to 'ensure that the Australian community receives an appropriate return on its non-renewable resources', which specifically include the resources used in electricity generation (Henry 2009). The tax was to capture a greater share of mining industry profits into the Commonwealth budget and replace state-based royalties on mining, which were generally considered to be inefficient. Revenue from the tax would be redirected to boost the retirement savings of the ageing Australian population (savings that had been depleted by the global financial crisis); reduce general company income tax to assist non-resource industries that were impacted negatively by the resources boom; and to build infrastructure (Swan & Rudd 2010; Australians deserve a bigger cut: Rudd, ABC Radio, 2010). As such, the Resource Super Profits Tax was the second instance since its election in which the Rudd Government sought to initiate a redistribution of wealth away from (though only minimally affecting) carbon-intensive and limited centres of economic power.

In principle, the idea of increasing the taxation of resources industries had public support (Le Grand 2010; Megalogenis 2012). Yet, while the Rudd Government had accounted for revenue from the tax in its 2010-2011 Federal Budget (which was due for publication only two weeks after the tax was publicly announced), it did little early on to communicate publicly on why the tax was needed and how it would work (Arup 2011a). Ordinarily, for example, tax reform in Australia is preceded by a tax forum.

The announcement of the tax met with furious opposition from some actors in the mining industry including BHP Billiton, Rio Tinto and Xstrata Coal, who argued that the tax was a 'quick, dirty and easy grab for cash' which would deter investment and economic growth and force companies to move offshore, which would jeopardise the wealth and living standards of all Australians (Eastley & Ryan 2010). The industry (backed by Abbott) launched a \$22 million advertising campaign against the tax, which focused not on the impact to mining company profits, but to jobs and townships (Taylor 2010). While the Rudd Government responded to the industry's campaign with a \$38 million advertising campaign of its own, the backlash compounded existing tensions within the ALP over Rudd's prime ministership. As a result, on 23 June 2010 Rudd lost a leadership contest to then Deputy Prime Minister Julia Gillard. As Megalogenis (2012, p.315) opines, 'such was the loathing for him within the caucus that Rudd's leadership crumbled within hours of Julia Gillard's decision to challenge him'. Shortly after assuming the prime ministership, Gillard withdrew the government's advertising campaign and pledged to wind back the tax.

# 'The right thing to do': carbon tax

Demonstrating wariness to policy for addressing climate change, the Gillard Government went into the 2010 federal election stating a preference to introduce a market-based mechanism to reduce carbon emissions in Australia. Other than explicitly ruling out the introduction of a carbon tax, Gillard declared that she would not make any policy commitment without first reaching community consensus on emissions trading, which would be achieved through a 'Citizens' Assembly' of 150 people (*Wong defends citizens' assembly* 2010). Then Minister for Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Penny Wong defended the establishment of the Citizens Assembly, justifying it as a means of establishing 'stronger political and community consensus than [the government] previously had' on emissions trading (*Wong defends citizens' assembly* 2010). The Gillard Government's election platform also included emissions standards for new coal-fired power stations (thus assuming an increase in coal-based energy production); transmissions lines to renewable energy resources; and tax breaks for 'green' buildings amongst other sectoral-based policies (Peacock 2010).

The proposed Citizens' Assembly was criticised publicly as merely a strategy to avoid being held accountable to any policy commitment on climate change (Carmody 2010). What is more, it is doubtful that a 150-person assembly would provide an extensive representation of the views of the 20 million people in the Australian population (the assembly's 150 members accounting for less than 0.00075 per cent of the total Australian population). In addition, as I have already demonstrated, the public consultation process on the CPRS *Green Paper* and as part of the Garnaut Review had also provided broader coverage than the proposed Citizens' Assembly.

At this time, the Abbott-led Coalition pledged that if elected it would implement a *Direct Action Plan*. The plan included sectoral-based measures, such as voluntary emissions reduction targets, to be achieved through the sequestration of carbon in soil; the planting of 20 million trees; a 15,000 person 'Green Army'; and the conversion of one million Australian homes to solar powered energy (Moore 2010). The Coalition maintained that its direct action approach would enable Australia to meet its commitments under the Kyoto Protocol, and at a lower cost than a market-based mechanism. The Coalition's *Direction Action Plan* was criticised by the federal Treasury for costing far more than a carbon trading scheme and thus not in the national interest, while the notion that it would actually reduce carbon emissions was deemed spurious (Megalogenis 2010).

For the most part, however, addressing climate change was not the focus of either the ALP or Coalition election policy in the same way that it was pre-election in 2007. Instead in what has been regarded as a 'race-for-the-bottom' campaign, these parties' platforms focused on addressing formal immigration and responding to people seeking asylum in Australia through non-formal processes, often by boat ('asylum seekers'). The Gillard Government introduced a 'sustainable population' agenda, limiting formal migration to Australia. It also committed to more stringent 'offshore' processing of asylum seekers. Importantly, the offshore processing of asylum seekers on Christmas Island (enabled only by the landmark decision to excise Christmas Island from Australian territorial waters) had been iconic of the Howard Government's social policy, which Rudd had promised to overturn. The 'race to the

bottom' decisions were made based on highly dubious opinion polling during election campaigning (Megalogenis 2010). Thus while the 2007 election seemed to signal an opening up of Australian policy to international obligations – to climate change, to immigration, to the treatment of asylum seekers – the policies set forth at the 2010 election seemed to indicate, literally and figuratively, a narrowing of the policy agenda.

Neither Labor nor the Coalition secured a majority of votes in the election. Ultimately, more than two weeks after the election, Labor was able to form government, but only by forming an alliance with one member of the Australian Greens Party and three independent Members of Parliament. As a condition of the alliance, the Gillard Government committed to the formation of a Multi-Party Climate Change Committee (MPCCC), comprised of politicians and experts, to progress work towards the introduction of a carbon price mechanism in Australia, and to drop the Citizens' Assembly. Following the creation of the MPCCC, the Gillard Government commissioned Garnaut to update his 2008 review.

# The 'moral obligation to a strong economy'

In February 2011, as a result of negotiations through the Multi-Party Climate Change Committee, the Gillard Government announced its intention to implement a national carbon tax in Australia. The 'carbon tax' was to be an interim measure for the introduction to an Australian emissions trading scheme in 2015. On 10 July, Treasurer Wayne Swan released further details of the tax as part of *Clean Energy Future* plan.

The *Clean Energy Future* plan includes a conservative emissions reduction target of 5 per cent of 2000 levels by 2020 (Australian Government 2011a; Green 2011). Initially, the 'carbon tax' was to be applied to the top 1,000 polluting companies (this was later revised to the top 500), essentially by way of the mandatory sale of carbon polluting permits. Some of the cost impacts of the tax were expected to be passed on to households, adding an estimated \$863 per year to household electricity, gas, fuel and food costs. Under the *Clean Energy Future* package, however, part of the

revenue from the tax was to be used to reduce marginal rates of income taxes, and to increase government pensions and allowances.

In debating the carbon tax legislation in the Australian Parliament, Gillard defended the introduction of the tax as 'the right thing to do [for] Australian prosperity, by Australian jobs and by a clean energy future' (House of Representatives 2011). A webpage for the *Clean Energy Future* policy also points to the benefits for future generations:

The Government's plan for a clean energy future will cut pollution and drive investment in new clean energy sources, such as solar, gas and wind. By acting now, Australians can look forward to long-term prosperity, while protecting our environment for ourselves and for future generations (Australian Government 2011a).

As the above extracts demonstrate, however, Gillard was also quick to stress that the pursuit of environmental goals would not come at the expense of economic growth. Indeed in response to allegations that the Australian Greens were writing the government's climate change policy, Gillard (2011) stated that 'the Greens wrongly object to the moral obligation to a strong economy'. As Spash and Lo (2012, p.68) have argued, the policy maintains the pretence that 'GHGs can be controlled sufficiently without disturbing the current economic system, [and] that growth and be maintained as usual'.

It is not surprising, given the tumultuous two years of political fallout, as a result of climate change policy leading up to this point that the announcement of the proposed carbon tax met with mixed public reaction. Opposition to the tax centred on claims that Gillard had lied in her election commitments: that climate science was wrong and that it would add to cost of living pressures (Southphomassane 2011). For example, the Housing Industry Association (2011) raised concerns that the tax would add around 2.5 per cent to the construction cost of new housing which would be passed on to households, further reducing housing affordability (*see also* Liew 2011). Soutphommasane (2011) and more recently Phillips, Li and Taylor (2012) have found, however, that on average, Australian households were better off in 2011 than they were five years previously, and that the most significant impacts on cost of living pressures were increases in discretionary consumption.

Most of the protest focused not on the fine details of the science and the financial implications of the tax, however, but rather the personal character of Prime Minister Gillard and of climate scientists. Abbott, who had previously argued that a carbon tax was an easier and fairer means of mitigating climate change than an emissions trading scheme, publicly supported this attack. Notwithstanding this debate in October 2011 legislation for the tax passed through both houses of Parliament, and was expected to be implemented in July 2012.

## Conclusion

In 2008, amidst debate over the CPRS, former Prime Minister Bob Hawke addressed a gathering of people to celebrate the twenty-fifth anniversary of the ruling, by the Australian High Court, that stopped the construction of the Franklin Dam. In this oration, Hawke (2008) chastised the Coalition's stance on environmental issues, arguing that the conservatives had consistently placed economy over environment in the twenty-five years since the decision was handed down:

And as you look at the arguments and the positions of political parties today you see a complete replication of what we experienced back there in 1983. The conservatives: they never change, they never learn. What was their argument back then? You can't do this, it will cost jobs. It will cost economic growth. You can't do it, you mustn't do it [...] The conservatives...they are always talking about family values. [...] What is the greatest obligation that all politicians of every party have towards their families now, to their kids, their grandkids and their kids? It is that we take action to pass on to them a planet which is inhabitable, viable and enjoyable. And we must challenge them: are you serious about family values? Are you serious about putting families first? If you are, you have no alternative but to join with government and to join with organisations who are committed to bringing about that result.

As I have argued in this chapter, however, the tensions between environment and economic issues have characterised Australian environmental policy debate across conservative and progressive Australian governments. While Australian policy discourse consistently frames the problem of environmental issues in terms of the impacts on future generations, there seems to be a disjuncture between this concern and the policies that are implemented. In *Chapter Six*, I will address *Research Questions One* and *Two* by first revisiting the core claims about what and who

matters, as presented in Australian policy debate over housing affordability and environmental sustainability, and state the tensions between these claims. I will then critically analyse these claims through the prism of social justice as presented in *Chapter Three*, and in doing so, address *Research Question Three*.

# CHAPTER SIX: HOUSING, ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL JUSTICE

In this chapter my purpose is to address *Research Questions Two* and *Three* regarding the tensions in 'what matters' and 'who matters' and how have they been framed in Australian housing policy (and the right thing to do about these tensions respectively. My aim here is also to draw together aspects of the research, by applying the key elements of Rawls's *Justice as Fairness* theory, as set out in *Chapter Three*, to the key claims about what and who matters that arise from housing and environmental policy and what normative implications follow for policy.

The chapter is structured as follows. First, I revisit my analysis of Australian housing and environmental policy in *Chapters Four* and *Five* to summarise how what matters and who matters are framed in these policy discourses. Then, addressing *Research Question Two*, I set out the tensions between these conceptions. Finally, I apply the theories of social justice to these tensions to address *Research Question Three*.

I argue that while the concept of housing affordability denotes that what is important in housing is cost, this conceals numerous other claims in policy about what matters. How we are housed concerns the fulfillment of basic needs, the basic fairness of the distribution of wealth and national identity, and also serves as a domain of private life. In housing policy the community of justice is national in reach, not just because of its institutional context, but in the ties between home ownership and national identity. In contrast to materiality and connections to place invoked in debates over housing, debate over climate change deals with diffuse, dispersed causes and impacts, which traverse national boundaries and will be felt most gravely by people living in the future. The discourse and institutional settings for climate change policy cast the community of justice in international and intergenerational terms.

Key tensions between housing affordability and climate change arise from how we are housed, which has implications not only for the household, but for people

removed in time and space. Climate change thus challenges the notion that how people are housed is about private households within a national setting, removed and discrete from international communities. At the same time, taking steps to address climate change, such as through building regulations or through a market-based mechanism, impacts how people are housed now and in the future, and may even impact on some households' ability to enter into home ownership.

In examining these tensions as problems of social justice, I make several findings. Firstly, the inherently utilitarian concepts of housing affordability and of climate change as an economic problem do not provide an adequate normative basis for analyses of justice with respect to housing provision. What matters is the relationship between how we are housed and the distribution of primary goods, or whether people can convert these into ends they have reason to value. Within this framework, despite the value accorded to private home ownership in housing policy debate, housing tenure per se is not relevant to evaluations of justice. That is, housing tenure – home ownership in particular – matters only so far as it enables the redistribution of wealth. Moreover, the distribution of wealth tied up in housing matters is only part of the overall distribution of wealth. Rather, the circumstances of the most disadvantaged members of society should determine, to a contestable extent, the justice of how people are housed in relation to managing how climate change is addressed. Ultimately, however, the core challenge raised in debate over climate change for how people are housed, is the question of what we owe, not only to our contemporaries, but also to people living in the future. The asymmetry of the relationship between present and future generations forces a questioning of the extent to which current political institutions including the current political culture and leadership, encourage us to make decisions and to act, not just out of self-interest, but for the benefit of others.

# Housing policy: what and who matters?

The cost of housing

Housing affordability is the dominant paradigm in Australian housing policy. Housing affordability compares the cost of housing with incomes, but within this paradigm it is housing cost that is problematised. That is, *what matters* is cast in

terms of the financial cost of housing. As such, use of the affordability concept pushes to the sidelines of policy debate concerns over the substantive attributes of housing, such as how it is designed, constructed, located and even what people can do with their housing. At the same time, use of the affordability concept does not lend well to debate over why being able to afford housing is important in the first place. In Chapter Four I documented how the use of affordability as a policy concept, as evidenced in the National Housing Strategy papers, emerged amidst sweeping microeconomic and political change in the 1980s. These developments legitimised the view that the private market is the most efficient mechanism for distributing most goods and services, leaving government to ensure the more efficient operation of the private market in the face of market failure. Within housing policy, the emergence of affordability took place amidst shifting views of the role for governments in the direct provision of goods and services including housing (in the form of public rental housing) in absolute terms and relative to 'demand-based' forms of housing assistance, such as Commonwealth Rental Assistance. It is important to confirm, however, that these ideological changes occurred against a historical background in which most households already consumed their housing through the private market.

#### Housing as a basic need

In this research I refer to housing affordability as the *dominant* rather than *only* paradigm in Australian housing policy, because in my analysis I found there are indeed other claims about what matters in housing. These parallel claims about what matters also have a legacy in policy history. For one thing, the concept of 'housing need' is still used in state public housing policy as a basis for prioritising the allocation of public housing tenancies. The use of the housing need concept gestures toward housing being important for satisfying basic human requirements. This claim echoes the debate over the eradication of slum housing in the first half of the twentieth century. That is, one of the prominent themes in the debate over slum housing was that housing of an adequate standard is a basic personal and public health requirement. The movement to abolish 'slum housing', occupied by the inner urban poor, highlights how these residents' squalid housing conditions reflected the structural inequalities which they faced including a lack of rights as renters, and their

precarious, low paid employment conditions. In addition, the inadequate housing of slum residents was seen as a form of disadvantage in itself. Living in slum housing was seen to rob residents of 'pride, honour and hope' and this 'national degeneracy' (Barnett & Burt 1942, p.3) was regarded as a public health risk, to both its residents and the society at large. In this sense, the slum reclamation movement and the state provision of public housing emerged as part of a crusade by middle class professionals, such as Barnett, to eradicate vice in the lower social orders (Holst 2006).

As I established in Chapter Four, the focus of Australian housing policy shifted away from slum reclamation over the course of the twentieth century. Nevertheless, the notion that housing is a basic human requirement, not only to meet physiological needs, but also as foundational for participating in society has remained in more recent policy developments. Similarly, the Hawke Government's 1999 social justice strategy Social Justice Under Labor stressed that poor quality housing and homelessness 'deprive[d] people of the opportunity to participate in personal development activities and community life' (Commonwealth of Australia 1988). Housing as a basic human requirement is implicit also in the use of the housing need criteria in state public housing policy and in policies targeting homelessness, such as the Rudd Government's 2009 White Paper, The Road Home and the National Partnership Agreement on Homelessness, which have tied the experience of homelessness to a lack of 'social inclusion' (COAG 2009g; FaHCSIA 2008). Similarly, policies around housing in remote Indigenous Australian communities, such as the National Partnership Agreement on Remote Indigenous Housing, have made explicit reference to the links between the 'substandard provision of housing' and 'overcrowding' and poor health, education and employment in these communities (COAG 2009i).

Further, policies for the 'renewal' of public housing estates have focused attention on the connection between the amenity and location of public rental housing to entrenched disadvantage experienced by tenants of these estates and members of the surrounding communities. In the state of Victoria, for example, the Bracks Government implemented a *Neighbourhood Renewal* policy in 2001. A conference paper on the policy framed the problem in terms of a community of disadvantage:

While many Australians have enjoyed the benefits of prosperity, poverty has continued to concentrate in particular neighbourhoods. In the hardest hit communities, disadvantage manifests in high levels of unemployment, crime and social stigma, poor health status and low educational achievement. The cumulative effect of these factors is the exclusion of many people from mainstream social, economic and political life (Klein 2005).

As I will return to later in this chapter, implicit and explicit in policies that focus on the adequacy of housing are judgements about the substantive attributes of housing. Debates of this sort seem to have gone hand-in-hand with government policies that determine what housing we can and can't live in and the direct provision of housing by governments.

#### Housing and national identity

One of the lasting themes in Australian policy since the twentieth century is the connection between housing and projects of nation building. By this I mean that how people are housed is framed in policy discourse as a yardstick of progress as a means of assessing the fairness of Australian society. For instance, I recall that in the debate over slum housing, it was declared that 'Australian progress will be determined largely by economic standards and the quality of the home of our people' (cited in Barnett & Burt 1942, p.3). For this reason, I have argued that while housing is not provided for in the Australian Constitution, a social compact on housing nevertheless exists and has been grafted onto the settlement ideas of fair compensation for hard work. It is instructive to note, however, that in the early post Second World War period, this compact was dual tenure: it included investment in rental housing and in home ownership. Further, the Rudd Government's historic multi-billion dollar investment in social housing through the 2009 Nation Building and Jobs Plan Economic Stimulus also tied the project of social rental housing to nation building. Overwhelmingly, however, from the 1950s the chief focus of housing policy has been to encourage private home ownership. That is, while home ownership provided a stake in the settler society for almost half of the Australian population by the end of the nineteenth century, from the mid twentieth century, the entitlement to own a home was grafted as part of the Australian social compact. This shift is manifest in the idea of home ownership as the 'great Australian dream' and in declarations of Australia as a 'home owning democracy'.

There are two important findings here for the analysis of what is at stake and *who matters* in Australian housing policy. Firstly, the community of justice in housing policy is self-consciously national in its reach. Yet, the promotion of this dream has often been silent in the experience of renter households (i.e. Berry 1977). In addition, while projects of housing policy as nation building connote being removed and separate from the world, such perspectives often eschew the increased interconnections between how people are housed and international financial developments (e.g. in the 2008 global financial crisis). Secondly, the Australian dream of home ownership has been popularly framed in terms of basic fairness. In the next section I want to discuss these ideas further, and argue that this conception has two dimensions: the physical form of housing and the distribution of wealth.

## Home ownership, wealth distribution and 'basic equality'

A significant percentage of Australian wealth is tied up in housing (Berry 2010). The 'basic equality' (Stretton 1974, p.12) of the distribution of this wealth is manifest in the high rates of home ownership in Australia, with around 70 per cent of households in home ownership. A continuing theme in policy debate is the desirability of private home ownership and importantly, that owning a home ought to be a realistic ambition for all working households. In this way, home ownership is thought not to be the sole preserve of the elite or wealthy, but an aspiration that 'ordinary' Australian households can realise. Implicit in the idea that home ownership is a great levelling force, is that people renting are in transition to home ownership or at least have the option to do so (making up the remaining 30 per cent or so of households).

The ubiquitous status of the 'Australian dream' of home ownership has, however, been promoted in Australian policy despite many inequalities of wealth between households. For example, the vast majority of Australians, sixty-five years of age and over, own their own home, with those in this age group who do not own their own home constituting the minority (Australian Government 2010a; Boyd 2010; Burke 2011). As such, despite having low incomes, many older Australians have

considerable wealth by virtue of owning their home: 79 per cent of the net wealth of a median household aged 65 to 74 years is tied up in their principal place of residence; this increases to 90 per cent for people aged 75 years and over (Burke 2011). Yet in Australia, housing wealth is not accounted for in the means testing for the retirement pension, which results in disparity between retired owner-occupier households and retired renter households. A study of poverty in Australia, conducted by Harding, Lloyd and Greenwell for The Smith Family (2001) found, for example, that 11.2 per cent of Australian individuals of sixty-five years of age or older were deemed to be in income poverty before housing costs. This figure reduced to 7.3 per cent when housing costs were accounted for. Meanwhile, the study found that 18.1 per cent of renter households were in poverty prior to accounting for housing costs, which rose to 27.8 per cent when housing costs were accounted for. This phenomenon was first highlighted in a Whitlam Government commission of inquiry into poverty in Australia in 1975, known as the 'Henderson Inquiry'.

## Concentration of housing wealth

The claim of the basic equality of home ownership also appears contradictory to the introduction of policy settings that have served to increase the concentration of housing wealth in existing owner households. Deregulation of financial institutions and of mortgage finance instruments, coupled with taxation reforms under the Hawke Government increased second or multiple house ownership as an investment vehicle. Subsequent changes to taxation on capital gains under the Howard Government further encouraged speculative investment in housing. As a result, while owner households have been encouraged to use their existing housing wealth to invest in housing, the home ownership rate amongst younger households has declined since the 1970s (Yates et al. 2007). This development is said to have a polarising effect on household wealth. Berry has shown, for example, that by the 2005/06 financial year the ratio of net wealth in households in the 90th percentile was 47 times that of households in the 10th tenth percentile (Berry 2010).

## Basic equality and the physical form of housing

In describing the basic equality of the distribution of housing, Stretton argues that this basic equality is also manifest in the physical form of housing: in the sameness of the housing stock, overwhelmingly a three bedroom fully detached building on a quarter acre block of land (Stretton 1974). Indeed, the ubiquity and physical sameness, even ugliness of the Australian housing stock, has been as much celebrated as an indication of Australia as a 'classless society' as the subject of scorn, wherein the physical form of housing reflects mediocrity, parochialism and unimaginativeness (Boyd 2010; Horne 2009). In this way, home ownership, as a form of property ownership, connotes not only an economic stake but also a physical stake in Australian nationhood.

The emergence of 'McMansions', which defy the mould of the traditional detached house built in Australia in the 1950s and 1960s, is said to reflect a shift in Australia from the ideals of basic equality: a 'physical manifestation of Australia's transition from a fair and equitable society to a less equitable and more status-conscious ones' (Burke 2012). These new forms of housing, argues Burke, are 'a conspicuous display of affluence, even if those who are purchasing them are not actually affluent [...] as they are designed to impress and send a signal of aspirationalism' (Burke 2012).

# Environmental policy: what and who matters?

Climate change as an economic problem

As I documented in *Chapter Five*, during the campaign for the 2007 federal election, Kevin Rudd declared that climate change was the 'great moral challenge of our generation' (Kelly 2007). Notwithstanding these references to the moral dimensions of climate change, the dominant paradigm within climate change policy is as an economic problem. Within this paradigm, what is at stake (and by extension what should be done about climate change) is cast in terms of economic costs and benefits (GCCR 2008b; Stern 2007). While this utilitarian approach has provided momentum to the debate over climate change and legitimised taking action to address climate change, this approach relies on treating a diverse range of present and future impacts in terms of a single economic metric, or on pushing those impacts for which it is difficult to calculate economic value, to the periphery of the debate. I will return to this matter later in this chapter, when applying the social justice frame to housing affordability and sustainability. For now, I will revisit the foreseen impacts of

unmitigated climate change as well as economic and other impacts of taking steps to mitigate climate change.

## Future impacts of unmitigated climate change

A range of potential impacts from the threat of climate change have attracted attention in Australian and international debates. The environmental effects of climate change are forecast to include increases in air temperatures, sea levels, and in the likelihood and severity of drought, storms and other extreme weather patterns. In Australia, these changing climatic conditions are expected to have a direct effect on the capacity for agricultural food production and on public health, with increased illness or death due to extreme weather conditions in addition to increased prevalence of some diseases and on urban water supply. The risks associated with climate change are also predicted to affect the built environment including residential buildings and especially in coastal areas where around 80 per cent of the Australian population resides (GCCR 2008b). Storm surges and rising sea levels are expected to 'exert significant pressure' (GCCR 2008b, p.138) on this coastal infrastructure, through flash flooding. This is expected to result in damage to buildings increased requirements and resources for repairs and maintenance, and an ultimate decrease in the functional lifespan of buildings.

The causes of, and risks associated with climate change are wide-ranging: they do not affect one 'sector' or population group solely, but whole human systems. Yet, there are differences in time and geography between cause and effect of climate change. The debate points to present climate change as 'insidious rather than confrontational' (GCCR 2008b, p.xviiii), with the worst impacts to be felt in the future and internationally, traversing the borders of sovereign states. Further, the precise impacts are uncertain: 'there is uncertainty in many aspects of climate change science at the climate system, biophysical and impact assessment levels' (GCCR 2008b, p.247) meaning that 'modelling the overall impact of climate change is a formidable challenge' (Stern 2007, p.161). Notwithstanding this uncertainty, as I have documented already, policy and other literature on climate change indicates that associated future economic costs, which will be borne by future generations, are likely to be greater than the costs to current generations, of taking steps to mitigate

climate change in the present or near future. At the same time, however, policy debate points to concerns over the intra-generational distribution of the costs of taking steps to address climate change (within and between generations), such as through the introduction of an emissions trading scheme and through sector-specific regulation.

#### Addressing climate change using a market-based mechanism

Within the paradigm of climate change as an economic issue, the challenge is not just a problem of the overuse of certain forms of energy, but is in fact a structural economic one. This structural problem has two dimensions. Firstly, the potential future economic impacts of climate change, and the scarcity of fossil fuels, are not reflected in the current price of energy including the energy used in and around the home. Within the paradigm of climate change as an economic problem, it is framed in terms of a 'grave market failure'. To this end, addressing climate change requires increasing energy prices. Secondly, the mining and export of fossil fuels (coal in particular) to Asia has been a driver of national economic growth. As Cleary (2011) has documented, for example in the early 1960s, mining accounted for 2 per cent of Australian export receipts; by 2010 it had grown to 60 per cent (p.5). Moreover, the resources boom of the mid-2000s is reported to have increased Australian GDP by \$165 billion, an amount equal to the size of the entire economy of New Zealand (Cleary 2011). To this end, one of the arguments in climate change debate is that addressing climate change requires structural adjustment to the Australian economy to remove the 'the links between economic activity and greenhouse gas activity' and thus a concomitant shift in the bases of economic power (GCCR 2008b, p.xxi; see also Garnaut 2011).

As such, one of the two alternative approaches proposed to address climate change is the introduction of a price- or market-based mechanism such as the Rudd Government's *Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme*. Two distributional concerns that have arisen in the policy debate over the introduction of a market-based mechanism are that: (i) within an international setting, economically, Australia is more reliant on fossil fuels than other countries; and (ii) the introduction of a market-based

mechanism will affect households unevenly. I will address these two distributional issues in turn below.

## The reliance of the Australian economy on fossil fuels

One of the key arguments that Australian governments have provided for not agreeing to binding international treaties to address climate change is the impact of these policies on the Australian economy. For instance, from my analysis in *Chapter Five*, the Howard Government refused to ratify the Kyoto Protocol on the grounds that meeting its emissions reduction targets would adversely affect the local coal export industry and other carbon-intensive industries. Further, the Howard Government claimed that the Australian economy had 'evolved' on the basis of an 'abundant supply of natural resources and efficient production of fossil fuels and mineral resources' (Howard 1997, p.2). Even the design of the Rudd Government's *Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme*, albeit significantly modified over the course of its development, provided 'global recession buffer' financial assistance to trade-exposed emissions-intensive industries.

### Impact of market-based mechanisms on lower income households

The second distributive concern that arises over the introduction of a carbon price mechanism is that increasing the price of energy will have a disproportionate impact on lower income households. That is, while these households tend to consume less energy around the home than households with higher incomes, energy costs assume a greater proportion of household income for lower income than higher income households (NIEIR 2007). Lower income households who rent are further disadvantaged in that they have little means to modify their housing to make it more energy efficient. Within the paradigm of climate change as an economic problem, this dilemma is framed as a principal-agent problem.

### Addressing climate change through building regulations

The second approach to addressing greenhouse gas emissions with respect to housing is through setting minimum energy efficiency requirements in residential building regulations. Within this approach, household greenhouse gas emissions are framed as a problem of size, design, orientation and even the location of housing, as well as of

household behaviour. At the same time, because of the lasting nature of housing as a built form, the physical form of housing is said to affect future generations' ability to adapt to a changing environment. As I documented earlier, since 2002 state governments have used this approach. One of the chief concerns raised in policy debate is that these regulations increase the upfront cost of new housing. With newly constructed housing assuming only around 2 per cent of the total housing stock, and often targeted to first-time home owners, these regulations shift the burden of addressing household energy use onto a very small proportion of all households. As we have seen, this has given rise to claims that more stringent building regulations 'increase the mortgage burden for many' and 'dashed the housing aspirations of others [...] further exacerbating the divide between the "housing asset rich" and the "housing asset poor" (MBAV 2008, p.10).

### Environmental policy: who matters?

In *Chapter Five*, I documented how the interests of future generations feature prominently in environmental policy discourse. Thus, the community of justice in debate over climate change policy is intergenerational in its reach. My observation of developments in Australian environmental history is that despite rhetorical gesture to the welfare of future generations, there is an overwhelming disconnect between this rhetoric and the scope of the steps actually taken to address environmental matters. This disconnect is epitomised in the Keating Government's 'no regrets' policy, under which action taken to address these potential circumstances could not come at any net burden to people living in the present.

The actions of successive Australian Governments in terms of both attempts and refusals to take steps to mitigate the impacts of climate change, have taken place within the context of an international institutional setting. In this way, the community of justice is both international and inter-temporal in its reach. Yet this phenomenon is not entirely unique to climate change policy. The institutional setting for Australian environmental policy has had international dimensions, and these have often exacerbated tensions between federal and state governments. Take the Hawke Government's use of its commitments under international treaties for world heritage, to challenge the Tasmanian state government's damming of the Franklin River, for

example. Similarly, the continuing negotiations over addressing climate change have taken place within an international institutional setting.

### Tensions between 'what matters' and 'who matters'

Having set out how what and who matters have been framed in policy debate, I will now examine the tensions between these framings.

The core tension between housing affordability and climate change is that how we are housed has an impact on people living in the future. At the same time, taking steps to address climate change will have an impact on how people are housed now. To this point, I have shown that while the dominant paradigms in housing and climate change policy are to frame these as economic problems, this rhetoric obscures more complex concerns about what is at stake and for whom.

The problem of climate change is framed differently to earlier subjects of Australian environmental policy, which focused on conservation: while there is a tangible, concrete and discrete quality to problems such as whether or not to destroy an area of wilderness; the problem of climate change is, by contrast, diffuse and at present, somewhat intangible. In contrast, as an object of policy, housing has physicality – 'bricks and mortar' – rooted in place. While this is not to claim that the meanings ascribed to housing are innate, this aspect of housing contrasts with the insidious and abstract nature of climate change. Compounding this tension is the fact that the impacts of climate change are said to occur in the future.

As an intergenerational conflict, on one level, there is a tension between meeting the basic needs of people alive today and the potentially disastrous albeit uncertain impact on the basic needs of people in the future. Should the introduction of policies to address climate change – either through a market based mechanism or through more stringent building regulations – impede access to private home ownership, more is at stake than merely basic needs. That is, there is a tension between the needs and wants of people living in the future and the present impacts on the distribution of wealth, together with a stake in national identity, and having a place to call 'home'.

The debate over climate change in housing policy echoes the way in which the slum reform movement drew attention to the social impacts of how slum dwellers were housed including the design, construction and location of housing, and what households do with their housing. A direct parallel is evident in the definition of public and private realms between these policy debates. One of the conflicts between housing affordability and climate change is that the former casts how we are housed as a private matter, the boundaries of which are tested by the latter.

In terms of who matters, the core tension between housing affordability and climate change is that the community of justice in housing policy is self-consciously national in its reach. Indeed, housing is part of a bulwark against the threat of the outside world. Further, implicit in the concept of affordability is a time preference for the present: for minimising upfront costs. This conception of who matters contrasts with the intergenerational and international dimensions of climate change policy.

## Social justice, housing affordability and climate change

In this section, I want to examine the tensions detailed above through the lens of social justice in order to address *Research Question Three* – what is the right thing to do? To do this, first I want to revisit briefly key aspects of the theories of justice explored in *Chapter Three* in terms of how Rawls and Sen conceptualise what and who matters. I will then make some observations on the implications of these conceptions for housing affordability and climate change. Following this, I will outline the notion of justice as a process and articulate what this process says about housing and climate change.

### Theories of justice and 'what' matters

Justice as Fairness, Rawls's rules-based theory of justice and Sen's capabilities theory share a common starting point: the maxim that people should be free to determine and to pursue their own version of the good life and that our determinations about justice should be impartial to these ends (Rawls 1972, 2001; Sen 1979, 2009). Sandel's (2009) challenge, on the other hand, is that that our judgements about justice should not and cannot help but engage with these ends.

Rawls holds that the basis of justice is an implicit social contract that sets out the terms of mutual cooperation between members of the same sovereign society. Drawing on Hume's circumstances of justice, Rawls presumes that such a contract is valid only in those societies wherein there is moderate scarcity of resources: any less and it would be the state of nature and without scarcity justice has no place. Rawls's core concern is how the rules that govern the basic structure seek to ensure the distribution of primary goods, or 'all-purpose means', of basic liberties, opportunities, and wealth and income. To this end, Rawls provides two, lexically ordered principles of justice. The first principle provides for equal basic rights to liberties for all members of society. The second principle provides that social and economic inequalities are 'attached to offices and positions open to all under conditions of fair equality of opportunity'; and that these inequalities 'must be to the greatest benefit of the least advantaged members of society' (i.e. the difference principle) (Rawls 1972, p.53).

In *Justice as Fairness* Rawls does not set out to deal with partial or imperfect questions, such as what is the right thing to do in a given situation, but with the basic structure of society and the rules by which this structure is arranged. Where our questions are more particular, such as the distribution of housing in a just society, Rawls prescribes that these be related to the concepts of the 'social minimum' and to the 'difference principle'. In terms of the social minimum, this requires that we ask what housing we need to underwrite the primary goods of basic liberties and freedoms, opportunities income and wealth. That is, how housing falls under the 'general means necessary to underwrite fair equality of opportunity and our capacity to take advantage of our basic rights and liberties, and thus be normal and fully cooperating members of society over a complete life' (Rawls 2005, p.174). Relating how people are housed to the difference principle, Rawls directs that we must establish what the housing needs of the least well-off members of society are.

In challenging Rawls's theory of justice, Sen argues that it is not the means people have that matter in evaluations of justice, but the capabilities that people have to translate these means to realise ways of being and doing that they have reason to value (1979, 2009). That is, we must consider both the outcome and the agency a

person has in realising this outcome. The capabilities approach also gives rise to an alternative conception of disadvantage to that presented in *Justice as Fairness*. While Rawls defines disadvantage in terms of primary goods deprivation (income and wealth in particular), Sen defines disadvantage in terms of capabilities deprivation. Further, while Rawls's definition of disadvantage is universally applicable, Sen argues that our capabilities, and thus disadvantage can have multiple dimensions, depending on circumstances.

### Implications for the economic approach

Having reviewed how 'what matters' is conceptualised in the social justice literature, it is possible to make two observations. The first relates to approach and the second to housing tenure.

In this research I have argued that housing affordability, which gives primacy to the cost of housing over other aspects, is the dominant paradigm in Australian housing policy. Similarly, the dominant paradigm in Australian policy is to treat climate change as an economic problem. As such, these inherently utilitarian paradigms reduce the complexity of how we are housed and the causes and effects of climate change into a single metric of economic costs and benefits. That is, different means and ends are treated as substitutable within both paradigms. Further, both housing affordability and climate change as an economic problem are concerned with outcomes. As I documented in *Chapters Five* and *Six* (and revisited earlier in this chapter), the emergence of housing affordability and environmental sustainability (as climate change) reflect the dominance of neoclassical political economics in Australia and internationally (*see also* Clements 2012, pp.149-82).

Yet it is precisely this issue of substitutability that the theories of justice I have used in this research have opposed. Further, it is *how* an outcome is arrived at – through the just distribution of primary goods (Rawls) or the fact that a person had agency in determining that outcome (Sen) – that is of prime concern to justice. Therefore, while a cost benefit approach may have some descriptive use, it is not an adequate normative foundation for making judgements about justice.

### Implications for the status of home ownership

The second observation is that there is no special place within the justice literature for housing tenure. That is, the desire to own a home, of particular size, location or design, or to do certain things with it, falls within a person's view of the good life. While a just society should ensure that its citizens are free to pursue their private ends (within limitation), this does not entitle a person, or household, to realise this desire. For example, as discussed, Rawls's argument that 'strong feelings and zealous aspirations for certain goals do not, as such, give people claim to social resources, or a claim to design public institutions, to achieve these goals' (2005, p.286). In Australia, this is complicated by the privileged role afforded home ownership in housing policy. Nevertheless, these desires only matter when their content somehow relates to the principles of a just society or the various capabilities people have. Before further exploring this idea, I want to recap on how the community of justice is conceptualised in the literature.

## Social justice and the reach of obligations

For Rawls (1972), as institutions are the subject of justice, the reach of our obligations is to members of the same sovereign society, mediated through these common social and political institutions. In terms of international justice, therefore, while we may feel a moral obligation to people living in other societies, as individual citizens we do not have obligations of *justice* to the citizens of other sovereign societies. Rather, collectively one sovereign society has obligations of international justice to other sovereign states or peoples, defined as 'a group of individuals ruled by a common government, bound together by common sympathies, and firmly attached to a common conceptions of right and justice' (Wenar 2008). As I set out in *Chapter Three*, Rawls provides a discreet set of principles to govern international justice, which are largely concerned with protecting the sovereignty of states.

Rawls sets out our obligations to future generations (of the same society) using the *just savings principle*. In this principle, Rawls maintains that one generation must set aside enough capital accumulation to satisfy the needs of the next generation and it must maintain the integrity of the basic structure (i.e. to uphold the principles of justice) (1971, pp.284-93). In this way, while the *just savings principle* operates as a

control or upper limit on the distributive claims settled by the difference principle, its priority is lesser than the other principles. In other words, our obligations to our contemporaries are different to and take precedence over our obligations to people living in the future (of our sovereign state). Thus, while questions of international justice for Rawls are very different than justice between members of the same society intergenerational issues occupy the frontiers of Rawls's principles of justice: that is, they form constraints to the application of the central principles.

There is, therefore, a better fit between Rawls's principles of justice and the dimensions of affordability and environmental sustainability problem that concern relations between contemporaries of the same society, than there is with the intergenerational and international dimensions of the problem. Nevertheless, because from Rawls's point of view, we owe no more to people in the future than we do to our contemporaries, we can establish what we owe to people in the future by establishing what our obligations are to our contemporaries. Thus, by establishing the relationship between how we are housed as a problem of justice between contemporaries, it is possible at least to begin to envisage what ought to be protected from the impacts arising from steps taken to address climate change.

As I set out in *Chapter Three*, Sen counters Rawls's use of the sovereign state as the limit of the community of justice in claiming that the basis of our obligations to others is agent-centric (Sen 2009). That is, if a person is affected by our actions, they ought to figure in our evaluations of what should be done. This point of view opens up evaluations to the impact of how we are housed, relative to contemporaries in other societies, as well as future citizens in our society.

#### Home ownership, wealth distribution and justice

One of the tensions in the debate over housing affordability and sustainability is that the introduction of policies to address climate change must not come at the expense of people being able to access home ownership. To this point in the chapter, I have argued that housing tenure has no special status in evaluations of justice. However, one of the core claims tied to the aspiration to home ownership is the basic fairness of the distribution of housing wealth: that is, what's at stake is not housing *per se* so

much as housing wealth. Similarly, a core aspect of the difference principle is bettering lifetime circumstances, viz. wealth and income of the least advantaged members of society. As such, and to the extent that housing policy settings have a redistributive effect on housing wealth, which benefit the poorest members of society (i.e. those with low incomes and low wealth), there would be grounds for defending these policies from a Rawlsian perspective. Taxation settings that favour well-off households with existing housing wealth would therefore be questionable from such a perspective.

Importantly, however, from a Rawlsian perspective what matters most is the basic structure of society. This has two implications. Firstly, any consideration of the tensions between housing affordability and policies for climate change must begin with evaluation of the distribution of liberties, opportunities, wealth and income. Thus, there is certainly room within Rawls's framework for a claim that the impact on housing wealth for the least advantaged members of society is an important consideration in evaluating policies to mitigate climate change. But this must be considered within the *overall scheme* of wealth and income distribution: how all forms of income and wealth are distributed after policies aimed at reducing climate change impacts are implemented.

The second implication is that housing tenure is not relevant to justice in Rawls's sense. That is, a society can still be said to be just if some of its members are not be able to purchase a home, so long as the *overall distribution* of wealth and income in that society works to the benefit of its least advantaged members, and is attached to positions open to all under fair opportunity. This overall scheme of income and wealth would include wealth accrued through the mining of natural resources. As such, how people are housed cannot be examined in isolation from issues, such as industrial policy, and so on.

#### Housing as a basic need

Earlier, I identified that one of the claims concealed by the use of the housing affordability concept is that of housing as a basic human requirement. That is, prior

to being a form of wealth accumulation, there is a dimension to housing that is not substitutable.

The claim that a certain standard of housing is a requirement for meeting a basic human need for shelter, as well as for social and economic participation, seems to fit with the concept of the social minimum. In this sense, housing is important, not just as an end, but as foundational for realising other ends, a basis on which the exercise of a range of freedoms relies. Ensuring that all members of a society can get housing that is adequate in terms of size, amenity and location would therefore seem to be important for justice. There is space within this framework for the notion of ontological security that is often associated with the tenure of private home ownership.

Interestingly, there are parallels between this conception of housing and justice and Sen's notion of 'functionings'. Maclennan (2005, p.9) has argued, for example, that early housing policies had been 'explicitly rooted in the recognition that decent housing was essential to shaping what Amartya Sen would now call the basic capabilities of poorer households to be healthy, engaged in the market economy, socialised and capable of raising families, and so forth'. While Maclennan outlines some of the more comprehensive outcomes housing may be important for, within this framework, it is possible to maintain that securing a certain standard of housing is a requirement of justice because of the mundane functions it enables. That is, housing also provides a place for the fulfillment of unremarkable practices of bathing, toileting, cooking and simply a place to dwell (King 2003a, 2003b, 2005). A tension that arises from the debate over climate change is that these intimate functions are also tied to the emission of greenhouse gases.

Thinking of housing in these terms thus requires going beyond the cost of housing to the substantive attributes of housing. Whichever way it is examined, however (either as a basis for social respect or for achieving ends we deem to be valuable), how people are housed, and therefore, what is deemed adequate, is relative to its social context. To use an example, a house with no internal bathroom or internet connection may have been adequate fifty years ago, but may not be deemed as such in a

contemporary context. The notion of adequate housing as foundational for the realisation of basic functionings also draws attention to the innately intergenerational nature of housing. Housing constructed today will constitute the older housing stock in fifty years' time. If this housing is built to meet the demands of the present climate, it may be inadequate to meet the basic needs of its future inhabitants. The changing standards of housing thus complicate how we adjudicate between claims to housing. Public examination of the substantive attributes of housing sits uneasily within a paradigm wherein how people are housed is cast as an expression of individual choice.

## Housing and disadvantage

What should be the basis for the determination of a social minimum of adequate housing? A Rawlsian response to this question would be that the housing needs of the least advantaged members of society should determine the basis of the minimum standard of housing. Likewise, beyond meeting a fundamental need for housing, this distribution of housing should be such that it betters the lifetime prospects of the least advantaged. As such, all decisions about what is just distribution of housing should be based on the needs of the poorest members of society.

#### Housing and capabilities

One of the core challenges raised by capabilities scholars to Rawls's *Justice as Fairness* is that the social contract he sets out – the two principles of justice – is founded on citizens having capabilities that fall within the 'normal range' (Nussbaum 2002, 2006). That is in order to meet Hume's requirement of the objective circumstances of justice, parties to the original position must have similar mental and physical powers, because the consent to be governed could only reasonably apply if those giving consent stand to benefit from this arrangement. Indeed, it is this sanctioning that allows Rawls to be concerned with the distribution of a narrow and hierarchical range of primary goods (Gardiner 2011a). In effect, however, the needs of those people whose needs fall outside of the perceived normal range are, therefore, not a matter for the social contract.

Defining disadvantage in terms of income and wealth, while important, thus necessarily overlooks the different capabilities people have to translate income and wealth, and other means into ends (Sen 1979, 2009). These disparities are exacerbated by the housing stock that is designed, constructed and located to meet the needs of people in the 'normal range'. Central to Sen's (2009) argument, however, is that justice and injustice are measured not just in terms of the functions or outcomes people are able to achieve, but also how these outcomes are achieved. It matters that people have agency in determining these outcomes: that these outcomes are ways of doing or being that they have reason to value. From this perspective in relation to housing, our evaluations of justice must take into account whether people are able to translate housing into ends that are not just objectively desirable, but which *they* have deemed to be valuable. These issues can be briefly explored by reference to housing and the needs of people with a disability, and the housing needs of an ageing population.

### Housing and disability

In Australia, for example, the Productivity Commission (2011) found that housing costs for people with a disability are often greater because they require modifications to their housing. Further, from a capabilities approach, it is possible to identify that people can have disadvantage beyond wealth and income specific to housing. That is, people have different capacity to translate housing into desired ends by virtue of illness, physical impairment and so on; for example, in requiring the assistance of others to carry out basic functions, such as toileting, bathing and cooking, and in connecting people physically to their communities. What is more, people who are less able to leave the home, who don't work, or who are ill are likely to have greater needs for heating and cooling around the home. People with the nervous-system disease multiple sclerosis (MS), are particularly sensitive to increases in temperature, for example, with the symptoms of the disease exacerbated by core body temperature increases of as little as 0.2° to 0.5° (Guthrie & Nelson 1995; Lerdal et al. 1995, Simmons et al. 2001; Summers & Simmons 2009). This sensitivity reduces the capacity of people with MS to carry out everyday activities in the home. As a result, many people with MS use air conditioners to cool their homes during hot

temperatures as a medical necessity, and they are estimated to spend around four times as much on energy than other households (Summers & Simmons 2009, p.3).

## Housing and ageing

As people age their ability to use their housing will change. A person's ability to transform their wealth (particularly wealth tied up in housing) also changes, depending on age, mental and physical health, cultural background and the environment in which that person lives. For some people, this ability is tied to changes in mobility; while others who are frailer, may require help with activities such as bathing, dressing, toileting, oral hygiene and cooking. As people age, the greater the likelihood that they will need some sort of care, particularly for those aged over 85 years (Productivity Commission 2011).

The prevalence of certain diseases also increases with age, particularly the prevalence of conditions such as diabetes and dementia. A 2010 study found, for example, that dementia<sup>21</sup> prevalence in people aged 70 to 74 years was 3.5 per cent for women and 3.35 per cent for men; for those aged 85-89 years, prevalence increased to 21.1 per cent and 24.4 per cent for males and females respectively, and to 37.2 per cent and 47.3 per cent for those aged 95 years and over (Access Economics 2010, p.11).

While most Australian households aged over sixty-five years are 'asset-rich', as in they own their own homes, focusing on this is likely to conceal that conventional housing may not be adequate for them, or else they may need the help of other people to get 'ordinary' benefits of their housing. According to the Canadian National Occupancy Standard of housing utilisation, for example, a house is considered 'overcrowded' if there are more than two adults per bedroom, or if single household members over the age of 18 years do not have their own bedroom. Conversely, if a couple or single person lives in housing with more than one bedroom, their housing is 'under-utilised' (ABS 2007). According to this measure,

188

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The term 'dementia' is used to refer to a range of conditions that impact a person's brain functions, including their capacity for language, memory, perception, personality and cognitive functions, which can lead to a loss of intellect, social skills and emotional reactions (Alzheimers Australia).

84 per cent of housing in which Australians fifty-five years and over live in, which more often than not has three or more bedrooms, is under-utilised (Boyd 2010). Bridge *et al.* (2011) found that often these additional rooms are used for temporary and permanent residents, for visiting friends or family members, or as space for hobbies, exercise or study. As such, they argue that larger houses may 'play an important role in healthy ageing'. The need for heating or cooling also changes with age.<sup>22</sup>

Research indicates, however, that most people want to stay in their homes, live independently, and to exercise discretion about how they live their lives as they age (Boyd 2010). In other words, they wish to exercise the basic freedoms associated with housing, yet realise these freedoms require some assistance from others.

One of the challenges that Nussbaum (2002) raises to the contractarian approach is that defining the 'normal range' of capabilities in practice, is not clear cut. Again, this can be illustrated by reference to ageing and disability. That is, some of the circumstances of people with a disability including those with a profound disability (thus outside of the normal range), are very similar to those experienced as people age (inside the normal range).

[I]f we recognize the continuity between the situation of the lifelong disabled and phases of so-called normal lives, we must also recognize that the problem of care for people in a condition of asymmetrical dependency is vast, affecting virtually every family in every society— every family, at any rate, that has either children or aging parents or lifelong disabled family members or members affected by phases of acute disability in the course of a "normal" life (Nussbaum 2006, p.422).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> The World Health Organization (WHO) sets a temperature of between 18 and 21 degrees as the benchmark for acceptable indoor temperatures. For older people (and those whose health makes them more vulnerable), the benchmark increases by 2 to 3 degrees. In a submission into an inquiry on national energy pricing, for example, the Australian Council for the Ageing (COTA 2012, p. 4) cited the example of deaths of older people during heat waves in the summer of 2009, which increased by 64 per cent as evidence of the importance of being able to heat and cool a home. In addition, it involves modifications to housing. Research by Bridge *et al.* (2012) also found that even for people who do not get diseases, the majority expected to make modifications at some point. Yet almost half (46 per cent) of people interviewed as part of the study felt they were 'unable or uncertain' of their ability to pay for these modifications.

As such, analyses of housing and climate change as a problem of justice must be mindful to the different capacity people have to use their housing, now and in the future, as part of their realisation as full citizens.

# Justice as a process of public reasoning

As set out earlier, the core tension between housing affordability and environmental sustainability relies weighing the interests of people alive today with the welfare of people living in the future. How people are housed – how housing is distributed, how and with what it is built and constructed and what people do with and in their housing – has implications not only for them. Rather, it has implications for people removed in time and space. If we cannot be said to have obligations toward future generations, then beyond referring to the interests of people in the future metaphorically (in the same way we might encourage a child to clear their plate because children elsewhere have no food to eat), there is little case, from a justice point of view, to justify taking steps to address climate change.

As I have demonstrated, theories of justice suggest that we do have an obligation of justice to future generations who are members of the same sovereign society. As Clements (2012) has argued, for example, the potential consequences of climate change threaten to compromise basic requirements for human life of some of the world's poorest people. The fact that having food to eat, water to drink and clean air to breathe, and protection from the elements are foundational for human survival is an obvious connection between Rawls's concept of the social minimum and what is at stake in the debate over climate change (Clements 2012). Indeed, Rawls's use of Hume's 'circumstances of justice' predicates that without a moderately scarce supply of these resources, the concept of justice itself does not apply. There is, therefore, a prima facie case that these basic requirements ought to be protected: as Clements has argued 'climate change threatens livelihoods for so many, so protecting these people takes on particular urgency in Rawlsian analysis' (2012, p.151). Further, while wealthy industrialised nations, such as Australia, are the major contributors to climate change, some of the worst impacts of climate change are predicted to be experienced by people who do not live in Australia but in the world's poorest countries.

As such, the crux of the affordability and climate change problem is its intergenerational and international dimensions. By examining housing as a question of intra-generational distributive justice we can go some way to understanding what ought to be protected in taking steps to address climate change. At the same time, however, it is important to recognise the limits on the sorts of claims that the principles of justice are designed to adjudicate between.

As set out in *Chapter Three*, however, theories of justice provide not only principles to guide evaluations of justice, but also conceptualise justice as a process of reasoning. For instance, Rawls provides the method of wide reflective equilibrium in which we seek to align our judgements or intuitions, the principles that govern these judgements and the theoretical considerations that bear on accepting judgements and principles. Using this method, judgements about justice are defended on the basis of their internal coherence rather than on claims to their truth. Importantly, however, as discussed in *Chapter Three*, Rawls felt that there must be something more than internal coherence in defending moral and ethical claims. These claims must be tested and potentially revised through encounters with new problems and alternative conceptions of justice, such as the intergenerational issues that arise from the climate change debate.

Beyond achieving wide reflective equilibrium, the other aspect of justice as a process is that it is a deliberative public process. For Rawls, as all citizens are to be governed by the same implicit social contract, the terms of which are determined through public reasoning, then it is only fitting that all citizens play an equal part in determining the terms of this contract (as representative persons in the original position). As discussed in *Chapter Three*, in order that this process is not skewed to favour some members of society over others, Rawls uses the device of the veil of ignorance. The veil forces the parties to the original position to imagine that they may belong to any social or economic class, or indeed any generation of that society. As such, justice is not only as a process of reasoning in which people fend for their own interests, but in which we think of the self as the other. I argue that this idea, whereby justice relies on reasoning *as if* we were in someone else's situation, is a

common thread between theories of justice and I refer to it as justice relying on moral imagination.

#### Justice in a non-ideal world

Part of Rawls's defence of the device of the original position is that while it is a hypothetical, it was empirically realistic (in contrast to Kant's metaphysical conception of the Kingdom of Ends). One of the key challenges that both Sen and Sandel raise is that while Rawls approach is highly commendable, as a process of public reasoning, justice cannot be limited to the realm of the ideal, or as an academic or theoretical exercise. Rather, reasoning about justice – what is the right thing to do – must take place in the real world and deal with the imperfect realities of that world. Take, for instance, Sen's example of the perfect artwork: knowing that the Mona Lisa is the ideal painting does not really help in determining whether a Picasso painting is better that one by Salvador Dalí (Sen 2009). To this end, Sen argues that we must find ways in actuality to increase the voice of as many people as possible in debating how to advance justice. Similarly, Sandel argues we must create the conditions for reasoned debate over what is just (though with the important caveat that this should not eschew debate over the content of the ends that people seek) (Sandel 1998, 2009). From this view, determining what should be done about housing affordability and climate change requires better public deliberation over what matters in terms of housing and what we owe each other.

The key challenge that housing affordability and climate change raise with regard to conceptions of justice is that people in the future cannot practically participate in public debate over what should be done to address climate change and the impacts on how people are housed. In this way, there is an insurmountable asymmetry in the relationship between present and future generations, which cannot be overcome by increasing voice for certain members of society.

Determining what should be done about housing affordability and climate change requires a process of public reasoning in which present generations make decisions on behalf of people living in the future, as if we were in their situation. Rawls's use of the veil of ignorance suggests that in practice, there are certain civic conditions in which we are better placed to think in these terms. As such, the test that debate over climate change brings to the fore is to what extent do our social and political institutions including the rules governing these institutions, but also the political culture these are tied to, encourage moral imagination.

Gestures to the welfare of future generations, as evidenced in Australian environmental policy discourse, imply a readiness to engage in debate on these terms. Most prominent amongst these were former Prime Minister Rudd's assertion that climate change is the great moral challenge of our generation, and Prime Minister Gillard's claim that introducing a carbon tax was 'the right thing to do' (Australia, House of Representatives 2011a, p.1419). Yet the chasm between this rhetoric and the evidence suggesting potentially grave impacts on future generations of unmitigated climate change on the one hand, and the depth of the policies implemented to address climate change on the other, seem to signal the vulnerability of this idea to present vested interests. As such, perhaps what justice theories draw to the fore, most prominently, is a failure of ethical leadership, particularly in terms of civic virtue.

### Conclusion

In this research I aim to contribute an analysis of the tensions between housing affordability and environmental sustainability as a problem of distributive justice. This chapter contributed to this aim by addressing Research Question Two: 'what are the tensions in how 'what matters' and 'who matters' have been framed in Australian housing policy?' and Research Question Three: 'what is the right thing to do?' I argue that while the core tensions between housing affordability and climate change debates are intergenerational, justice requires that analysis of this problem begins with the justness of current social and political arrangements. In turn, however, reckoning with the intergenerational dimensions of how people are housed and how to address the threat of climate change, relies on a process of political culture and leadership that fosters the space in which people are encouraged not only to set out and pursue their own interests, but also to reflect on and defend, the interests of others.

Framing how we are housed and the challenges of climate change within the narrow metrics of an economic problem, within a broader view of politics and justice as economics by other means is inadequate for this task. It overlooks how these economic outcomes are realised, whether they are things that people value, and at what cost they were achieved. It is inadequate for addressing questions of the adequacy of housing in terms of size, location, amenity and what people need to translate this housing into meaningful ends. Perhaps most importantly, however, this paradigm provides an inadequate language with which to express the moral concerns underpinning housing and climate change.

# **CHAPTER SEVEN: CONCLUSION**

The purpose of this chapter is to demonstrate how I have addressed my research aim by confirming the key insights of this research, to outline some limitations of the research and suggest areas for further research.

## Restatement of the research aims and questions

Through this research I have sought to contribute to knowledge insights into what Australian governments *ought to do* with respect to housing, affordability and environmental sustainability, with a specific focus on climate change. As such, the outcome of this research is a proposal for how we might think differently about housing, as well as insights into what answers this different approach may yield. In this way, the core contribution of this research is not an account of which particular policy is more or less just. Rather, its contribution is in its challenge to the ubiquitous use of the economistic paradigm in *processes of public reasoning* about how people ought to be housed. By showing how reasoning about justice is stifled when its only objects are instrumental gains, self-interest, and the narrow paradigm of economic costs and benefits.

I have pursued this aim through the examination of three research questions. My principal research question is 'what is the right thing for Australian governments to do about housing affordability and sustainability?' Implicit in this question is that the goals of housing affordability and addressing climate change conflict in some ways. I posed, therefore, two subsidiary research questions to test this assumption. These questions are:

- i. How have 'what matters' and 'who matters' been framed in Australian housing and environmental policy? (RQ 1)
- ii. What are the tensions between how 'what matters' and 'who matters' have been framed in Australian housing and environmental policy? (RQ 2)

The theoretical foundation for this research is drawn from the field of political philosophy in particular, the John Rawls's right-based theory of justice and Amartya Sen's capabilities-based approach. Through addressing these problems, these questions set the empirical policy foundation for the research.

# Key insights

The challenge of sustainability for housing policy

With respect to *Research Question One*, I have found that as a concept, housing affordability implies that for how people are housed, who matters is the household, while what matters is the cost of housing (as measured in mortgage or rental payments) in relation to a household's income. This relationship is played out in measures of housing affordability, such as the '30/40 rule' and the 'deposit gap' measure. Furthermore, being concerned with how housing is distributed, implicit in the concept of housing affordability, is the private market distribution of housing. The use of the concept is in keeping with the neo-liberal economic paradigm, wherein the role of government is to ensure the more efficient operation of the market in the face of market failure. As a result, the use of the housing affordability concept provides little room for consideration of other, substantive aspects of housing, such as its amenity, location or what people can do with and within it. Nor does it provide space to interrogate why such a distribution takes place and whether this distribution is just.

While housing affordability is the dominant paradigm in Australian housing policy, its narrow remit does not reflect the full range of claims about what and who matters, which have emerged in the Australian housing debate. While some of these concerns relate to the cost of housing, some have little to do with it at all. These claims include, for example, that access to housing, irrespective of whether it is owned or rented, is important for meeting a basic human requirement for shelter, while the distribution of private home ownership in particular, is important for wealth distribution. Further, housing is tied to the aspiration of private ends, providing a place for the realisation of routine and everyday practices. Finally, the focus on individual households implicit in the housing affordability concept overlooks the longstanding and elevated status that private home ownership is ascribed in policy

narratives of Australian national identity, as explicit in the promotion of private home ownership as the 'great Australian dream'.

Claims about what is at stake in environmental policy traverse a range of impacts that directly and indirectly affect how people are housed now and will be housed in the future. The claims about who matters and what matters in Australian housing and environmental policy (as it affects how people are housed) thus conflict in several ways. Primarily, these tensions centre on the differing accounts of how people are housed: as a private matter, a private end and as a means to private ends, situated in a national space (policy debate over affordability) against the notion that how people are housed is tied to factors beyond their household indirectly affecting people who may be far removed in time and in space (policy debate over climate change).

As such, notions of housing as a basic human requirement, of private home ownership as a form of wealth distribution, and of the importance of the private space that housing provides, are set against the more diffuse indirect and uncertain whole-of-system risks of climate change. This conflict is brought to the fore by the realisation that taking steps to address climate change, through regulating for increased energy efficiency standards in newly constructed or significantly renovated housing, or through the introduction of a carbon price mechanism, will affect the cost of housing.

I have drawn these insights initially through critical analysis of the concepts of housing affordability and environmental sustainability (as applied to housing). I have then further tested these through the analysis of policy narratives spanning from the mid twentieth century to 2010, as set out in *Chapters Four and Five*.

#### The need to think differently about housing as a policy problem

In the two policy discourses I have examined in this research – housing affordability and environmental sustainability – we are led to think about the problems of policy as economic. This paradigm stymies the complex and plural claims that arise in policy debate. Its deployment tends to rely on reducing these claims to the narrow metrics of costs and benefits, assumes these plural claims are therefore substitutable, or else pushes to the periphery of debate those concerns that do not fit this

framework. As such, approaching the question of what should be done through this lens does not do justice to the range of claims that actually arise in debate, and for the range of issues that are important to justice.

A more fruitful analysis of what is the right thing to do about affordability and sustainability can be realised by questioning the relationship between how people are housed and (i) the distribution of primary goods (as drawn from *Justice as Fairness*), and (ii) whether people can convert this housing into ends they have reason to value (as drawn from Sen's *capabilities* approach), as I have set out in *Chapter Three*. Addressing these questions widens the remit of 'housing' policy analysis to include matters such as the overall distribution of wealth, not just the distribution of housing wealth. It also puts pressure on taken for granted and implicit goals of housing policy, especially the elevated status of home ownership, by subjecting these goals to critical scrutiny. This alternative approach thus challenges existing ways of thinking about problems and deeply embedded claims about what and who matters by exposing these ideas to explicitly normative criteria.

From this analysis, one of my insights is that the goal of private home ownership – and therefore the legitimate – does not hold special status in relation to justice. That is, there is little ground on which to argue that Australian governments ought to secure private home ownership for all citizens, and that a society without such a distribution is necessarily unjust. Rather, what matters from a Rawlsian perspective, is that in the first place, a basic standard or 'social minimum' of housing (irrespective of whether it is owned or rented), sufficient to meet the basic needs of all citizens, is secured for all. Furthermore, the overall distribution, not just of housing wealth, but all forms of wealth and income (which includes the distribution of wealth tied up in mining of natural resources, and raised in the debate over the Resources Rent Tax) must be designed to work to the benefit of the least advantaged members of society. At the same time, determining the just distribution of housing must account for the differing capabilities that some households have, for reasons beyond income and wealth, to convert this housing into ends they have reason to value. In this way, determining what is the right thing to do about housing, requires a widening of the field of 'housing' policy debate beyond how people are housed per se.

### Insights into how we think about justice

Approaching housing affordability and sustainability (as climate change) as a normative problem involves more than aligning principles and theories of justice to the claims that arise in policy debate. This is because determining what is just involves evaluation of the process of public reasoning that gives voice and legitimacy to these claims and principles in the first place. Rawls, for example, sets out the rules of this process in the thought experiment of the Original Position, wherein citizens determine the rules to govern the just society, from behind a veil of ignorance, which conceals their status in that society. While Rawls, Sen and Sandel offer differing conceptions of how this process may be done, they agree that it should be open to the interests of a wide array of interests as possible.

One of the unexpected insights from this research is that approaching housing affordability and sustainability as a problem for social justice also puts pressure on the assumption that self-interest should exclusively underpin justice as a process of public reasoning. If we are to take seriously the claim that the welfare of future generations is important, then justice as a process of public reasoning cannot be underpinned by self-interest. Intergenerational relationships are by their very nature asymmetrical, and as such intergenerational justice requires a process of public reasoning in which citizens act *on behalf of* and are stewards of the better *interests of* others who cannot do the same in return. This is what I have referred to as 'moral imagination'. Such an approach implies a greater demand on the role of governments for ethical leadership, than the management of market failure.

#### Limitations

Three obvious limitations of this research concern its focus and method. In terms of the focus on the research, I have limited this study to examination of the tensions between climate change and housing. Yet climate change and energy use in particular, is only one element of the housing-sustainability nexus. As such, further research might examine other dimensions of sustainability such as water.

For the most part, my analysis of Australian policy has relied on published documents. I have therefore assumed that these provide an adequate reflection of policy developments. In hindsight, my analysis of these developments, and especially core claims about what matters and who matters, may have been enriched or have yielded different insights if I had tested my findings from the policy literature with other empirical methods, such as interviews with policy actors, party politicians and public servants.

#### Areas for further research

I have already noted that further research might examine other dimensions of sustainability in relation to housing. Early into the project, I had assumed that by examining housing affordability and sustainability in terms of social justice, this research would yield a categorical list of better or more 'just' housing policies. As I have detailed, from engagement with the work of Rawls, Sen and Sandel, I have realised that what is critical to justice is the *process of public reasoning* through which the questions about what is the right thing to do are addressed. Further research may seek actually to design and establish institutional arrangements, which enable the processes of public reasoning that provide room for ideas beyond the narrow confines of the economistic paradigm to take place. Such research may include analysis of the role of political parties and politicians, as has been a focus in this research, but analysis could also extend to the role of the public service.

If former Prime Minister Kevin Rudd was correct in his 2007 declaration that climate change is the 'greatest moral, social and economic challenge of our time', then working out what should be done with respect to housing affordability and environmental sustainability requires new ways of thinking about how people are housed as a problem for policy. This process of public reasoning about the role of housing in a just society must expose tacit and explicit views about the role of home ownership and what is deemed to be adequate housing to critical examination. This means moving beyond seeing housing and climate change as mere questions of economics, to questions about what we owe to fellow citizens and to people living far removed in time and space.

### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- A better life 1947, film produced by Coldicutt, Ken and Fitzsimons, JG (Realist Film Unit production company) for the Brotherhood of St Laurence Australia, Melbourne, National Film and Sound Archive, viewed 7 October 2008, <a href="http://australianscreen.com.au">http://australianscreen.com.au</a>.
- A lethal miscalculation 2010, television program (Four Corners), ABC Television, Sydney, 26 April.
- Abbot nukes Howard's ETS stance 2009, television program (ABC News), ABC Television, Sydney, 2 December.
- ABC News 2010. 'Wong defends citizens' assembly on carbon 2010', 25 July, Australian Broadcasting Corporation, Canberra, viewed 5 August 2010, <a href="http://www.abc.net.au">http://www.abc.net.au</a>.
- ABCB see Australian Building Codes Board.
- Abelson, P 2009, 'Affordable housing: concepts and policies', *Economic Papers*, vol. 28, pp. 27-38.
- ABS see Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Alcott, B 2007, 'The sufficiency strategy: would rich-world frugality lower environmental impact?' *Ecological Economics*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 770-86.
- Alexander, C 2008, 'Garnaut climate barrage', *The Herald Sun*, 20 December, p.19.
- Alexander, D 2008, 'Garnaut angered by Rudd's lack of ambition', *Canberra Times*, 20 December, p.3.
- Allen, C 2005, 'Reflections on housing and social theory: an interview with Jim Kemeny', *Housing, Theory and Society*, vol. 22, pp. 94-107.
- Allens Arthur Robinson 2009, Focus: Senate Standing Committee's report on CPRS legislation and US greenhouse legislation passes house, Allens Arthur Robinson, viewed 8 July 2009, <a href="http://www.allens.com.au">http://www.allens.com.au</a>.

- Allison, L 2002, 'Those dam revisionists get it all wrong', *The Age*, 28 December, viewed 3 May 2012 Factiva database, <a href="http://global.factiva.com.ezproxy.lib.rmit.edu.au">http://global.factiva.com.ezproxy.lib.rmit.edu.au</a>.
- Allon, F 2008, *Renovation nation: our obsession with home*, University of New South Wales Press, Sydney.
- Allport, C 1988, 'The human face of remodelling: post-war "slum" clearance in Sydney', *Urban Policy and Research*, vol. 6, pp. 106-18.
- ALP *see* Australian Labor Party.
- Althaus, C, Bridgman, P & Davis, G 2007, *The Australian policy handbook*, Allen & Unwin, Crows Nest.
- Alzeimer's Australia 2010, Caring places: planning for aged care and dementia 2010-2050, vol. 1, report prepared by Access Economics, Canberra.
- Alzeimer's Australia 2011, Caring places: planning for aged care and dementia 2010-2050, vol. 2, report prepared by Access Economics, Canberra.
- Angry Rudd defends ETS backflip 2010, television program (The 7:30 Report), ABC Television, Sydney, May 12.
- Anthoff, D & Tol, RSJ 2013, *The uncertainty about the social cost of carbon: a decomposition analysis using fund*, ESRI Working Paper no. 404, The Economic and Social Research Institute, Dublin, viewed 2 June 2013, <www.esri.ie>.
- Argy, F 1998, Australia at the crossroads: radical free market or a progressive liberalism? Allen & Unwin, St Leonards.
- Arup T 2011a, 'Mining lobby won't back tax', *The Age*, 7 April, p.6.
- Arup, T 2011b, 'Household carbon tax cost increases revealed', *The Age*, 2 April, p.4.
- Australia, House of Representative 1945, *Debates*, vol. 40, 3 October, pp. 6346-63.
- Australia, House of Representatives 1964, *Votes and Proceedings*, vol. 7, pp.103-4.
- Australia, House of Representatives 1981, 'Tasmanian Wilderness Areas', *Discussion of Matter of Public Importance*, 10 June, pp. 3430-4.
- Australia, House of Representatives 1987, Debates, vol. HR0038, p.2450.

- Australia, House of Representatives 2011a, *Debates*, no. 2, 24 February 2011, pp.1418-20.
- Australia, House of Representatives 2011b, *Debates*, no. 65, 13 September, pp. 9916-8.
- Australia, Parliament 2010, Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme (Consequential Amendments) Bill 2010, Bills Digest no. 122 2009-10, Parliament of Australia, Canberra.
- Australia, Senate 2009, *Debates*, vol. S15, 30 November, pp.9573-5.
- Australian Building Codes Board 2006, *BCA* 2006 New Energy Efficiency *Provisions*, Australian Building Codes Board E-Bulletin, viewed 27 April 2011, <a href="http://www.abcb.gov.au">http://www.abcb.gov.au</a>.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics 2003, *Year Book Australia 2003*, cat. no. 1301.0, ABS, Canberra.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics 2007, Australian Housing Survey: Methods and Standards, ABS, Canberra.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics 2006, *Household Expenditure Survey, Australia: Summary of Results, 2003-04 (Reissue)*, cat. no. 6530.0, ABS, Canberra.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics 2008a, *Australian Social Trends*, 2008, cat. no. 4102.0, ABS, Canberra.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics 2008b, *Year Book Australia 2008*, cat. no. 1301.0, ABS, Canberra.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics 2009, *Housing Occupancy and Costs* 2007-08, cat. no. 4130.0, ABS, Canberra.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics 2010, *Year Book Australia 2009-10*, cat. no. 1301.0, ABS, Canberra.
- Australian Council of Trade Unions 2007, 'Affordable housing: issues, principles and policy options', National Affordable Housing Summit, July, Canberra.
- Australian Government 2008, Budget Paper 3: Australia's Federal Relations 2008-09, Commonwealth Budget Papers, Canberra.
- Australian Government 2008, *Housing Affordability Fund: The Guidelines*, Canberra, viewed 3 June 2009, <www.fahcsia.gov.au>.

- Australian Government 2009, Australia's Biodiversity and Climate Change: A Strategic Assessment of the Vulnerability of Australia's Biodiversity to Climate Change, Summary for Policy Makers, report prepared by Steffen, W, Burbidge, A, Hughes, L, Kitching, R, Lindenmayer, D, Musgrave, W, Stafford Smith, M & Werner, P (Biodiversity and Climate Change Expert Advisory Group), summary of a report to the Natural Resource Management Ministerial Council commissioned by the Australian Government, viewed 18 June 2011, <www.climatechange.gov.au>.
- Australian Government 2010, *Nation Building Economic Stimulus Plan*, <www.economicstimulusplan.gov.au>.
- Australian Government 2011a, *Clean Energy Future*, Department of Climate Change, Canberra, viewed 2 March 2012, <a href="http://www.cleanenergyfuture.gov.au/">http://www.cleanenergyfuture.gov.au/</a>
- Australian Government 2011b, *What is Social Inclusion?* Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, viewed 14 January 2012, <a href="http://www.socialinclusion.gov.au">http://www.socialinclusion.gov.au</a>.
- Australian Government Commission of Inquiry into Poverty 1975, *Poverty in Australia: First Main Report* (Professor RF Henderson, Chairman), Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- Australian Institute of Family Studies 1998, Social polarisation and housing careers: Exploring the interrelationship of labour and housing markets in Australia, Working Paper no. 13, prepared by I Winter & W Stone, Australian Institute of Family Studies, Melbourne.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2007, *Australia's welfare 2007*, Australia's welfare no. 8, cat. no. AUS 93, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Canberra, AIHW, Canberra, viewed 9 June 2010, <a href="http://www.aihw.gov.au">http://www.aihw.gov.au</a>.
- Australian Labor Party 2007a, *National Platform and Constitution*, viewed 5 September 2009, <a href="http://parlinfo.aph.gov.au">http://parlinfo.aph.gov.au</a>>.
- Australian Labor Party 2007b, New directions for affordable housing: addressing the decline in housing affordability for Australian families, Australian Labor Party, viewed 10 February 2009, <a href="http://parlinfo.aph.gov.au">http://parlinfo.aph.gov.au</a>.
- Australian Labor Party 2009, Climate change plan: tackling climate change and our environmental challenges, viewed 10 February 2010, <a href="http://www.alp.org.au">http://www.alp.org.au</a>.
- Australian Labor Party Victorian Branch 2006, *Housing Affordability: policy for the 2006 Victorian election*, pamphlet, ALP Victoria, West Melbourne.

- Australian Urban and Regional Development Review 1995, *Green Cities*, Strategy Paper 3, Australian Urban and Regional Development Review, Department of Housing and Regional Development, Canberra.
- Australians deserve a bigger cut: Rudd 2010, radio program (AM), ABC Radio, Sydney, 3 May, transcript viewed 5 May 2011, <a href="http://www.abc.net.au">http://www.abc.net.au</a>.
- Bacchi, CL 1999, Women, policy and politics: the construction of social problems, Sage Publications, London.
- Bacchi, CL 2009, *Analysing policy: what's the problem represented to be?* Pearson Australia, Frenchs Forest.
- Baker, R & Taylor, K 2002, 'Victoria to get its own Kyoto plan', *The Age*, 5 June, p. 2.
- Ball, T & Bellamy, R 2003, *The Cambridge history of twentieth-century political thought*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Bandler, H 1987, 'Gordon below Franklin Dam, Tasmania, Australia: environmental factors in a decision of national significance', *The Environmentalist*, vol. 7, pp. 43-54.
- Banfill, PFG and Peacock, AD 2007, 'Energy-efficient new housing the UK reaches for sustainability', *Building Research & Information*, vol. 35, pp. 426-36.
- Barnett, FO & Burt, WO 1942, *Housing the Australian nation*, The Left Book Club of Australia Research Group, Melbourne.
- Barnett, FO 1933, The unsuspected slums: an illustrated summary of a thesis submitted to Melbourne University surveying the slum problem of Melbourne, Melbourne, The Herald Press.
- Barry, B 2005, Why social justice matters, Polity Press, Cambridge.
- Bates, BC, Kundzewicz, ZW Wu, S and Palutikof, JP (eds.) 2008, *Climate change and water*, Technical Paper of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC Secretariat, Geneva.
- Baumgärtner, S and Quaas, MF 2009, 'Ecological-economic viability as a criterion of strong sustainability under uncertainty', *Ecological Economics*, vol. 68, pp. 2008-20.
- Beautiful Melbourne 1947, Film produced by Coldicutt, Ken and Fitzsimons, JG (Realist Film Unit production company) for the Brotherhood of St Laurence Australia, Melbourne, National Film and Sound Archive, viewed 7 October 2008, <a href="http://australianscreen.com.au">http://australianscreen.com.au</a>.

- Beck, P 2003, 'Dam tense times', *The Mercury*, 28 June, p.33.
- Beer, A & Faulkner, D 2009, 21st century housing careers and Australia's housing future, AHURI Final Report no. 128, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Southern Research Centre, Hobart.
- Beer, A 1993, 'A Dream Won, a crisis born? Home ownership and the housing market' in C Paris (ed.), *Housing Australia*, Macmillan Education Australia, South Melbourne, pp.147-72.
- Beer, A 1999, 'Housing investment and the private rental sector in Australia', *Urban Studies*, vol. 36, p. 255-69.
- Beer, A, Faulkner, D & Gabriel, M 2006, 21st Century housing careers and Australia's housing future: literature review, AHURI National Research Venture 2: 21st Century Housing Careers, Research Paper 1, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Southern Research Centre, Hobart.
- Beer, A, Faulkner, D, Paris, C & Clower, T 2011, Housing transitions through the life course: aspirations, needs and policy, Policy Press, Bristol.
- Beer, A, Kearins, B and Pieters, H 2007, 'Housing affordability and planning in Australia: the challenge of policy under neo-liberalism', *Housing Studies*, vol. 22, pp. 11-24.
- Beerepoot, M 2006, 'Policy profile: encouraging use of renewable energy by implementing the energy performance of buildings directive', *European Environment*, vol.16, pp. 167-77.
- Beerepoot, M 2007, 'Energy innovations in construction: network effects and energy policy in Dutch construction', paper presented to European Network for Housing Research conference on sustainable urban areas, Rotterdam, 25-28 June.
- Bell D 2010, 'Justice and the Politics of Climate Change' in Lever-Tracy, C (ed.) *Routledge Handbook of Climate Change and Society*, Routledge, London, pp.423-41.
- Berry, M 1977, 'Whose city? The forgotten tenant', *Journal of Sociology*, vol.13, pp. 53-9.
- Berry, M 1983, 'Posing the housing question in Australia: elements of a theoretical framework for a Marxist analysis of housing' in L Sandercock & M Berry, *Urban political economy: The Australian case*, George Allen & Unwin, North Sydney, pp.91-115.
- Berry, M 1988, 'To buy or to rent? The demise of a dual tenure policy in Australia 1945-60' in R Howe (ed.), *New houses for old: fifty years of public housing in*

- *Victoria,* 1938 1988, Melbourne Ministry of Housing and Construction, pp.95-122.
- Berry, M 2006, Housing affordability and the economy: A review of the macroeconomic impacts and policy issues, National Research Venture 3: Housing Affordability for Lower Income Australians, Research Paper 4, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute RMIT-NATSEM Research Centre, Melbourne.
- Berry, M 2010, 'Housing wealth and mortgage debt in Australia' in SJ Smith & BA Searle (eds.), *The Blackwell companion to the economics of housing: the housing wealth of nations*, Blackwell Publishing, West Sussex, pp.126-46.
- Berry, M 2011, 'Neoliberalism and the City: Poor Economics and Even Worse Policy', paper presented at *Neoliberalism and Urbanization in the Asia Pacific: Challenges and Opportunities for Housing, the* 2011 Asia Pacific Network for Housing Research Conference, The University of Hong Kong, 8-10 December.
- Berry, M, Dalton, T, and Nelson, A 2011, 'The impacts of the global financial crisis on housing and mortgage markets in Australia: a view from the vulnerable' in Forrest, R & Yip, N (eds), *Housing Markets and the Global Financial Crisis: The Uneven Impact on Households*, Edward Elgar Publishing, pp.131-49, viewed 29 June 2013, <a href="http://lib.myilibrary.com?ID=307211">http://lib.myilibrary.com?ID=307211</a>.
- Berry, M & Nelson, A 2007, 'Steering sustainability: what, when and why?' in A Nelson (ed.), *Steering sustainability in an urbanizing world*, Ashgate, Hampshire, pp.1-16.
- Bhatti, M & Dixon, A 2003, 'Special focus: housing, environment and sustainability', *Housing Studies*, vol.18, pp. 501-4.
- Bhatti, M 1993, 'From consumers to prosumers: housing for a sustainable future', *Housing Studies*, vol.8, pp. 98-108.
- Bhatti, M 2001, 'Housing/futures? The challenge from environmentalism', *Housing Studies*, vol. 16, pp. 39-52.
- Birmingham, J 2005, 'So happy we could scream', *The Monthly*, January 2012, viewed 16 June 2010, <www.themonthly.com.au>.
- Bloustien, G, Comber, B & Mackinnon, A 2009, *The Hawke legacy*, Wakefield Press, Kent Town.
- Bodansky, D 2001, 'The history of the global climate change regime' in U Luterbacher & DF Sprinz (eds.), *International relations and global climate change*, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, pp.23-40.

- Boyd, R 2010, *The great Australian ugliness*, Text Publishing, Melbourne (first published 1960).
- Brett, J 1992, Robert Menzies' forgotten people, Pan Macmillan, Sydney.
- Brett, J 2003, Australian Liberals and the moral middle class: from Alfred Deakin to John Howard, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Brett, J 2004a, 'Comment: the country and the city', *Australian Journal of Political Science*, vol. 39, pp. 27-9.
- Brett, J 2004b, 'The country, the city and the state in the Australian settlement', *Australian Journal of Political Science*, vol. 42 no. 1, pp. 1-17.
- Brett, J, Gillespie, J & Goot, M 1994, *Developments in Australian politics*, Macmillan, South Melbourne.
- Bridge, C, Davy, L, Judd, B, Flatau, P, Morris A & and Phibbs, P, *Age-specific housing and care for low to moderate income older people*, AHURI Final Report no. 174, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Broad, C (Minister for Housing) 2003a, *Victoria leads on national affordable housing strategy*, media release, Brisbane, 11 April, Victorian Government, viewed 7 June 2008, <a href="http://hnb.dhs.vic.gov.au">http://hnb.dhs.vic.gov.au</a>>.
- Broad, C (Minister for Housing) 2003b *Delivering on Commitment to Affordable Housing*, media release, 6 May, viewed 1 February 2009, <a href="http://www.budget.vic.gov.au">http://www.budget.vic.gov.au</a>.
- Brotherhood of St Laurence, Catholic Social Services Australia & National Welfare Rights Network 2007, *Joint Submission to the Prime Ministerial Task Group on Emissions Trading*, viewed 4 September 2009, <a href="http://pandora.nla.gov.au/pan/72614/20070601-0000/www.pmc.gov.au/emissionstrading/submissions/218\_sub\_emissionstrading.pdf">http://pandora.nla.gov.au/pan/72614/20070601-0000/www.pmc.gov.au/emissionstrading/submissions/218\_sub\_emissionstrading.pdf</a>.
- Brown, C 2010, 'On Amartya Sen and the idea of justice', *Ethics & International Affairs*, vol. 24, pp. 309-18.
- Bryman, A 2008, Social research methods, 3rd edn., Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- BSL see Brotherhood of St Laurence.
- Building Act 1993 (Victoria).

- Building Regulation Review Taskforce 1991a, Microeconomic Reforms Building Regulation: Building Regulation Review Taskforce Final Report, Australian Government Canberra.
- Building Regulation Review Taskforce 1991b, Model Codes for Energy Efficient Buildings: A Business Plan for the Development of Model Codes for Energy Efficient Buildings, Building Regulation Review Taskforce and Energy, Department of Primary Industries and Energy.
- Bulkeley, H 2001, 'No regrets? Economy and environment in Australia's domestic climate change policy process', *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 11, pp. 155-69.
- Bunnin, N & Yu, J 2004, 'Kingdom of ends' in *The Blackwell dictionary of Western philosophy*, Blackwell, Malden, pp. 372-3.
- Burke, T 2011, 'Do you want size with that: the McMansion malaise', *The Conversation*, viewed 12 January 2013, <a href="http://theconversation.edu.au">http://theconversation.edu.au</a>.
- Bursting the Bubble 2008, television program (Insight), SBS Television, Sydney, 9 September.
- Burton, E 2003, 'Housing for an urban renaissance: implications for social equity', *Housing Studies*, vol.18, pp. 537-62.
- Camacho, AE 2009, 'Adapting Governance to Climate Change: Managing Uncertainty through a Learning Infrastructure', *Emory Law Journal*, vol. 59, no. 1, pp. 1-77.
- Carmody, G 2010, 'Climate Omission', *The Age*, 26 July, viewed 26 July 2012, < http://www.theage.com.au >.
- Carroll, B 2010, Vintage Keating: his wit and wisdom, Rosenberg, Dural.
- Carroll, J 1992, 'Economic rationalism and its consequences' in J Carroll & R Manne (eds.), *Shutdown: the failure of economic rationalism and how to rescue Australia*, Text Publishing, East Melbourne, pp.7-26.
- Catley, B 1996, *Globalising Australian capitalism*, Cambridge University Press, Melbourne.
- Chalkley, T 2008, 'Build it, fill it and bill it: how housing work has changed (and stayed the same)', paper presented to the Australasian Housing Researchers Conference, Melbourne, 18-20 June.
- Chapman, P 2006, *Housing affordability in Australia*, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Research & Policy Bulletin, no. 68, February.

- CHC *see* Commonwealth Housing Commission.
- Chiu, RLH 2004, 'Socio-cultural sustainability of housing: a conceptual exploration', *Housing, Theory and Society,* vol. 2, pp. 65-76.
- Clarke, A 2007, 'Babyboomers in big houses: can we make better use of the existing housing stock', paper presented to European Network for Housing Research conference on sustainable urban areas, Rotterdam, 25-28 June.
- Cleary, P 2011, *Too much luck: the mining boom and Australia's future*, Black Inc., Collingwood.
- Clémeçon, R 2010, 'Preface: Copenhagen and after' in Lever-Tracy, C (ed.) Routledge handbook of climate change and society, London, Routledge, pp. xxy-xxx.
- Clements, P 2012, Rawlsian political analysis: rethinking the microfoundations of social science, University of Notre Dame Press, Notre Dame, Indiana.
- Climate change at the Franklin 25th anniversary: The Hon Bob Hawke speaks about climate change, video recording of address by Bob Hawke, Prime Ministerial library, University of South Australia, Adelaide, viewed 3 August 2012, <a href="http://www.library.unisa.edu.au">http://www.library.unisa.edu.au</a>.
- Climate change drops off the radar in 2010 election 2010, television program (The 7:30 Report), ABC Television, Sydney, 29 July.
- COAG see Council of Australian Governments.
- Colebatch, HK 2005, *Policy*, Open University Press, Maidenhead.
- Colic-Peisker, V & Johnson, G 2010a, 'Security and anxiety of home ownership: perceptions of middle-class Australians at different stages of their housing careers', *Housing, Theory and Society*, vol. 27, pp. 1-21.
- Colic-Peisker, V, Johnson, G & Smith, SJ 2010b, "Pots of gold": housing wealth and economic wellbeing in Australia in SJ Smith & BA Searle (eds.), *The Blackwell companion to the economics of housing: the housing wealth of nations*, Blackwell Publishing, West Sussex, pp.316-38.
- Commissioner for Environmental Sustainability Victoria 2008, *Submission to VCEC Liveability Inquiry*, public submission to the Victorian Competition and Efficiency Commission Inquiry into Enhancing Victoria's Liveability, submission no. 43, 20 February, viewed 1 September 2009, <a href="http://www.vcec.vic.gov.au">http://www.vcec.vic.gov.au</a>>.

- Commonwealth Coordinator-General 2010, Commonwealth Coordinator-General's Progress Report to 31 December 2009: Australian Government Economic Stimulus Plan, Council of Australian Government, Canberra.
- Commonwealth Housing Commission 1944, Commonwealth Housing Commission Final Report, Ministry of Post-War Reconstruction, Canberra.
- Commonwealth of Australia 1988, *Towards a fairer Australia: social justice under Labor*, Australian Government Publication Service, Canberra.
- Commonwealth of Australia 1990, *Ecologically Sustainable Development*, Special Premiers Conference, Brisbane, 30-31 October.
- Commonwealth of Australia and Another v State of Tasmania and Others (1983) 46 ALR 625.
- Commonwealth of Australia Constitution Act 1901.
- Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation 2011, *Climate change*, webpage, viewed 23 June 2013, <a href="http://www.csiro.au">http://www.csiro.au</a>.
- Conley, T 2009, *The vulnerable country: Australia and the global economy*, University of NSW Press, Sydney.
- Conley, T 2011, 'Structural shenanigans in the Australian economy', *Australian Policy Online*, viewed 5 September 2012, < http://inside.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2008/09/Conley2011.pdf>.
- Conservation politics 1986, television program, ABC Television (Nationwide program) Hobart, 15 August, viewed 2 March 2012, <www.abc.net.au>.
- Considine, M & Lewis, JM 2003, 'Bureaucracy, network or enterprise? Comparing models of governance in Australia, Britain, the Netherlands, and New Zealand', *Public Administration Review*, vol. 63, pp. 131-41.
- Considine, M 1994, *Public policy: a critical approach*, Macmillan Education Australia, South Melbourne.
- Considine, M 2005, *Making public policy: institutions, actors, strategies*, Polity Press, Cambridge.
- Coolen, H 2006, 'The meaning of dwellings: an ecological perspective', *Housing, Theory and Society*, vol.23, pp. 185-201.
- Copenhagen negotiations stall 2009, television program (Lateline), ABC Television, Sydney, 14 December.

- Coper, M 1983, The Franklin Dam Case: commentary and full text of the decision in Commonwealth of Australia v State of Tasmania, Butterworths, North Ryde.
- Costello, L 2005, 'From prisons to penthouses: the changing images of high-rise living in Melbourne', *Housing Studies*, vol. 20, pp. 49-62.
- Costello, P (Treasurer) 2006, Launch of the Great Australian Dream project opening speech, House of Representatives alcove, Parliament House, Canberra, 14 August, Australian Government, viewed 5 July 2010, <a href="http://ministers.treasury.gov.au">http://ministers.treasury.gov.au</a>.
- COTA *see* Council for the Ageing.
- Council for the Ageing 2012, *Submission to Senate Select Committee into Energy Prices*, prepared by S. Lilburn & authorised by J. Root, submission no. 57, COTA, Adelaide, September, viewed 2 January 2013, <www.cota.org.au>.
- Council of Australian Governments 1992a, *Communiqué*, Council of Australian Governments, Perth, 7 December, viewed 2 May 2010, <a href="http://www.archive.coag.gov.au">http://www.archive.coag.gov.au</a>.
- Council of Australian Governments 1992b intergovernmental Agreement on the *Environment*, viewed 5 August 2009, <www.environment.gov.au>.
- Council of Australian Governments 2008a, *Communiqué*. Council of Australian Governments', Adelaide, 26 March.
- Council of Australian Governments 2008b Council of Australian Governments Fact Sheet; National Affordable Housing Agreement, COAG, viewed 5 September 2009, <a href="http://www.coag.gov.au">http://www.coag.gov.au</a>.
- Council of Australian Governments 2009a, National Partnership Agreement on the Nation Building and Jobs Plan: Building prosperity for the future and supporting jobs now, COAG, Canberra, viewed 3 August 2009, <a href="http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au">http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au</a>.
- Council of Australian Governments 2009b, Communiqué., COAG, Hobart, 30 April.
- Council of Australian Governments 2009c, Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal Financial Relations: National Affordable Housing Agreement, COAG, Canberra.
- Council of Australian Governments 2009d, *Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal Financial Relations*, COAG, Canberra, viewed 3 August 2009, <a href="http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au">http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au</a>>.

- Council of Australian Governments 2009e, *National Affordable Housing Agreement*, COAG, Canberra, viewed 3 August 2009, <a href="http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au">http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au</a>.
- Council of Australian Governments 2009f, *National Partnership Agreement on Energy Efficiency Intergovernmental Agreement*, COAG, Canberra, viewed 3 August 2009, <a href="http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au">http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au</a>.
- Council of Australian Governments 2009g, *National Partnership Agreement on Homelessness*, COAG, Canberra, viewed 3 August 2009, <a href="http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au">http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au</a>>.
- Council of Australian Governments 2009h, National Partnership Agreement on the Nation Building and Jobs Plan: Building prosperity for the future and supporting jobs now, COAG, Canberra, viewed 3 August 2009, <a href="http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au">http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au</a>.
- Council of Australian Governments 2009i, *National Partnership Agreement on Remote Indigenous Housing*, COAG, Canberra, viewed 3 August 2009, <a href="http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au">http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au</a>>.
- Council of Australian Governments 2009j, *National Partnership Agreement on Social Housing* COAG, Canberra, viewed 5 September 2009, < http://www.coag.gov.au/housing\_and\_homelessness>.
- Council of Australian Governments 2009k, National Strategy on Energy Efficiency COAG, Canberra, viewed 3 August 2009, <a href="http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au">http://www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au</a>.
- Council of Australian Governments 2009l, Special Council of Australian Governments Meeting, Nation Building and Jobs Plan, communiqué, 5 February, Canberra, viewed 5 September 2009, <a href="http://www.coag.gov.au">http://www.coag.gov.au</a>>.
- Crabtree, L & Hes, D 2009, 'Sustainability uptake in metropolitan Australia: an institutional problem, not a technological one', *Housing Studies*, vol.24, pp. 203-24.
- Crabtree, L 2005, 'Sustainable housing development in urban Australia: exploring obstacles to and opportunities for ecocity efforts', *Australian Geographer*, vol.36, pp. 333-50.
- Craig, N 2008, 'Six-star energy rating adds \$10,000 to cost of new house: MBA', *The Age*, 21 November, viewed 9 April 2009, <www.theage.com.au>.
- Crosbie, T 2006, 'Household energy studies: the gap between theory and method', *Energy & Environment*, vol.17, pp. 735-53.

- Crosbie, T, Stokes, M & Guy, S 2008, 'Illuminating household energy demand and the policies for its reduction', *Energy & Environment*, vol.19, pp. 979-93.
- Crowley, R 2009, 'The Hawke legacy: social justice as a right not charity' in G Bloustien, B Comber & A Mackinnon (eds.), *The Hawke legacy*, Wakefield Press, Kent Town, pp.112-21.
- CSIRO see Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation.
- DAHE see Department of Arts, Heritage and Environment.
- Daley, J & Edis, T 2011, 'Markets still the best option to reduce greenhouse gas emissions' *The Australian*, 7 April, p.12.
- Dalton, T 1988, 'Architects, engineers and rent collectors: an organisational history of the commission' in, R Howe (ed.), *Fifty years of public housing in Victoria* 1938 1988, Ministry of Housing and Construction, Melbourne, pp.181-210.
- Dalton, T 2009, 'Housing policy retrenchment: Australia and Canada compared', *Urban Studies*, vol.46, pp. 63-91.
- Dalton, T 2010, 'Housing policy: big problems but well down the agenda' in A McClelland and GFN Smyth (eds.), *Social policy in Australia: understanding for action*, 2 edn, Oxford University Press, Melbourne, pp.176-93.
- Dalton, T, Horne, R, Hafkamp, W & Lee, M 2007, 'Retrofitting the Australian suburbs for sustainability' in A Nelson (ed.), *Steering sustainability in an urbanizing world: policy, practice and performance*, Ashgate, Aldershot, pp.215-25.
- Dalton T, Horne, R & Wakefield, R 2007, 'Greening housing in Australia: a question of institutional capacity', paper presented to European Network for Housing Research conference on sustainable urban areas, 25–28 June, Rotterdam.
- Daly, HE 1996, Beyond growth, Beacon Press, Boston.
- Daniels, N 1975, Reading Rawls: critical studies on Rawls' 'a theory of justice', Basil Blackwell, Oxford.
- Daniels, N 2011, *Reflective equilibrium*, Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophical Ethics, viewed 13 October 2012, <www.plato.stanford.edu>.
- DCC see Department of Climate Change.
- Debelle, G 2010, 'State of the mortgage market', address to Mortgage Innovation Conference, Sydney, 30 March.

- Department of Arts, Heritage and the Environment 1986, *Teachers' guide: a national conservation strategy for Australia*, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- Department of Climate Change 2008a, *Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme Green Paper*, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, viewed 1 February 2009, <www.climatechange.gov.au>.
- Department of Climate Change 2008b, *Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme Green Paper: Summary*, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, viewed 1 February 2009, <www.climatechange.gov.au>.
- Department of Climate Change 2008c, Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme: Australia's Low Pollution Future White Paper, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, viewed 10 February 2009, <www.climatechange.gov.au>.
- Department of Climate Change 2009, Summary: *Key changes to the Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme Legislation*, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, viewed 10 February 2009, <a href="https://www.climatechange.gov.au">www.climatechange.gov.au</a>.
- Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency 2010, *Multi-Party Climate Change Committee: committee members*, viewed 12 January 2011, <a href="http://www.climatechange.gov.au">http://www.climatechange.gov.au</a>.
- Department of Community Services and Health 1989, *Home Ownership: Who misses out and why?* National Housing Policy Review Background Paper No. 2, report prepared by J Yates, Department of Community Services and Health, Canberra.
- Department of Energy, Water, Heritage and the Arts 2008, *Energy use in the Australian residential sector 1986-2020*, DEWHA, Canberra.
- Department of Environment and Heritage 2005, *Energy efficiency considerations for a Rental Property*, Commonwealth of Australia, <a href="www.greenhouse.gov.au">www.greenhouse.gov.au</a>>.
- Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs 2008, *The road home: A aational approach to reducing homelessness*, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, viewed 2 October 2009, <a href="http://www.fahcsia.gov.au">http://www.fahcsia.gov.au</a>.
- Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs 2009, Government Response to 'A good house is hard to find: Housing affordability in Australia' Report by the Senate Select Committee on Housing Affordability in Australia, FaHCSIA, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra.
- Department of Home Affairs and the Environment 1981, National Conservation Strategy for Australia: living resource conservation for sustainable

- *development*, paper prepared for the National Conservation Strategy National Seminar, 30 November–3 December, Canberra.
- Department of Home Affairs and the Environment 1982a, *National Conservation Strategy for Australia: living resource conservation for sustainable development, conference draft*, Australian Government Department of Home Affairs and Environment National Conservation Strategy Task Force, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- Department of Home Affairs and the Environment 1982b, *Towards a national conservation strategy: a discussion paper*, Department of Home Affairs and the Environment, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- Department of Home Affairs and the Environment 1983, *National Conservation Strategy for Australia: Living Resource Conservation for Sustainable Development*, Department of Home Affairs and the Environment, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- Department of Human Services, Victoria, Australia 2010, Victoria working with the Australian Government on Nation Building, Department of Human Services, Melbourne, viewed 12 January 2011, <www.dhs.vic.gov.au>.
- Department of Industry, Tourism and Resources 2006, *Australian Energy: National and State Projections to 2029-30*, ABARE Research Report 06.26, report prepared by C Cvas-cubria & D Riwoe, Australian Bureau of Agriculture and Resource Economics, Canberra.
- Department of Infrastructure & Department of Sustainability and Environment 2005, Victorian Greenhouse Action Plan Update, Department of Infrastructure & Department of Sustainability and Environment, Victorian Government, Melbourne.
- Department of Natural Resources and Environment, Victoria, Australia 2002, *Victorian Greenhouse Strategy*, Department of Natural Resources and the Environment, East Melbourne.
- Department of Planning and Community Development 2010, *Guide to Local Government*, webpage, Department of Planning and Community Development, Melbourne, viewed 2 July 2009, <www.dpcd.vic.gov.au>.
- Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet 2008, *Australia 2020 Summit Final Report*, Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet, Canberra, viewed 5 June 2008, <a href="http://apo.org.au/research/australia-2020-summit-final-report-0">http://apo.org.au/research/australia-2020-summit-final-report-0</a>>.
- Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism 2010, *NatHERS Nationwide House Energy Rating Scheme*, Commonwealth of Australia, viewed 2 February 2011, <a href="http://www.nathers.gov.au">http://www.nathers.gov.au</a>.

- Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and Communities, *The World Heritage Convention*, Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and Communities, Canberra, viewed on 5 September 2012, < http://www.environment.gov.au>.
- Department of Transport, Transport Policy Analysis and Research Unit 2009, *Macro-Urban Form, Transport Energy Use and Greenhouse Gas Emissions: An Investigation for Melbourne*, report prepared by G Alford & J Whiteman, Melbourne, viewed 12 January 2010, <a href="http://www.transport.vic.gov.au">http://www.transport.vic.gov.au</a>
- Department of Treasury 2004, *Recent developments in the Australian housing market Economic Roundup Summer 2003-2004*, report prepared by J Bond, viewed 20 March 2012, <a href="http://www.treasury.gov.au">http://www.treasury.gov.au</a>.
- Department of Treasury 2008, Australia's low pollution future: the economics of climate change mitigation, Department of Treasury, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, viewed 2 May 2009, <www.treasury.gov.au>.
- Department of Treasury 2010, Australia to 2050: future challenges intergenerational report 2010, Department of Treasury, Canberra.
- Department of Treasury and Finance 2009, *Budget Paper 3: Service Delivery 2009-10*, 2009-10 Victorian State Budget Papers, DTF, Melbourne.
- Department of Treasury and Finance 2010, *Budget Paper 3: Service Delivery 2010-11*, DTF, Melbourne, viewed 2 June 2010, <www.budget.vic.gov.au>.
- DHAE see Department of Home Affairs and the Environment.
- Dierksmeier, C 2006, 'John Rawls on the rights of future generations' in JC Tremmel (ed.), *Handbook of intergenerational justice*, Edward Elgar Publishing, Cheltenham, pp.72-85.
- Dietz, S & Neumayer, E 2007, 'Weak and strong sustainability in the SEEA: Concepts and measurement', *Ecological Economics*, vol. 61, pp. 617-26.
- DNRE see Department of Natural Resources and the Environment.
- Dobson, A 1996, 'Environmental sustainabilities: an analysis and a typology', *Environmental Politics*, vol.5, pp. 401-28.
- Dobson, A 1998, Justice and the environment: conceptions of environmental sustainability and theories of distributive justice, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Dobson, A 1999, Fairness and futurity: essays on environmental sustainability and social justice, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

- Dodson, J 2006, Rolling the state: government, neoliberalism and housing assistance in four advanced economies, Research Paper 7, Griffith University Urban Research Program, Nathan, Queensland, viewed 7 November 2008, <www.griffith.edu.au>.
- Dodson, J 2007, Government discourse and housing, Ashgate, Aldershot, Hants.
- Dodson, J & Sipe, N 2008a, 'Shocking the suburbs: urban location, home ownership and oil vulnerability in the Australian city', *Housing Studies*, vol. 23, pp. 377-401.
- Dodson, J & Sipe, N 2008b, *Shocking the suburbs: oil vulnerability in the Australian suburb*, University of New South Wales Press, Sydney.
- DPMC see Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet.
- Dresner, S 2008, *The principles of sustainability*, Earthscan, London.
- DSEWPC *see* Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and Communities.
- Dunham I 2010, *Our common future*, viewed 26 February 2010, <a href="http://www.ourcommonfuture.org">http://www.ourcommonfuture.org</a>
- Easterling, DR & Wehner, M 2009, 'Is the climate warming or cooling?' *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 36, L08706.
- Eather, W 1988, 'We only build houses: the Commission 1945-60' in R Howe (ed.), *New houses for old: fifty years of public housing in Victoria 1938-1988*, Ministry of Housing and Construction, Melbourne, pp.69-94.
- Ecologically Sustainable Development Steering Committee 1992a, *Draft National Strategy for Ecologically Sustainable Development: A Discussion Paper*, Ecologically Sustainable Development Steering Committee, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- Ecologically Sustainable Development Steering Committee 1992b, *National Strategy* for Ecologically Sustainable Development, viewed 5 September 2010, <a href="http://www.environment.gov.au/about/esd/publications/strategy/intro.html">http://www.environment.gov.au/about/esd/publications/strategy/intro.html</a>>.
- Economou, N 1993, 'Accordism and the environment: the Resource Assessment Commission and national environmental policy-making', *Australian Journal of Political Science*, vol.28, pp. 399-412.

- Economou, N 1999, 'Backwards into the future: national policy-making, devolution and the rise and fall of the environment' in KJ Walker & K Crowley (eds.), *Australian environmental policy 2: studies in decline and devolution*, University of New South Wales Press, Sydney, pp. 65-80.
- Edwards, J 1993, 'Economic history and economic policy: assessing Paul Keating's eight years as Treasurer', *Australian Economic History Review*, vol. XXXIII, pp.29-41.
- Ellison, N & Burrows, R 2007, 'New spaces of (dis)engagement? Social politics, urban technologies and the rezoning of the city', *Housing Studies*, vol.22, pp. 295-312.
- ESDSC see Ecologically Sustainable Development Steering Committee.
- Eslake, S 2011, 'Billions in handouts but nothing gained', *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 16 March, viewed 23 March 2012, <www.smh.com.au>.
- ETS postponed by Rudd Government 2010, television program (The 7:30 Report), ABC Television, Sydney, 27 April.
- FaHCSIA *see* Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs.
- Falk, J & Settle, D 2011, 'Australia: approaching an energy crossroads', *Energy Policy*, vol.39, no. 11, pp. 6804-31.
- Farber, Daniel A 2010, 'Adaptation and Climate Justice' in Bonyhady, T, Macintosh, A, McDonald, J (eds.), *Adaptation to Climate Change: Law and Policy*, The Federation Press, Annandale, pp. 202-14.
- Farrar, A 2009, 'From public to not-for-profit: the transformation of the social housing system', *Reform*, no. 94, pp. 10-13.
- Field, BC & Field, MK 2006, Environmental economics: an introduction, McGraw-Hill, Boston.
- Flood, J & Yates, J 1989, 'Housing subsidies and income distribution', *Housing Studies*, vol.4, pp. 193-210.
- Franklin, M 2009a, 'Tony Abbott favourite to wrest leadership', *The Australian*, 28 November, viewed 23 May 2012, <www.theaustralian.com.au/politics>.
- Franklin, M 2009b, 'Tony Abbott's tax-free carbon plan', *The Australian*, 3 December, viewed 6 April 2013, <www.theaustralian.com.au/politics>.

- Franklin, M 2011, 'We are the party of the people: Julia Gillard', *The Australian*, 1 April, viewed 5 September 2012, <www.theaustralian.com.au/national-affairs>.
- Freeman, SR 2007, Rawls, Routledge, Abingdon.
- Friedman, M 2009, Capitalism and freedom (40th anniversary edition), The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Fuller, R, de Jong, U & Mellersh-Lucas, S 2008, 'The ethics of sustainable housing design: The dilemma for practising architects', *Architectural Science Review*, vol.51, pp. 231-8.
- Gabriel, M, Jacobs, K, Arthurson, K, Burke, T & Yates, J 2005, Conceptualising and measuring the housing affordability problem, National Research Venture 3: Housing Affordability for Lower Income Australians, Research Paper 1, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Gabriel, M, Watson, P, Ong, R, Wood, G & Wulff, M 2010a, *The environmental sustainability of Australia's private rental stock*, AHURI Positioning Paper no.125, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Gabriel, M, Watson, P, Ong, R, Wood, G & Wulff, M 2010b, *The environmental sustainability of Australia's private rental housing stock*, AHURI Research & Policy Bulletin, no. 145, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Gardiner, SM 2011a, 'Rawls and climate change: does Rawlsian political philosophy pass the global test?' *Critical Review of International Social and Political Philosophy*, vol.14, pp. 125-51.
- Gardiner, SM 2011b, A perfect moral storm: the ethical tragedy of climate change, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Garnaut Climate Change Review 2007, *Garnaut Climate Change Review Terms of Reference*, Garnaut Climate Change Review, viewed 4 November 2008, <a href="http://www.garnautreview.org.au">http://www.garnautreview.org.au</a>.
- Garnaut Climate Change Review 2008a, *Draft Report Garnaut Climate Change Review*, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, viewed 5 October 2009, <a href="http://www.garnautreview.org.au">http://www.garnautreview.org.au</a>.
- Garnaut Climate Change Review 2008b, *Emissions Trading Scheme Discussion Paper*, viewed 11 March 2009, <a href="http://www.garnautreview.org.au">http://www.garnautreview.org.au</a>.
- Garnaut Climate Change Review 2008c, Summary of the Garnaut Climate Change Review Final Report, presentation, Commonwealth of Australia, 30 September, viewed 4 November 2008, <a href="http://www.garnautreview.org.au">http://www.garnautreview.org.au</a>.

- Garnaut Climate Change Review 2008d, *Targets and Trajectories: Supplementary Draft Report*, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, viewed 5 October 2009, <a href="http://www.garnautreview.org.au">http://www.garnautreview.org.au</a>.
- Garnaut Climate Change Review 2008e, *The Garnaut Climate Change Review Final Report*, Cambridge University Press, Melbourne.
- Garnaut, R 2008, 'Australia counts itself out', *The Age*, 20 December, p.21.
- Garnaut, R 2010, 'Climate change, China booms and Australia's governance struggle in a changing world', Hamer Oration, University of Melbourne, Parkville.
- Garnaut R 2011, The Garnaut Review 2011: Australia in the global response to climate change, Cambridge University Press, Port Melbourne, Victoria.
- Garnaut's assessment of climate plan 'offensive' 2008, television program (ABC News), ABC Television, Sydney, 20 December.
- Garrett, P (Minister for Environment, Heritage and the Arts) 2010, *Significant changes to Commonwealth environmental programs*, media release, Canberra, 19 February, Australian Solar Manufacturing, viewed 5 September 2011, <a href="http://www.australiansolarmanufacturing.com.au">http://www.australiansolarmanufacturing.com.au</a>.
- GCCR *see* Garnaut Climate Change Review.
- Giddens, A 1990, *The consequences of modernity*, Stanford University Press, California.
- Gill, R 2000, 'Discourse analysis' in MW Bauer & G Gaskell (eds.), *Qualitative* researching with text, image and sound, Sage, London, pp.172-90.
- Gillard, J (Prime Minister) 2011, 'Walking the reform road', Gough Whitlam Oration, University of Western Sydney, 31 march, viewed 2 January 2013, <a href="http://www.uws.edu.au/nuws/cl/past\_stories/march\_to\_may\_2011/walking\_the\_reform\_road\_prime\_minister\_julia\_gillard">http://www.uws.edu.au/nuws/cl/past\_stories/march\_to\_may\_2011/walking\_the\_reform\_road\_prime\_minister\_julia\_gillard</a>.
- Glazyrina, I, Glazyrin, V and Vinnichenko, S 2006, 'The polluter pays principle and potential conflicts in society', *Ecological Economics*, vol. 59, issue 3, pp. 324-30.
- Glover, D 2012, 'Hawke-Keating era saw Labor begin to lose its way', *The Australian*, 15 February, viewed 4 September 2012, <www.theaustralian.com.au>.

- Gosseries, A & Meyer, LH 2009, 'Introduction intergenerational justice and its challenges' in A Gosseries & LH Meyer (eds.) *Intergenerational justice*, Oxford University Press, New York, pp.1-21.
- Government to overhaul public housing 2007, radio program, ABC Radio, Sydney, 26 July, transcript viewed 5 June 2009, <a href="http://www.abc.net.au">http://www.abc.net.au</a>.
- Graham, N 2011, Lawscape: property, environment, law, Routledge, Milton Park.
- Grattan, M 2008, 'Garnaut slams climate plan', *The Age*, 20 December, p.1.
- Grattan, M 2009, 'Turnbull on a Crusade', The Age, 23 July, p.13.
- Grattan, M 2011, 'First step on carbon tightrope', *The Age*, 25 February, viewed 5 August 2011, <www.smh.com.au>.
- Grattan, M 2011, 'Gleeful Libs pounce on ETS admission', *The Age*, 2nd ed., 6 April, p.5.
- Green, F 2011, *A clean energy future for whom?* Inside Story, 13 July, viewed 5 May 2012, <a href="http://inside.org.au">http://inside.org.au</a>.
- Greig, A 1995, The stuff dreams are made of: housing provision in Australia 1945-1960, Melbourne University Press, Melbourne.
- Groarke, L 2011, *Moral reasoning: rediscovering the ethical tradition*, Oxford University Press, Ontario.
- Guo, J, Hepburn, CJ, Tol, RSJ, & Anthoff, D 2006, 'Discounting and the social cost of carbon: a closer look at uncertainty', *Environmental Science & Policy*, vol. 9. pp.205-16.
- Guthrie, CT & Nelson, DA 1995, 'Influence of temperature changes on multiple sclerosis: critical review of mechanisms and research potential', *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, vol.129, pp.1-8.
- Guy, S 2006, Designing urban knowledge: competing perspectives on energy and buildings', *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, vol.24, pp. 645-59.
- Guy, S & Moore, SA 2006, 'Sustainable architecture and the pluralist imagination', *Journal of Architectural Education*, vol.60, pp. 15-23.
- Habermas, J 1999, 'The inclusion of the other: studies in political theory', C Cronin & P De Greiff (eds.), MIT Press, Cambridge MA.

- Hackett, B & Leutzenhiser, L 1991, 'Social structures and economic conduct: interpreting variations in household energy consumption', *Sociological Forum*, vol.6, pp. 449-70.
- Hall, J & Berry, M 2004, Operating deficits and public housing: policy options for reversing the trend, AHURI Final Report no. 55, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Hall, J & Berry, M 2007, Operating deficits and public housing: policy options for reversing the trend: 2005/06 update, AHURI Final Report no.106, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute RMIT-NATSEM Research Centre, AHURI, Melbourne.
- Hamilton, C 2007, Scorcher: the dirty politics of climate change, Black Ink, Melbourne.
- Hammersley, M 1995, Is social research political? The politics of social research, Sage, London, pp.100-18.
- Hansen, JE 2007 'Scientific reticence and sea level rise', *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 2, L024002, pp. 1-6.
- Hansmeyer, KH 1980, "Polluter Pays" v. "Public Responsibility", *Environmental Policy and Law*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 23-4.
- Harcourt, T 2001, 'Coping with globalisation: Australian economic policy and the third way in P Arestis & M Sawyer (eds.), *The economics of the third way:* experiences from around the world, Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, pp.201-20.
- Harris, B 2004, *Essential constitutional law*, Cavendish Publishing Pty Limited, Sydney.
- Harris, D 1988, 'Housing reform and Fisherman's Bend 1900-1913', *Urban Policy and Research*, vol.6, pp. 119-23.
- Harrison, M 2004, 'Defining housing quality and environment: disability, standards and social factors', *Housing Studies*, vol.19, pp. 691-708.
- Hawke A 2010, Review of the administration of the Home Insulation Program,
  Department of Climate Change, Canberra, viewed 14 May 2010,
  <a href="http://www.climatechange.gov.au">http://www.climatechange.gov.au</a>>.
- Hawke, B 1989, *Our Country Our Future: Statement on the Environment/ the Hon. R.J.L. Hawke, A.C. Prime Minister*, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- Hayek, FA 1960, *The constitution of liberty*, Routledge & Kegan Paul, London.

- HEC see Hydro-Electric Commission.
- Henry K, 2009, Australia's future tax system: Report to the Treasurer. Part One Overview, Department of Treasury, Canberra.
- Hicks, P 1988, "And let our motto be excelsior": Melbourne City Council's health and housing administration, 1888-1918, *Urban Policy and Research*, vol.6, pp. 99-105.
- Hill, M 1997, The policy process in the modern state, Prentice Hall, Essex.
- Hodgkinson, D & Garner, R 2008, *Global climate change: Australian law and policy*, LexisNexis Butterworths, Chatswood.
- Holland, A 1994, 'Natural capital' in R Attfiield & A Belsey (eds.), *Philosophy and the natural environment*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 169-82.
- Holland, A 1996, 'Substitutability: why strong sustainability is weak and absurdly strong sustainability is not absurd' in J. Foster (ed.), *Valuing Nature? Economics, Ethics and the Environment*, Routledge, London, pp. 119-34.
- Holland, A 1999, 'Sustainability: should we start from here?' in A Dobson (ed.), *Fairness and futurity*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 46-7.
- Hollier, N 2006, From hope to disillusion? A literary and cultural history of the Whitlam period, 1966-1975, Victoria University, Melbourne.
- Holst, H 2006, 'Slums and land', *Parity*, vol. 19, no. 10, pp.6-7.
- Horne, D 2009, *The Lucky Country*, 6th edn., Penguin, Camberwell.
- Horne, R, Morrissey, J, O'Leary, T, Berry, M, Hamnett, S, Kellett, J & Irvine, S 2008, *Lifetime affordable housing in Australia assessing life-cycle costs*, Centre for Design, RMIT University, Melbourne.
- House of Representatives Standing Committee on Economics, Finance and Public Administration 2007, *Home loan lending: inquiry into home loan lending practices and the processes used to deal with people in financial difficulty*, Parliament of Australia, Canberra, viewed 1 September 2009, <a href="http://www.aph.gov.au">http://www.aph.gov.au</a>.
- 'Housing Assistance (Form of Agreement) Determination 2003' 2003, *Commonwealth of Australian Gazette*, No S 276, cat. no. 27603, 17 July, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra.

- Housing Industry Association 2005, *HIA Submission: VCEC Inquiry into Regulation of the Housing Construction Sector and Related Issues*, public submission to the Victorian Competition and Efficiency Commission Inquiry into Housing Construction Sector and Related Issues, submission no. 58, viewed 2 October 2009, <a href="http://www.vcec.vic.gov.au">http://www.vcec.vic.gov.au</a>.
- Housing Industry Association 2011, Carbon tax + residential building, Housing Institute of Australia, viewed 5 September 2011, <a href="http://hia.com.au">http://hia.com.au</a>.
- Housing Ministers' Conference 2009a, *Communiqué*, Housing Ministers' Conference, Melbourne, 5 March.
- Housing Ministers' Conference 2009b, *Implementing the National Housing Reforms:*A progress report to the Council of Australian Governments from Commonwealth, State and Territory Housing Ministers, published by the Victorian Department of Human Services, Melbourne, viewed 2 March 2010, <a href="http://www.dhs.vic.gov.au">http://www.dhs.vic.gov.au</a>.
- Housing Ministers' Conference 2010, *Communiqué: Progress on Housing Ministers' Reforms*, Housing Ministers' Conference, Canberra, 12 February.
- Housing Registrar 2007, *Our Regulatory Framework*, webpage, Victorian Government, Melbourne, viewed 1 April 2010, <www.housingregistrar.vic.gov.au>.
- Housing Registrar 2010, *About us*, webpage, viewed 1 April 2010, <www.housingregistrar.vic.gov.au>.
- Howard, J 1997, Safeguarding the future: Australia's response to climate change. Statement by the Prime Minister of Australia, the Hon John Howard MP, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra.
- Howe, B 1997, 'Housing for the twenty-first century: building on Barnett', Fourth Oswald F. Barnett Oration, St John's Southgate: Ecumenical Housing Corporation, Melbourne.
- Howe, B 2009, 'Work in progress: developing new directions for affordable housing policy in the Hawke/Keating government' in G Bloustien, B Comber & A Mackinnon (eds.), *The Hawke legacy*, Wakefield Press, Kent Town.
- Howes, M 2009, 'A climate of change: ecological modernisation and the politics of carbon trading in Australia', paper presented to Australasian Political Studies Association Conference, Macquarie University, Sydney, 27-30 September.
- HRSCEFPA *see* House of Representatives Standing Committee on Economics, Finance and Public Administration.

- Hulchanski, JD 1995, 'The concept of housing affordability: six contemporary uses of the housing expenditure-to-income ratio', *Housing Studies*, vol.10, pp. 471-91.
- Hulchanski, JD 2002, 'Housing policy for tomorrow's cities', *Canadian Policy Research Network*, viewed 5 June 2009, <a href="http://www.urbancentre.utoronto.ca">http://www.urbancentre.utoronto.ca</a>.
- Hulchanski, JD 2005, 'Rethinking Canada's housing affordability challenge', Canadian Housing Framework Initiative, Centre for Urban and Community Studies, University of Toronto, viewed 5 June 2009, < http://homeless.samhsa.gov >.
- Hulse, K & Saugeres, L 2008, *Housing insecurity and precarious living: an Australian exploration*, AHURI Final Report no. 124, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Hunt, A & Watkins, P, 2011, 'Climate change impacts and adaptation in cities: a review of literature', *Climatic Change*, vol. 104, no. 1, pp. 13-49.
- Hydro-Electric Commission of Tasmania 1979, Report on the Gordon River Power Development, HEC, Hobart.
- Industry Commission 1993, *Public Housing: Industry Commission Inquiry Report*, Report no. 34, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra, 11 November, viewed 2 February 2011, <www.pc.gov.au>.
- IPCC see International Panel on Climate Change
- International Panel on Climate Change 2007a, 'Climate change 2007: summary for policymakers' in S Solomon, D Qin, M Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M.Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.), *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis*, Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- International Panel on Climate Change 2007b, Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report, IPCC, Valencia.
- International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources 1980, World Conservation Strategy, International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources, Gland, Swizerland.
- Irvine, J 2009, 'It's bricks and slaughter out there', *The Sydney Morning Herald*, National Times, 22 April, viewed 5 April 2010, <www.smh.com.au>.
- IUCN see International Union for the Conservation of Nature.

- Jacobs, K & Atkinson, R 2008, 'Special issue: theoretical concerns in Australian housing and urban research', *Housing, Theory and Society*, vol.25, pp. 157-63.
- Jacobs, K 1999, Key themes and future prospects: conclusion to the special issue', *Urban Studies*, vol.36, pp. 202-13.
- Jacobs, K, Natalier, K, Berry M, Seelig, T & Slater, M 2007, 'Band-aid or panacea? The role of private rental support programs in addressing access problems in the Australian housing market', *Housing Studies*, vol.22, pp. 901-19.
- Jacobs, M 1991, *The green economy*, Pluto, London.
- Jacobs, M 1999, 'Sustainable development as a contested concept' in A Dobson (ed.), Fairness and futurity: essays on environmental sustainability and social justice, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 21-45.
- Judith Brett on Robert Menzies' Speech, 'The Forgotten People' 2007, radio program (Lingua Franca), ABC Radio, Sydney, 17 February, transcript viewed 5 September 2012, <a href="http://www.abc.net.au">http://www.abc.net.au</a>.
- Julia Gillard meets the people 2011, television program (Q&A), ABC Television, Sydney.
- Jupp, J 2007, From White Australia to Woomera, Cambridge University Press, Port Melbourne.
- Kant, I 2009, *Groundwork of the metaphysic of morals*, Harper Perennial Modern Thought, New York.
- Kates, RW 2000, 'Cautionary tales: Adaptation and the global poor', *Climatic Change*, vol. 45, pp. 5-17.
- Keating, P 1987, 'Budget Speech 1987-88', delivered on 15 September on the Second Reading of the Appropriation Bill (No.1) 1987-88, House of Representatives, Canberra.
- Keating, P 2011 After words, Allen & Unwin, Crows Nest.
- Kelly, P 1992, *The end of certainty: The story of the 1980s*, Allen & Unwin, St. Leonards.
- Kelly, P 2007, 'Green light on the hill is hard to miss' *The Australian*, 11 March, viewed 5 March 2009, <www.theaustralian.com.au >.
- Kemeny, J 1983, *The great Australian nightmare: a critique of the home ownership ideology*, Georgian House, Melbourne.

- Kemeny, J 1992, *Housing and social theory*, Routledge, London.
- Kemp, D (Minister for Environment and Heritage 2003, *Beyond Kyoto Climate Change* Conference, media release, Canberra, 28 February, viewed12 February 2013, <a href="http://parlinfo.aph.gov.au">http://parlinfo.aph.gov.au</a>>.
- Kerin, J 1990, 'Development and the environment: making decisions we can live with', *Canberra Bulletin of Public Administration*, vol. 62, pp. 18-22.
- Kevin Rudd attacks 'Climate Change Sceptics' 2009, radio program (PM program), ABC Radio, Sydney, 6 November, transcript viewed 5 February 2010, <www.abc.net.au>.
- Kevin, T 2009, Crunch time: using and abusing Keynes to fight the twin crises of our era, Scribe, Brunswick.
- King, P 2003, A social philosophy of housing, Ashgate, Aldershot.
- King, P 2005, *The common place: the ordinary experience of housing*, Ashgate, Aldershot.
- King, P 2008a, 'Editorial: housing for the poor: the role of government', *Economic Affairs*, vol.28, pp. 2-4.
- King, P 2008b, 'No choice: reforming social housing in England', *Economic Affairs*, vol.28, pp. 37-41.
- King, P 2008c, *In dwelling: implacability, exclusion and acceptance*, Ashgate Aldershot.
- King, P 2009, 'Using theory or making theory: can there be theories of housing? *Housing, Theory and Society,* vol.26, pp. 41-52.
- Kirk, S 1993, 'States' "Power Cowboys" Attacked', *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 7 July, p.6, viewed 17 March 2010, < www.smh.com.au>.
- Kitney, G 2009, 'Climate for Change', *The Australian Financial Review*, 28 November, p.19.
- Klein, H 2005, Neighbourhood Renewal in Victoria: Transforming Places, Empowering People, paper presented at the International Conference on Engaging Communities conference, Brisbane Convention and Exhibition Centre, 14-17 August, viewed 12 February 2013, <a href="http://www.engagingcommunities2005.org">http://www.engagingcommunities2005.org</a>.
- Knox, H 1989, 'The Building Code of Australia a simple uniform system of regulation', *Australian Construction Law Newsletter*, no. 5, item 6, p. 8.

- Kroehn, M, Hutson, K, Faulkner D, & Beer, A 2007, *The housing careers of persons with a disability and family members with care responsibilities for persons with a disability*, National Research Venture 2: 21st century housing careers and Australia's housing future, research paper, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Krugman, P 2008, *The return of depression economics and the crisis of 2008*, Penguin London.
- Kuklys, W 2005, Amartya Sen's capability approach: theoretical insights and empirical applications, Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Lamont, C 2008, 'Housing affordability crisis: fact or fiction', *The Australian Economic Review*, vol. 41, pp. 194-9.
- Landler, M & Cooper, H 2010, 'After a Bitter Campaign, Forging an Alliance', *The New York Times*, New York ed., 19 March, viewed 24 May 2012, <www.nytimes.com>.
- Lauder, S 2009, Australians the 'world's worst polluters', The World Today, ABC News Online, 11 September, viewed 23 June 2011 <a href="http://www.abc.net.au">http://www.abc.net.au</a>
- Le Grand, C 2010, 'Confusion and fear for jobs set voters against mining levy', *The Australian*, June 28, p.6.
- Leckie, S 1989, The UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the right to adequate housing: towards an appropriate approach', *Human Rights Quarterly*, vol. 11, no .4, pp. 522-60.
- Lehning, PB 2009, *John Rawls: an introduction*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Liew, R 2011, 'Carbon tax will hit new homes', The *Australian Financial Review*, first edn., 7 July, p.50, viewed 5 June 2012, <www.afr.com >.
- Liitig, B & Griebler, E 2005, 'Social sustainability: a catchword between political pragmatism and social theory', *International Journal of Sustainable Development*, vol.8, pp. 65-79.
- Lines, WJ 2006, *Patriots: defending Australia's natural heritage*, University of Queensland Press, St Lucia.
- Lomborg, B 2001, *The skeptical environmentalist: measuring the real state of the world*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Lovell, H 2004, 'Framing sustainable housing as a solution to climate change', Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, vol.6, pp. 35-55.

- Lovell, H 2005, 'Supply and demand for low energy housing in the UK: insights from a science and technology studies approach', *Housing Studies*, vol. 20, pp. 815-29.
- Lovell, H 2008, 'Discourse and innovation journeys: the case of low energy housing in the UK', *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, vol. 20, pp. 613-32.
- Low, N 2005, *The green city: sustainable homes, sustainable suburbs*, University of New South Wales Press, Sydney.
- Lowe, D 1984, *The price of power: the politics behind the Tasmanian dams case*, Macmillan, South Melbourne.
- Lowe, I 1989, Living in the greenhouse: what to expect, what to do, Scribe Publications, Newham.
- Lowe, R 2007a, 'Addressing the challenges of climate change for the built environment' (editorial), *Building Research & Information*, vol. 35, pp. 343-50.
- Lowe, R 2007b, 'Technical options and strategies for decarbonizing UK housing', *Building Research & Information*, vol. 35, pp. 412-25.
- MacCallum, M 2009, 'Australian Story: Kevin Rudd and the lucky country', *Quarterly Essay 36*, December, pp.1-68.
- Macdonald, I (Minister for Fisheries, Forestry and Conservation), Macfarlane, I (Minister for the Environment and Heritage) & Campbell, I (Minister for the Environment and Heritage) 2005, *Proposed 'five-star' energy ratings seriously flawed*, joint media release, DAFF05/235MJ, Parliament House, Canberra, 2 December, viewed 10 June 2009, <a href="http://parlinfo.aph.gov.au">http://parlinfo.aph.gov.au</a>.
- MacFarlane, I 2006, *The Search for Stability* 2006, radio program (*The Boyer Lectures*), ABC Radio, Sydney, 12 November–7 December, transcript viewed 5 July 2012, <a href="http://www.abc.net.au">http://www.abc.net.au</a>.
- Macintosh, A, Wilkinson, D & Denniss, R 2010, 'Climate change' in C Aulich & M Evans (eds.), *The Rudd Government: Australian Commonwealth Administration* 2007–2010, ANU E Press Canberra, viewed 11 March 2013, <www.epress.anu.edu.au >.
- MacIntyre, A 1988, Whose justice? Whose rationality? Duckworth, London.
- Maclennan, D 2005, *Housing policies: new times, new foundations*, paper commissioned by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, viewed 3 May 2010, <a href="http://www.cprn.org">http://www.cprn.org</a>.

- Maclennan, D 2008, 'Trunks, tails, and elephants: modernising housing policies', *European Journal of Housing Policy*, vol.8, pp.423-40.
- Maher, S & Ferguson, J 2011, 'Survey reveals voters' fears carbon tax will lead to job losses', *The Australian*, 6 April, p.4.
- Mancuso, R 2007, 'Rudd promises to ease housing affordability crisis', *Australian Associated Press Financial News Wire*, 2 July, viewed 5 June 2009, <a href="http://global.factiva.com.ezproxy.lib.rmit.edu.au/ha/default.aspx">http://global.factiva.com.ezproxy.lib.rmit.edu.au/ha/default.aspx</a>>.
- Manne, R 2010, 'Is neo-liberalism finished?' in R Manne & D McKnight (eds.), Goodbye to all that?: on the failure of neo-liberalism and the urgency of change, Black Ink Agenda, Melbourne, pp. 11-38.
- Marcuse, P 1998, 'Sustainability is not enough', *Environment and Urbanization*, vol. 10, pp. 103-11.
- Marks, GN & Sedgwick, ST 2008, 'Is there a housing affordability crisis? The incidence and persistence of housing stress 2001-2006', *The Australian Economic Review*, vol.41, pp.215-21.
- Marshall, C & Rossman, G 1999, 'The "what" of the study: building the conceptual framework' in C Marshall & G Rossman (eds.), *Designing qualitative research*, Sage, Thousand Oaks California, pp. 21-54.
- Martin, P 2009, 'Home truths: Australia trumps US when it comes to McMansions', *Sydney Morning Herald*, National, 30 November, viewed 30 December 2011, < www.smh.com.au >.
- Master Builders Association 2005, Submission to the Productivity Commission On the Draft Report Into Energy Efficiency, public submission to the Australian Productivity Commission Inquiry into the Private Cost-Effectiveness of Improving Energy Efficiency, submission no. 9, viewed 3 March 2009, <a href="http://www.pc.gov.au/projects/inquiry/energy/docs/submissions">http://www.pc.gov.au/projects/inquiry/energy/docs/submissions</a>>.
- Master Builders Association of Victoria 2008, *Submission to the Liveability Inquiry*, public submission to the Victorian Competition and Efficiency Commission Inquiry into Enhancing Victoria's Liveability, submission no. 40, viewed 3 January 2009, <a href="http://www.vcec.vic.gov.au/">http://www.vcec.vic.gov.au/</a>.
- MBA see Master Builders' Association.
- MBAV see Master Builders' Association of Victoria.
- McCormick, J 1986, 'The origins of the World Conservation Strategy', *Environmental Review, vol.* 10, pp. 177-87.

- McDermont, M 2004, 'Housing associations, the creation of communities and power relations', *Housing Studies*, vol. 19, pp. 855-74.
- McDonald, I 2010, 'Mapping the Legal Landscape of Climate change Adaptation' in Bonyhady, Macintosh, McDonald (eds.), *Adaptation to Climate Change*, Federation Press, Annandale, pp. 1-29.
- McDonald, M 2005, 'Fair weather friend? Ethics and Australia's approach to global climate change', *Australian Journal of Politics and History*, vol.51, pp. 216-34.
- McIntosh, G & Phillips, J 2001, *The Commonwealth-State Housing Agreement Parliament of Australia*, E-brief, Parliament of Australia Parliamentary Library, viewed 6 May 2010, <a href="http://www.aph.gov.au/">http://www.aph.gov.au/</a>>.
- McManus, G & Jean, P 2008, 'Barnaby Joyce slams Garnaut climate recommendations', *The Herald Sun*, 22 February, viewed 3 April 2009, < www.news.com.au>.
- Megalogenis, G 2010, 'Trivial pursuit: leadership and the end of the reform era', *Quarterly Essay 40*, December, pp. 1-84.
- Megalogenis, G 2012, The Australian Moment, Viking, Camberwell.
- Menzies, R 2012 (1942), 'The Forgotten People' in Manne, R & Feik, C (eds.) *The words that made Australia: how a nation came to know itself*, Black Inc. Agenda, Collingwood, pp.72-9.
- Meyer, L 2010, 'Intergenerational Justice', *Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, Stanford, the Metaphysics Research Lab, Center for the Study of Language and Information, viewed 11 May 2011, <a href="http://plato.stanford.edu/archives">http://plato.stanford.edu/archives</a>>.
- Millar, R 2007, 'The power of the HIA', *The Age*, 27 October, viewed 10 September 2010, < www.theage.com.au>.
- Miners furious about Henry Tax review 2010, radio program (AM), ABC Radio, Sydney, 3 May, transcript viewed 24 May 2012, <a href="http://www.abc.net.au">http://www.abc.net.au</a>.
- Ministry for Planning and Environment 1984, *Draft state conservation strategy for Victoria: overview statement for public comment*, Ministry for Planning and Environment, East Melbourne.
- Moore, M & Cummins, C 2011, 'McMansions downsized as buyers realise small is good', *The Age online*, 11 August, <www.theage.com.au>.
- Moore, T 2010, 'What's the difference? Quite a lot, it seems', *Brisbane Times*, 20 August, <www.brisbanetimes.com.au>.

- MPEV *see* Ministry of Planning and Environment.
- NAHS *see* National Affordable Housing Summit.
- National Affordable Housing Summit 2007a, 'A National Affordable Housing Agreement: scope, terminology and targets', background paper 1, paper prepared for Round Table on Developing a National Affordable Housing Agreement, Canberra.
- National Affordable Housing Summit 2007b, 'Introduction', paper prepared for Round Table on Developing a National Affordable Housing Agreement, Canberra.
- National Affordable Housing Summit 2007c, 'National Affordable Housing Agreement: elements of a possible statement of objectives and outcomes', paper prepared for Round Table on Developing a National Affordable Housing Agreement, Canberra.
- National Emissions Trading Taskforce 2006, *Possible design for a national greenhouse gas emissions trading scheme*, discussion paper, National Emissions Trading Taskforce, Canberra, viewed 28 July 2010, < www.climatechange.gov.au>.
- National Emissions Trading Taskforce 2007, *Possible design for a national greenhouse gas emissions trading scheme: final framework report on scheme design*, National Emissions Trading Taskforce, Canberra, viewed 28 July 2010, <www.climatechange.gov.au>.
- National Greenhouse Steering Committee 1992, National Greenhouse Response Strategy, National Greenhouse Steering Committee of the Council of Australian Governments, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- National Housing Strategy 1991a, *The affordability of Australian housing*, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- National Housing Strategy 1991b, *The efficient supply of affordable land and housing: the urban challenge. National Housing Strategy, Issues Paper 4*, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- National Housing Strategy 1992a, *National Housing Strategy: agenda for action*, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- National Housing Strategy 1992b, *National Housing Strategy: summary of papers*, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- National Housing Supply Council 2009, *National Housing Supply Council State of Supply Report*, National Housing Supply Council, Canberra.

- National Housing Supply Council 2010, *National Housing Supply Council Second State of Supply Report*, National Housing Supply Council, Canberra, viewed 2 March 2011, <www.nhsc.org>.
- National Housing Supply Council 2011, *National Housing Supply Council Third State of Supply Report*, National Housing Supply Council, Canberra.
- National Inquiry into the Separation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Children from their Families 1997, *Bringing them home* (Sir Ronald Wilson, President), Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission, Sydney.
- Ndubueze, O 2007, 'Measuring housing affordability: a composite approach', paper presented to European Network for Housing Research conference on sustainable urban areas, Rotterdam, 25-28 June.
- NETT see National Emissions Trading Taskforce.
- Neumayer, E 2007, 'A missed opportunity: the Stern Review on Climate Change fails to tackle the issue of non-substitutable loss of natural capital', *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 17, pp. 297-301.
- Neumayer, E 2010, Weak versus strong sustainability: exploring the limits of two opposing paradigms, 3rd edn., Edward Elgar Publishing, Cheltenham.
- Newman, P, Beatley, T & Boyer, H 2009, Resilient cities: responding to peak oil and climate change, Island Press, Washington.
- NHS *see* National Housing Strategy.
- Nussbaum, M 2002, 'Beyond the social contract: towards global justice', Tanner Lectures on Human Values, Australian National University, Canberra, 12-13 November.
- Nussbaum, MC 2006, Frontiers of justice: disability, nationality, species membership, The Belknap Press, Cambridge.
- O'Riordan, T 1996, 'Democracy and the sustainability transition' in WM Laffertyand J Meadowcroft (eds.), *Democracy and the environment: problems and prospects*, Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, pp.140-56.
- Office of Housing 2010, Victoria working with the Australian Government on Nation Building, < www.housing.vic.gov.au>.
- Olsaretti, S 2005, 'Endorsement and freedom in Amartya Sen's capability approach', *Economics and Philosophy*, vol. 21, pp.89-108.
- PAEC see Public Accounts and Estimates Committee.

- Palmer, J, Cooper, I & van der Vorst, R 1997, 'Mapping out fuzzy buzzwords who sits where on sustainability and sustainable development', *Sustainable Development*, vol.5, pp.87-93.
- Paris, C 1993, *Housing Australia*, Macmillan Education Australia, South Melbourne (with contributions from Andrew Beer and Will Sanders).
- Paris, C 1997, 'Reflections on community housing in Australia', *Urban Policy and Research*, vol. 15, pp. 7-17.
- Pascoe, M 2008, 'Cop a dose of harden up', *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 14 November.
- Pearce, D 1993, *Measuring sustainable development*, Blueprint series, no. 3, Routledge, London.
- Pearce, D 1998, Economics and the environment: Essays on Ecological Economics and Sustainable Development, Edward Elgar Publishing, Cheltenham.
- Pearce, D & Barbier, EB 2000, *Blueprint for a sustainable economy*, Blueprint series, no. 6, Routledge, London.
- Pearce, D, Markandya, A & Barnier, EB 1989, *Blueprint for a Green Economy*, Blueprint series, no. 1, Routledge, London.
- Pearse G 2009, 'Quarry vision: coal, climate change and the end of the resources boom', *Quarterly Essay* 33, March, pp.1-122.
- Pearse, G 2007, High & dry: John Howard, climate change and the selling of Australia's future, Penguin, Camberwell.
- Persson, D 1989, *National Housing Policy Review: Final Report*, Health Department of Community Services and Health, Canberra.
- Peterson, M 2009, An introduction to decision theory, Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Pettit, P 1980, *Judging justice: An introduction to contemporary political philosophy*, Routledge, London.
- Petty, HR (Minister for Housing), Shaw, G, Davey, JH, Ashman, AA 1960, Report on slum reclamation and urban redevelopment of Melbourne inner suburban areas, Housing Commission of Victoria, Melbourne.
- Phibbs, P & Young, P 2009, 'Going once, going twice: a short history of public housing in Australia' in S Glynn (ed.), Where the other half lives: lower income housing in a neoliberal world, Pluto Press, London, pp. 217-31.

- Phillips, B, Li, J, & Taylor, M 2012, *Prices these days: the cost of living in Australia*, AMP.NATSEM Income and Wealth Report, AMP, Sydney, viewed 1 February 2013, <a href="http://www.natsem.canberra.edu.au">http://www.natsem.canberra.edu.au</a>>
- Platt, J 1999, 'What can case studies do?' in A Bryman & R Burgess (eds.), *Qualitative Research*, vol. 1, *Fundamental issues in qualitative Research*, Sage, London, pp. 160-79.
- Plibersek, T (Minister for Housing and Minister for the Status of Women) 2008, *First meeting of COAG Housing Working Group*, media release, Australian Government, Canberra, 31 January, viewed 7 May 2010, <a href="http://www.formerministers.fahcsia.gov.au">http://www.formerministers.fahcsia.gov.au</a>.
- Plibersek, T 2009a, 'Putting housing back on the agenda: the federal government's response', *Reform*, no. 94, pp. 7-9.
- Plibersek, T 2009b, 'Room for more: boosting providers of social housing', speech by the Minister for Housing, The Sydney Institute, Sydney, 19 March, viewed 12 May 2009, <www.pilch.org.au>.
- Plibersek, T 2009c, untitled, Opening address to the Asia Pacific Network for Housing Research and the Australasian Housing Researchers' Conference, Australasian Housing Researchers' Conference. Haymarket, Sydney, 5 August.
- Pogge, T 2007, John Rawls: his life and theory of justice, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Poynton, C & Lee, A 2000, 'Culture & text: an introduction' in A Lee & C Poynton (eds), *Culture & text: discourse methodology in social research and cultural studies*, Allen & Unwin, St Leonards, pp. 1-18.
- Premiers and Chief Ministers Meeting 1991, *Communiqué*, Premiers and Chief Ministers Meeting, 21-22 November, Adelaide.
- Priemus, H 2004, 'Changing urban housing markets in advanced economies', *Housing, Theory and Society*, vol. 21, pp. 2-16.
- Prime Ministerial Task Group on Emissions Trading 2006a, *Prime Ministerial Task Group on Emissions Trading membership*, Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet, Canberra, viewed 21 December 2009, <a href="http://pandora.nla.gov.au/">http://pandora.nla.gov.au/</a>>.
- Prime Ministerial Task Group on Emissions Trading 2007a, *Final Report*, Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet, Canberra, viewed 2 December 2009, <a href="http://pandora.nla.gov.au">http://pandora.nla.gov.au</a>>.

- Prime Ministerial Task Group on Emissions Trading 2007b, *Issues Paper*, Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet, Canberra, viewed 2 December 2009, <a href="http://pandora.nla.gov.au">http://pandora.nla.gov.au</a>>.
- Productivity Commission 1999, Implementation of ecologically sustainable development by Commonwealth Departments and Agencies: Inquiry Report, Report no. 5, Productivity Commission, Melbourne, 5 May, viewed 2 November 2010, <www.pc.gov.au>.
- Productivity Commission 2004, *First home ownership*, Report no. 28, Productivity Commission, Melbourne, viewed 2 October 2009, <www.pc.gov.au>.
- Productivity Commission 2005, *The private cost effectiveness of improving energy efficiency*, Report no. 36, Productivity Commission, Melbourne, viewed 2 November 2010, <www.pc.gov.au>.
- Productivity Commission 2011, *Disability care and support*, Report no. 54, Productivity Commission, Melbourne, 10 August, viewed 2 December 2011, <www.pc.gov.au>.
- PROV see Public Records Office of Victoria.
- Public Accounts and Estimates Committee, Victoria 2007, *Inquiry into budget estimates* 2007-08, Verified Transcript, Housing and Local Government, PAEC, Melbourne, 17 May.
- Public Accounts and Estimates Committee, Victoria 2008, *Inquiry into budget estimates* 2008-09, Verified Transcript: Housing, PAEC, Melbourne, 21May.
- Public Records Office of Victoria, 2005a, Housing Investigation and Slum Abolition Board (Agency VA 3019), PROV, viewed 10 May 2010, <a href="http://www.access.prov.vic.gov.au">http://www.access.prov.vic.gov.au</a>.
- Public Records Office of Victoria, 2005b, Housing, public (Function VF 174), PROV, viewed 10 May 2010, <a href="http://www.access.prov.vic.gov.au">http://www.access.prov.vic.gov.au</a>.
- Public Records Office of Victoria, 2005c, Ministry of Housing (Agency VA 609), PROV, viewed 13 May 2010, <a href="http://www.access.prov.vic.gov.au">http://www.access.prov.vic.gov.au</a>.
- Pusey, M 1991, Economic rationalism in Canberra: A nation building state changes its mind, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Pusey, M 2003a, An Australian Story: The Troubling Experience of Economic Reform, Department of the Senate Occasional Lecture Series, Parliament House, Parliament of Australia, Canberra, viewed 20 June 2009, <a href="http://www.aph.gov.au">http://www.aph.gov.au</a>

- Pusey, M 2003b, *The experience of middle Australia: the dark side of economic reform*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Pusey, M 2010, '25 years of neo-liberalism in Australia' in R Manne & D McKnight (eds.), Goodbye to all that?: on the failure of neo-liberalism and the urgency of change, Black Ink, Melbourne, pp.125-46.
- Putman, L. 2007, 'Purchasing a house: is there a place for environmental arguments?' paper presented to European Network for Housing Research conference on sustainable urban areas, Rotterdam, 25-28 June.
- Quiggin, J 2007, 'The Prime Ministerial Task Group on Emissions Trading Symposium. Agenda', *A Journal of Policy Analysis and Reform*, vol. 14, pp. 5-12.
- Quigley, JM & Raphael, S 2004, 'Is housing unaffordable? Why isn't it more affordable?' *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, vol. 18, pp. 191-214.
- Rawls, J 1955, 'Two concepts of rules', *The Philosophical Review*, vol. 64, pp. 3-32.
- Rawls, J 1958, 'Justice as fairness', *The Philosophical Review*, vol. 67, pp. 164-94.
- Rawls, J 1972, A theory of justice, Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Rawls, J 1977, 'The basic structure as subject', *American Philosophical Quarterly*, vol.14, pp.159-65.
- Rawls J 1981, *The basic liberties and their priorities*, The Tanner Lectures on Human Values, the University of Michigan, 10 April.
- Rawls, J 1993, 'The law of peoples', Critical Inquiry, vol. 20, pp. 36-68.
- Rawls, J 1997, 'The idea of public reason revisited', *The University of Chicago Law Review*, vol. 64, pp. 765-807.
- Rawls J 1999, *The Law of peoples*, Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- Rawls, J 2001, *Justice as Fairness: a restatement*, E Kelly (ed.), Belknap Press, Cambridge. Editor's Foreword by Erin Kelly.
- Rawls, J 2005, *Political Liberalism*, Columbia University Press, New York.
- Rawls, J 2007, Lectures on the history of political philosophy, Belknap Press, Cambridge.
- RBA see Reserve Bank of Australia.

- Reilly, J & Schimmelpfennig, D 2000, 'Irreversibility, uncertainty, and learning: Portraits of adaptation to long-term climate change', *Climatic Change*, vol. 45, pp. 253-78.
- Reserve Bank of Australia 2007, *Financial Stability Review*, Reserve Bank of Australia, Canberra, viewed 26 October 2010, <www.rba.gov.au>.
- Rickwood, P 2009, 'Residential operational energy use', *Urban Policy and Research*, vol. 27, pp.137-55.
- Robson, A 2007, 'The Prime Ministerial Task Group's Report on Emissions Trading: a solution in search of a problem. Agenda, *A Journal of Policy Analysis and Reform*, vol. 14, pp.19-25.
- Rodgers, E 2009, 'Abbott calls time on Rudd's climate change mandate', *ABC Online*, viewed 19 August 2010, <www.abc.net.au >.
- Ross, A 2008, 'Australia' in, A Jordan & A Lenschow (eds.) *innovation in environmental policy?: integrating the environment*, Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, pp.289-312.
- Rudd K (Prime Minister) and Swan W (Treasurer) 2008, *Economic security strategy*, Joint Press Conference, Main Committee Room, Parliament House, Canberra, 14 October, Australian Government: The Treasury, viewed 10 May 2010, <a href="http://www.treasurer.gov.au">http://www.treasurer.gov.au</a>.
- Rudd K (Prime Minister) and Swan W (Treasurer) 2009, \$42 billion nation building and jobs plan, Joint Press Conference, Main Committee Room, Parliament House, Canberra, 3 February, viewed 5 May 2010, <a href="http://www.treasurer.gov.au">http://www.treasurer.gov.au</a>.
- Rudd unveils \$10.4b stimulus plan, *Sydney Morning Herald*, 14 October 2008, viewed 10 June 2009, <a href="http://www.smh.com.au/business/rudd-unveils-104b-stimulus-plan-20081014-50a6.html">http://www.smh.com.au/business/rudd-unveils-104b-stimulus-plan-20081014-50a6.html</a>>.
- Rudd, K (Prime Minister) 2008, [untitled] D.R Dossetor Address to the Housing Industry Association, Sydney Exhibition and Convention Centre, 2 May.
- Rudd, K (Prime Minister) 2009, 'The global financial crisis', *The Monthly*, February, viewed 3 March 2009, <a href="http://www.themonthly.com.au">http://www.themonthly.com.au</a>>.
- Rudd, K (Prime Minister), Macklin, J. (Minister for Families, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs), Snowdon, W (Minister for Defence Science and Personnel) & Plibersek, T (Minister for Housing) 2009, 20,000 Social and Defence Homes Nation Building Investment, joint media release, Canberra, 3 February, viewed 8 July 2009, <a href="http://jennymacklin.fahcsia.gov.au">http://jennymacklin.fahcsia.gov.au</a>.

- Russell, EW 1972, *The slum abolition movement in Victoria 1933-37*, Hornet Publications, Melbourne.
- Sandel, MJ 1998, *Liberalism and the limits of justice*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Sandel, MJ 2005 *Public philosophy: essays on morality in politics*, Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- Sandel, MJ 2009, Justice: what's the right thing to do? Allen Lane, London.
- Sanders, W 1993, 'Aboriginal Housing' *in* C Paris (ed.), *Housing Australia*, Macmillan Education Australia, South Melbourne, pp.212-27.
- Satterthwaite, D 1997, 'Sustainable cities or cities that contribute to sustainable development', *Urban Studies*, vol. 34, pp.1667-91.
- Saunders, P 1984, 'Beyond housing classes: The sociological influence of private property rights in means of consumption', *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, vol. 8, pp. 201-27.
- Saunders, P 1994, Welfare and inequality: national and international perspectives on the Australian welfare state, Cambridge University Press, Melbourne.
- Saunders, P 2005, *The poverty wars*, University of New South Wales Press, Sydney.
- Sawer, M 2004, 'Comment: the Australian settlement undone', *Australian Journal of Political Science*, vol. 39, pp. 35-7.
- Schaller, WE 1998, 'Rawls, the difference principle, and economic inequality', *Pacific Philosophical Quarterly*, vol.79, pp.368-91.
- Schrith, ST, Helfer, JA & Lanfair, JK 2011, 'Kyoto Protocol' in Schiffman, HS (ed.), *Green issues and debates*, Sage, Thousand Oaks, pp. 327-29.
- SCSTF *see* State Conservation Strategy Task Force.
- Scutella, R, Wilkins, R and Kostenko, W 2009, *Estimates of poverty and social exclusion in Australia: a multidimensional approach*, Melbourne Institute Working Paper Series, Melbourne Institute, Melbourne.
- SECARC see Senate Environment, Communications and the Arts Reference Committee.
- Sedgwick, ST 2008, 'Editor's Introduction', *The Australian Economic Review*, vol. 41, pp. 187-93.

- Seelig, T, Milligan, V, Phibbs P, & Thompson, A 2008, Reconceptualising housing need in the context of 21st century Australian housing policy, AHURI Positioning Paper no. 100, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Seelig, T, Thompson, A, Burke, T, Pinnegar, S, McNelis, S & Morris, A 2009, Understanding what motivates households to become and remain investors in the private rental market, AHURI Final Report no. 130, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Select Committee into Housing Affordability in Australia 2008, *A good house is hard to find: housing affordability in Australia*, Parliament of Australia, Canberra, viewed 5 September 2012, <a href="http://www.aph.gov.au">http://www.aph.gov.au</a>.
- Selman, PH 1987, *Implementation of the National Conservation Strategy for Australia*, Australian National University, CRES Working Paper, Centre for Resource and Environmental Studies, Canberra.
- Selman, PH 1988, 'Implementation of a National Conservation Strategy: the case of Australia', *The Environmentalist*, vol. 8, pp. 7-18.
- Sen, A 1979, 'Equality of what?' Tanner Lectures on Human Values. Stanford University, Stanford, May 22.
- Sen, A 1982, Choice, welfare and measurement, Blackwell, Oxford.
- Sen, A 1985, 'The standard of living', Tanner Lectures on Human Values, Clare Hall, Cambridge University, Cambridge, 11-12 March.
- Sen, A 2009, The Idea of Justice, Allen Lane, London.
- Sen, A 2010, 'Adam Smith and the contemporary world', *Erasmus Journal for Philosophy and Economics*, vol. 3, pp. 50-67.
- Senate Australia 1982, Official Hansard Report, pp. 933-56.
- Senate Environment Communications and the Arts References Committee 2010, Energy efficient housing package (ceiling insulation), Parliament of Australia, Canberra, viewed 5 September 2012, <a href="http://www.aph.gov.au">http://www.aph.gov.au</a>.
- Senate Select Committee on South West Tasmania 1982, Select Committee on South West Tasmania, 1982: official Hansard report, Select Committee on South West Tasmania, Canberra.
- Shove, E 2003a, Comfort, cleanliness and convenience: the social organization of normality, Berg, Oxford.

- Shove, E 2003b, 'Converging conventions of comfort, cleanliness and convenience', *Journal of Consumer Policy*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp.395-418.
- Simmons, RD, Ponsonby, AL, van der Mei, IAF & Sheridan, P 2001, 'What affects your MS? Response to an anonymous internet-based epidemiological survey', *Multiple Sclerosis*, vol.10, pp. 202-11.
- Skelton, R 2008, 'Cold reality of the Aussie dream', *The Age*, 15 November, p. 5.
- Smith, A 2010, *Theory of moral sentiments*, 250th anniversary edition, Penguin Classics, New York.
- Smith, R 2006, Housing stock transfer: investing in renewal as a tool for sustainable regeneration', *Housing Studies*, vol.21, pp. 269-82.
- Smyth, P 2004, 'Comment: Australian settlement or Australian way', *Australian Journal of Political Science* 2004, pp. 39-41.
- Soderholm, P & Sundqvist, T 2003, 'Pricing environmental externalities in the power sector: ethical limits and implications for social choice', *Ecological Economics*, pp. 333-50.
- Soutphomassane, T 2011, *Just get over it: the cost of living in Australia*, Per Capita, viewed 5 June 2012, <a href="http://www.percapita.org.au">http://www.percapita.org.au</a>.
- Spangenberg, JH 2002, 'Environmental space and the prism of sustainability: frameworks for indicators measuring sustainable development', *Ecological Indicators*, pp. 295-309.
- Spash, CL & Lo, AY 2012, 'Australia's carbon tax: a sheep in wolf's clothing?' *The Economic and Labour Relations Review*, vol. 23, pp. 67-86.
- SSCHAA see Senate Select Committee on Housing Affordability in Australia.
- SSCSWT see Senate Select Committee on South West Tasmania.
- Staples, J 2009, 'Environment: what was right was also popular' in G Bloustien, B Comber & A Mackinnon (eds.), *The Hawke legacy*, pp.152-66.
- State Conservation Strategy Task Force 1983, Conservation in Victoria: a discussion paper on a state conservation strategy, Ministry for Conservation Victoria, Melbourne.
- Steffen, W, Burbidge, A, Hughes, L, Kitching, R, Lindenmayer, D, Musgrave, W, Stafford Smith, M & Werner, P (eds.) 2009, *Australia's biodiversity and climate change*, CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood.

- Steg, L 2008, 'Promoting household energy conservation', *Energy Policy*, pp. 4449-53.
- Steinberger, PJ 2006, 'Review: civic virtue', *The Review of Politics*, vol. 68, pp. 694-7.
- Steketee, M 1989, 'Big parties turn a shade of green' *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 16 May, p. 20.
- Stern, N 2007, *The economics of climate change: the Stern Review*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Stern, N 2009, A blueprint for a safer planet: how to manage climate change and create a new era of progress and prosperity, The Bodley Head, London.
- Stokes, G 2004, 'The 'Australian settlement' and Australian political thought', *Australian Journal of Political Science*, vol. 39, pp. 5-22.
- Stone, M, Burke, T & Ralston, L 2011, *The residual income approach to housing affordability: the theory and the practice*, AHURI Positioning Paper, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Stretton, H 1974, *Housing and Government*, The Australian Broadcasting Association, Sydney.
- Sullivan, D 2008, Enabling low-income households in the private rental market to respond to climate change, Recommendations and report from the roundtable convened December 2007 by the Brotherhood of St Laurence, Low-income households in the private rental market, Brotherhood of St Laurence, Melbourne.
- Summers, M & Simmons, R 2009, MS Australia keeping cool survey: air conditioner use by Australians with MS, MS Australia, viewed 5 May 2010,<a href="https://www.msaustralia.org.au">www.msaustralia.org.au</a>.
- Sunstein, CR 2007, Worst case scenarios, Harvard University Press, Cambridge
- Sustainability Now 2010, 'The basics: what is sustainability?' <a href="http://www.sustainabilitynow.com">http://www.sustainabilitynow.com</a>.
- Sustainability Victoria 2009, *Business Plan 09-10*, Melbourne Sustainability Victoria.< www.sustainability.vic.gov.au >
- Swan, W (Deputy Prime Minister and Treasurer) 2009, *Nation Building Economic Stimulus Plan: Treasurer's Note*, viewed 10 January 2009, <a href="http://www.economicstimulusplan.gov.au">http://www.economicstimulusplan.gov.au</a>.

- Swan, W (Deputy Prime Minister and Treasurer) & Rudd, K (Prime Minister) 2010, Stronger, fairer, simpler: a tax plan for our future, joint media release, viewed 5 September 2010, <a href="http://ministers.treasury.gov.au">http://ministers.treasury.gov.au</a>.
- Tanton, R & Phillips, B 2013, 'A measure of the depth of housing stress and its application in Australia', *Economic Papers*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 99-109.
- Taylor, L 1996, 'Cabinet overhauls green laws' *The Australian Financial Review*, 26 November, p.1.
- Taylor, L 2008, 'Garnaut attacks climate compo funding crisis looms', *The Australian*, 20 December, p. 1.
- Taylor L 2012, 'Outspoken treasurer tries to make the most of a taxing situation', *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 6 March, p.5.
- TGET see Prime Ministerial Task Group on Emissions Trading.
- The Allen Consulting Group 2011, *The carbon price mechanism and the property sector*, report to the Property Council of Australia, the Property Council of Australia, Melbourne.
- The Australia Institute, 2008, *The economics of climate change*, viewed 5 June 2009, <a href="https://www.teachinclimatechange.com.au">www.teachinclimatechange.com.au</a>.
- The Australian Greens 2010, *The Greens and emissions trading your questions answered*, viewed 12 February 2012, <a href="http://greensmps.org.au">http://greensmps.org.au</a>.
- The Brotherhood of St Laurence 2007, *The impact of carbon prices on Victorian selected household types A preliminary analysis (draft)*, report prepared by the National Institute of Economic and Industry Research, Melbourne, viewed 7 October 2008, < http://www.bsl.org.au >.
- The Canberra Times, 'Wild', 29 August 2009.
- *The Carbon War* 2011, television program (*Four Corners*), ABC Television, Sydney, 15 September.
- The Economist 2005a, 'After the fall: House prices', *The Economist*, 16 June, viewed 2 September 2011, <www.economist.com>.
- The Economist 2005b, 'The global housing boom: In come the waves', *The Economist*, 18 June, pp. 52-4.
- *The Home Front* 2007, television program (*Four Corners*), ABC Television, Sydney, 25 June.

- The Hot Debate 1997, television program (Four Corners), ABC Television, Sydney.
- The Law Society of New South Wales 2004, 'Policy Position: The Kyoto Protocol on United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)', viewed 10 February 2010, <a href="http://www.lawsociety.com.au">http://www.lawsociety.com.au</a>
- The National Housing Strategy 1992, *Background Paper 10: The role of home ownership*, The National Housing Strategy: Summary of papers, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- The Rise of Economic Rationalism 1998, radio program (Money, Markets and the Economy), program 11, directed by B Clarke & M White, ABC Radio, Sydney, 17 February, transcript viewed 11 March 2012, <a href="http://www.abc.net.au">http://www.abc.net.au</a>.
- The Smith Family 2001, Financial disadvantage in Australia 1990 to 2000: the persistence of poverty in a decade of growth, report prepared by A Harding, R Lloyd & H Greenwell, H, Sydney.
- The Toronto Conference 1988, 'The changing atmosphere: implications for global security', conference statement, Toronto, Canada.
- Thomas, I 2007, Environmental policy: Australian practice in the context of theory, The Federation Press, Annandale.
- Thomson, JA 1986, 'A torrent of words: a bibliography and chronology on the Franklin Dam case', *Federal Law Review*, vol. 15, pp. 145-51.
- Tiffen, R 2010, 'A mess? A shambles? A disaster?' *Inside Story*, 26 March, <a href="http://inside.org.au">http://inside.org.au</a>.
- Tony Jones talks to Opposition Leader Kevin Rudd 2007, television program (Lateline), ABC Television, Sydney, 11 August.
- Toohey, B 2008, 'Politically bad, economically worse', *The Australian Financial Review*, 28 December, p. 63.
- Toyne P 1994, *The Reluctant nation: environment, law and politics in Australia*, ABC Books, Sydney.
- Toyne, P & Balderstone, S 2003, 'The environment' in S Ryan & T Bramston (eds.), *The Hawke Government: a critical retrospective*, Pluto Press Australia, North Melbourne, pp.170-83.
- Tremmel, JC 2006, *Handbook of intergenerational justice*, Edward Elgar Publishing, Cheltenham.

- Troy, P 2011, 'The Rise and Fall of Public Housing in Australia', paper presented to State of Australian Cities conference, Melbourne, 29 November–2 December..
- Troy, P 2012, Accommodating Australians: Commonwealth Government involvement in housing, The Federation Press, Annandale.
- Turnbull shows defiance at press conference 2009, television program (Lateline), ABC Television, Sydney, 26 November.
- Turnbull, M 2010, Speech to the House of Representatives: Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme Bills 2010, Sydney, viewed 5 December 2010, <a href="http://www.malcolmturnbull.com.au">http://www.malcolmturnbull.com.au</a>.
- Turner, RK & Pearce, DW 1992, Sustainable Development: Ethics and Economics, CSERGE Working Paper PA 92-09, Centre for Social and Economic Research on The Global Environment, London, viewed 2 June 2009, <a href="http://www.cserge.ac.uk/sites/default/files/pa\_1992\_09.pdf">http://www.cserge.ac.uk/sites/default/files/pa\_1992\_09.pdf</a>.
- Turton, H, Ma, J, Saddler, H & Hamilton, C 2002, Long-term greenhouse gas scenarios: A pilot study of how Australia can achieve deep cuts in emissions, Discussion Paper no. 48, The Australia Institute, Bruce, viewed 3 August 2009, <www.tai.org.au>.
- UK Green Building Council 2008, Low carbon existing homes, UK GBC, London.
- UNESCO see United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization.
- United Nations 1992, *The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change*, United Nations, New York, viewed 28 July 2010, <a href="http://unfccc.int">http://unfccc.int</a> >.
- United Nations 1998, *Kyoto Protocol on the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change*, United Nations, New York, viewed 28 July 2010, <a href="http://unfccc.int">http://unfccc.int</a>.
- United Nations Conference on Environment and Development 1992, *The Earth Summit*, United Nations, New York.
- United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization 1972, Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage (World Heritage Convention), UNESCO, Paris.
- Urge-Vorstaz, D, Koeppel, S & Mirasgedis, S 2007, 'Appraisal of policy instruments for reducing buildings' CO2 emissions', *Building Research & Information*, vol.35, pp. 458-77.
- VAGO see Victoria, Auditor-General.

- van den Bergh, JCJM 2010, 'Externality or sustainability economics?' *Ecological Economics*, vol. 69, pp. 2047-52.
- van Onlensen, P. 2010, 'Politics trumps a moral challenge', *The Australian*, 29 April, viewed 30 March 2011, <a href="http://www.theaustralian.com.au">http://www.theaustralian.com.au</a>.
- van Vliet, B, Chappells, H & Shove, E 2005, *Infrastructures of consumption:* environmental innovation in the utility industries, Earthscan, London.
- Vaughan, A and Adam, D 2009, 'Copenhagen climate deal: spectacular failure or a few important steps? *The Guardian Online*, viewed 5 January 2010, <a href="http://www.guardian.co.uk">http://www.guardian.co.uk</a> >
- Victor, PA 2005, 'Eric Neumayer Weak Versus Strong Sustainability, 2nd edn., Edward Elgar Publishing', book review, *Ecological Economics*, vol. 52, pp.127-34.
- Victoria, Auditor-General 2010, Access to Social Housing: Victorian Auditor General's Report, parliamentary paper no. 325, VAGO, Melbourne.
- Victoria, Auditor-General 2012, Access to Public Housing: Victorian Auditor General's Report, parliamentary paper no. 118, VAGO, Melbourne.
- Victorian Building Commission 2002, Regulatory Information Bulletin: energy efficient standards for new residential buildings, Victorian Building Commission, Melbourne, viewed 5 September 2012, <www.buildingcommission.com.au>
- Victorian Competition and Efficiency Commission 2007, *Issues Paper: Inquiry into enhancing Victoria's liveability*, VCEC, Melbourne, viewed 5 September 2010, < www.vcec.vic.gov.au>.
- Victorian Energy Efficiency Target, Essential Services Commission 2007, Victorian Energy Efficiency Target Issues Paper, ESC, Melbourne.
- Victorian Energy Efficiency Target, Essential Services Commission 2008, Victorian Energy Efficiency Target Regulations, ESC, Melbourne.
- Victorian Government 1987, *Protecting the environment: a conservation strategy for Victoria*, report prepared by FD Atkinson, Victorian Government, Melbourne.
- Vira, B 1997, 'The political Coase theorem: identifying differences between neoclassical and critical institutionalism', *Journal of Economic Issues*, vol. 31, pp.761-79.
- Voorthuis, J & Gijbels, C 2010, 'A fair accord: cradle to cradle as a design theory measured against John Rawls' theory of justice and Immanuel Kant's categorical imperative', *Sustainability*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp.371-82.

- Walker, KJ 1992, Australian environmental policy: ten case studies, New South Wales University Press, Kensington.
- Walker, S 1983, 'A legal wilderness preserved', *Law Institute Journal*, vol. 57, pp. 756-58.
- Wall, R & Crosbie, T 2009, 'Potential for reducing electricity demand for lighting in households: an exploratory socio-technical study', *Energy Policy*, vol.37, pp. 1021-31.
- Wallace, G 2006, Microeconomic Reform of the Building and Development Process: The Development and Outcomes of Building Regulation Reform in Australia 1990-2003, PhD thesis, School of Global Studies, Social Science and Planning, RMIT University, Melbourne.
- Walzer, M 1983, Spheres of justice: a defence of pluralism and equality, Martin Robertson, Oxford.
- WCED see World Commission on Economic Development.
- Webb C. (2010) 'Time bomb' warning over botched insulation, *The Age*, 17 March, viewed 10 September 2010, <www.theage.com.au>.
- Wenar, L 2008, 'John Rawls', EN Zalta (ed.), *The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy*, Fall, viewed 5 February 2009, <a href="http://plato.stanford.edu">http://plato.stanford.edu</a>.
- Westcott, G 2009, Back to basics: breakthrough proposals for the Australian environment, Briefings, UNSW Press, Sydney.
- What Happened at Copenhagen? 2010, radio program, BBC4, London, 28 November, accessed 31 March 2011, < http://www.bbc.co.uk>.
- Whitehead, CME 1991, 'From need to affordability: an analysis of UK housing objectives', *Urban Studies*, vol. 28, pp. 871-87.
- Whitlam, G 1985, The Whitlam Government 1972-1975, Viking, Ringwood.
- Whitwell, G 1989, *Making the market: the rise of consumer society*, McPhee Gribble, Melbourne.
- Whitwell, G 1993, 'Economic ideas and economic policy: the rise of economic rationalism in Australia', *Australian Economic History Review* (issue on economic policy in Australia since the Great Depression), vol. 33, 2, pp. 8-28.
- Whitwell, G 1994, 'Economic policy' in J Brett, J Gillespie & M Goot (eds.), *Developments in Australian politics*, Macmillan Education Australia, South Melbourne, pp. 217-33.

- Wilkinson, R & Pickett, K 2009, *The spirit level: why more equal societies almost always do better*, Allen Lane, London.
- Wills, I 2006, Economics and the environment: a signalling and incentives approach, Allen & Unwin, Crows Nest.
- Wolff, J 2006, An introduction to political philosophy, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Wolff, J 2007, 'Models of distributive justice' in Novartis Foundation, *Empathy and Fairness*, John Wiley & Sons, Southern Gate, pp.165-70.
- Wong P (Minister for Climate Change and Water), Rudd K (Prime Minister) & Swan W (Treasurer) 2009, *New measures for the Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme*, joint media release, 4 May, Canberra, Department of Climate Change, viewed 21 July 2010, <www.climatechange.gov.au>.
- Wood, G, Chamberlain, C, Babacan A, Dockery, M, & Stokes, A 2008, *The implications of loss of a partner for older private renters*, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Final Report, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute RMIT-NATSEM Research Centre, AHURI, Melbourne.
- Wood, T & Edis, T. 2011, New protectionism under carbon pricing: case studies of LNG, coal mining and steel sectors, Grattan Institute, Melbourne, viewed 2 October 2011, <www.grattan.edu.au>.
- World Commission on Environment and Development 1987, Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: Our Common Future (Gro Harlem Brundtland, chair), United Nations, 2 October 2009, <a href="http://www.undocuments.net">http://www.undocuments.net</a>.
- Wright, J 2003, The ethics of economic rationalism, UNSW Press, Sydney.
- Wynne, R (Minister for Housing) 2007, Record \$510 Million for Public and Social Housing, media release, Melbourne, viewed 7 May 2010, <a href="http://www.budget.vic.gov.au">http://www.budget.vic.gov.au</a>.
- Yates, J & Gabriel, M 2006, *Housing affordability in Australia*, National Research Venture 3: Housing Affordability for Lower Income Victorians, Research Paper 3, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Yates J, Milligan V, Berry M, Burke, T, Gabriel, M, Phibbs, P, Pinnegar, S & Randolph, P 2007, *Housing affordability: a 21st century problem*, AHURI Final Report no. 105, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Yates, J 2001, 'The rhetoric and reality of housing choice: the role of urban consolidation', *Urban Policy and Research*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp.491-527.

- Yates, J 2003, A distributional analysis of the impact of indirect housing assistance, AHURI Final Report No. 35, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Sydney Research Centre, Sydney.
- Yates, J 2008, 'Australia's housing affordability crisis', *The Australian Economic Review*, vol. 41, 2, pp. 200-14.
- Yates, J, Kendig, H, Phillips, B, Millingan, V & Tanton, R 2008, Sustaining fair shares: the Australian housing system and intergenerational sustainability, National Research Venture 3: Housing affordability for lower-income Australians, Research Paper 11, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.